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Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds,

Series 2024C
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As shown on the inside front cover
Defined Terms All capitalized terms that are not otherwise defined on this cover page have the meanings provided to such terms in this Official Statement.
The Bonds The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, a corporation, body politic and city of the first class existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania (the “City”) is issuing its $595,780,000 Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2024C (the “Bonds”) pursuant to (i) the
First Class City Revenue Bond Act (the “Act”), and (ii) the City’s Restated General Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989 (as
supplemented and amended, collectively referred to as the “General Ordinance”).

Purpose The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance (i) capital improvements to the System (hereinafter defined), (ii) a deposit to the
Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund, (iii) the purchase and cancellation of the Purchased Bonds (hereinafter defined) set forth on
SCHEDULE 1 hereto and (iv) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds.

See “PLAN OF FINANCE”, “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and “SCHEDULE 1” herein. Capitalized terms used but not
otherwise defined in this Official Statement have the meanings ascribed to them in APPENDIX II hereof.

The Bonds will be issued only as fully registered bonds and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Purchasers will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds purchased. Disbursements of principal, interest or redemption payments are
the responsibility of DTC.

Payment and The Bonds are special obligations of the City, equally and ratably secured, with the City’s outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds

Security (other than Subordinated Bonds, of which there are none outstanding on the date hereof) in the aggregate principal amount of $3,176,031,686
(as of September 30, 2024, which does not account for the issuance of the Bonds) issued under the General Ordinance and all Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds hereafter issued under the General Ordinance (the “Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds”). All Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds are secured by a pledge of and security interest in all Project Revenues (hereinafter defined) derived from the
City’s Water and Wastewater Systems (collectively, the “System”) and by monies deposited in the funds and accounts (other than the Rebate
Fund) established by the City under the General Ordinance (collectively, the “Water and Wastewater Funds”). Project Revenues means: (i) all
rents, rates, fees and charges imposed or charged for connection to, or use or product of or services generated by the System to the ultimate
users thereof, (ii) all payments under bulk contracts with municipalities, governmental instrumentalities or other bulk users, (iii) all subsidies
or payments payable by federal, state or local governments or governmental agencies on account of the cost of operation of, or the payment of
the principal of or interest on monies borrowed to finance costs chargeable to the System, (iv) all grants, payments and contributions made in
aid or on account of the System exclusive of grants and similar payments and contributions solely in aid of construction and (v) all accounts,
contract rights and general intangibles representing the foregoing (collectively referred to as, the “Project Revenues”). See “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” herein.

THE BONDS ARE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM PROJECT REVENUES AND
MONIES DEPOSITED IN THE WATER AND WASTEWATER FUNDS.
THE BONDS ARE SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY AND DO
NOT PLEDGE THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF
THE CITY, OR CREATE ANY DEBT OR CHARGE AGAINST THE TAX
OR GENERAL REVENUES OF THE CITY, OR CREATE ANY LIEN OR
CHARGE AGAINST ANY PROPERTY OF THE CITY OTHER THAN
AGAINST THE PROJECT REVENUES AND AMOUNTS, IF ANY, AT ANY
TIME ON DEPOSIT IN THE WATER AND WASTEWATER FUNDS.

Bond Insurance The scheduled payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be guaranteed under an insurance policy to be issued
concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds by ASSURED GUARANTY INC. See “BOND INSURANCE” herein.

ASSURED
GUARANTY

Interest The Bonds will be dated, and will bear interest from, the date of delivery thereof. Interest on Bonds will be payable semiannually on March 1

Payment Date and September 1 of each year, commencing on March 1, 2025.

Redemption The Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity as described herein. See “THE BONDS — Redemption
Provisions” herein.

Tax Exemption For information on certain tax matters relating to the Bonds, see the italicized language at the top of this cover page and “TAX MATTERS”
herein.

Delivery Date It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery to DTC on November 13, 2024.

This cover page contains information for quick reference only. It is not a summary of this issue. Investors must read the entire Official Statement,
including the Appendices, which are an integral part hereof, to obtain information essential to making an informed investment decision regarding the
Bonds.

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and delivered to and received by the Underwriters (hereinafter defined), and subject to the legal opinions of Ballard
Spahr LLP and Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, both of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Co-Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters by Cozen
O’Connor, of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Certain other legal matters respecting the Bonds will be passed upon for the City by Greenberg Traurig, LLP and Turner
Law, P.C., both of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Co-Disclosure Counsel to the City’s Water Department. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by the
City Solicitor.

The date of this Official Statement is October 30, 2024.

Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC Jefferies
Blaylock Van, LLC FHN Financial Capital Markets Janney Montgomery Scott



$595,780,000
CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds,
Series 2024C

MATURITY DATES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, PRICES, YIELDS, CUSIP'

Maturity Dates CUSIP?
(September 1) Principal Amounts Interest Rates Price Yield (717893)
2025 $ 4,400,000 5.00% 101.509 3.07% 3A7
2026 4,625,000 5.00 103.652 2.90 3B5
2027 7,375,000 5.00 105.770 2.84 3C3
2028 8,485,000 5.00 107.649 2.86 3Dl
2029 31,335,000 5.00 109.295 291 3E9
2030 39,085,000 5.00 110.513 3.01 3F6
2031 46,175,000 5.00 111.434 3.12 3G4
2032 24,615,000 5.00 112.260 3.21 3H2
2033 24,465,000 5.00 112.805 3.31 3J8
2034 31,730,000 5.00 113.682 3.35 3K5
2035 28,185,000 5.00 114.065 3.43 3L3
2036 15,285,000 5.00 111.996" 3.54 3M1
2037 35,810,000 5.00 111.557" 3.59 3N9
2038 39,805,000 5.00 111.120° 3.64 3P4
2039 34,605,000 5.00 110.772° 3.68 3Q2
2040 24,040,000 5.00 110.339" 3.73 3RO
2041 9,795,000 5.00 109.736° 3.80 3S8
2042 10,300,000 5.00 109.052° 3.88 3T6
2043 10,825,000 5.00 108.627" 3.93 303
2044 11,380,000 5.00 108.204" 3.98 3Vl

$66,715,000, 5.25% Term Bonds due September 1, 2049; Price 109.029"; Yield 4.12%; CUSIPT 717893 3W9
$86,745,000, 5.25% Term Bonds due September 1, 2054; Price 108.274", Yield 4.21% CUSIPT 717893 3X7

* Price to first optional redemption date of September 1, 2034.

T The above CUSIP (Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures) numbers have been assigned by an organization not affiliated
with the City or the Underwriters, and such parties are not responsible for the selection or use of the CUSIP numbers. The CUSIP numbers are
included solely for the convenience of bondholders and no representation is made as to the correctness of such CUSIP numbers. CUSIP
numbers assigned to securities may be changed during the term of such securities based on a number of factors including, but not limited to,
the refunding or defeasance of such securities or the use of secondary market financial products. Neither the City nor the Underwriters have
agreed to, and there is no duty or obligation to, update this Official Statement to reflect any change or correction in the CUSIP numbers set
forth above. CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association (“ABA”). CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP Global
Services, which is managed on behalf of the ABA by FactSet Research Systems Inc.
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City or the Underwriters (hereinafter defined)
to give any information or to make any representations with respect to the Bonds other than those contained in this Official
Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon. This Official
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds
by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.

This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Bonds. The information set forth
herein has been obtained from the City and other sources believed to be reliable and has been reviewed by the
Underwriters in accordance with and as part of their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as
applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by the
Underwriters who provided this sentence for inclusion here. This information and expressions of opinions herein are
subject to change without notice, and neither delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City or the Philadelphia
Water Department (the “Water Department”) since the date hereof.

Statements contained in this Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto, which involve estimates, forecasts or
other matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be
construed as representations of fact. If and when included in this Official Statement, the words “expects,” “forecasts,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “intends,” “estimates,” “assumes” and analogous expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those that have been projected. Such risks and uncertainties which
could affect the operation of the Systems, and/or the amount of revenue collected by the City or the Water Department
include, among others, changes in economic conditions and various other events, conditions and circumstances, many of
which are beyond the control of the City and the Water Department. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. The City
disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement
contained herein to reflect any changes in the City’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions
or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

Assured Guaranty Inc. (“AG”) makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds.
In addition, AG has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any responsibility
for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure contained herein, or omitted
herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding AG supplied by AG and presented under
the heading “BOND INSURANCE” and APPENDIX VIII - “SPECIMEN MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE POLICY.”

Upon their issuance, the Bonds will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, will not be listed on
any stock or other securities exchange and neither the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
nor any other federal, state, municipal or other governmental entity, other than the City (subject to the limitations set
forth herein), will have passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Official Statement.

This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the securities referred to herein and may not be
reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. This Official Statement is being provided to prospective
purchasers in electronic format from the following websites: www.munios.com and www.emma.msrb.org as well as either
bound or printed format (“Original Bound Format”). This Official Statement may be relied upon only if it is in its Original
Bound Format or if it is printed or saved in full directly from such websites.

The order and placement of materials in this Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto, are not to be deemed to
be a determination of relevance, materiality or importance, and this Official Statement, including the Appendices, must
be considered in its entirety.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF THE
CITY, THE WATER DEPARTMENT AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND
RISKS INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE
SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING
AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS
DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.



IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERING OF THE BONDS, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE BONDS AT A
LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING,
IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME WITHOUT PRIOR NOTICE.

This Official Statement speaks only as of the date printed on the cover page hereof. This Official Statement, and any
supplement or amendment thereto, will be delivered to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through the Electronic
Municipal Market Access System.

References to website addresses presented herein, including the City’s Investor Relations Website or any other website
containing information about the City, the Water Department, or any third party, are for informational purposes only
and may be in the form of a hyperlink solely for the reader’s convenience. Unless specified otherwise, such websites and
the information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement for any
purpose, including for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT SUMMARY

This summary is furnished to provide limited introductory information regarding the terms of the Bonds
and is qualified by the more detailed descriptions appearing in this Official Statement and the appendices hereto.
The offering of the Bonds is made only by means of this entire Official Statement, and no person is authorized
to make offers to sell or solicit offers to buy the Bonds unless the entire Official Statement is delivered. Certain
terms used in this summary are defined elsewhere in this Official Statement.

The City The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (the “City”) is a corporation, body politic
and city of the first class of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

The Bonds $595,780,000 City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds, Series 2024C (the “Bonds”), as shown on the inside front cover page of this
Official Statement.

Use of Proceeds The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance (i) capital improvements to
the System, (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund (iii) the
purchase and cancellation of the Purchased Bonds set forth on SCHEDULE 1
hereto and (iv) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. See “PLAN OF
FINANCE”, “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and
“SCHEDULE 1” contained herein.

Maturity The Bonds mature on the dates in the principal amounts set forth in the inside cover
page hereof.
Interest Interest on the Bonds accrues from their date of delivery and is payable on March 1

and September 1 of each year, commencing on March 1, 2025, until maturity or
earlier redemption.

Redemption The Bonds are subject to optional and mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to
maturity as described herein. See “THE BONDS — Redemption Provisions”
contained herein.

Ratings Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”), Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) and
S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”) have assigned credit ratings of “A+", stable outlook,
“Al1”, stable outlook and “A+”, stable outlook, respectively, to the Bonds. The
Bonds are expected to be assigned insured ratings of “Al1”, stable outlook, by
Moody’s and “AA”, stable outlook, by S&P based upon the Policy to be issued by
AGQG at the time of delivery of the Bonds. See “RATINGS” contained herein.

Security for the Bonds  The Bonds, together with other Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds currently
outstanding or hereafter issued under the General Ordinance, are revenue bonds
secured by and payable from (i) all rents, rates, fees and charges imposed or
charged for connection to, or use or product of or services generated by the System
to the ultimate users thereof, (ii)all payments under bulk contracts with
municipalities, governmental instrumentalities or other bulk users, (iii) all
subsidies or payments payable by federal, state or local governments or
governmental agencies on account of the cost of operation of, or the payment of
the principal of or interest on monies borrowed to finance costs chargeable to the
System, (iv) all grants, payments and contributions made in aid or on account of
the System exclusive of grants and similar payments and contributions solely in aid
of construction and (v)all accounts, contract rights and general intangibles
representing the foregoing (collectively referred to as, the “Project Revenues”).



Debt Reserve Account

Parity Bonds

Rate Covenant

Book-Entry Only
System

The City pledges, assigns and grants to the Fiscal Agent, in trust for the security
and payment of all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, a lien on and security
interest in all Project Revenues and all amounts on deposit in or standing to the
credit of the Water and Wastewater Funds (other than the Rebate Fund), for the
equal and ratable benefit of all present and future holders of Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) issued under the General
Ordinance. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
BONDS” contained herein.

On the date of issuance of the Bonds, after the deposit of a portion of the proceeds
of the Bonds to the Debt Reserve Account, the outstanding balance in the Debt
Reserve Account will be sufficient to meet the Debt Reserve Requirement for the
Bonds together with all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds outstanding after
the issuance of the Bonds. If at any time and for any reason, the monies in the Debt
Service Account of the Sinking Fund are insufficient to pay as and when due, the
principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bond, the Fiscal Agent is authorized and directed to withdraw from the
Debt Reserve Account and pay over the amount of such deficiency for deposit in
the Debt Service Account. There are no Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
for which a Series Debt Reserve Requirement has been established. See
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Debt
Reserve Account” herein.

All Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) are
equally and ratably secured under the General Ordinance. There are no
Subordinated Bonds outstanding. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Parity Bonds” herein.

The City has covenanted to Bondholders that it will establish rents, rates, fees and
charges for the use of the System to yield Net Revenues in each Fiscal Year
sufficient to meet the requirements of each of the three following coverage tests,
(1) Net Revenues will equal at least 1.20 times Debt Service Requirements
(excluding Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds) for such
Fiscal Year; (2) Net Revenues (recalculated to exclude any transfers from the Rate
Stabilization Fund) will equal at least 90% of Debt Service Requirements
(excluding Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds) for such
Fiscal Year; and (3) Net Revenues will equal at least 1.00 times the following
payments and transfers to be made in such Fiscal Year: (i) the Debt Service
Requirements (including Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated
Bonds); (ii) amounts required to be deposited into the Debt Reserve Account;
(ii1) debt service payable on General Obligation Bonds issued for the System;
(iv) debt service due on Interim Debt; and (v) the Capital Account Deposit
Amount, less any amounts transferred from the Residual Fund to the Capital
Account. As of the date hereof, no General Obligation Bonds issued for the System
are outstanding, no Interim Debt is outstanding and no Subordinated Bonds are
outstanding. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
BONDS — Rate Covenant” contained herein.

The Bonds are initially issuable only to Cede & Co., the nominee of The Depository
Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), pursuant to a book-entry only
system. No physical delivery of the Bonds will be made to the beneficial owners
of the Bonds. Principal of and interest on the Bonds will be paid to Cede & Co.,
which will distribute such payments to the participating members of DTC for
remittance to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. See APPENDIX VII herein.

ii



No Payment Defaults

Fiscal Agent/Registrar

Tax Exemption

Investment
Considerations

The City has never failed to make a payment of principal of or interest on its Water
and Wastewater Revenue Bonds.

The Fiscal Agent and registrar for the Bonds is U.S. Bank Trust Company, National
Association, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross
income for purposes of federal income tax, assuming continuing compliance with
the requirements of the federal tax laws. Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax
preference for purposes of federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals;
however, such interest is taken into account in determining the adjusted financial
statement income of applicable corporations for purposes of computing the
alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. Co-Bond Counsel is also
of the opinion that, under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, interest
on the Bonds is exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and corporate net
income tax. See “TAX MATTERS” herein.

For certain investment considerations relating to the decision to purchase the
Bonds, see “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS” herein.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
relating to

$595,780,000
CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds,
Series 2024C

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
General

This Official Statement, including the cover page, inside front cover page and appendices attached
hereto, sets forth certain information in connection with the issuance by the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania,
a corporation, body politic and city of the first class existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania (the “City”) of the above-captioned bonds (the “Bonds”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise
defined in this Official Statement have the meanings ascribed to them in APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF
CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS — Certain Definitions.”

The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance (i) capital improvements to the System
(hereinafter defined), (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund, (iii) the purchase and
cancellation of certain of the City’s outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds validly tendered and
accepted for purchase (the “Purchased Bonds”) pursuant to the City’s Invitation to Tender Bonds dated
October 15,2024 (as amended and supplemented, the “Invitation”) set forth on SCHEDULE 1 hereto and (iv) the
costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. See “PLAN OF FINANCE” and “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES
OF FUNDS” herein.

The Bonds are being issued under (i) The First Class City Revenue Bond Act, P.L. 955, Act No. 234 of
the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, approved October 18, 1972 (the “Act”) and
(i1) the City’s Restated General Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989, approved by the
Mayor June 24, 1993 (the “Restated General Ordinance”), as supplemented and amended from time to time,
including by the Eighteenth Supplemental Ordinance, approved by the Mayor on December 8, 2015 (the
“Eighteenth Supplemental Ordinance”), the Twenty-Third Supplemental Ordinance, approved by the Mayor on
June 26, 2020 (the “Twenty-Third Supplemental Ordinance”) and the Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance
approved by the Mayor on March 29, 2023 (the “Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance”), which provides
specific authority for the issuance of the Bonds. The Restated General Ordinance, as supplemented or amended
from time to time, is referred to as the “General Ordinance.” All bonds issued under the General Ordinance
(whether prior to or following the date hereof) are referred to herein as “Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds.”
U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, is acting as Fiscal Agent (the
“Fiscal Agent”) for the Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds.

Pursuant to the Act, the City, as a city of the first class, is authorized to issue revenue bonds to finance
revenue producing projects and to refund certain outstanding bonds, including revenue bonds issued under the
Act, but the bonds must be payable solely from Project Revenues as defined in the General Ordinance (the
“Project Revenues”).

Pursuant to the Act, the issuance of any such bonds must be authorized by a supplemental ordinance to
the General Ordinance that has been validated by filing with the Court of Common Pleas of the County of
Philadelphia a transcript of the proceedings of such authorization (each, a “Transcript of Proceedings”). The
Transcript of Proceedings includes the applicable supplemental bond ordinance, a report of the chief fiscal officer
(i.e., the City’s Director of Finance) describing the project and establishing that Project Revenues will be



sufficient to support debt service on all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, and an opinion of the City
Solicitor to the effect that, under the General Ordinance, holders or registered owners of the Bonds will have no
claim upon the taxing power or general revenues of the City nor any lien upon any property of the City other
than Project Revenues. The report of the chief fiscal officer may be based on an independent engineer’s report.
The City filed the Transcript of Proceedings for the Fighteenth Supplemental Ordinance, Twenty-Third
Supplemental Ordinance, and Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance as required under the Act, and no
challenge to the validity of any of the proceedings was filed.

In connection with the authorization for the Bonds, the Eighteenth Supplemental Ordinance is available
to the public at: https://phila.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=2506571&GUID=8DA73A7A-64FF-
426D-94CE-94A0876AC283&Options=ID|Text|&Search=eighteenth+supplemental+ordinance, the Twenty-
Third Supplemental Ordinance is available to the public at:
https://phila.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?1D=4432733&GUID=EDC72C29-4B15-4B15-9829-
2399849F9A51&Options=ID|Text|&Search=twenty-third+supplemental+ordinance, and the Twenty-Seventh
Supplemental Ordinance, including the independent engineer’s report dated December 20, 2022 (as referenced
in the Twenty-Seventh  Supplemental  Ordinance), is available to the public at:
https://phila.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6021465&GUID=90C915C7-435E-41C7-9BD4-
AEAO06E317D47&Options=ID|Text|&Search=twenty-Seventh. But see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Independent Engineer’s Report Not Included or Incorporated in this Official
Statement and No Reliance Thereon” herein.

The Water Department

Pursuant to the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter (the “Charter”), the City’s Water Department (the
“Water Department”) has the power and duty to operate, maintain, repair and improve the City’s water system
(the “Water System”) and the City’s wastewater system (the “Wastewater System” and together with the Water
System, the “Water and Wastewater Systems” or the “System”). The Water Department, which began water
service in the 1800s, supplies water and wastewater services to customers within the City and has one wholesale
water contract and ten wholesale wastewater contracts with entities outside the City. Under the General
Ordinance, the Water and Wastewater Systems are treated as one combined utility for the purpose of revenue
bond financing. See “THE WATER DEPARTMENT” herein.

Rate Covenant Under the General Ordinance

Under the General Ordinance, the City must set rates and charges at levels that provide sufficient
revenue to meet Operating Expenses of the System, including Interfund Charges (defined herein) for services
provided to the Water Department, and Debt Service Requirements on all obligations issued for the Water
Department, as well as to meet other specific covenants contained in the General Ordinance. For a more detailed
discussion, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS - Rate Covenant” and
“RATES” contained herein.

Rate Ordinance and Ratemaking Board

An independent rate-making body known as the Philadelphia Water, Sewer, and Storm Water Rate
Board (the “Rate Board”) is solely responsible for fixing and regulating rates and charges for supplying water,
sewer and stormwater services. The Rate Board was established pursuant to Ordinance No. 130251-A, signed
by the Mayor on January 20, 2014 (the “Rate Ordinance”). For a further discussion of rate setting, the Rate
Board and the Rate Ordinance, see “RATES” below.

Security and Sources of Payment for the Bonds

The Bonds, equally and ratably secured with all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, other than
Subordinated Bonds (of which none currently are outstanding), are payable from and secured by a pledge of all



Project Revenues and amounts on deposit in the Water and Wastewater Funds (other than the Rebate Fund). See
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” herein and APPENDIXII -
“SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS — Summary of Operative Provisions
of the General Ordinance.”

The Pennvest loans, the WIFIA loans and the Commercial Paper Notes (each as hereinafter defined) are
payable and secured on a parity with all other Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds. See “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Parity Bonds” herein.

Under the General Ordinance, a Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund has been established to
secure the Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, other than Subordinated Bonds (of which none currently are
outstanding) or any Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds of a series for which a separate Series Debt Reserve
Requirement has been established (of which none currently are outstanding). On the date of issuance of the
Bonds, after the deposit of a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds to the Debt Reserve Account, the amount on
deposit in the Debt Reserve Account will be sufficient to meet the Debt Reserve Requirement for all Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds outstanding after the issuance of the Bonds, including the Bonds. For a discussion
of the Debt Reserve Account, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Debt
Reserve Account” herein.

Capital Improvement Program

As required by the Charter, the Water Department has adopted a six-year capital improvement program
to plan and manage the capital investments necessary to fulfill the Water Department’s service missions, comply
with regulatory requirements and preserve and upgrade the System (the “Water Capital Improvement Program”).
The Water Department updates the Water Capital Improvement Program annually as part of its yearly budget
process based on a detailed project review by engineering staff, external engineering consultants, and senior
management. For a more detailed discussion of the Water Capital Improvement Program and the Water
Department’s capital budgeting process, see “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM” herein.

Financial Information

The operations of the Water Department are accounted for in the Water Fund, which is an enterprise
fund of the City. The Water Fund is an accounting convention established pursuant to the Charter to account for
the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses of, and to measure Rate Covenant compliance for, the Water and
Wastewater System.

The City is required to provide quarterly reports to the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation
Authority (“PICA”) and uses its Quarterly City Manager’s Reports to satisfy this requirement. Such reports,
which contain estimated financial data for the Water Fund for the period set forth therein, are released within 45
days following the end of the applicable quarter and the most recent versions of such reports are available on the
Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board
(“MSRB”) and the City’s Investor Website. The most recent Quarterly City Manager’s Report is the report for
the period ending June 30, 2024, which was released on August 15, 2024. The next Quarterly City Manager’s
Report is the report for the period ending September 30, 2024, and it is expected to be released on or about
November 15, 2024. The City is also required by the Charter to issue, within 120 days after the close of each
Fiscal Year, a statement as of the end of the Fiscal Year showing the balances in all funds of the City, the amounts
of the City’s known liabilities, and such other information as is necessary to furnish a true picture of the City’s
financial condition (the “Annual Financial Report”). The Annual Financial Report, which is released on or about
October 28 of each year, is intended to meet these requirements and is unaudited. The Annual Financial Report
contains financial statements for all City governmental funds and blended component units presented on the
modified accrual basis. The Annual Financial Report also contains a budgetary comparison schedule for the
Water Fund in the supplementary information. The City released the Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year
2024 (the “FY 2024 AFR (Unaudited)”), on October 28, 2024 and posted it on EMMA on October 29, 2024.



The City reports its financial performance for each Fiscal Year on a consolidated basis in its audited
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (the “ACFR”) which is published not later than February 28 of each
year. The City’s ACFR for Fiscal Year 2023, which includes audited financials of and other information relating
to the Water Fund, was filed on the Electronic Municipal Market Access System of the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) on February 25, 2024, and is available at http://www.emma.msrb.org. The City
Controller has examined and expressed opinions on the basic financial statements of the City contained in the
ACEFR for Fiscal Year 2023. See APPENDIX III - “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA - City Finances and Financial Procedures — Independent Audit and Opinion
of the City Controller” attached hereto.

The financial statements of the Water Fund for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023, attached hereto as
APPENDIX I, are derived from the ACFR for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023. The financial statements
pertaining to the Water Fund are derived from the ACFR in order to present the financial condition of the Water
Fund separately from the financial condition of the City and its other funds and units as a whole. The City
Controller has neither examined nor expressed an opinion on the financial statements of the Water Fund
contained in APPENDIX I to this Official Statement or on any other financial data contained in this Official
Statement, except as noted in the preceding paragraph as to the ACFR.

The City Controller has neither participated in the preparation of this Official Statement nor in the
preparation of the budget estimates and projections and cash flow statements and forecasts set forth in various
tables contained in this Official Statement except as noted regarding the ACFR. The City Controller expresses
no opinion with respect to any of the data contained in this Official Statement.

Miscellaneous

Brief descriptions of the Water Department, the Bonds and the security therefor, and certain information
about the City are included herein. All references herein to the Act, the Charter, the General Ordinance, the
Continuing Disclosure Agreement and the Invitation are qualified in all respects by reference to each such
document in its entirety. The FY 2024 AFR (Unaudited), ACFR, and the financial statements of the Water Fund
are available on the City’s Investor Website at http://www.phila.gov/investor (the “City’s Investor Website”).

The “Terms of Use” statement of the City’s Investor Website, which applies to all users of the City’s
Investor Website, provides, among other things, that the information contained therein is provided for the
convenience of the user, that the City is not obligated to update such information, and that the information may
not provide all information that may be of interest to investors. The information contained on the City’s Investor
Website does not constitute an offer to buy or sell securities, nor is it a solicitation therefor. The information
contained in the City’s Investor Website is not incorporated by reference in this Official Statement and persons
considering the purchase of the Bonds should rely only on information contained in this Official Statement or
incorporated by reference herein.

The foregoing statement as to filing or furnishing of additional information reflects the City’s current
practices but is not a contractual obligation to the holders of the City’s bonds. The foregoing information is
furnished solely to provide limited introductory information with respect to the Bonds and does not purport to
be comprehensive or definitive. All such information is qualified in its entirety by reference to the more detailed
descriptions appearing elsewhere in this Official Statement, inclusive of the Appendices, which should be read
in its entirety, and to the complete documents referenced herein. The sale of the Bonds is made only by means
of this entire Official Statement.

The financial statements of the Water Fund are attached hereto as APPENDIX I. Summaries of certain
provisions of the Act, the General Ordinance, the Eighteenth Supplemental Ordinance, the Twenty-Third
Supplemental Ordinance and the Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance (including definitions of certain
terms), are attached hereto as APPENDIX II. A description of the Government and Financial Information of the
City is attached hereto as APPENDIX III. The City of Philadelphia Socioeconomic Information is attached



hereto as APPENDIX IV. The form of approving opinion of Co-Bond Counsel to be delivered in connection
with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds is attached hereto as APPENDIX V. The form of Continuing
Disclosure Agreement relating to the Bonds is attached hereto as APPENDIX VI. Information relating to the
Depository Trust Company is attached hereto as APPENDIX VII.

PLAN OF FINANCE

The City is issuing the Bonds to provide funds to finance (i) capital improvements to the System, (ii) a
deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund, (iii) the purchase and cancellation of the Purchased
Bonds set forth on SCHEDULE 1 hereto as further described below, and (iv) the costs of issuance relating to the
Bonds. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROGRAM” herein.

The City, with the assistance of Jefferies LLC (“Jefferies”), as lead dealer manager, and Siebert
Williams Shank & Co., LLC (“Siebert”), as co-dealer manager, released the Invitation to the beneficial owners
of certain of its outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds on the terms set forth therein. Subject to the
terms and conditions of the Invitation, upon the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the City will purchase and
cancel certain outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds validly tendered and accepted for purchase
(i.e., the Purchased Bonds set forth in SCHEDULE 1). The process of the City inviting bondholders to tender
their Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (that are subject to the Invitation) and determining which of the
tendered Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds to accept and purchase is collectively referred to herein as the
“Tender Offer.”

The City expects to pay the purchase price for the Purchased Bonds on the Date of Delivery of the
Bonds, together with the costs related thereto, from a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds. The Purchased Bonds
will be canceled on the Date of Delivery and will no longer be deemed Outstanding. See “ESTIMATED
SOURCES AND USES OF BOND PROCEEDS.” Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds subject to the Tender
Offer not so purchased pursuant to the Invitation will remain outstanding and continue to be subject to the
General Ordinance.

The Invitation is available: (i) on EMMA and (ii) on the website of the Information Agent and Tender
Agent at www.globic.com/phillywater.

This description is not intended to summarize the terms of the Invitation, or to solicit offers to tender. The
City’s offer to purchase certain of its outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds is made only
through the Invitation and beneficial holders thereof should refer solely to the Invitation, including all
Appendices, notices, amendments, and supplements thereto, if any, for information regarding the Tender
Offer.
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The following table sets forth estimated sources and uses of the proceeds of the Bonds.

Sources of Funds Total
Principal Amount of the Bonds $595,780,000.00
Original Issue Premium 61.633.237.35

Total Sources of Funds $657.413,237.35

Uses of Funds
Deposit to Bond Proceeds Account of Construction Fund $308,000,000.00
Deposit to Debt Reserve Account 18,691,770.25
Purchase and cancellation of Purchased Bonds 325,569,494.74
Costs of Issuance’ 5.151,972.36

Total Uses of Funds $657.413,237.35

T Includes Underwriters’ discount; legal, printing, rating agency, consultant, Fiscal Agent and financial
advisor fees; and other fees and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and offering of the
Bonds and the Tender Offer, including the cost of the municipal bond insurance policy.

THE BONDS
General

The Bonds will be issued in the aggregate principal amount, will be dated, will bear interest at the rates
and will mature on the dates and in the amounts shown on the inside front cover page of this Official Statement.
The Bonds will be issued in fully registered form, registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) pursuant to DTC’s Book-Entry Only System. See APPENDIX VII herein.

The Bonds will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Interest on the
Bonds, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months, will be payable
semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing on March 1, 2025 (each, an “Interest
Payment Date”). The Record Date for the Bonds will be each February 15 and August 15, respectively.

Redemption Provisions

Optional Redemption. The Bonds maturing prior to September 1, 2036 are not subject to optional
redemption. The Bonds maturing on or after September 1, 2036 are subject to optional redemption prior to
maturity on or after September 1, 2034, at the option of the City, as a whole at any time or in part from time to
time in the maturities selected by the City and within a maturity and a given interest rate, if applicable, by lot as
determined by the Fiscal Agent at the redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be
redeemed, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.
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Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. The Bonds maturing on September 1, 2049 and September 1,
2054 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, as drawn by lot by the Fiscal Agent,
on September 1 of the following years at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amounts set forth
below.

Bonds Maturing September 1, 2049

Year Principal Amount

2045 $11,980,000

2046 12,625,000

2047 13,305,000

2048 14,025,000

2049 14,780,000
*Stated maturity.

Bonds Maturing September 1, 2054

Year Principal Amount

2050 $15,575,000

2051 16,415,000

2052 17,300,000

2053 18,235,000

2054 19,220,000
*Stated maturity.

The principal amount of the Bonds required to be redeemed on each mandatory sinking fund redemption
date may be reduced by the principal amount of the Bonds theretofore redeemed (otherwise than by mandatory
sinking fund redemption) or delivered to the Fiscal Agent for cancellation, and not theretofore applied as a credit
against any mandatory sinking fund redemption obligation. Any such reduction will be applied as a credit against
the stated maturity or the mandatory sinking fund obligation for the year or years (and in the applicable
amount(s)) selected by the City.

Notice of Redemption

Notice of the call for any redemption of Bonds prior to maturity shall be given in the name of the City
and shall contain the following information: “CUSIP” number; and, in the case of a partial redemption of any
Bond, the certificate number and the respective principal amounts of the Bonds to be redeemed; the publication
date; the redemption date; the redemption price and the name and address of the redemption agent, and shall
further identify the Bonds by date of issue, interest rate and maturity date. Such notice shall be given by the
Fiscal Agent by depositing a copy of the notice of redemption in the United States mail, first-class, postage
prepaid, at least 20 days and not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, to the registered owner
of each such Bond to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration books kept by the Fiscal Agent,
provided, however, that notice of redemption shall be given by certified mail, return receipt requested, to each
owner of at least $1,000,000 aggregate principal amount of Bonds.

Notice having been so given and provisions having been made for redemption from funds on deposit
with the Fiscal Agent, all interest on Bonds called for redemption accruing after the date fixed for redemption



shall cease, and the holders or registered owners of the Bonds called for redemption shall have no security,
benefit or lien under the General Ordinance or any right except to receive payment of the redemption price.

If at the time of mailing notice of redemption the City shall not have deposited with the Fiscal Agent
monies sufficient to redeem the Bonds called for redemption, such notice may state that it is conditional in that
it is subject to the deposit of the redemption monies with the Fiscal Agent not later than the redemption date,
and such notice shall be of no effect unless such monies are so deposited.

Debt Service Requirements
Table 1 on the following page sets forth the aggregate Debt Service Requirements for all outstanding

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, including the Bonds, and reflects the purchase and cancellation of the
Purchased Bonds.
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Table 1
Debt Service Requirements for Fiscal Years Ending June 30
for Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
As of November 13, 2024"

Fiscal Aggregate Debt

Year Service on Bonds 2024C 2024C

Ending Outstanding'" Principal Interest Total
2025@ § 224,480,666 - $ 9,051,795 $ 233,532,461
2026 224,459,682 4,400,000 30,062,650 258,922,332
2027 231,899,955 4,625,000 29,837,025 266,361,980
2028 209,246,695 7,375,000 29,537,025 246,158,720
2029 203,105,572 8,485,000 29,140,525 240,731,097
2030 178,633,221 31,335,000 28,145,025 238,113,246
2031 172,570,083 39,085,000 26,384,525 238,039,608
2032 165,196,242 46,175,000 24,253,025 235,624,267
2033 168,602,263 24,615,000 22,483,275 215,700,538
2034 162,887,407 24,465,000 21,256,275 208,608,682
2035 156,479,070 31,730,000 19,851,400 208,060,470
2036 161,959,714 28,185,000 18,353,525 208,498,239
2037 175,206,200 15,285,000 17,266,775 207,757,975
2038 155,627,748 35,810,000 15,989,400 207,427,148
2039 153,096,049 39,805,000 14,099,025 207,000,074
2040 160,502,823 34,605,000 12,238,775 207,346,598
2041 172,450,765 24,040,000 10,772,650 207,263,415
2042 186,180,395 9,795,000 9,926,775 205,902,170
2043 184,312,917 10,300,000 9,424,400 204,037,317
2044 178,654,408 10,825,000 8,896,275 198,375,683
2045 167,821,834 11,380,000 8,341,150 187,542,984
2046 167,761,262 11,980,000 7,742,175 187,483,437
2047 133,372,894 12,625,000 7,096,294 153,094,188
2048 129,569,100 13,305,000 6,415,631 149,289,731
2049 129,576,319 14,025,000 5,698,219 149,299,538
2050 129,571,256 14,780,000 4,942,088 149,293,344
2051 129,574,756 15,575,000 4,145,269 149,295,025
2052 118,077,825 16,415,000 3,305,531 137,798,356
2053 89,605,375 17,300,000 2,420,513 109,325,888
2054 70,523,975 18,235,000 1,487,719 90,246,694
2055 21,883,750 19,220,000 504,525 41,608,275
Total® $4,912,890,222 $595,780,000 $439,069,258 $5,947,739,479

" Reflects the issuance of the Bonds and the purchase and cancellation of the Purchased Bonds; totals may not add due to rounding.
M Does not reflect the Pennvest 2024A Bond or the Pennvest 2024B Bond, no portion of which is outstanding as of the date of this
Official Statement, or the Commercial Paper Notes Outstanding.

@ Includes debt service for the full fiscal year.
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SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS
Parity Bonds

All outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) are equally
and ratably secured to the extent provided under the General Ordinance by the pledge of Project Revenues
derived from the System.

Currently, there are no Qualified Swaps or other Swaps Agreements, and no Subordinated Bonds
outstanding under the General Ordinance.

Each of the Pennvest loans and the WIFIA loans (each as hereinafter defined) is evidenced and secured
by a Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond issued from the City directly to the lender. Commercial Paper Notes
constitute Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds under the General Ordinance. See “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM - Pennvest Loans,” “— Commercial Paper Program” and “— WIFIA” herein.

Pledge of Project Revenues

Pursuant to the General Ordinance, the City pledges and assigns to the Fiscal Agent, in trust, for the
security and payment of all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) issued under
or subject to the General Ordinance, and grants to the Fiscal Agent, in trust, a lien on and security interest in all
Project Revenues and amounts on deposit in or standing to the credit of the Water and Wastewater Funds (other
than the Rebate Fund). The Fiscal Agent must hold and apply the security interest in and lien on Project
Revenues and funds and accounts, in trust, for the equal and ratable benefit and security of all present and future
holders of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds). The General Ordinance
provides that such pledge also may be for the benefit of the provider of a Credit Facility or a Qualified Swap (as
defined therein), or any other person who undertakes to provide monies for the account of the City for the
payment of principal or redemption price of and interest on any series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
(other than Subordinated Bonds), on an equal and ratable basis with the holders of Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds).

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Priority and Application of Project Revenues

The priority and application of Project Revenues under the terms of the General Ordinance and other
amounts deposited into the Revenue Fund are set forth in the waterfall below:

payment of Operating Expenses;

payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds

issued under the General Ordinance (except Subordinated Bonds), regularly scheduled payments under
any parity Swap Agreement, payments under any parity Credit Facility to repay advances thereunder to
pay any of the foregoing and payments with respect to fees and expenses in respect of any parity Credit
Facility;

if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, payments into the Debt Reserve Account, including
each Series Debt Reserve Account thereof, if any, to the extent necessary to cure a deficiency therein;

if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfer described in (3), payments
into any debt reserve account established within the Sinking Fund and not held for the equal and ratable
benefit of all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) to the extent
necessary to cure a deficiency therein;

5 if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfers described in (3) and (4),
payment of principal or redemption price of and interest on any Subordinated Bonds and payments due
under any Swap Agreement or Credit Facility respecting Subordinated Bonds;

if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfers described in (3) through

6 (5), all payments due under a Qualified Swap, other than regularly scheduled swap payments, including,
without limitation, any payments due to a Swap Provider upon the early termination of a Swap
Agreement;

if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfers described in (3) through

7 (6), transfer to the City of the amount necessary to pay General Obligation Bonds issued for the System;
if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfers described in (3) through
8 (7), transfer to the Rate Stabilization Fund of the amount determined by the Water Commissioner;

if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfers described in (3) through
9 (8), transfer to the Capital Account of the Construction Fund the sum of the Capital Account Deposit
Amount, the Debt Service Withdrawal and the Operating Expense Withdrawal, less any amounts
transferred to the Capital Account from the Residual Fund; and

if the transfers in (1) and (2) are made when due, and following any transfers described in (3) through
10 (9), after providing for repayment of any interfund loans, transfer to the Residual Fund of any amount
remaining on deposit in the Revenue Fund.
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The General Ordinance permits the application of Project Revenues to pay Interfund Charges (defined
herein) and permits monies to be transferred in each Fiscal Year as part of the fiscal year-end closing process
from the Residual Fund to the City’s General Fund in an amount not to exceed the lesser of (A) all Net Reserve
Earnings (as defined below) and (B) $4,994,000. “Net Reserve Earnings” means the amount of interest earnings
during the Fiscal Year on amounts in the Debt Reserve Account and the Subordinated Bond Fund less the amount
of interest earnings during the Fiscal Year on amounts in any such reserve funds and accounts giving rise to a
rebate obligation pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). In
Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022, the Water Department transferred $2,586,100.00, and $575,642.97, respectively,
from the Residual Fund to the City’s General Fund.

For Fiscal Year 2023, no Net Reserve Earnings were transferred from the Residual Fund (nor thereafter
to the City’s General Fund) as part of the Fiscal Year 2023 closing process because no excess funds were
remaining on account in the Debt Reserve Account. As of June 30, 2023, the balance of cash and investments
credited to the Debt Reserve Account was approximately $4.95 million less than the Debt Reserve Requirement.
The difference between the Debt Reserve Account balance and the Debt Reserve Requirement occurred as a
result of draws made on Pennvest loans during Fiscal Year 2023, which increased the Debt Reserve Requirement.
Under the Pennvest loan program, loan proceeds are not permitted to be used to fund any reserve, which resulted
in the difference between the Debt Reserve Account balance and the Debt Reserve Requirement.

As a result of this funding limitation contained in the Pennvest loan program, the City expects to fund
required reserves in connection with draws on Pennvest loans from other available funds of the Water
Department. In Fiscal Year 2024 excess funds were remaining on account in the Debt Reserve Account, and the
Water Department transferred $1,687,101.51 from the Residual Fund to the City’s General Fund as part of the
Fiscal Year 2024 closing process. The budgeted transfer for Fiscal Year 2025 is $4,994,000. For a brief
discussion of the Residual Fund, see “ — Residual Fund” below.

Water and Wastewater Funds

Funds and Accounts. The Act and the General Ordinance establish the following funds and accounts
to be held by the Fiscal Agent:

(a) Revenue Fund;

(b) Sinking Fund and within such fund a Debt Service Account, a Charges Account and a Debt
Reserve Account;

(©) Subordinated Bond Fund,
(d) Rate Stabilization Fund;

(e) Construction Fund and within such fund an Existing Projects Account, a Bonds Proceeds
Account and a Capital Account; and

® Residual Fund and within such fund a Special Water Infrastructure Account.

The foregoing funds are referred to herein as the “Water and Wastewater Funds.” The Water and
Wastewater Funds are required under the General Ordinance to be held separate and apart from all other funds
and accounts of the City and the Fiscal Agent, and the funds and accounts therein shall not be commingled with,
loaned or transferred among themselves or to any other City funds or accounts except as expressly permitted by
the General Ordinance. The General Ordinance also establishes a Rebate Fund, which is not held for the benefit
of the holders of the Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds and provides that the City can direct transfers to the
Rebate Fund at the times and in the amounts necessary to pay any amounts required to be rebated pursuant to
Section 148(f) of the Code.
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Project Revenues. The City is required by the General Ordinance to cause all Project Revenues received
by it on any date to be deposited into the Revenue Fund upon receipt thereof by the City, and the Fiscal Agent
shall, upon receipt of Project Revenues, deposit such Project Revenues into the Revenue Fund. The City and
the Fiscal Agent also shall cause to be deposited into the Revenue Fund such portion of the proceeds of the
Bonds as are designated by Supplemental Ordinance or Bond Committee Determination and any other funds
directed to be deposited into the Revenue Fund by the City. The City has covenanted in the General Ordinance
that it will not direct the Fiscal Agent to transfer, loan or advance proceeds of the Bonds or Project Revenues
from the Water and Wastewater Funds to any City account for application other than as permitted under the
General Ordinance.

Project Revenues include, among other things, rents, rates, fees and charges from users of the products
and services generated by the System (collectively, “rates and charges”). Collection and accounting of rates and
charges are administered by the Water Revenue Bureau within the City’s Department of Revenue. See “THE
WATER DEPARTMENT — Administration” herein. Historically, all rates and charges collected by the Water
Revenue Bureau, whether by cashier, mail, or electronic payment, are recorded upon receipt, and are held
temporarily by the City’s fiscal agent in a consolidated cash account of the City. The City generates a report of
rates and charges collected at each day’s end and transfers, typically on the next day, all rates and charges so
held to one or more accounts controlled by the Fiscal Agent for the Water and Wastewater Funds for deposit by
the Fiscal Agent into the Revenue Fund. The City continues to examine the collection and accounting process
with a view towards causing rates and charges to be deposited with the Fiscal Agent into the Revenue Fund as
and when received.

See APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS —
Summary of Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance” for additional information concerning the priority
and application of Project Revenues and further description of the funds and accounts established under the
General Ordinance and their purposes.

Interfund Loans. If at any time sufficient monies are not available in the Revenue Fund to pay both
Operating Expenses and to make the transfers described above under the heading “SECURITY AND SOURCES
OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Priority and Application of Project Revenues,” then amounts on deposit
in the Construction Fund, Rate Stabilization Fund and/or Residual Fund may be loaned temporarily, at the written
direction of the City, to the Revenue Fund, for the payment of such Operating Expenses until such loaned
amounts are required by the Water Department for purposes of the Fund making the loan. Such interfund loans
permit the Water Department then to use Project Revenues for the other transfers described above under “ —
Priority and Application of Project Revenues.” If a similar deficiency exists in the Construction Fund, amounts
on deposit in any of the Revenue Fund, Rate Stabilization Fund and Residual Fund may be loaned temporarily,
at the written direction of the City, to the Construction Fund, to the extent of the deficiency, until required by
the Water Department for purposes of the Fund making the loan.

The Water Department has from time to time made interfund loans in prior Fiscal Years from the Rate
Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund. The Water Department did not make such loans in Fiscal Years 2022,
2023 or 2024 and does not expect to make a loan from the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund in Fiscal
Year 2025.

Debt Reserve Account

General. The General Ordinance establishes within the Sinking Fund a Debt Reserve Account that will
be funded (if required to be funded) with the proceeds of each series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds;
provided, however, that if the Supplemental Ordinance authorizing a series of Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds shall so authorize, the deposit to the Debt Reserve Account in respect of such Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds may be accumulated from Project Revenues over a period of not more than three Fiscal Years
after the issuance and delivery of the related Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds. The monies and
investments in the Debt Reserve Account will be held and maintained in an amount equal at all times to the Debt
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Reserve Requirement. The monies and investments in the Debt Reserve Account will be held and maintained
for the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of the Bonds and all other Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
outstanding (other than Subordinated Bonds, of which none are outstanding), subject to the provisions of the
General Ordinance described in the following paragraph.

Notwithstanding any provision described in the immediately preceding paragraph to the contrary, a
Supplemental Ordinance may permit the establishment of a Series Debt Reserve Requirement for each Series of
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds issued pursuant to such Supplemental Ordinance, and a separate Series
Debt Reserve Subaccount (if such Series Debt Reserve Requirement is greater than zero dollars ($0)) within the
Debt Reserve Account in respect of such Series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds. The City may not,
however, designate a Series Debt Reserve Requirement for a Series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
unless (i) such Series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds will refund Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds, or (ii) the City first obtains written confirmation from any one Rating Agency then rating the Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds that such action, in and of itself, will not result in a downgrade, suspension or
withdrawal of the credit rating on any Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds outstanding. The City shall deposit
in the Series Debt Reserve Subaccount created pursuant to any Supplemental Ordinance, the Series Debt Reserve
Requirement for such Series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds. The monies and investments in each
Series Debt Reserve Subaccount shall be held and maintained in an amount equal at all times to the Series Debt
Reserve Requirement for such Series secured thereby, as provided in the Supplemental Ordinance authorizing
such Series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds. All amounts in a Series Debt Reserve Subaccount shall
be available solely to secure and pay the Debt Service Requirements of the Series of Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds for which such subaccount was created; and the Holders of such Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds shall otherwise have no interests in or rights to amounts in the Debt Reserve
Account. Similarly, amounts in the Debt Reserve Account or in any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount do
not secure and will not be available to pay Debt Service Requirements of Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds of a series for which a Series Debt Reserve Requirement has been designated that is equal to zero
dollars ($0). (See “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS — Summary of
Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance — Debt Reserve Account” in Appendix II of this Official
Statement.)

To date, the City has not designated a Series Debt Reserve Requirement or established a separate Series
Debt Reserve Subaccount for the any series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds. The City will not
designate a Series Debt Reserve Requirement or establish a separate Series Debt Reserve Subaccount for the
Bonds.

If at any time the monies in the Debt Service Account of the Sinking Fund are insufficient to pay as and
when due the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any series of Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds or other obligations payable from the Debt Service Account (including obligations arising in connection
with Qualified Swap Agreements and Credit Facilities), the Fiscal Agent is required to transfer from the Debt
Reserve Account or, as applicable, any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount, the amount of such deficiency for
deposit in the Debt Service Account.

With respect to any issue of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, in lieu of the required deposit into
the Debt Reserve Account or, as applicable, any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount, the City may cause to be
deposited a surety bond, an insurance policy or an irrevocable letter of credit. In addition, the General Ordinance
authorizes the City to apply monies on deposit in the Debt Reserve Account or, as applicable, any Series Debt
Reserve Subaccount, to purchase a surety bond, an insurance policy or an irrevocable letter of credit. Under the
terms of the General Ordinance, any surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit provided by the City in lieu
of required deposits within the Debt Reserve Account or, as applicable, any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount,
would, at the time of issuance thereof, be required to meet the credit quality requirements of the General
Ordinance as described in APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE
BONDS — Summary of Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance — Debt Reserve Account.”
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Debt Reserve Requirement. As of June 30, 2024, the Debt Reserve Requirement for all outstanding
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds based on maximum annual Debt Service Requirements (net of capitalized
interest) prior to the issuance of the Bonds, was $245,434,505.58. The balance of cash and investments credited
to the Debt Reserve Account as of June 30, 2024, including Net Reserve Earnings in the amount of $1,687,101.51
transferred to the Residual Fund as part of the Fiscal Year 2024 closing process (for further transfer to the City’s
General Fund; see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Priority and Application
of Project Revenues”), was $247,121,605.07.

On the date of issuance of the Bonds, after the deposit of a portion of the proceeds of the Bonds to the
Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund, money on deposit in the Debt Reserve Account will satisfy the Debt
Reserve Requirement for all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds outstanding, including the Bonds.

Rate Stabilization Fund

Pursuant to the General Ordinance, as of June 30 of each Fiscal Year, the City may transfer (i) from the
Rate Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund or (ii) from the Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund, the
amount determined by the Water Commissioner to be transferred for such Fiscal Year. For purposes of
calculating Net Revenues, transfers from the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund are included in the
calculation, whereas transfers from the Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund are excluded from Net
Revenues. As discussed above under “Water and Wastewater Funds — Interfund Loans,” amounts on deposit in
the Rate Stabilization Fund also may be loaned temporarily to the Revenue Fund to pay Operating Expenses
under certain conditions. See also Table 9 — Philadelphia Water Department Historical Operating Results and
APPENDIX IT — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS — Summary of
Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance — Rate Stabilization Fund.”

Residual Fund

Amounts on deposit in the Residual Fund may be used at the written direction of the City (i) to pay
Operating Expenses; (ii) to fund transfers to any fund or account established under the General Ordinance or
under a Supplemental Ordinance (other than the Revenue Fund and the Rate Stabilization Fund); (iii) to make
payments required under any Exchange Agreement; (iv) for the payment of principal, redemption premium, if
any, and interest on any revenue bonds or notes (the proceeds of which were applied in respect of the System)
issued under the Act but not under the General Ordinance; (v) for the payment of principal, redemption premium,
if any, and interest on any General Obligation Bonds issued for the System; (vi) for the payment of principal,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on other general obligation debt issued in respect of the System;
(vii) for the payment of amounts due under capitalized leases or similar obligations relating to the System; and
(viii) to fund a transfer to the City’s “General Fund” in an amount not to exceed the lower of (A) all Net Reserve
Earnings or (B) $4,994,000. See APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR
THE BONDS — Summary of Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance — Residual Fund.” In addition, as
discussed above under “Water and Wastewater Funds — Interfund Loans,” amounts on deposit in the Residual
Fund also may be loaned temporarily to the Revenue Fund to pay Operating Expenses under certain conditions.
For a discussion of certain policies that the Rate Board adopted, including for the target amount to be maintained
in the Residual Fund, see “RATES — Philadelphia Water, Sewer and Stormwater Rate Board.”

Additional Sources of Funds for Deficiencies in Sinking Fund
At the written direction of the City, the General Ordinance permits monies on account in the Capital
Account of the Construction Fund and in the Residual Fund to be utilized to cure deficiencies in the Sinking

Fund. See APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS -
Summary of Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance — Construction Fund” and “— Residual Fund.”
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Rate Covenant

Under the General Ordinance, the City has made certain covenants (collectively, the “Rate Covenant”)
concerning the City’s imposition of rates and charges sufficient to support the System. The Rate Covenant
requires, while any Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds remain outstanding, the City to establish rents, rates,
fees and charges for the use of the Water and Wastewater Systems to yield Net Revenues (defined below) in
each Fiscal Year in sufficient amounts to satisfy the requirements of each of the three following coverage tests.

(1 Net Revenues will equal at least 1.20 times Debt Service Requirements, excluding Debt Service
Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds (“Senior Debt Service”) for such Fiscal Year.

2) Net Revenues (recalculated to exclude any transfers from the Rate Stabilization Fund) will
equal at least 90% of Debt Service Requirements (excluding Debt Service Requirements in respect of
Subordinated Bonds) for such Fiscal Year (“90% Test”).

3) Net Revenues will equal at least 1.00 times the following payments and transfers to be made in
such Fiscal Year (“Total Payments™): (i) the Debt Service Requirements (including Debt Service Requirements
in respect of Subordinated Bonds); (ii) amounts required to be deposited into the Debt Reserve Account; (iii) debt
service payable on General Obligation Bonds issued for the System; (iv) debt service due on Interim Debt; and
(v) the Capital Account Deposit Amount, less any amounts transferred from the Residual Fund to the Capital
Account. As of the date hereof, no Subordinated Bonds, General Obligation Bonds issued for the System or
Interim Debt are outstanding.

“Net Revenues” for any period means: the Project Revenues collected during such period and deposited
into the Revenue Fund plus (x) the amounts, if any, transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund into the Revenue
Fund as of the end of such period and (y) interest earnings during such period on monies in any of the funds or
accounts established under the General Ordinance to the extent such interest earnings are credited to the Revenue
Fund pursuant to the General Ordinance, and minus the sum of (a) Operating Expenses incurred during such
period and (b) the amounts, if any, transferred from the Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund as of the
end of such period; provided, however that in determining such Net Revenues, the Initial Deposit (as defined in
APPENDIX II) shall not reduce such Net Revenues. To ensure compliance with the Rate Covenant, the General
Ordinance requires that the City review its rents, rates, fees and charges promptly upon any material change in
the circumstances which were contemplated at the time such rents, rates, fees and charges were reviewed, but
not less frequently than once each Fiscal Year. For a discussion of the Water Department’s experience in meeting
the Rate Covenant, see “HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION — Table 10 herein.
Notwithstanding any future changes in the rate-making process, while any Water and Wastewater Bonds remain
outstanding, the City is required to comply with the Rate Covenant.

Independent Engineer’s Report Not Included or Incorporated in this Official Statement and No
Reliance Thereon

In connection with the enactment of the Eighteenth Supplemental Ordinance, Twenty-Third
Supplemental Ordinance and Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance, pursuant to the requirements of the Act
and the General Ordinance, the City engaged an independent engineer to prepare a report providing the basis for
the required findings that (i) Project Revenues will be sufficient to meet payment or deposit requirements for the
operation of the System and payment of outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, including the
Bonds, (ii) Net Revenues are sufficient to comply with the Rate Covenant and (iii) the System is in good
operating condition. See “INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT - General” herein.

Such report was filed with the City Council of the City but is not incorporated by reference herein and
prospective purchasers of the Bonds should not rely upon it or any other prior engineering report in making an
investment decision with respect to the purchase of the Bonds, nor should the report or any other prior
engineering report be construed as a contract with any holder of the Bonds or as an invitation or inducement to
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engage or otherwise participate in the proposed or any other transaction to provide financing or to make an
investment.

Additional Bonds

The General Ordinance permits the issuance of additional bonds, which may be secured on a parity basis
with the outstanding bonds issued thereunder. The General Ordinance imposes certain conditions precedent
(which conditions have been met in connection with the issuance of the Bonds) to the issuance of additional
bonds, including the delivery of an engineering report in connection with the adoption of the Eighteenth
Supplemental Ordinance, Twenty-Third Supplemental Ordinance and the Twenty-Seventh Supplemental
Ordinance concluding that Net Revenues were sufficient to comply with the Rate Covenant and are projected to
be sufficient to comply with the Rate Covenant for each of the two Fiscal Years following the Fiscal Year in
which the additional bonds are assumed to be issued. Such conditions precedent to the issuance of additional
bonds are described in APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE
BONDS — Summary of Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance — Covenants of the City — Conditions of
and Provisions Relating to Issuing Bonds.”

Limitations on Effectiveness of Pledge of Project Revenues and Water and Wastewater Funds

The effectiveness of the pledge of the Project Revenues and the Water and Wastewater Funds may be
limited because, although the Fiscal Agent will have custody of the Water and Wastewater Funds, the City will
have complete control of deposits into and expenditures from the Water and Wastewater Funds, except for
amounts on deposit in the Sinking Fund, including the Debt Reserve Account. While the City has covenanted
not to direct the Fiscal Agent to transfer Project Revenues other than as permitted under the General Ordinance,
no requisition procedure or other similar procedure will be established for the expenditure of monies by the City
from the Water and Wastewater Funds (other than the Sinking Fund, including the Debt Reserve Account), and
no consent or approval of the Fiscal Agent is required to be obtained by the City as a condition of the City’s
expenditure of such monies. The Fiscal Agent will not monitor deposits into or withdrawals from the Water and
Wastewater Funds (other than the Sinking Fund, including the Debt Reserve Account) or the purposes for which
such monies are utilized.

The General Ordinance provides that if the City fails to make a deposit of Project Revenues as required
under the General Ordinance, the Fiscal Agent is authorized to and shall seek, by mandamus or other suit, action
or proceeding at law or in equity, the specific enforcement or performance of the obligation of the City to cause
the Project Revenues to be transferred to the Revenue Fund.

No daily, monthly or other periodic deposits are required to be made into the Sinking Fund prior to the
dates on which debt service payments on the Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds are due.

BOND INSURANCE
Bond Insurance Policy
Concurrently with the issuance of the Bonds, Assured Guaranty Inc. (“AG”) will issue its Municipal
Bond Insurance Policy (the “Policy”) for the Bonds. The Policy guarantees the scheduled payment of principal
of and interest on the Bonds when due as set forth in the form of the Policy included as an appendix to this

Official Statement.

The Policy is not covered by any insurance security or guaranty fund established under New York,
Maryland, California, Connecticut or Florida insurance law.
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Assured Guaranty Inc.

AG is a Maryland domiciled financial guaranty insurance company and an indirect subsidiary of
Assured Guaranty Ltd. (“AGL” and together with its subsidiaries, “Assured Guaranty”), a Bermuda-based
holding company whose shares are publicly traded and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol “AGO.” AGL, through its subsidiaries, provides credit enhancement products to the U.S. and non-U.S.
public finance (including infrastructure) and structured finance markets and participates in the asset management
business through ownership interests in Sound Point Capital Management, LP and certain of its investment
management affiliates. Only AG is obligated to pay claims under the insurance policies AG has issued, and not
AGL or any of its shareholders or other affiliates.

AG’s financial strength is rated “AA” (stable outlook) by S&P Global Ratings, a business unit of
Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”), “AA+" (stable outlook) by Kroll Bond Rating Agency, Inc.
(“KBRA”) and “A1” (stable outlook) by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”). Each rating of AG should
be evaluated independently. An explanation of the significance of the above ratings may be obtained from the
applicable rating agency. The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold any security, and such
ratings are subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies, including withdrawal initiated at
the request of AG in its sole discretion. In addition, the rating agencies may at any time change AG’s long-term
rating outlooks or place such ratings on a watch list for possible downgrade in the near term. Any downward
revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings, the assignment of a negative outlook to such ratings or the
placement of such ratings on a negative watch list may have an adverse effect on the market price of any security
guaranteed by AG. AG only guarantees scheduled principal and scheduled interest payments payable by the
issuer of bonds insured by AG on the date(s) when such amounts were initially scheduled to become due and
payable (subject to and in accordance with the terms of the relevant insurance policy), and does not guarantee
the market price or liquidity of the securities it insures, nor does it guarantee that the ratings on such securities
will not be revised or withdrawn.

Merger of Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. Into Assured Guaranty Inc.

On August 1, 2024, Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp., a New York domiciled financial guaranty
insurance company and an affiliate of AG (“AGM”), merged with and into AG, with AG as the surviving
company (such transaction, the “Merger”). Upon the Merger, all liabilities of AGM, including insurance policies
issued or assumed by AGM, became obligations of AG.

Current Financial Strength Ratings

On October 18, 2024, KBRA announced it had affirmed AG’s insurance financial strength rating of
“AA+” (stable outlook).

On July 10, 2024, Moody’s, following Assured Guaranty’s announcement of the Merger, announced
that it had affirmed AG’s insurance financial strength rating of “A1” (stable outlook).

On May 28, 2024, S&P announced it had affirmed AG’s financial strength rating of “AA” (stable
outlook). On August 1, 2024, S&P stated that following the Merger, there is no change in AG’s financial strength
rating of “AA” (stable outlook).

AG can give no assurance as to any further ratings action that S&P, Moody’s and/or KBRA may take.

For more information regarding AG’s financial strength ratings and the risks relating thereto, see AGL’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023.
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Capitalization of AG, AGM and Pro Forma Combined AG

As of June 30, 2024

(dollars in millions)

AG AGM AG

(Actual) (Actual) (Pro Forma Combined)
Policyholders’ surplus $1,649 $2,599 $3,960"
Contingency reserve $421 $910 $1,331
Net unearned premium reserves  $355 $2,078 @ $2,433@

and net deferred ceding
commission income

o Net of intercompany eliminations.

@ Such amount includes (i) 100% of the net unearned premium reserve and net deferred ceding commission income of
AGM or pro forma combined AG, as applicable, and (ii) the net unearned premium reserves and net deferred ceding
commissions of Assured Guaranty UK Limited (“AGUK”) and its 99.9999% owned subsidiary Assured Guaranty (Europe) SA
(“AGE”).

The policyholders’ surplus, contingency reserves, and net unearned premium reserves and net deferred
ceding commission income of AG, AGM, and the pro forma combined AG were determined in accordance with
statutory accounting principles. The net unearned premium reserves and net deferred ceding commissions of
AGUK and AGE were determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

Portions of the following documents filed by AGL with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) that relate to AG and AGM are incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and shall be
deemed to be a part hereof:

) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023 (filed by AGL
with the SEC on February 28, 2024);

(i1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024 (filed by
AGL with the SEC on May 8§, 2024); and

(ii1) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2024 (filed by AGL
with the SEC on August 8, 2024).

All information relating to AG and AGM included in, or as exhibits to, documents filed by AGL with
the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, excluding
Current Reports or portions thereof “furnished” under Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8 K, after the filing of the
last document referred to above and before the termination of the offering of the Bonds shall be deemed
incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing
such documents. Copies of materials incorporated by reference are available over the internet at the SEC’s
website at http://www.sec.gov, at AGL’s website at http://www.assuredguaranty.com, or will be provided upon
request to Assured Guaranty Inc.: 1633 Broadway, New York, New York 10019, Attention: Communications
Department (telephone (212) 974-0100). Except for the information referred to above, no information available
on or through AGL’s website shall be deemed to be part of or incorporated in this Official Statement.

Any information regarding AG and AGM included herein under the caption “BOND INSURANCE —

Assured Guaranty Inc.” or included in a document incorporated by reference herein (collectively, the “AG
Information”) shall be modified or superseded to the extent that any subsequently included AG Information
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(either directly or through incorporation by reference) modifies or supersedes such previously included AG
Information. Any AG Information so modified or superseded shall not constitute a part of this Official Statement,
except as so modified or superseded.

Miscellaneous Matters

AG makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds. In
addition, AG has not independently verified, makes no representation regarding, and does not accept any
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or disclosure
contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding AG
supplied by AG and presented under the heading “BOND INSURANCE.”

REMEDIES OF BONDHOLDERS

Remedies under the Act and the General Ordinance available to Bondholders and to any trustee for
Bondholders appointed by the holders of 25% of the outstanding principal amount of any series of Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds in default are described in APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN
AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS — Defaults and Remedies.” In addition to the remedies set forth in the
General Ordinance, Bondholders, the Fiscal Agent, or a trustee therefor are entitled under the Pennsylvania
Uniform Commercial Code to remedies as secured parties with respect to the Project Revenues and the funds on
deposit in the Water and Wastewater Funds. See “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Limited
Recourse on Default” herein.

Enforcement of Bondholders’ rights may be limited by and is subject to the provisions of the Federal
Bankruptcy Code, as now or hereafter enacted, and to other laws or legal or equitable principles which may
affect the enforcement of creditors’ rights. The Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority Act for
Cities of the First Class (Pa. P.L. 9, No. 6 (1991)), as amended by H.B. 1935 (2021) (the “PICA Act”), prohibits
the City from filing a petition for relief under Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 9°) so
long as PICA has any power or duty under the PICA Act. The PICA Act provides that PICA shall have
continuing existence and succession until the later of January 2, 2047 or one year after all of PICA’s liabilities,
including without limitation, its bonds, have been fully paid or discharged or after provision for such payment
shall have been made as provided for in the applicable indenture. Furthermore, the PICA Act requires approval
in writing by the Governor of the Commonwealth for a filing under Chapter 9 by the City. References to the
Federal Bankruptcy Code should not be construed as implying that the City expects to resort to the provisions
of such statute or that, if it did, any proposed restructuring would include a dilution of the sources of payment of
and security for the Bonds The Water Department is an operating department of the City and any filing by the
City under Chapter 9 could occur under circumstances where the City’s general financial condition has
deteriorated without regard to the results of operations or the financial position of the Water Department. No
assurances can be provided that any Chapter 9 filing by the City due to circumstances unrelated to the Water
Department would not still adversely affect the Water Department. See “CERTAIN INVESTMENT
CONSIDERATIONS — Bankruptcy” herein.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER LONG-TERM AGREEMENTS
Outstanding Indebtedness

As set forth in the table below, $3,176,031,686 aggregate principal amount of Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds are outstanding as of September 30, 2024.

Table 2

Outstanding Indebtedness
as of September 30, 2024"

Fixed/

Original Principal Outstanding Principal Variable Year of

Series of Bonds Amount Amount Rate Maturity
Pennvest 2009B $ 42,886,030 § 11,940,018 Fixed 2032
Pennvest 2009C 57,268,193 20,416,613 Fixed 2032
Pennvest 2009D 84,759,263 31,216,039 Fixed 2032
Pennvest 2010B 30,000,000 15,283,093 Fixed 2033
2014A 123,170,000 27,085,000 Fixed 2026
2015B 141,740,000 96,970,000 Fixed 2035
2016A 192,680,000 141,060,000 Fixed 2035
2017A 279,865,000 239,865,000 Fixed 2052
2017B 174,110,000 147,600,000 Fixed 2034
2018A 276,935,000 241,935,000 Fixed 2053
2019A 68,335,000 24,010,000 Fixed 2040
2019B 250,660,000 241,065,000 Fixed 2054
2020 127,740,000 127,740,000 Fixed 2040
2020A 201,530,000 196,120,000 Fixed 2050
2020B 95,025,000 13,885,000 Fixed 2035
Pennvest 2021A 80,821,155 35,882,960 Fixed 2044
2021B 368,720,000 355,800,000 Fixed 2045
2021C 231,930,000 227,760,000 Fixed 2051
Pennvest 2021D 5,794,470 4,973,165 Fixed 2044
Pennvest 2022A 16,301,250 10,639,886 Fixed 2045
Pennvest 2022B 35,861,985 31,031,500 Fixed 2042
2022C 294,810,000 280,935,000 Fixed 2052
Pennvest 2022D 106,929,660 44,749,742 Fixed 2042
Pennvest 2022E 8,670,000 7,016,620 Fixed 2042
Pennvest 2022F 8,221,985 5,764,923 Fixed 2042
WIFIA 2023 19,828,124 13,787,050 Fixed 2046
Pennvest 2023 A 110,072,475 16,665,077 Fixed 2043
2023B 564,835,000 564,835,000 Fixed 2053
Pennvest 2024A 31,125,965 - Fixed 2044
Pennvest 2024B" 44,876,716 - Fixed 2044

TOTAL $4,075,502,271 $3,176,031,686

*Excludes the issuance of the Bonds, the purchase and cancellation of the Purchased Bonds and the Commercial Paper
Notes Outstanding.

TProceeds of the Pennvest 2024A and the Pennvest 2024B Bond have not been drawn as of the date of this Official
Statement and are not outstanding.
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Other Obligations
Contract for Biosolids Treatment with Philadelphia Biosolids Services, LLC

In 2008, the City entered into a long-term contract and lease with the Philadelphia Municipal Authority
(the “PMA™) for the PMA to operate the Water Department’s existing Biosolids Recycling Center (the
“Biosolids Recycling Center””). The PMA and Philadelphia Biosolids Services, LLC (“Philadelphia Biosolids™)
entered into a service agreement (the “Biosolids Service Contract”), pursuant to which Philadelphia Biosolids
designed and built, and currently operates, a facility at the Biosolids Recycling Center to heat, dry and dispose
of biosolids captured during wastewater treatment, and the PMA pays Philadelphia Biosolids for operating such
Biosolids Recycling Center. Pursuant to a service agreement between the PMA and the City (the “City Service
Contract”), the City assumed all of PMA’s obligations under the Biosolids Service Contract. The obligations
under the City Service Contract constitute Operating Expenses of the Water Department. In Fiscal Years 2022,
2023, and 2024 the City paid to PMA, from revenues generated from the Water Department, $22,138,315,
$23,414,229, and $30,166,450, respectively. The Water Department’s budgeted obligation for Fiscal Year 2025
is $29,535,000. The City Service Contract contains adjusters for the Consumer Price Index, Producer Price
Index and fluctuations in fuel prices, among others; thus, expenditures under the City Service Contract may vary
over time. The Biosolids Service Contract expires on February 10, 2032 and contains the possibility of a five-
year renewal term at the option of the City. The Biosolids Service Contract facilitates compliance with various
state and federal environmental regulations, including the Clean Air Act. See “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater
System — Environmental Compliance — Clean Air Act and — Biosolids Treatment and Utilization.” See also
“THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Environmental Compliance — Regulatory Compliance at Southwest
Water Pollution Control Plant” herein.

Northeast Water Pollution Control Plant Cogeneration Facility

In 2011, the City entered into a long-term contract and lease with the PMA for the PMA to arrange the
construction, financing, maintenance and sublease of a digester gas cogeneration facility at the Northeast Water
Pollution Control Plant. The PMA entered into a lease (the “Lease”) with BAL Green Biogas I, LLC, a special
purpose entity of Bank of America (the “Lessor”), which requires the PMA to make certain lease payments to
the Lessor. Pursuant to a sublease dated December 23, 2011 (the “Sublease”), the City assumed all of the PMA’s
obligations under the Lease. The obligations under the Sublease constitute Operating Expenses of the Water
Department. In Fiscal Years 2022, 2023, and 2024, the City paid to the Lessor from revenues generated from
the Water Department, $6,108,449, $6,648,884, and $6,159,331, respectively. The Water Department’s
budgeted obligation for Fiscal Year 2025 is approximately $6,300,000. Expenditures, including maintenance
fees, may vary during the term of the Sublease. The Lease and Sublease expire on September 25, 2029, unless
renewed by PMA for an additional term of eighteen months.

Contract for Advanced Metering Infrastructure

In February 2019, the City, through PMA, entered into a contract with Sensus USA Inc. (“Sensus”) for
the delivery of an advanced metering infrastructure (“AMI”) system for water meter reading, including
installation, operation and maintenance of the AMI system. Since September of 2019 Sensus has assumed the
meter reading services formerly provided by ITRON. The installation of the AMI system and communications
network was completed on February 12, 2020. The deployment phase, during which Automatic Metering
(“AMR”) equipment will be replaced with AMI units, was expected to take approximately 24 months but has
been delayed significantly. The deployment phase commenced on March 15, 2021, but on May 4, 2021, Sensus
notified the City of a force majeure event citing a shortage of certain product parts caused by the COVID-19
pandemic. The City provided written notice to Sensus disagreeing with their claim of force majeure under the
contract but acknowledging the product shortage issues. As of June 30, 2024, 455,000 units have been installed
out of 485,000. The Water Department estimates completion of the installation phase of the project will occur
on or about December 31, 2024.
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The costs for installation and deployment are included in the Water Capital Improvement Program. See
“CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM.”

After the initial installation and deployment phase are complete, the AMI operations and maintenance
term of the contract will be for a term of 20 years, with the option to renew for up to three additional one-year
terms. Payments to Sensus constitute Operating Expenses of the Water Department. In Fiscal Year 2022, the
Water Department paid $1.7 million for meter reading services and $17.5 million for the purchase and
installation of new water meters. In Fiscal Year 2023, the Water Department paid $11.0 million for meter reading
services (including over $9.0 million from the prior fiscal year due to a delay in price negotiations) and $10.1
million for the purchase and installation of new water meters. In Fiscal Year 2024, the Water Department paid
$1.4 million for meter reading services and $22.5 million for the purchase and installation of new water meters.
The budgeted obligation for Fiscal Year 2025 is approximately $4.7 million for meter reading services and $12
million for the purchase and installation of new water meters and is intended to complete the conversion to AMI.
These obligations are expected to be financed with $12 million of capital funds and $4.7 million of operating
funds.

THE WATER DEPARTMENT
General

The City established the Water Department to operate, maintain, repair and improve the Water and
Wastewater Systems. The Charter requires that rates and charges for supplying water and for wastewater
treatment be fixed and regulated in accordance with standards established by City Council. Such standards must
enable the City to realize from rates and charges an amount at least equal to Operating Expenses and Debt Service
Requirements on any debt incurred or to be incurred for the Water and Wastewater System, including general
obligations and revenue bond obligations, and proportionate charges for all services performed for the Water
Department by all officers, departments, boards or commissions of the City. See “HISTORICAL AND
PROJECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION — Table 10” below. The Charter also authorizes the Water
Department, with the approval of City Council, to enter into contracts for supplying water service and sewer and
sewage disposal service to users outside the limits of the City.

The operations of the Water Department are accounted for in the Water Fund, which is an enterprise
fund of the City. The Water Fund is an accounting convention established pursuant to the Charter for the purpose
of accounting for the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses of and Rate Covenant compliance for, the Water and
Wastewater Systems. See APPENDIX I - “FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE WATER FUND DERIVED
FROM THE CITY’S AUDITED ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT FOR FISCAL YEAR
ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022 attached hereto.

Relationship to the City

The Water Department is one of the City’s operating departments and is overseen by the Office of the
Managing Director. Various City departments and agencies provide operational support to the Water
Department, for which they receive a direct appropriation at the beginning of each Fiscal Year (a “Direct
Appropriation”) from the Water Department’s Revenue Fund. The departments that receive Direct
Appropriations from the Water Department are: the Revenue Department (Water Revenue Bureau) for meter
reading, billing and collection services; the Law Department for legal services; the Department of Public
Property for the rental of office space and parking; the Office of Fleet Management for vehicle acquisition, fuel,
and vehicle maintenance; the Office of Innovation and Technology for communications and computer support
services; the Procurement Department for services related to the acquisition of goods and services; the Office of
the Director of Finance for fringe benefits, indemnities and support services; the Sinking Fund Commission for
the payment of debt service; the Office of Sustainability for energy procurement services; the City Treasurer’s
Office for support services; and the Office of Transportation and Infrastructure Systems. The Rate Board also
receives a Direct Appropriation from the Water Department.
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In addition, approximately 15 City departments and agencies, including the Revenue Department and
the Department of Public Property, provide services to the Water Department for which they bill the Water
Department at the close of each Fiscal Year (“Interfund Charges™). These services are distinct from the ones
discussed in the previous paragraph and include, but are not limited to, cash management (City Treasurer);
auditing (City Controller); debt management (City Treasurer); testing and hiring (Human Resources and Labor
Relations); and other support services (Managing Director’s Office, Civil Service Commission, Department of
Licenses & Inspections, and Police Department).

All Direct Appropriations and Interfund Charges are accounted for in the historical operating results in
Table 9 and factored into the forecast in Table 11. See also “HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION — The Water Department’s Budget.”

The City is the largest customer of the Water Department. The City, through the General Fund and the
Aviation Fund, pays the Water Department for water and wastewater services, maintenance of the fire system
(consisting of hydrants, system capacity and pumping stations), inlet cleaning and snow removal. Such payments
are credited to the Water Fund for each Fiscal Year as of the last day of such Fiscal Year, and payment occurs
on or before October 31 in the same calendar year. See “THE SYSTEM — Large Customers” herein and
APPENDIX III — “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF
PHILADELPHIA” attached hereto.

Administration

The Water Department is managed by a Commissioner appointed by the Managing Director of the City
with the approval of the Mayor. The Commissioner then appoints deputies with the approval of the City’s
Managing Director. Substantially all other employees of the Water Department are hired pursuant to the City’s
Civil Service Regulations.

Under the Charter, the City’s Department of Revenue performs all functions relating to meter reading,
customer accounts and collections for the Water Department through the Water Revenue Bureau. The
Department of Revenue and the Water Revenue Bureau are under the direction of the Director of Finance. The
Director of Finance, as the chief financial, accounting and budget officer of the City, has overall responsibility
for the fiscal administration of all City departments, including the Water Department. Audits of all City
departments, including the Water Department, are performed annually by the Office of the City Controller. The
Law Department of the City, headed by the City Solicitor, handles all legal matters affecting the Water
Department.

The following are brief biographical descriptions of the Commissioner, his deputies and the senior
management of the Water Department:

Randy E. Hayman was appointed Water Commissioner on May 13, 2019. He is tasked with overseeing
the Water Department. Prior to joining the Water Department, he served fifteen (15) years as the General
Counsel for two major water/wastewater systems — the Metropolitan St. Louis Sewer District and the District of
Columbia Water and Sewer Authority. In addition, Mr. Hayman served as an Assistant Attorney General for
the state of Missouri and has practiced law in the private sector at highly respected law firms. Most recently, he
was a partner at the law firm of Beveridge & Diamond, P.C., a top-tier environmental law firm. Throughout his
career, Mr. Hayman has worked to solve similar water and wastewater utility challenges to those presently faced
by the Water Department, including, but not limited to, successfully negotiating agreements with regulatory
agencies to address wastewater system issues related to combined sewer overflows, as well as implementing
large water and wastewater capital improvement plans, while managing financial performance and balancing the
effects of customer rates and charges. He is a graduate of the University of Michigan and the Georgetown
University Law Center.
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Glen Abrams was appointed Deputy Water Commissioner of Communications and Engagement in
September 2019. Most recently from 2001 to 2013, Mr. Abrams worked for the Water Department as a Policy
and Strategic Planning Manager with the Water Department’s Office of Watersheds. He has worked for the
Pennsylvania Horticultural Society (“PHS”) since 2013 and most recently served as the Senior Director of
Planning and Sustainable Communities for PHS. He holds a B.A. and an M.A. in City and Regional Planning,
both from Ohio State University.

Kevin Birriel was appointed Divisional Deputy City Solicitor of the City of Philadelphia Law
Department’s Water Division in May 2023. He has served as counsel to the Water Department since joining the
City Law Department in 2014, handling complex commercial transactions, contracts, city code compliance and
enforcement actions, real estate matters, regulations, and rate cases. Mr. Birriel is a graduate of Drexel
University (B.S., 2010) and Drexel University School of Law (J.D., 2012). He is admitted to practice in
Pennsylvania.

Marc Cammarata was appointed Deputy Water Commissioner for Planning and Environmental
Services in November of 2016. His responsibilities include the integration, direction and management of
numerous aspects of the Water Department’s planning initiatives, including strategic environmental and
sustainability programming, water quality and quantity modeling, wet weather compliance, flood mitigation,
both green and traditional infrastructure planning, stream and wetland restoration, watershed and source water
protection, laboratory services, and climate mitigation and adaptation efforts. He has over 25 years of experience
in water resources engineering and environmental planning. He is a Professional Environmental Engineer with
a B.S. in Civil and Environmental Engineering from Villanova University and a M.S. in Environmental
Engineering, Water Resources from Drexel University.

Susan M. Crosby was appointed to the position of Deputy Revenue Commissioner in charge of the
Water Revenue Bureau in November 2020. Prior to her appointment as Deputy Revenue Commissioner, Mrs.
Crosby worked as a Divisional Deputy City Solicitor for the City’s Law Department. Mrs. Crosby has a Bachelor
of Science in History and Political Science from Florida State University. She received her Juris Doctorate from
Stetson University College of Law and has practiced law in Florida (inactive) and Pennsylvania for twenty years.

Matthew Fulmer was promoted to Acting Manager of the Capital Budget section of the Projects
Control unit in May 2023, and recently appointed full time to the position. Mr. Fulmer has a B.S. in Civil
Engineering from Rutgers University and a M.S. of Water Resources and Environmental Engineering from
Villanova University. Mr. Fulmer joined the Water Department in 2013 as a member of the Planning unit and
since then held several supervisory positions in Design until his current role in the Projects Control unit of the
Capital Budget section.

Stephen J. Furtek was appointed General Manager of Planning and Engineering (now Engineering and
Construction) in March 2005. Mr. Furtek is a registered Professional Engineer and holds a B.A. in Civil and
Urban Engineering from the University of Pennsylvania. He has held a number of increasingly responsible
positions since joining the Water Department in 1982, including Supervisor of the Water and Sewer Design
Section and Manager of the Design Branch.

Vahe G. Hovsepian was promoted to Assistant Deputy Commissioner of Engineering and Construction
Division in February 2022. Mr. Hovsepian is a registered Professional Engineer and holds a M.S. and a B.S. in
Mechanical Engineering from the New Jersey Institute of Technology. He has held a number of increasingly
responsible positions since joining the Water Department in 1986, including Supervisor of the Mechanical
Design Section and Manager of the Design unit. In his current position, he is responsible for the management of
the Water Capital Improvement Program.

Benjamin Jewell was appointed Deputy Commissioner of Operations in September 2022. Mr. Jewell

oversees the operation and maintenance of the Water Department’s water, wastewater, and stormwater treatment
and conveyance systems. Since joining the Water Department in 2007, Mr. Jewell has held a number of
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increasingly responsible positions such as Director of Wastewater Operations and Manager of Collection System
Operations. He has a B.S. in Environmental Engineering, with a Certificate in Cooperative Education from
Northwestern University.

Candi Blossom Jones began her career with the Philadelphia Water Department as the Assistant Deputy
Water Commissioner for Human Resources in 2020. She was appointed Deputy Commissioner for Human
Resources and Administration in 2023 and is responsible for developing and executing human resource strategies
in support of the overall strategic direction of the utility. She has a bachelor’s degree in English from Johns
Hopkins University, a master’s degree in Public Administration from the University of Baltimore, is a Certified
Compensation Professional and a Certified Senior Human Resources Professional. Ms. Jones has over 12 years
of progressively responsible HR experience with the City of Philadelphia.

Sarah E. Stevenson was appointed Deputy Water Commissioner for Compliance, Policy, Legislative
and Regulatory Affairs in April 2024. Prior to returning to the Water Department, Ms. Stevenson served in the
Mayor’s Cabinet as the City’s Chief Integrity Officer from 2020 to 2024. From 2009 to 2020, Ms. Stevenson
served in several roles with increasing responsibility at the Philadelphia Water Department, including Acting
Commissioner in 2019. Ms. Stevenson earned her JD/MPA from Villanova University, and BA from the
University of Pennsylvania. She is licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania and New York.

Lawrence Yangalay was appointed Acting Deputy Commissioner of Finance in November 2022 and
fully appointed as Deputy Commissioner of Finance in May 2023. Mr. Yangalay has overall responsibility for
the Water Department’s financial management, including accounting operations and financial reporting; budget
formulation and execution; and financial planning. Mr. Yangalay joined the Water Department in 2017 and has
also worked at various City departments since 2005. He holds a Master’s Degree in Management, with a
concentration in Public Administration from Wilmington University, a Masters in Accounting from Ohio State
University, and B.A. from the University of Liberia.

In addition to the senior management team above, the Water Department hires other assistant deputy
commissioners to support various divisions within the Water Department.

Personnel Information

As of June 30, 2024, the Water Department employed approximately 2,022 full-time employees (this
figure excludes seasonal workers), of whom 1,391 are represented by District Council 33 and 410 by District
Council 47, both of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees. The balance (221 full-
time employees) represents the Water Department’s upper management, supervisory and senior engineering and
administrative personnel who are not eligible for union membership. The wages and salaries of approximately
200 employees in the Water Revenue Bureau are funded by the Water Department. Water Revenue Bureau
employee participation in unions parallels that of the Water Department. For a discussion of the Water
Department’s contributions to the pension plans, see “HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION - Pension Obligations of the Water Department.” For information on the status of arbitration
awards and labor contract settlements and certain retirement plan information, see APPENDIXIII —
“GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Expenditures
of the City — Overview of Current Labor Situation.” For more information respecting the current status of the
City’s collective bargaining agreement with District Council 33, see APPENDIX III - “GOVERNMENT AND
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Expenditures of the City — Overview of
City Employees.”
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THE SYSTEM

The Water Department provides water and wastewater services (which includes stormwater services) to
residents and businesses located in the City. Additionally, the Water Commissioner is authorized to enter into
agreements with municipalities, townships, authorities and entities outside the limits of the City to provide for
the sale of fresh water or the receipt, conveyance, treatment and disposal of wastewater. The Water Department
currently has ten wholesale wastewater contracts and one wholesale water contract. The following sections
describe the largest customers of the Water Department, the Water Department’s wholesale contracts and the
System, including certain environmental matters.

Large Customers

The ten largest customers of the Water Department for water and wastewater services, which include
stormwater services, for Fiscal Year 2024 are set forth in Table 3 below. The Water Department does not charge
itself or include in revenue the retail value of the water and wastewater services (including stormwater services)
used by the Water Department.

The City is the largest customer of the Water Department. In addition to charges for general service
customers, which are based on metered water consumption, the Water Department charges the City for water
and wastewater services provided to City properties and for operation and maintenance of the fire system
(consisting of hydrants and pumping stations). Previously known as Veolia Energy Philadelphia, Vicinity
Energy Philadelphia (“Vicinity”’) was formerly one of the ten largest customers of the Water Department
accounting for approximately $5.3 million in revenues to the Water Revenue Fund in Fiscal Year 2023. Vicinity
completed a water treatment facility utilizing an intake from the Schuylkill River to provide process water for
their operations within the City. The new facility commenced operations in 2023, and Vicinity has experienced
reduced needs for water services from the Water Department. While Vicinity remains a water, sewer and
stormwater customer of the Water Department, it is no longer one of its ten largest customers, with approximately
$2.5 million in revenues to the Water Revenue Fund for Fiscal Year 2024. As compared to Fiscal Year 2023,
revenues from the Water Department’s ten largest customers have increased by approximately $9.2 million in
Fiscal Year 2024.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Table 3
Top 10 Customers
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024

Customer Revenue ($) % Total Revenue™
1 City of Philadelphia” $27,455,121 3.25%
2 Philadelphia Housing Authority 15,328,884 1.82
3 University of Pennsylvania 8,071,003 0.96
4 School District of Philadelphia 6,966,737 0.83
5 AdvanSix Inc. 6,888,151 0.82
6  University of Pennsylvania Health System 5,229,877 0.62
7  Federal Government 5,126,589 0.61
8 SEPTA 5,100,680 0.60
9 Temple University 4,562,238 0.54
10 Drexel University 2,620,431 0.31
TOTALS™ $87.349,717 10.36%

* The total above for the City of Philadelphia includes, among others, charges for water, wastewater and
stormwater services as follows: (i) $23,520,735.93 — General Fund and (ii) $3,934,386.01 — Aviation Fund.

" The percentage of Total Revenue is calculated using the yearly revenue received by the customer divided by
the total yearly revenue of the Water Revenue Fund. The total revenue of the Water Revenue Fund for Fiscal
Year 2024 was $843,534,824 (interfund revenue is not available).

" Totals may not add due to rounding.

Wholesale Customers. The Water Department generates approximately 5.64% of total revenues from
wholesale wastewater and water customers (the “Wholesale Customers™). The following Table 4 — Wholesale
Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 presents revenues as of June 30,
2024 from Wholesale Customers and describes certain terms of the Water Department’s wholesale contracts for
wastewater and water services, respectively. The last column on Table 4 sets forth each Wholesale Customer’s
proportional share of the Water Department’s costs (the “COA Expenditures”) of compliance with its Consent
Order and Agreement with the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (the “PADEP”). The
Consent Order and Agreement requires the Water Department to implement the Long-Term Control Plan Update
(“LTCPU”), also known as the Green City, Clean Waters Program, to address combined sewer overflows. For
more information regarding the Water Department’s Consent Order and Agreement, the LTCPU and its
associated costs, see “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Environmental Compliance — Combined
Sewer Overflow Program” below. Revenues for Fiscal Years 2022, 2023, and 2024 from Wholesale Customers
were approximately $36.3 million, $42.3 million, and $44.1 million respectively, for wastewater services, and
$3.2 million, $3.3 million, and $3.3 million respectively, for water services. Budgeted revenues from Wholesale
Customers for Fiscal Year 2025 are approximately $37.8 million for wastewater services, and $3.85 million for
water services.

Some of the Wholesale Customers contribute to a portion of COA Expenditures as part of their
respective contracts as demonstrated on Table 4. The allocation of costs of the LTCPU, also referred to as COA
Expenditures, was updated in Fiscal Year 2023 to utilize the Water Department’s hydraulic & hydrologic (H&H)
model. The H&H model takes into account the customer’s burden on and impact to the combined sewer overflow
volumes more accurately than the prior allocation methodology. The COA Expenditures allocated to Wholesale
Customers cover a portion of the City’s costs of compliance with the LTCPU. Compared to the previous
allocation methodology, there is a reduction in the amount of COA Expenditures allocated to Wholesale
Customers whose current contracts include an allocation based on the H&H model. The new allocation method
resulted in a reduction of wholesale wastewater revenues of approximately $2.50 million in Fiscal Year 2024
and is estimated to result in a reduction of wholesale wastewater revenues of approximately $2.47 million in
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Fiscal Year 2025, which is reflected in Fiscal Year 2025 budgeted revenues for wastewater services. With the
implementation of the latest retail rates approved by the Rate Board, applying the updated cost allocation
methodology is expected to result in a neutral overall effect, whereby Wholesale Customers and retail customers
will be billed in line with their respective consumption patterns and effects on the System. See “THE SYSTEM
— The Wastewater System — Wholesale Contracts” herein. See also “RATES — Current Base Rates and 2023
Rate Proceeding.” Revenues from Wholesale Customers provide a source of funding for the Water Department’s
Water Capital Improvement Program in addition to the sources described under the caption “CAPITAL
IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM — Capital Improvement Program Financing Sources.”

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Table 4
Preliminary Wholesale Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues and Contract Terms
Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024

% Total Contract End
Total Revenue Revenue” Date COA % ™
Wastewater
Bucks County Water & Sewer
Authority (BCWSA) $9,869,734.75 1.17% 3/31/2038 N/A
BCWSA-Springfield Township'? ) 2,427,091.62 0.29 10/31/2033 0.26%
BCWSA - Bensalem 1,607,466.88 0.19 10/31/2033 0.12
BCWSA Total 13,904,293.25 1.65 0.38
Delcora® 11,803,258.23 1.40 4/1/2028 0.21
Lower Southampton Township® 5,080,133.98 0.60 6/30/2024 0.16
Aqua Pennsylvania Wastewater,
Inc. ® 3,956,500.36 0.47 6/30/2025 1.12
Upper Darby Township 3,788,891.81 0.45 10/31/2033 0.61
Lower Merion Township 2,598,562.96 0.31 N/A N/A
Abington Township!” 1,955,887.16 0.23 6/30/2023 0.10
Lower Moreland Township 1,111,178.05 0.13 6/30/2025 0.06
Sub-total $44,198,705.80 5.24% 2.64%
Water
Aqua Pennsylvania $ 3,380,009.37 0.40% 3/1/2026 N/A
Sub-total § 3,380,009.37 0.40%
Total Wholesale Revenues $47,578,715.17 5.64%

Prior to Fiscal Year 2025, the Water Department included capital charges within operation and maintenance charges for all customers except
Bensalem, Lower Merion, and Upper Darby. As of Fiscal Year 2025, the Water Department includes capital charges within operation and
maintenance charges for all customers except Lower Merion.

* The percentage of Total Revenue is calculated using the yearly revenue received by the municipality or authority divided by the total yearly
revenue of the Water Revenue Fund. The total revenue for Fiscal Year 2024 was $843,534,824 (interfund revenue is not available).

** COA% or Consent Order and Agreement (COA) percentage is the Township’s share of expenses for the Long-Term Control Plan to mitigate
combined sewer overflows (CSOs).

Bucks County Water and Sewer Authority purchased the wastewater collection and disposal system of Springfield Township in December
2015 and purchased the wastewater collection system of Bensalem in September 1999.

The COA% reflects the total amount for Wyndmoor and Erdenheim combined.

For more information on the wholesale wastewater contract with Delcora, see “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Delaware County
Regional Water Quality Control Authority” herein. Delcora allocated capital is based on assets placed in service on or after July 4, 2011.
The contract with Lower Southampton Township expired. Lower Southampton Township and the Water Department continue to operate
pursuant to the terms of the existing contract while they negotiate a new or extended contract.

Cheltenham Township sold its sewer system to Aqua PA Wastewater in December 2019. The Water Department’s contract with the township
was transferred to Aqua PA Wastewater in connection with the sale. Aqua PA Wastewater and the Water Department continue to operate
pursuant to the terms of the existing contract while they negotiate a new contract.

The contract with Lower Merion Township does not contain an end date.

The contract with Abington Township expired. Abington Township and the Water Department continue to operate pursuant to the terms of
the existing contract while they negotiate a new or extended contract.
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The Water System
General

The Water System’s service area includes the City. The Water System has one wholesale water service contract
(see Table 4 — Wholesale Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024 above). Based
on the 2023 U.S. Census Bureau estimate, the Water System served 1,550,542 individuals with retail service.

As of June 30, 2024, the Water System served approximately 505,000 active customer accounts using
approximately 3,200 miles of mains and approximately 25,000 fire hydrants. Customer accounts have been stable the past
several years, but consumption patterns and collections are expected to continue to show declining trends in Fiscal Years
2025 and 2026 primarily due to an overall national reduction in tap water consumption, conservation due to more efficient
appliances, increase in bottled water consumption and upwards adjustments to delinquency thresholds, among other
factors. See “RATES — Current Base Rates and 2023 Rate Proceeding” and “ — Billing and Collections™ herein.

The City obtains approximately 56.8% of its water from the Delaware River and the balance from the Schuylkill
River. Under the City’s water allocation permit issued by the PADEP, which expires in September 2041, the City is
authorized to withdraw up to 423 million gallons per day (“MGD”) from the Delaware River and up to 258 MGD from
the Schuylkill River.

Water treatment is provided by the Samuel S. Baxter Water Treatment Plant (“Baxter Water Treatment Plant”)
on the Delaware River and by the Belmont Water Treatment Plant and Queen Lane Water Treatment Plant, both on the
Schuylkill River. The Baxter Water Treatment Plant is the Water Department’s largest water treatment facility in terms
of raw water pumping capacity at 480 MGD, followed by the Queen Lane Water Treatment Plant (200 MGD) and the
Belmont Water Treatment Plant (170 MGD). The combined rated treatment capacity of these plants is 546 MGD. The
combined maximum source water withdrawal capacity from the two rivers that supply these plants is 680 MGD. The
excess source water capacity enables higher than normal withdrawal from either river should conditions limit withdrawals
from one. The usable storage capacity for treated and untreated water in the combined plant and distribution system totals
1,010 million gallons (“MG”). In Fiscal Year 2022, the Water System distributed 84,342 MG of water at an average daily
rate of 231.07 MG. In Fiscal Year 2023, the Water System distributed 84,096 MG of water at an average daily rate of
230.40 MG. In Fiscal Year 2024, the Water System distributed 83,777 MG of water at an average daily rate of 228.9 MG.

The delivery of finished water to customers is accomplished using several key assets, including the following
major reservoir storage facilities: East Park (92 MG, comprised of 3 separate tanks for added flexibility and redundancy),
Oak Lane (72.8 MG) and Roxborough (27.8 MG). The Water Department maintains additional distribution storage to
meet peak customer and public fire service demands as they arise. Distribution storage consists of the Fox Chase elevated
storage tank (1.5 MG); two Somerton standpipes (10 MG); and two Roxborough standpipes (11 MG), which provide a
total of 22.5 MG of distribution system storage, combined. The Water Revitalization Plan, discussed under the caption
“MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES — Water Master Planning”, takes into account the current and future needs of the storage
and pumping facilities. The plan has identified hundreds of individual projects to improve existing facilities that are
currently under review, design, construction or planned to be completed in the future, including the rehabilitation of the
Torresdale Pump Station and Lardner’s Point Pump Station to update aging, critical infrastructure, while providing
enhanced redundancy. The rehabilitation of the Torresdale Pump Station is currently being financed in part with proceeds
of Pennvest loans and Lardner’s Point Pump Station is currently in design. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT
PROGRAM - Pennvest Loans” herein. See also “ — Baxter Water Treatment Plant Clear Well Basin” below for a
discussion of the upgrades being constructed at the Baxter Water Treatment Plant.

Bristol Township Chemical Spill
On March 25, 2023, the Water Department was notified of the discharge of chemicals into the Delaware River as
a result of an incident at the Trinseo facility in Bristol Township, Bucks County. Upon being informed of the incident,

the Water Department began enhanced monitoring of the Delaware River and took steps to safeguard the City’s drinking
water.
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After robust sampling and testing, no chemicals of concern from the Bristol Township spill were detected in any
of the 200-plus samples collected by the Water Department and analyzed by independent, accredited laboratories. As
evidenced by the results, Philadelphia’s drinking water was not materially impacted by the chemical spill and service to
the Water Department’s customers was not interrupted.

Baxter Water Treatment Plant Clear Well Basin

As discussed above, the Baxter Water Treatment Plant is the Water Department’s largest water treatment facility
in terms of raw water pumping capacity. In February 2017, the Water Department commenced construction to replace the
original clear well basin that contained SOMG of water supplying the Lardner’s Point Pump Station (the “CWB”) with
four SMG basins. The original CWB was taken out of service on March 15, 2023 and has been decommissioned. The
first phase of construction is complete, and two SMG replacement basins are currently in service. A notice to proceed on
the second phase to construct the remaining two basins was issued on April 25, 2023. The second phase is currently
underway and is expected to be completed in three years for an estimated cost of $110 million.

Wholesale Contracts

The Water Department has a wholesale contract for water services with Aqua Pennsylvania, Inc. (“AP”) under
which the Water Department has agreed to provide wholesale water service through March 1, 2026. For wholesale water
customer revenues for Fiscal Year 2024, see Table 4 — Wholesale Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year
Ending June 30, 2024.

Environmental Compliance
General

The Water System is subject to various environmental laws and regulations. From time to time, the Water
Department receives notices of violations and has experienced increased compliance and monitoring requirements and
incurred minor fines as a result of such violations. See “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Environmental
Compliance — Regulatory Compliance at Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant” herein for a discussion of current
regulatory issues at the Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant.

Drinking Water Regulatory Matters

The water provided by the Water System meets all physical, chemical, radiological and bacteriological water
quality standards established by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) under the federal Safe
Drinking Water Act and by the PADEP under the Pennsylvania Safe Drinking Water Act. The EPA required a second
round of source water sampling for the Long Term 2 (“LT2”) Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule beginning in April
2015 to measure the concentration of Cryptosporidium present at the intakes of the three water treatment plants.
Cryptosporidium is a parasite that may cause gastrointestinal illness. Observed Cryptosporidium concentrations
categorize each intake into one of four “BINS.” Public water systems placed in “BIN 1” indicate the lowest concentrations
of Cryptosporidium and require no additional treatment. Public water systems placed in “BIN 2,” “BIN 3” and “BIN 4”
require increasing levels of treatment, with “BIN 4” requiring the most treatment. All three of the Water Department’s
drinking water treatment plants participated in Round 2 LT2 monitoring for Cryptosporidium from April 2015 to March
2017. This round of sampling resulted in the Queen Lane Water Treatment Plant and the Baxter Water Treatment Plant
being classified in the “BIN 2” category and in the Belmont Water Treatment Plant being classified in the “BIN 1”
category. The Water Department had a Watershed Control Program Plan in place since 2011 for the Schuylkill River
Watershed to better manage sources of Cryptosporidium upstream of the Queen Lane Water Treatment Plant. A similar
plan was developed for the Delaware River Watershed to support compliance at the Baxter Water Treatment Plant. The
Watershed Control Program Plan for Baxter was updated in 2021 and targets the same priority sources: agricultural
operations, animal vectors, and wastewater treatment plant effluent through a combination of on-the-ground projects,
research, and education and outreach initiatives. The Water Department currently operates under this plan. From time to
time, given water sampling and monitoring or operational issues that may arise, the City has issued water boiling notices
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or other notices to safeguard the health of its customers, which practices continue to be in place. In addition, the Water
Department submits annual status reports to the PADEP regarding source water quality at both the Queen Lane and Baxter
intakes.

On June 25, 2024, routine water quality tests showed that average levels of the disinfection byproduct
Trichloroacetic acid (TCAA) at one location in the City exceeded an EPA Lifetime Health Advisory Level. The PADEP
requires public notification if the annual average level exceeds the guideline of 0.02 mg/L; and the affected area showed
an average value of 0.0252 mg/L. TCAA may cause health effects when there has been long-term exposure (over 70
years) at high values, but an average value of 0.0252 mg/L has no immediate health effect. The Water Department
complied with the PADEP’s Tier 2 30-day public notice obligation by notifying approximately 40,000 customers
estimated to live within the affected area. Drinking water remained safe for consumption, and no further action was
required by the Water Department or its customers.

The Water Department continues to prepare for possible future regulations regarding the distribution system using
a variety of tools that allow the Water Department to track water through the Water System. The Water Department also
is actively involved in monitoring, commenting on, and implementing practices to respond to rules and regulations for
water systems enacted by the PADEP and the EPA. The Water Department submitted its Risk and Resilience Assessment
certification in March 2020 and its Emergency Response Plan certification in September 2020, as required under
America’s Water Infrastructure Act of 2018. See “MANAGEMENT INITTATIVES — Security of Water Department
Facilities and Water Supply and AWIA” herein.

Lead and Copper Rule

While the Water Department’s water main pipes do not contain lead, the Water Department continues to detect
and replace residential lead service lines, which are owned entirely by the property owner, on an ongoing basis. Pursuant
to the federal Safe Drinking Water Act, the Water Department conducts Lead and Copper Rule (“LCR”) monitoring as
required by the EPA and PADEP. In February 2016, the EPA re-issued guidance for public water systems regarding LCR
tap sampling procedures, and in May 2016, the PADEP endorsed the EPA’s guidance. The Water Department follows
such guidance.

The Water Department is on a reduced monitoring schedule due to consistent results below regulatory action
levels for lead and copper. Monitoring is conducted every three years. The most recent round of LCR sampling was
completed in 2022. The Water Department continues its robust communication efforts with residential customers
regarding lead service lines. During calendar year 2022, the Water Department used information from previous sampling
efforts and records collected from the AMI program to identify and contact residential customers in need of service line
replacements. 2,632 customers were contacted, including new and past participants. The Water Department’s efforts
resulted in 391 responses, and 104 customers completed testing in 2022. Regulatory action levels were 15 parts-per-
billion (“ppb”) for lead and 1.3 ppm for copper. Results for ninety percent (90%) of the homes tested were less than or
equal to 2 ppb for lead and less than or equal to 0.219 ppm for copper, which are below the action levels set by the
regulation.

On October 13, 2019, the EPA released proposed revisions to the LCR (the “LCRR”) and the final LCRR was
published in the Federal Register on January 15, 2021. Since then, the EPA has shifted the original compliance date from
January 16, 2024 to October 16, 2024. The LCRR will have a significant effect on the Water Department’s operations by
requiring substantial new efforts in public education regarding lead; notification; sampling and testing; and development
and maintenance of an inventory of residential lead service lines. On October 8, 2024, the EPA issued a final rule (“LCRI”)
requiring drinking water systems across the country to identify and replace lead pipes within 10 years. It also lowered the
action level for lead in drinking water from 15 ppb to 10 ppb. The Water Department is prepared to meet the LCRR
requirements that will not be delayed by the LCRI, including the development of a residential lead service line inventory
for internal uses that is based on historical records and inspections of service line material being conducted by AMI
installation contractors, updating communications materials, and enhancing communications efforts with customers. The
Water Department is also preparing for compliance with the LCRI, including the development and implementation of a
residential lead service line replacement plan, updating and implementing new sampling requirements, and launching a
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school and childcare water lead testing program. The Water Department continues to remove residential lead service lines
when encountered during capital projects, resulting in replacements on average of approximately 300 to 350 residential
lead service lines per year.

PFAS

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (“PFAS”) are a family of synthetic compounds that are water soluble and
persistent in the environment in air, water, and soil. PFAS are used in a variety of manufacturing processes and are used
in the production of a wide range of industrial and household applications. The EPA has stated that, based on peer-
reviewed studies on laboratory animals and epidemiological evidence in human populations, exposure to certain levels of
Perfluorooctanoic acid (“PFOA”) and Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid (“PFOS”), two types of PFAS compounds, may result
in adverse health effects.

In January 2023, the PADEP published a rule to set maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) in drinking water for
PFOA and PFOS. The rule sets an MCL of 14 parts per trillion (ppt) for PFOA and an MCL of 18 ppt for PFOS. In March
2023, the EPA proposed new National Primary Drinking Water Regulations (NPDWRs) for six PFAS compounds. The
proposed federal MCL for PFOA and PFOS are 4 ppt each. Four additional PFAS compounds are proposed to be regulated
as a mixture using a hazard index. The four compounds included in the hazard index are perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA),
hexafluoropropylene oxide dimer acid (HFPO-DA, commonly known as GenX Chemicals), perfluorohexane sulfonic acid
(PFHxS), and perfluorobutane sulfonic acid (PFBS). On April 10, 2024, the EPA announced the final National Primary
Drinking Water Regulation (NPDWR) for six PFAS. For PFOA and PFOS the MCLs are 4 PPT each.

The Water Department has been monitoring and continues to monitor and sample to detect PFAS levels in
drinking water. Given the more stringent MCLs recently adopted by the EPA, the Water Department is evaluating the
new standards and how to best address them. The Water Department expects to incur increased capital expenditures and
maintenance costs in order to comply with EPA regulations. See also “LITIGATION AND CLAIMS” herein for a
discussion of the ongoing multidistrict litigation regarding PFAS contamination.

EPA Proposed Aquatic Life Use Regulation for the Urban Delaware River

On December 21, 2023, the EPA proposed a rulemaking (Water Quality Standards to Protect Aquatic Life in the
Delaware River), which was revised on January 8, 2024, that would require a significant reduction in the amount of
ammonia that the three Philadelphia wastewater treatment plants discharge into the Delaware River. The intent of this
rulemaking is to improve reproduction of native fish species, specifically the endangered Atlantic sturgeon. Enforcement
of this rule, as currently proposed, is expected to result in capital costs to the Water System given that three wastewater
treatment plants currently cannot achieve the proposed ammonia removal reductions because these plants were not
originally designed to remove ammonia. The Water Department delivered formal comments to the EPA on or about
February 20, 2024. Currently, the rule is not final nor promulgated, and neighboring municipalities and utilities that would
be affected by the regulation have also provided comments to the EPA. At this time, no assurance can be given as to
whether the rulemaking will be adopted, the requirements it will impose, the potential timing of compliance therewith or
the financial or other effects on the Water System.

The Wastewater System
General

The Wastewater System’s service area includes the City. The Water Department has ten wholesale wastewater
service contracts (see Table 4 — Wholesale Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024).
Based on the 2023 U.S. Census Bureau estimate, the Wastewater System served 1,550,542 individuals with retail service

that live in the City as well as customers under ten wholesale contracts.

As of June 30, 2024, the Wastewater System served approximately 542,000 accounts, including approximately
45,531 stormwater-only accounts (see “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Stormwater Management Services”
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below), and ten wholesale contracts with neighboring municipalities and authorities and one corporation. Customer
wastewater accounts have been stable the past several years and are expected to remain stable in Fiscal Years 2025 and
2026.

The Wastewater System consists of three water pollution control plants, the Northeast, Southwest and Southeast
water pollution control plants (the “WPCPs”), 29 pumping stations, approximately 3,700 miles of sewers, a privately
managed centralized biosolids handling facility and a gas cogeneration facility. See “OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS
AND OTHER LONG-TERM AGREEMENTS - Other Obligations — Contract for Biosolids Treatment with Philadelphia
Biosolids Services, LLC” and *“ — Northeast Water Pollution Control Plant Cogeneration Facility” above. The Wastewater
System includes approximately 1,850 miles of combined sewers, 770 miles of sanitary sewers, 750 miles of stormwater
sewers, 16 miles of force mains (sanitary and storm) and approximately 330 miles of appurtenant piping. The three
WPCPs have a 522 MGD combined annual average capacity, a 783 MGD combined daily average capacity and a 1,059
MGD combined peak capacity. In Fiscal Years 2022, 2023 and 2024, the three WPCPs processed a combined average of
448 MGD, 434 MGD and 452 MGD of wastewater, respectively.

Under their regulatory permits, the WPCPs are allowed to treat flows in excess of their respective treatment
capacities within regulated parameters on effluent quality. Treatment in excess of the minimum flows required is desirable
from an environmental standpoint in order to reduce the discharge of untreated combined sewer overflows. From time to
time, the WPCPs experience a surge of wet weather flows during which time one or more plants may be required to treat
combined sewage in excess of their respective required treatment capacities to avoid the discharge of additional permitted
(from a regulatory standpoint) but untreated combined sewer overflows into waterways. This surge may last for a matter
of minutes or hours and rarely occurs more than a few times in one year, although it is subject to change given the effects
of climate change. See “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Climate Change” herein.

Ultimately, the goal of the Water Department in managing and operating the WPCPs is to create additional plant
redundancies and increase reliability of operations while maximizing the treatment of wastewater within NPDES permit
requirements. The Water Department employs industry standard best practices in terms of operations and maintenance
and other capital planning measures at the WPCPs to achieve these goals. In line with the City’s COA requirements, and
in furtherance of improving effluent quality and reducing environmental effects more generally, the Water Department
studies and pursues numerous capital projects at each of the WPCPs to expand capacity for treatment and replace, renew
and maintain assets. For instance, in order to better position itself for the milestones required under the City’s COA
(hereinafter defined), the Water Department completed construction of the high flow management system at the Northeast
WPCP in calendar year 2018, increasing the Northeast WPCP’s capacity for primary treatment from 435 MGD to 650
MGD when routing through the secondary bypass conduit. Likewise, in planning for future compliance with the COA,
the Water Department seeks to increase peak capacity at the Southeast WPCP by 50 MGD through a combination of
process and hydraulic improvements. Similarly, the Water Department also plans to increase peak capacity at the
Southwest WPCP by 60 MGD, an expansion currently planned for 2031. See also “THE SYSTEM — Wastewater System
— Environmental Compliance” herein.

Stormwater Management Services

The Water Department delivers many of the City’s stormwater management services, including maintenance of
the City’s approximately 750 miles of separate storm sewers, 1,850 miles of combined sewers and 71,500 stormwater
inlets. The Water Department generates approximately 24% of total revenue from stormwater services. See also

“LITIGATION AND CLAIMS” herein for a discussion of a recent case addressing whether stormwater fees charged to
West Chester University, a tax-exempt university, constitute a tax or a service fee.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Wastewater and Stormwater Regulations, Permits and Awards
Wastewater

The Clean Water Act requires a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit for any
point source discharge of pollutants into navigable waters in the United States. The EPA has delegated the NPDES
program for the Commonwealth to the PADEP. In addition to the Clean Water Act, the City and its WPCPs are subject
to regulation by the PADEP, which exercises regulatory authority over municipal sewage treatment operations, and by the
Delaware River Basin Commission, which exercises regulatory authority over withdrawals from and discharges into the
Delaware and Schuylkill Rivers. The NPDES permits prescribe requirements for an industrial pretreatment program,
polychlorinated biphenyls minimization plan, effluent limits for the City’s three wastewater treatment plants and require
implementation of combined sewer overflow control measures including minimum controls and the City’s Long-Term
Control Plan Update discussed herein. These control measures manage and treat the excess stormwater and wastewater
mix that discharges directly into local waterways during certain precipitation events. See — “Environmental Compliance
— Combined Sewer Overflow Program” below.

The City has three NPDES permits for its wastewater system, one each for the Northeast, Southeast and Southwest
WPCPs. All three of these permits expired on August 31, 2012. The facilities are operating under an administrative
extension of the expired permits, as dictated by PADEP policy. The expired NPDES permits will remain in place until
new permits are issued. The City submitted applications for renewals to the PADEP in February of 2012, in advance of
the expiration date, and has commented on draft forms of the permits received from the PADEP. In connection with
resuming discussions regarding the NPDES permits, the PADEP recently requested that the Water Department complete
one round of specialized influent sampling and three rounds of specialized effluent sampling at the three WPCPs, and
further required that the Water Department submit new permit renewal application forms. Sampling occurred from April
2023 through June 2023, and the Water Department submitted the WPCPs’ NPDES permit renewal applications in the
fourth quarter of calendar year 2023. See “ — Environmental Compliance — Combined Sewer Overflow Program” below
for a discussion respecting the interplay between the NPDES permits and the Water Department’s obligations under its
Consent Order and Agreement to mitigate combined sewer overflows. The Water Department continues to analyze the
sampling results to prepare for discussions with regulators regarding new NPDES permits and plan for potential changes
to future permit requirements.

The three WPCPs have had a long history of being recognized by the National Association of Clean Water
Agencies (“NACWA?”) for their compliance records. During calendar year 2021, all three WPCPs received awards from
NACWA for perfect compliance, with the Northeast WPCP and the Southwest WPCP each receiving a gold award and
the Southeast WPCP receiving a platinum award, which recognized 22 consecutive years of perfect compliance. In August
0f 2023, the Northeast WPCP was awarded a peak performance gold award from NACWA for perfect permit compliance
during calendar year 2022. Both the Southeast and Southwest WPCPs experienced permit effluent violations during
calendar year 2024. See “THE SYSTEM - The Wastewater System — Environmental Compliance — Regulatory
Compliance at Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant” herein for a discussion of current regulatory issues at the
Southwest WPCP.

Stormwater

The Clean Water Act requires cities, like Philadelphia, whose separate storm sewer systems serve a population of
over 100,000 to obtain an NPDES permit for their municipal stormwater discharges, known as a Municipal Separate Sewer
Systems (MS4) permit. The City’s NPDES permits require reduction of pollution from commercial and residential areas,
illicit connections, industrial facilities and construction sites. The City’s current MS4 permit was issued in 2005 and
expired in 2010. The City submitted an application for renewal to the PADEP in 2010 and continues operating under the
administratively extended 2005 permit, as dictated by the policies of the PADEP. The 2005 permit will remain in place
until a new permit is issued. The City has engaged in discussions with the PADEP regarding draft permit requirements
over the years. In the meantime, the City continues to implement planning, analysis and coordination processes to prepare
for potential future permit requirements. Significant analysis and planning are being undertaken to prepare for a potential
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new requirement for pollutant reduction plans to reduce stormwater and pollutant loads to the waterways in the MS4 areas
of the City and potential new permit requirements around pollutant reducing practices on City facilities.

Wholesale Contracts

Contracts for wastewater treatment service with neighboring municipalities, authorities and Aqua PA Wastewater
provide for charges based on operating costs attributable to the volume and strength of the wastewater received from each
of these customers. The contracts of Wholesale Customers have different expiration dates and contract terms. As these
contracts have been extended or amended, management fees have increased from 10% to 12% of wastewater treatment
charges. The way Wholesale Customers are billed for capital costs has changed from paying a proportionate share of
facility investments to paying depreciation and return on investment on a monthly basis. As of Fiscal Year 2025, the
Water Department includes depreciation and return within the monthly charges for all Wholesale Customers except Lower
Merion, who continues to pay a proportionate share of facility investments. In the context of contract extensions and
amendments, Wholesale Customers have also been assigned a share of COA Expenditures or LTCPU costs. See Table 4
— Wholesale Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024, for Fiscal Year 2024 revenues,
contract end dates, and which customers are currently paying their proportionate share of COA Expenditures. Revenues
from Wholesale Customers for wastewater services for Fiscal Years 2022, 2023 and 2024 were $36.3 million, $42.3
million, and $44.1 million, respectively, and budgeted revenues for Fiscal Year 2025 are approximately $37.8 million.

As discussed above under “THE SYSTEM — Large Customers,” the updated allocations for LTCPU costs based
on the H&H model commenced being utilized in Fiscal Year 2024. Using this evaluation methodology, Wholesale
Customers currently paying a portion of COA Expenditures are allocated a reduced portion of COA Expenditures, which
is currently estimated to result in a reduction of wholesale wastewater revenues of approximately $2.47 million in Fiscal
Year 2025. The allocations based on the H&H model provide a better representation of the wastewater collection system
capacity, the complexities of the system and each Wholesale Customer’s effect on system performance as well as their
impacts on combined sewer overflow volumes. The allocation of COA Expenditures to Wholesale Customers is generally
lower under the updated methodology when compared to the previous allocation methodology. Retail customers’ annual
cost of service is determined by taking the annual system cost of service net of the expenditures allocated to Wholesale
Customers. The updated cost allocations are expected to result in a lower allocation of COA Expenditures to Wholesale
Customers and an increase to retail customers based on their respective consumption patterns and effects on the System,
anticipated to produce a neutral overall effect.

Delaware County Regional Water Quality Control Authority

Aqua PA Wastewater, Inc., an Essential Utilities Company (“Aqua PA Wastewater”), signed an asset purchase
agreement to acquire the wastewater assets of the Delaware County Regional Water Quality Control Authority
(“DELCORA”). The pending transaction is subject to approval by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“PUC”).
If approved by PUC, Aqua PA Wastewater and DELCORA have informed the Water Department that they may build
infrastructure to divert wastewater flows from the Water Department. Wholesale wastewater revenues from DELCORA
for Fiscal Years 2022, 2023 and 2024 as a percentage of total revenues were 1.29%, 1.37%, and 1.46%, respectively. See
Table 4 — Wholesale Water and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024, herein.

During PUC’s review, the Delaware County Council (as the sole municipal incorporator of the DELCORA)
sought to dissolve DELCORA and take over its assets. On May 14, 2020, the Delaware County Council filed a suit with
the trial court to block the sale by DELCORA to Aqua PA Wastewater (“County Litigation™). The case made its way to
the Commonwealth Court, which held that Delaware County can dissolve DELCORA. County of Delaware v. Delaware
County Regional Water Quality Control Authority, 272 A.3d 567 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2022 (“DELCORA TI”)). The
Commonwealth Court’s order in DELCORA I was not appealed, and the Commonwealth Court remitted the record to the
trial court for remand on May 3, 2022. On September 13, 2022, the trial court entered a Remand Order, and Delaware
County appealed the Remand Order to the Commonwealth Court. In June 2024, the Commonwealth Court vacated certain
orders in the Remand Order and affirmed others. County of Delaware v. Delaware County Regional Water Quality Control
Authority Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania, 1347 CD 2022, Unpublished Opinion entered June 4, 2024, 2024 WL
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2830097, 2024 Pa. Commw. Unpub. LEXIS 278 (“DELCORA II”"). No further proceedings before the trial court have
been held as of September 24, 2024.

Other proceedings ensued, including bankruptcy proceedings. In November of 2022, the receiver for the City of
Chester filed for Bankruptcy under Chapter 9. Under the terms of a 1973 agreement, the assets revert back to the City of
Chester in the event that DELCORA ceases to operate the system. The City of Chester filed a Plan of Adjustment on
August 26, 2024. The Bankruptcy Court barred the PUC, DELCORA and Aqua PA Wastewater from pursuing, taking or
continuing any further action in the PUC proceeding. Aqua PA Wastewater filed a Notice of Appeal to the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, which is currently before the court for disposition. On January 18,
2023, DELCORA filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment with the Delaware County Court of Common Pleas (the
“2023 DELCORA Complaint”’) naming both Delaware County and Aqua PA Wastewater as Defendants. The Delaware
County Court of Common Pleas held the 2023 DELCORA Complaint in abeyance (or suspension) pending resolution of
issues raised in Delaware County’s appeal in DELCORA II. No further proceedings before the trial court on DELCORA
IT have been held as of the date of this Official Statement. In June 2023, Aqua PA Wastewater filed a complaint (in the
Delaware County Court of Common Pleas) against DELCORA (the “2023 Aqua Complaint”) alleging that DELCORA’s
efforts to negotiate an extension of its current wastewater service agreement with the Water Department constituted a
breach of the asset purchase agreement. The prehearing conference for the 2023 Aqua Complaint is scheduled for
November 4, 2024, and litigation is ongoing.

Bucks County Water and Sewer Authority

Aqua PA Wastewater had made an offer to purchase the wastewater assets of the Bucks County Water and Sewer
Authority (“BCWSA”). On July 13,2022, BCSWA voted in favor of granting Aqua PA Wastewater an exclusive right to
negotiate for one year with BCWSA regarding the sale of its wastewater assets. BCWSA ended negotiations and called
off the potential sale in September of 2022. Wholesale wastewater revenues from BCSWA for Fiscal Years 2022, 2023,
and 2024 as a percentage of total revenues were 1.46%, 1.75%, and 1.65% respectively. See Table 4 — Wholesale Water
and Wastewater Customer Revenues Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2024, herein.

Environmental Compliance
General

The Wastewater System is subject to various environmental laws and regulations. From time to time, the Water
Department receives notices of violations and has experienced increased compliance and monitoring requirements and
incurred minor fines as a result of such violations. See “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Environmental
Compliance — Regulatory Compliance at Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant” herein for a discussion of current
regulatory issues at the Southwest WPCP.

Combined Sewer Overflow Program

In certain sections of the City, both wastewater and stormwater are collected and conveyed in a single pipe (or
combined sewer) to the sewage treatment plant. These combined sewers were designed to discharge combined or mixed
flows of stormwater and wastewater that exceed the capacity of the treatment plant into local waterways during heavy
rainstorms or precipitation events to protect the plant, as well as surrounding homes and businesses, from flooding.
Combined flows in excess of the treatment plant’s capacity are known as combined sewer overflows (“CSOs”). The City
is required to manage CSOs in accordance with its NDPES permits and its COA (as defined and discussed below).

Like many other cities and utilities, the City entered into a Consent Order and Agreement (the “COA”) with the
PADEP in June 2011 and an Administrative Order for Compliance on Consent with the EPA in September 2012 to address
the management of CSOs. The COA requires the Water Department to implement the LTCPU, also known as the Green
City, Clean Waters (“GCCW?”) program, and to provide annual reporting on progress. Under the GCCW program, the
City has been investing in green and traditional infrastructure, including wastewater treatment facility enhancements,
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interceptor pipe lining and collection system improvements, to manage stormwater, mitigate CSOs and enhance the quality
of local waterways, thereby improving water quality in the City’s CSO receiving streams and rivers.

As required under the COA, by calendar year 2036 (year 25 of the COA), the City’s GCCW program seeks to
eliminate and remove the mass of pollutants that otherwise would be removed by the capture of 85% of CSOs by volume
from the combined sewer system. The COA further requires that the City continue to operate the combined sewer system
to maintain this standard of water quality for at least an additional twenty years. Post-construction monitoring will be
required at the conclusion of the 25-year program in order to evaluate the program’s effectiveness. The COA requires
interim performance standards at the end of the fifth, tenth, fifteenth and twentieth years in four categories: (1) Total
Greened Acres; (2) Overflow Reduction Volume; (3) Miles of Interceptor Lined; and (4) Wastewater Treatment Plant
Upgrades in design and construction. The COA also includes significant penalties for non-compliance with the milestones.
Penalties start at $25,000 per month for each violation (for the first 6 months) and increase up to $100,000 monthly for
uncured violations of 13 months or more. As of the date of this Official Statement, the Water Department has not incurred
any such penalties. The COA also requires the submittal of an Evaluation and Adaptation Plan (“EAP”) at least once
every five years. The EAP requires a progress assessment, description of program elements for the upcoming 5-year
period, and adaptive strategies for any performance standards that have not been met. The Year 5 EAP was submitted on
October 30, 2016, and the Year 10 EAP was submitted on May 26, 2022 in accordance with the extension granted to the
Water Department by the PADEP as discussed below.

Current NPDES permits require the Water Department to achieve the elimination of the mass of the pollutants
that otherwise would be removed by the capture of 85% by volume of the combined sewage collected in the combined
sewer system based on a City-wide average. On November 9, 2016, the City received a revised request from EPA directing
the City to analyze the controls necessary to achieve 85% capture in each of the City’s three WPCP drainage districts.
Currently, this metric is not a requirement of the City’s approved COA or of its existing NPDES permits. The EPA
subsequently stayed the obligation to respond to the information request, and the request remained stayed until the EPA
contacted the City to continue discussions regarding options for 85% mass capture in each WPCP drainage district in the
Spring of 2024. In light of preliminary conversations with the EPA, the Water Department anticipates that the EPA will
modify its COA targets in connection with NPDES permits negotiations. The Water Department expects to be able to
utilize adaptation measures to plan for long-term compliance with the COA in light of anticipated permit modifications.
See “— Wastewater and Stormwater Regulations, Permits and Awards” above. The Water Department continues to assess
implementation progress planning for future performance standards, while assessing the implications of a potential
modification of program requirements from a system-wide average to a “per WPCP drainage district” requirement.

The Water Department anticipates that over the next 12 years, compliance with the COA will significantly
increase capital and operating expenditures related to its GCCW program. Moreover, any resulting changes to the COA
as a result of the EPA’s information request could further increase the costs of compliance. Looking ahead to the Year 15
Performance Standard, the City continues to review program cost and delivery in an effort to optimize the program while
satisfying the necessary regulatory requirements. As of the most recent projections, the total cost of the 25-year program
is approximately $4.5 billion, of which approximately $3.5 billion are capital related costs and $1 billion are operation
and maintenance costs.

The City allocated $195 million for COA Expenditures in Fiscal Year 2025. The COA budget for Fiscal Year
2025 is exclusive of any carryforward of unused budget authorization in prior Fiscal Years. See Table 5 — Fiscal Years
2025-2030 6-year Water Capital Improvement Program and COA Budget. From July 1,2011 through and including June
30, 2024, the Water Department spent approximately $436 million of its capital budget on COA Expenditures. During
the same period, the Water Department spent $534 million from its operating budget for COA Expenditures, which
excludes stormwater credits. For a discussion of stormwater credits, see Table 12 — Stormwater Incentives and Assistance
Program.

The City completed the requirements of the fifth-year performance standards comprised of 744 greened acres and
a reduction of annual CSO volume by 660 million gallons in 2016. As reported in the Year 10 EAP, the City completed
the tenth-year performance standards comprised of 2,148 greened acres and a reduction of annual CSO volume by 2,044
million gallons on May 26, 2022, after an extension granted by the PADEP for project delivery disruptions resulting from
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COVID-19 restrictions. The fifteenth-year performance standards require the City to complete 3,812 greened acres and
reduce annual CSO volume by 3,619 million gallons by June 2026. As of the date of this Official Statement, the City
estimates that the current infrastructure projects underway will be sufficient to meet the next fifteenth-year milestone in a
timely manner.

The Water Department’s Stormwater Management Incentives Program (“SMIP”) and Green Acre Retrofit
Program (“GARP”) typically provide 100% funding for the private sector to build, own, operate and maintain green
stormwater infrastructure on private property. Once a project is complete, the recipient receives a reduction of up to 80%
on stormwater charges. Since the program’s inception, the Water Department has achieved 951 acres as of June 30, 2022,
999 acres as of June 30, 2023 and 1,006" acres as of June 30, 2024. These acres are part of the Water Department’s totaled
greened acres discussed above. See Table 12 — Stormwater Incentives and Assistance Program.

Delays in completing greened acres and reducing CSOs can occur at any time and no assurance can be given that
any performance standard under the COA will be met timely.

Regulatory Compliance at Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant

Accreditation Status of Southwest WPCP Laboratory

On July 24, 2023, the Water Department’s Bureau of Laboratory Services (“BLS”) Quality Assurance Unit
determined that proper laboratory procedures were not being followed at the Southwest WPCP laboratory in connection
with reporting certain data. This data is primarily utilized by the Water Department to certify compliance with its
wastewater NPDES permit for the Southwest WPCP. Upon discovering the incident, BLS management promptly began
an investigation and reported the noncompliance to the PADEP. In addition, BLS made personnel changes at the
Southwest WPCP and shifted testing of regulatory compliance samples collected at the Southwest WPCP to an accredited
outside laboratory and the Southeast WPCP laboratory. BLS also temporarily withdrew laboratory accreditation at the
Southwest WPCP laboratory as required by the PADEP.

BLS expanded its internal investigation to include all three WPCP laboratories (Southwest, Southeast and
Northeast) and submitted a final report to the PADEP Laboratory Accreditation Program on February 20, 2024. The report
contained the findings of the BLS investigation and proposed corrective actions. Proposed corrective actions include
pertinent staff receiving additional training, modifications being made to existing procedural and ethics trainings, and the
implementation of an electronic data audit trail. On February 22 and February 23, 2024, the PADEP visited all three
WPCP laboratories for their standard triennial assessments. On February 26, 2024, the PADEP communicated to BLS its
determination that the issues at the Southwest WPCP laboratory were adequately addressed and approved the
aforementioned corrective measures. Following the PADEP’s written assessment reports and the Water Department’s
responses, the assessments were satisfactorily closed on June 7, 2024. Accreditation at the Southwest laboratory was re-
established on July 2, 2024.

NPDES Effluent Permit Exceedances

During late 2023, the Southwest WPCP began experiencing significant treatment process degradation due to a
variety of factors, including a high volume of inert solids returned to the plant from the Biosolids Recycling Center (the
“BRC”), which is a facility that dewaters and dries biosolids received from the Southwest and Northeast WPCPs, plant-
internal recycle flows and complications resulting from delays in maintenance and renewal of capital plant assets. These
issues resulted in multiple effluent limit exceedances of the Southwest WPCP’s NPDES permit from September 2023
through May 2024. All effluent exceedances were promptly reported to the PADEP in accordance with permit

* This reflects an estimate of greened acres and should not be considered compliance certified. Certification will not occur until
submittal of the Water Department’s annual report to the PADEP. Greened acres are subject to change as projects move through
construction closeout, compliance review and accounting processes. One greened acre leads to approximately 27,000 gallons of
managed stormwater (or one acre of drainage area) during a 1” storm.
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requirements. In response, the Water Department implemented various measures to evaluate plant processes and restore
regulatory permit compliance, including utilizing outside consultants and instituting operational changes. Additionally,
the Water Department deployed a temporary dewatering facility at the Northeast WPCP to treat a portion of Northeast
WPCP biosolids locally. This temporary facility has increased capacity for Southwest biosolids treatment at the BRC,
while also improving treatment processes at the Northeast WPCP. Given these measures, effluent quality continues to
improve at the Southwest WPCP. As of the date of this Official Statement, the Southwest WPCP is compliant with its
NPDES permit.

Wastewater Treatment Noncompliance for Biosolids Land Application

During the evaluation of effluent permit compliance at the Southwest WPCP, the Water Department assessed the
wastewater treatment process at the Southwest WPCP. In March of 2024, the Water Department determined that the
treatment process for biosolids at the Southwest WPCP had not met prescribed standards under the Water Department’s
general permit for land application of Class B biosolids (Permit No. PAG-08-0004). The Water Department began an
investigation and notified Synagro, its third-party vendor and the operator of the BRC, and upon such notification, Synagro
immediately ceased land application of Class B biosolids and commenced storage in permitted facilities and disposal in
landfills. Thereafter, the Water Department and Synagro notified the PADEP, and the parties engaged in a dialogue to
assess the extent and consequences of the deficient treatment processes. As described above, during the Water
Department’s investigation, the Water Department determined that monthly regulatory reports required to be reported to
the Southwest region of the PADEP for calendar years 2022 and 2023 (the period that Class B land application occurred)
contained incorrect information with respect to compliance with biosolids treatment requirements. Although the
investigation is not complete, the noncompliance potentially dates back prior to calendar year 2022.

The Water Department has since engaged several outside consultants to evaluate the infrastructure needs of the
Southwest WPCP, including the anaerobic digester system, and to optimize plant performance. A series of design and
operational improvements were recommended and have been implemented since April 2024 and are expected to continue
to be implemented over time.

Data Reporting Deficiencies and Personnel Changes

As described above, in connection with the evaluation of wastewater treatment processes at the Southwest WPCP,
the Water Department determined that certain personnel had been misreporting compliance data to the PADEP. Internal
investigations have concluded. Personnel changes have occurred at the Southwest WPCP and additional personnel changes
may occur in accordance with required collective bargaining processes or other City procedures. In response to these
personnel changes, the Water Department has instituted various measures to support and augment compliance, including
centralization of operating and reporting data to increase transparency and quality control, reevaluation and enhancement
of written standard operating procedures and multiple trainings for plant personnel, including whistleblower and ethics
trainings. No assurance can be given that personnel changes, particularly in specialized areas, will not adversely affect
operations.

PADEP Notices of Violations and EPA Pre-Settlement Notice

As of the date of this Official Statement, the Water Department has received notices of violations from the PADEP
regarding (i) NPDES Effluent Permit Exceedances and (ii)) Wastewater Treatment Noncompliance for Biosolids Land
Application, each as previously described above. In addition, the EPA provided the Water Department with a pre-
settlement notice regarding noncompliant biosolids under the CWA. As required under the notices, the Water Department
continues to investigate the above instances of noncompliance, has submitted the written reports required by the PADEP
and remains engaged in discussions with the PADEP. The EPA has issued a draft Consent Agreement and Final Order to
the Water Department, and settlement negotiations with the EPA are ongoing.
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Related City Management Initiatives

The Managing Director’s Office is expected to commence a comprehensive review of the Water Department’s
operations in Fiscal Year 2025. Broadly, such review is expected to focus on identifying and implementing additional
best practices and operational tactics with the goal of improving the overall performance of the Water Department by
optimizing operations and management and creating proactive customer service strategies to respond to future needs and
challenges. No assurance can be given as to the timing or scope of review or the findings or implementation of any
recommendations as a result thereof.

Clean Streams Law

The Wastewater and Stormwater Systems are subject to various environmental laws and regulations. From time
to time, the Water Department receives notices of violations of such environmental laws and regulations, and as a result
of such violations, has incurred minor fines.

Clean Air Act

The federal Clean Air Act sets forth requirements for the regulation of certain air emissions. The PADEP,
pursuant to the Clean Air Act’s mandates, issued regulations for the control of Volatile Organic Compounds (“VOC”) and
Nitrogen Oxide (“NOx”) emissions from major stationary sources. The Northeast and Southwest WPCPs and the
Biosolids Recycling Center were found to be major sources of VOC and NOx emissions, while the Southeast WPCP is a
minor source. From time to time, the Water Department has incurred minor fines for violations of the Clean Air Act.

Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

Pursuant to Section 303(d) of the Clean Water Act, on December 15, 2003, zones 2, 3, 4, and 5 of the Delaware
River estuary were declared impaired because of the levels found in the water of an organic chemical known as
polychlorinated biphenyls (“PCBs”). As a result, the Delaware River Basin Commission (“DRBC”) developed, and EPA
approved, Total Maximum Daily Load (“TMDL”) analyses in 2003 (DRBC zones 2-5) and 2006 (DRBC zone 6) defining
the levels of PCBs that can be discharged from all sources while meeting water quality standards. The TMDLs set forth
a plan to reduce loadings of PCBs into the river. The current understanding is that the river exceeds its allowable loadings
by 1,000 times its allowance. Loadings come from virtually every source, e.g., sediments, air, runoff from land,
contaminated sites and the PCBs that are contained in the influent of the Water Department’s three WPCPs. The Water
Department’s NPDES permits require implementation of a pollutant minimization plan, which involves tracking down
sources of PCBs and referring them to the appropriate agency for remediation. This involves additional staff to track the
sources of PCBs and to devise programs to reduce the loadings. The level and extent of clean up that will be required by
each source category in the future is currently being evaluated by the DRBC, the EPA and the states comprising the DRBC.

Biosolids Treatment and Utilization

The City is required by federal and state law administered by the EPA and the PADEP to treat and dispose of
biosolids captured during wastewater treatment at the City’s WPCPs. Under the Biosolids Service Contract, Philadelphia
Biosolids treats biosolids from the City’s three WPCPs and produces and disposes of Class A pellets to be used as fertilizer
and potentially fuel. For more information on the Biosolids Service Contract, see “OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS
AND OTHER LONG-TERM AGREEMENTS - Other Obligations — Contract for Biosolids Treatment with Philadelphia
Biosolids Services, LLC” herein. See also “THE SYSTEM — The Wastewater System — Environmental Compliance —
Regulatory Compliance at Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant” herein.

PFAS
Due to the omnipresence of PFAS in the environment, wastewater systems can be pathways for PFAS. There is

a growing concern that PFAS in wastewater systems could potentially be discharged in the effluent or the groundwater
thereby threatening water quality. Currently, state and federal regulatory agencies have not promulgated regulations
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establishing maximum effluent limits for PFAS in municipal wastewater systems. However, in 2021 the PADEP
announced that it had included discharge limits for two PFAS compounds in the NPDES permits issued to a federal facility
located in Horsham, Pennsylvania. No assurance can be provided that future regulatory or permit actions will not be taken
with respect to the permits applicable to the City’s wastewater system. Compliance with any such future regulations or
permit requirements could result in an increase in capital expenditures and maintenance costs. See also “LITIGATION
AND CLAIMS” herein for a discussion of the ongoing multidistrict litigation regarding PFAS contamination.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

The Charter requires City Council to adopt annually, on or prior to May 31, a one-year capital budget for the
ensuing Fiscal Year and a six-year budget showing the capital expenditures planned for that year and each of the five
ensuing Fiscal Years known as the “City Capital Improvement Program.” The Water Capital Improvement Program is
included in the City Capital Improvement Program. The City Capital Improvement Program is prepared annually by the
City Planning Commission to present the capital expenditures planned for each of the five ensuing Fiscal Years, including
the estimated total cost of each project and the estimated sources of funding (local, state, federal, and private) for each
project. The City Capital Improvement Program is reviewed by the Mayor and transmitted to City Council for adoption
with her recommendation. The capital budget ordinance, authorizing in detail the capital expenditures to be made or
incurred in the ensuing Fiscal Year from City Council appropriated funds, is adopted by City Council concurrently with
the City Capital Improvement Program. The one-year capital budget must be in full conformity with the City Capital
Improvement Program applicable to the Fiscal Year that it covers. City Council approved the City Capital Improvement
Program for Fiscal Years 2025 through 2030 on June 13, 2024. The Water Department updates the Water Capital
Improvement Program annually as part of its yearly budget process based on a detailed project review by engineering
staff, external engineering consultants and senior management. The Water Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Year
2025 to Fiscal Year 2030 (the “FY25 CIP”) is approximately $4.795 billion, excluding carryforward of $484 million of
unused budget authorization for prior Fiscal Years. In Fiscal Years 2022, 2023, and 2024, the Water Department’s actual
capital expenditures totaled $250 million, $241 million and $372 million, respectively. The FY25 CIP reflects increased
costs associated with complying with the City’s COA and other regulations, implementation of the Water Revitalization
Plan, increases in water main and sewer system replacement, inflationary pressure, supply chain issues and lingering
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, among others. All of the foregoing factors have contributed to increases in the budget
for the Water Capital Improvement Program compared to prior years. In cross over years (Fiscal Year 2025-2029), the
FY25 CIP budget exceeds the budget for the Water Capital Improvement Program for Fiscal Years 2024-2029 (the “FY24
CIP”) by approximately $294 million.

The emphasis of the Water Capital Improvement Program is on: (i) renewal and replacement of the water
conveyance and sewage collection systems, (ii) improvements to water and wastewater treatment plants and (iii) CSO
mitigation projects consistent with the City’s COA.

Table 5 summarizes the 6-year Water Capital Improvement Program and COA Budget for Fiscal Years 2025
through 2030. A list of the Water Department’s top ten active and bid capital projects in terms of estimated cost are
presented in Tables 6. The Water Department may change the elements of the Water Capital Improvement Program at
any time, including the priority of proposed projects, financing sources and schedules associated therewith.

See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM - Table 6 — Top Ten Active Capital Projects by Estimated Cost”
and “— Water Main Replacement” and “ — Sewer Replacement and Renewal Program” herein.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]
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Table 5

Fiscal Years 2025-2030
6-year Water Capital Improvement Program and COA Budget”

Total

Capital Budget Summary FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 FY 2030 FY 2025-2030
Collector System/Flood $ 96,000,000 $101,000,000 $106,000,000 $111,000,000 $116,000,000 $121,000,000 $ 651,000,000
Relief
Collector System 185,000,000 210,000,000 210,000,000 210,000,000 205,000,000 200,000,000 1,220,000,000
(CSO Cco4)
Conveyance System 155,100,000 156,100,000 253,100,000 125,100,000 175,100,000 125,100,000 989,600,000
Engineering Administration
& Material Support 22,100,000 52,100,000 52,100,000 52,100,000 22,100,000 22,100,000 222,600,000
Water Facilities 161,000,000 95,000,000 60,000,000 153,000,000 292,000,000 170,000,000 931,000,000
Wastewater Facilities 130,000,000 241,000,000 145,000,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 50,000,000 666,000,000
Wastewater Treatment
Facilities (CSO COA) 10,000,000 35,000,000 40,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 115,000,000
Total $759,200,000 $890,200,000 $866,200,000 $711,200,000 $870,200,000 $698,200,000 $4,795,200,000
Subtotal Non-CSO COA $564,200,000 $645,200,000 $616,200,000 $491,200,000 $655,200,000 $488,200,000 $3,460,200,000
Subtotal CSO COA™ 195,000,000 245,000,000 250,000,000 220,000,000 215,000,000 210,000,000 1,335,000,000
Total

$759,200,000 $890,200,000 $866,200,000 $711,200,000 $870,200,000 $698,200,000 $4,795,200,000

* Excludes carryforward of unused budget authorization for prior Fiscal Years in the amount of $484 million.
™ COA Expenditures represent 27.8% of the Water Capital Improvement Program budget for Fiscal Years 2025 through 2030.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]
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The following table presents the Water Department’s Top Ten active and bid capital projects in terms
of estimated cost. Such projects are included in the Water Capital Improvement Program and are constructed
and paid over a number of Fiscal Years.

Table 6
Philadelphia Water Department
Top Ten Active Capital Projects by Estimated Cost
As of June 30, 2024

Project Title Status Estimated Cost Commencement
Clear Well Basin at Baxter Water Treatment  Construction Started $245,800,000 FY 2017
Plant
Water Main Replacements™ Ongoing 120,100,000 Annual
Pretreatment Facility at Northeast Water Construction Started 111,000,000 FY 2022
Pollution Control Plant
Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) Ongoing 90,000,000 FY 2019
Torresdale Pumping Station Betterment Construction Started 85,900,000 FY 2021
Sewer Main Replacements* Ongoing Replacement 71,000,000 Annual
Frankford Creek Crossing** Construction Started 48,000,000 FY 2021
Dissolved Air Floatation System at Construction Started 23,100,000 FY 2018
Southwest Water Pollution Control Plant
Replacement of Filter Drains and Influent Construction Started 22,700,000 FY 2024
Valves at Baxter WTP
Filter Air Scour System at Queen Lane Construction Started 20,800,000 FY 2023
Water Treatment Plant

TOTAL $838,400,000

*Reflects budget for Fiscal Year 2025.
**Increased $17.9 million from Fiscal Year 2023.

Capital Improvement Program Financing Sources

The Water Department expects to finance the Water Capital Improvement Program using a combination
of revenue bonds, pay-as-you-go financing and alternative sources of funding, including loans or grants. If
compared fiscal year to fiscal year, Table 5, which summarizes the budget for the Water Capital Improvement
Program, does not directly align with the anticipated funding sources set forth in Table 7 below given the timing
of appropriations and carryover, assumed inflation and the elimination of contingencies for certain projects.
Further, Table 7 below is based upon, among other assumptions, the 2023 Rate Proceeding and the FY24 CIP
for Fiscal Years 2024-2029 and does not consider the increased size of the FY25 CIP for the overlapping Fiscal
Years. See “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM?” herein. Actual funding sources may differ materially
from those projected on Table 7, as influenced by borrowing costs and other subsequent conditions or
circumstances that are beyond the control of the Water Department.
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Table 7
Anticipated Future Funding Sources for Water Capital Improvement Program

Funding Source FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028
Revenue Bonds $503,000,000" $599,530,000 $533,697,000 $752,246,000
WIFIA Proceeds 20,772,000 47,939,000 58,563,000 59,127,000
Pennvest Loan 78,438,000 75,465,000 51,373,000 30,493,000
Proceeds
Pay-Go-financing 59,642,000 84,376,000 100,049,000 114,412,000
Interest Income 12,149,000 8,257,000 8,352,000 8,651,000

Sources: 2023 Rate Proceeding filings and Water Department.

" The revenue bond proceeds projected for Fiscal Year 2025 set forth above are higher than the $308 million
revenue bond proceeds to be issued and applied to finance capital projects in Fiscal Year 2025 as reflected in
this Official Statement. See “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” herein.

See also “— Pennvest Loans”, “ — Commercial Paper Program” and “ — WIFIA” herein. The Rate Board
set a target of twenty percent (20%) pay-as-you-go financing to fund the Water Capital Improvement Program.
Pay-Go financing is projected taking into potential rate increases and is subject to change with each rate
proceeding. The majority of the remaining portion of the costs of the Water Capital Improvement Program is
expected to be financed with revenue bonds, WIFIA proceeds and Pennvest Loan proceeds as set forth above
and discussed below. The City expects most of such debt to be in the form of revenue bonds issued in several
transactions, as necessary.

City Council has preauthorized by supplemental ordinance a portion of the debt that will finance a
majority of the projects contained in the Water Capital Improvement Program. The Water Department may
change the financing elements of the Water Capital Improvement Program, including the financing sources
utilized and the timing thereof, at any time and from time to time.

The Water Department also considers alternative sources of financing from time to time, in addition to
the anticipated borrowings described above.

Pennvest Loans

The Board of Directors of the Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority (“Pennvest”) has
approved several draw-down loans to the City totaling approximately $595 million for various capital projects.
The interest rates on the loans range from 1% to 1.74% for terms of approximately 20 years. See also Table 2
— Outstanding Indebtedness as of September 30, 2024. The Water Department drew approximately $65 million
of Pennvest funds in Fiscal Year 2024 and currently expects to draw approximately $78 million in Fiscal Year
2025 to finance capital projects.

Commercial Paper Program

The City has authorized its Water and Wastewater Revenue Commercial Paper Notes in an amount not
to exceed $400,000,000 (the “Commercial Paper Notes™). The City will use the proceeds of the Commercial
Paper Notes to: (i) finance capital expenditures for the System, including as short term financing for projects to
be ultimately funded by Pennvest loans and/or WIFIA loans; (ii) make deposits to the Sinking Fund to provide
for payments of accrued interest or to establish a debt service reserve or reserves for the Commercial Paper
Notes; (iii) pay obligations to the banks that issued letters of credit supporting the Commercial Paper Notes,
resulting from draws on such letters of credit; (iv) pay or defease outstanding Commercial Paper Notes; and (v)
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pay the costs of issuance of the Commercial Paper Notes. The letters of credit that support the Commercial
Paper Notes expire on July 28, 2026 (for the Series A Notes in an amount not to exceed $125,000,000), July 28,
2027 (for the Series B Notes in an amount not to exceed $125,000,000) and July 28, 2027 (for the Series C Notes
in an amount not to exceed $150,000,000). As of September 30, 2024, $38.4 million aggregate principal amount
of Commercial Paper Notes are outstanding. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE
BONDS — Parity Bonds” herein.

WIFIA

On January 18, 2023, the City entered into a Master Agreement with the EPA for eligible water and
wastewater infrastructure projects promulgated under the Water Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act
(“WIFIA”). The award, totaling up to $341 million, is available to fund capital projects in the Water
Department’s Water Revitalization Plan. See “MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES — Water Master Planning”
herein. $19 million of the award provided funding for the replacement of water mains and residential lead service
lines. The Water Department drew approximately $13 million of WIFIA funds in Fiscal Year 2024 and currently
expects to draw approximately $6 million in Fiscal Year 2025 to finance the replacement of water mains and
lead service lines.

Capital Planning Initiatives

The Water Department’s Operations, Planning and Environmental Services, and Engineering and
Construction Divisions develop capital programs to better anticipate future needs for infrastructure maintenance
and upgrades and to manage long-term capital expenditures. Included in these efforts are a sewer assessment
program, a geographic information-based system records viewer, a capital facilities assessment program, and a
standardized planning process for all large capital projects.

The Water Department has enhanced its planning process for capital projects that have an initial
estimated design and construction cost of $2 million or more. As part of such initiative, the Water Department
will focus on and document the following three project planning steps: Project Need Identification, Project
Alternatives Identification, and Project Alternatives Evaluation. A prioritization system is utilized to capture
the primary driving factors associated with a wide range of project types. The desired timing of capital projects
also is documented through this process. The improved planning process helps inform the Water Department’s
future critical strategic planning efforts, in addition to improving communication and coordination among units
within the Water Department. Below is a discussion of a few of the Water Department’s current capital planning
initiatives. See also “MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES — Water Master Planning” for information on the Water
Department’s 25-year Master Planning process.

Linear Asset Planning Program

The Linear Asset Planning Program (“LAPP”) evaluates the Water Department’s water distribution
system and sewer collector system assets. LAPP leverages several information systems, existing programs and
statistical tools to evaluate non-capital options for extending an asset’s useful life, the estimated costs of asset
replacement, ancillary damages and operations and maintenance history. LAPP also evaluates the risk of pipeline
failure for the water distribution system. With this information, long-term plans for water pipeline and sewer
asset renewal are developed on an ongoing basis. Under LAPP, the Water Department has commenced
replacement of additional miles of failure-prone leadite joint piping, a cohort that has the highest statistical
likelihood of failure. The Water Departments uses LAPP to inform its water main and sewer replacement and
renewal programs.
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Water Main Replacement

The Water Department’s five-year average breaks per 100 miles is 24.1 per year. The Water Department
assesses its water main break rate against the optimal level of 15 breaks per 100 miles/year as defined by the
Distribution System Optimization Program under the American Water Works Association (the “AWWA”)
Partnership for Safe Water. The Water Department closely monitors water main conditions to determine that
adequate capital investment is made, to predict long-term water main replacement needs and refine the criteria
for replacement selection. Over the last 30 years, the Water Department has replaced an average of 19.2 miles
of water mains per year. In Fiscal Years 2022, 2023, and 2024, the Water Department budgeted $30.7 million,
$115 million and $120 million, respectively, for water main replacement in order to advance its program. In
Fiscal Year 2024, the Water Department encumbered projects yielding 26.3 miles of water main replacement
and bid an additional 7.79 miles of water main that did not complete the contract conformance process in Fiscal
Year 2024 and were not encumbered. The unencumbered funds were carried forward into Fiscal Year 2025.
These projects are expected to complete contract conformance in calendar year 2024 and will be counted as
Fiscal Year 2025 mileage replacements. In Fiscal Year 2024, the Water Department increased the budget from
$115 million to $120 million in order to accelerate replacements, with a goal of replacing a total of 42 miles of
water mains in Fiscal Year 2025.

Sewer Replacement and Renewal Program

Over the last 30 years, the Water Department has reconstructed and/or rehabilitated, on average,
approximately 8 miles of sewer annually. The Capital Improvement Program currently includes reconstructing
or relining of 13 miles of sewers in Fiscal Year 2025 based upon results of the Sewer Infrastructure Assessment
Program and other reports, including data from LAPP. Some sewers are scheduled for reconstruction as a result
of programmed water main replacement. As infrastructure is studied further, it is likely that annual sewer
renewal will increase. The budget for Fiscal Years 2022, 2023, and 2024, respectively, was $44.7 million, $62.3
million, and $69.5 million. For Fiscal Year 2025 and Fiscal Year 2026, the Water Department’s budget for sewer
reconstruction is $70.5 million and $75.5 million, respectively, which is expected to yield sewer reconstruction
or rehabilitation of 13 miles in Fiscal Year 2025. In Fiscal Year 2024, the Water Department encumbered
projects yielding 13 miles of sewer reconstruction and bid an additional 4 miles of sewer reconstruction that did
not complete the contract conformance process in Fiscal Year 2024 and were not encumbered. The
unencumbered funds were carried forward into Fiscal Year 2025. These projects are expected to complete
contract conformance in calendar year 2024 and will be counted as Fiscal Year 2025 mileage of sewer
reconstruction. The sewer reconstruction goal will increase by one mile per year until it reaches 20 miles per
year. The annual budget for sewer reconstruction is expected to increase annually to accommodate the mileage
increase.

Sewer Infrastructure Assessment Program

The Water Department has incorporated a sewer assessment program to evaluate the condition of its
sewer system. Data collected from the program is used to determine necessary repairs and capital and operating
costs of such repairs. The program has helped to identify sewers in immediate need of repair, and it is anticipated
that over time it will result in a reduction of costly and disruptive emergency sewer repairs. The sewer
assessment program also is used to schedule repairs for sewers that have reached the end of their useful life.
Such sewers will be reconstructed as part of the Water Capital Improvement Program.

HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Historical Comparative Statement of Net Position
The Water Department’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles

promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”). The statement of net position
presents the financial position of the Water Department. It presents information on the Water Department’s
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assets, deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities with the difference between the three reported as net
position. A three-year condensed summary of the Water Department’s net position as of June 30 for Fiscal Years
2021 through 2023, as presented in the audited financial statements for such years, is presented below.

Table 8
Condensed Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2023
(Thousands of Dollars)
FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023
Assets:
Current Assets $ 340,427 $ 357,729 $ 373,512
Capital Assets 2,917,035 3,009,352 3,170,873
Restricted Assets 778,914 883,209 1,080,216
Total Assets 4,036,376 4,250,290 4,624,601
Deferred Outflows of Resources 80,267 106,058 92,249
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 4,116,643 4,356,348 4,716,850
Liabilities:
Current Liabilities 216,629 226,147 278,127
Bonds Payable 2,411,861 2,599,780 2,889,759
Lease Payable 15,955 14,265
Other Non-Current Liabilities 540,140 600,234 530,096
Total Liabilities 3,168,630 3,442,116 3,712,247
Deferred Inflows of Resources 72,875 23,225 45,813
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 3,241,505 3,465,341 3,758,061
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 643,531 621,404 644,628
Restricted 527,697 554,109 584,883
Unrestricted (296,090) (284,508) (270,720)
Total Net Position, as Restated $ 875,138 $ 891,005 $ 958,790

The following is a discussion of the more significant changes in assets and deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, and net position in Fiscal Year 2023 as compared to Fiscal Year
2022. See also the financial statements of the Water Fund for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022
attached hereto as APPENDIX 1.

Total Capital Assets, net of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization increased by $161.5 million
to $3.2 billion, or 5.4%, due mainly to increases in Construction in Progress of $148.0 million to $801.8
million, or 22.6%. CIP increased in FY23 as more construction projects, particularly PennVest funded
projects, began in FY23 which led to an increase in capital expenditures and accounts payable.

Restricted assets increased by $197.0 million to $1.1 billion, or 22.3% in FY23. The increase was mainly
due to an increase in the Water Capital Fund of $171.3 million, an increase in the Sinking Fund of $14.9
million and an increase in the Sinking Fund Reserve of $10.7 million. The increase in the Water Capital
Fund was due to proceeds from the 2021A Series (PennVest), 2022C Series and Commercial Paper
proceeds, as well as transfers from current revenues. The increase in the Sinking Fund is due to proceeds
from Series 2021D, 2022A, 2022B, 2022D, 2022E, and 2022F (all PennVest). The increase in the
Sinking Fund Reserve was mainly due to a deposit of $8.5 million from Series 2022C.

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources decreased by $13.8 million, or 13.0%. This was mainly due to a
decrease in Deferred Outflows from Net Pension Liability because of changes in assumptions and the
net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments.
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e Total Current Liabilities increased by $52.0 million to $278.1 million, or 23.0%. Most of the increase
was due to increases in Commercial Paper and Construction Contracts Payable. Commercial Paper
increased by $33.3 million to $36.3 million. Commercial Paper is used to pay invoices for many
PennVest projects. Many of these projects began construction in FY23. Construction Contracts Payable
increased by $12.6 million to $54.4 million as more construction projects began in FY23.

e Total Other Noncurrent Liabilities decreased by $70.1 million to $530.1 million, or 11.7%, primarily
due to decreases in Net Pension Liability of $46.9 million to $340.5 million, or 12.1% and Net OPEB
Liability of $29.9 million to $132.9 million, or 18.4%. Net Pension Liability and Net OPEB Liability
decreased because of net differences between projected and actual earnings on plan investments. Also
contributing to the overall decrease was an increase in Noncurrent Liabilities related to Indemnities of
$4.1 million and an increase of $2.6 million for Arbitrage due for Series 2022C ($2.4 million) and Series
2020A ($0.2 million).

e Total Deferred Inflows of Resources increased by $22.6 million to $45.8 million, or 97.3%, primarily
due to an increase in Deferred Inflows of Resources — Net OPEB Liability, which increased by $27.0
million to $35.0 million due to changes in methods and assumptions. This was offset by a decrease in
Deferred Inflows of Resources — Net Pension Liability of $4.1 million to $6.7 million.

e The Water Fund’s net position increased by $67.8 million to $958.8 million, or 7.6% because of FY23
operations.

Historical Operating Results (Legally Enacted Basis)

For purposes of rate setting, calculating compliance with the Rate Covenant and debt service coverage
and budgeting, the Water Fund accounts are maintained on the modified accrual basis of accounting, also referred
to as the “Legally Enacted Basis.” Under this basis, revenues are recorded on a receipts basis, except revenues
from other governments and interest, which are accrued as earned. A 100% reserve is provided for all doubtful
non-governmental receivables. With respect to governmental receivables, a 100% reserve is provided when the
City has reason to believe that no appropriation has been made by other governments to finance these receivables.
The Water Department does not account for payments for water and sewer service from its governmental contract
customers as “revenues from other governments.”

Expenditures are recognized and recorded as expenses at the time they are paid or encumbered, except
expenditures for debt service, which are recorded when paid. A reserve is maintained for encumbrances at the
close of the Fiscal Year intended to pay expenses incurred in such Fiscal Year.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Table 9

Philadelphia Water Department Historical Operating Results

(Thousands of Dollars)

Operating Revenues:

Sales to General Customers
Wholesale Wastewater Revenues
Services to General and Aviation Fund
Private Fire Connections

Industrial Sewer Surcharge

Other Operating Revenue

Operating Grants

Total Operating Revenues

Non-Operating Revenues:

. Interest Earnings on Investments (V
. Other Non-Operating Revenues
. Total Non-Operating Revenues

Total Revenues @

. Operating Expenses ¢

Less: Liquidated Encumbrances (commitments cancelled, which reduce
Operating Expenses) @
Net Operating Expenses

Adjustment: Debt Service and Net Operating Expenses due to timing
differences

Excess of Operating Revenues over Net Operating Expenses (Ln 9 - Ln 17)
Excess of Total Revenues over Net Operating Expenses (Ln 14 - Ln 17)

Interest Expenses:
Revenue Bonds
Total Interest Expenses

Excess of Total Revenues over Net Operating Expenses and Interest Expense
(Ln 20 —Ln 23)

Add: Debt Service Payments to Sinking Fund, Revenue Bond Payments, LOC
expenses and Net Operating Expenses due to timing differences

Deduct: Principal Paid on Bonded Indebtedness During Fiscal Year

Deduct: Transfer to Escrow Account to Redeem Bonds

Net Unapplied Revenues (Ln 24 + Ln 25 - Ln 26 - Ln 27)

Deduct: Funds Transferred to Residual Fund (Further Transfer to Capital Acct)
Deduct: Funds Transferred to Capital Account (Required Transfer of 1% NPPE)
Transfer (TO)/FROM the Rate Stabilization Fund

Coverage Ratios:

Senior Debt Service Coverage: Net Revenues ®)/Senior Debt Service (Ln 14 - Ln
17+ Ln 31)/ (Ln 23 + Ln 26)

90% Test coverage: Net Revenues ® less Rate Stabilization Fund transfers in/
Senior Debt Service (Ln 14 - Ln 17)/ (Ln 23 + Ln 26)

Total Payments Coverage: Net Revenues ©)/Total Payments (Ln 14 - Ln 17 + Ln
31)/ (Ln 23 + Ln 26 + Ln 30)

FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023
$632,207 $660,731 $705,967
39,102 36,339 42,280
29,990 30,306 32,279
3,937 3,661 3,818
5,024 6,043 5,136
8,673 7,855 8,569
669 464 792
$719,602 $745,399 $798,841
$ (82 $  (832) $ 1,888
10,931 9,013 8.396
10,849 $8.181 10,284
$730.451 $753,580 $800,125
$545,089 $547,229 $603,817
23,993 36.805 29.236
$521,096 10,424 $574,581
$198,506 $234,975 $224,260
$209,355 $243,156 $234,544
$98.341 $87.951 $111.930
$98.341 $87.951 $111,930
$111,014 $155,205 $122.614
(134) 1 (474)
87,837 89,042 87,363
$23,043 $66,164 $34,777
$22,210 $21,994 $12,433
27.833 29,170 30,094
$27,000 $(15,000) $7,750
1.27 1.29 1.22

1.12 1.37 1.18

1.10 111 1.06

M Only includes interest earnings credited to the Revenue Fund pursuant to the General Ordinance.
@ Calculated to include Project Revenues, as defined in the General Ordinance, plus interest earnings from line 11.
® Operating Expenses excludes, pursuant to the General Ordinance, depreciation, amortization, interest and sinking fund charges.

@ Commitments cancelled represent the liquidation of encumbrances and offset Operating Expenses. An encumbrance is an expense that
is anticipated to be charged to the Water Fund.
© As defined in the General Ordinance.
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As discussed above, the Water Department is required to comply with the Rate Covenant under the
General Ordinance. For a discussion of the Rate Covenant, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT
FOR THE BONDS — Rate Covenant” herein. All Water Fund expenditures are included in the Rate Covenant
calculation under the General Ordinance. See “HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL
INFORMATION - Historical Operating Results (Legally Enacted Basis)” above. Historically, the Water
Department has used the Rate Stabilization Fund to manage compliance with the Rate Covenant each year. See
Note 1 to the financial statement of the Water Fund contained in APPENDIX I. See also Table 11 — Projected
Revenue and Revenue Requirements Base and TAP-R Surcharge Rates contained herein.

In Fiscal Year 2021, the Water Department complied with the Rate Covenant, with a Senior Debt
Service coverage ratio of 1.27, a 90% Test coverage ratio of 1.12, and a Total Payments coverage ratio of 1.10,
after accounting for a withdrawal from the Rate Stabilization Fund of $27,000,000. In Fiscal Year 2022, the
Water Department complied with the Rate Covenant, with a Senior Debt Service coverage ratio of 1.29, a 90%
Test coverage ratio of 1.37, and a Total Payments coverage ratio of 1.11, after accounting for a deposit to the
Rate Stabilization Fund of $15,000,000. In Fiscal Year 2023, the Water Department complied with the Rate
Covenant, with a Senior Debt Service coverage ratio of 1.22, a 90% Test coverage ratio of 1.18, and a Total
Payments coverage ratio of 1.06, after accounting for a withdrawal from the Rate Stabilization Fund of
$7,750,000. In Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025, the Water Department is projecting Senior Debt Service Coverage
ratios of 1.22 and 1.25, respectively. No assurance can be given that the Water Department will meet these
coverage projections. From Fiscal Year 2026 through Fiscal Year 2028, the Water Department projects a Senior
Debt Service coverage ratio of 1.30. See “RATES — Certain Rate Setting Standards — Rate Stabilization Fund,
Residual Fund and Senior Debt Service Coverage Targets” herein, Table 10 — Philadelphia Water Department
Rate Covenant Compliance and Table 11 — Projected Revenue and Revenue Requirements Base and TAP-R
Surcharge Rates. See also “HISTORICAL AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION — The Water
Department’s Budget” herein for a discussion of the anticipated uses of the Rate Stabilization Fund and “RATES
— Certain Rate Setting Standards” herein.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Table 10
Philadelphia Water Department
Rate Covenant Compliance

(Thousands of Dollars)
FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023
Senior Debt Service coverage ratio:
Net Revenues $236,355 $228,157 $242.294
/Revenue Bonds Debt Service 186,178 176,993 199,293
= Coverage 1V 1.27x 1.29x 1.22x

90% Test coverage ratio:
Net Revenues less Transfer From Rate

Stabilization Fund $209,355 $243,157 $234,544

/Revenue Bonds Debt Service 186,178 176,993 199,293

= Coverage 2 1.12x 1.37x 1.18x
Total Payments coverage ratio:

Net Revenues $236,355 $228,157 $242,295

/Total Payments 214,011 206,163 229,387

= Coverage 3 1.10x 1.11x 1.06x

The rate covenant contained in the General Ordinance requires the City to establish rates and charges for the
use of the Water and Wastewater Systems to yield Net Revenues, as defined therein, in each fiscal year
sufficient to meet the three coverage tests:

(1) Senior Debt Service coverage: Net Revenues must equal at least 120% of the Debt Service Requirements
payable in such fiscal year (excluding debt service due on any Subordinated Bonds).

(2) 90% Test coverage: Net Revenues (excluding amounts transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund into
the Revenue Fund during, or as of the end of, such fiscal year) must equal at least 90% of the Debt Service
Requirements (excluding debt service on any Subordinated Bonds) payable in such fiscal year.

(3) Total Payments coverage: Net Revenues must equal at least 100% of: (i) the Debt Service Requirements
(including Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds) payable in such fiscal year;
(i1) amounts required to be deposited into the Debt Reserve Account during such fiscal year; (iii) debt service
on all General Obligations Bonds issued for the Water and Wastewater Systems payable in such fiscal year;
(iv) debt service on Interim Debt payable in such fiscal year; and (v) the Capital Account Deposit Amount
for such fiscal year, less amounts transferred from the Residual Fund to the Capital Account during such
fiscal year.

To ensure compliance with the rate covenant, the General Ordinance requires that the City review its rates,
rents, fees, and charges at least annually.

The Water Department’s Budget

At least 90 days before the end of the Fiscal Year, the operating budget for the next Fiscal Year is
prepared by the Mayor and submitted to City Council for adoption. The budget, as adopted, must be balanced
and provide for discharging any estimated deficit from the current Fiscal Year and make appropriations for all
items to be funded with City revenues. At least 30 days before the end of the Fiscal Year, City Council must
adopt by ordinance an operating budget.

The City submitted the Fiscal Year 2025 operating budget to City Council on or about March 14, 2024,
and it was approved on June 13, 2024. The adopted budget for the Water Fund for Fiscal Year 2025 is
$1,039,941,893, inclusive of the budgeted transfer from the Rate Stabilization Fund in the amount of
approximately $4.8 million. When analyzing the operating budget and transfer from the Rate Stabilization Fund,
the financial tables in this Official Statement take into account past spending practices and assume that the City’s
expenditures may be less than budgeted during the forecast period. However, as required by the Charter, the
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City calculates its operating budget and transfer from the Rate Stabilization Fund to attain a balanced budget.
For more information on the City’s budget procedure, see APPENDIXIII — “GOVERNMENT AND
FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Discussion of Financial Operations —

Budget Procedure.”
Pension Obligations of the Water Department

As of the date of this Official Statement, the Water Fund has made all of its scheduled payments for the
Municipal Pension Fund (defined herein) and its allocable share of the City’s Pension Bonds (as defined in
APPENDIX III) for Fiscal Year 2024. The City maintains a single employer defined-benefit pension program
(the “Municipal Pension Fund”), which provides benefits to police officers, firefighters, non-uniformed
employees, and non-represented appointed and elected officials, including employees of the Water Department.
Contributions are made by the City to the Municipal Pension Fund from (i) the City’s General Fund, (ii) funds
that are received by the City from the Commonwealth for deposit into the Municipal Pension Fund, and
(ii1) various City inter-fund transfers, representing amounts contributed, or reimbursed, to the City’s General
Fund for pension payments for employees of the Water Fund, Aviation Fund, and certain other City funds or
agencies. An additional source of expected funding is that portion of the 1% sales tax rate increase that is
required under Pennsylvania law to be deposited to the Municipal Pension Fund. See APPENDIX III —
“GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Revenues of
the City — Sales and Use Tax” and APPENDIX III — “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Pension System.”

Payments from the Water Fund to the City’s General Fund for the Municipal Pension Fund for Fiscal
Years 2021, 2022, and 2023 were approximately $81.2 million, $59.0 million, and $57.8 million, respectively.
The budgeted payment for each of Fiscal Year 2024 and Fiscal Year 2025 is $60.5 million.

During Fiscal Year 2021, the Office of the Director of Finance performed an analysis of pension cost
allocations among the City’s various funds. As a result of such analysis, the Water Fund’s contribution to the
Municipal Pension Fund (i) was reduced by approximately $20 million in Fiscal Year 2022 and (ii) is expected
to change in future years based on pension performance, discount rates, and other factors. The changes in the
way pension costs are allocated to the various City funds are not expected to impact the total amount contributed
to the Municipal Pension Fund because the contribution from the City’s General Fund is expected to increase in
an amount equal to the reduction in contributions from the other City funds. However, no assurance can be
given that the Water Fund will not be affected if revenues from the City’s General Fund were to decrease or the
pension costs of other City departments (besides the Water Department) were to increase.

See APPENDIX III — “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF
PHILADELPHIA - Pension System — Annual Contributions — Table 29.”

In Fiscal Years 2021, 2022, and 2023, contributions from the Water Fund to the City’s General Fund
for the Municipal Pension Fund were, respectively, approximately 11.39%, 8.11%, and 7.96%, respectively, of
total payments to the Municipal Pension Fund, exclusive of the Water Fund’s allocable share of Pension Bonds.
Due to the revised pension cost allocations discussed above and restructuring of Pension Bond obligations, the
Water Department expects payments due to the City’s General Fund for the Municipal Pension Fund in Fiscal
Years 2024 and 2025 will be approximately 7.96% of total payments to the Municipal Pension Fund, exclusive
of the Water Fund’s allocable share of Pension Bonds.

Payments from the Water Fund to the City’s General Fund for the Water Fund’s allocable share of
principal and interest payments on the City’s Pension Bonds for Fiscal Years 2021, 2022, and 2023 were
approximately $4.5 million, $8.5 million, $10.8 million, respectively, based on allocable share of 7.85% of total
payments. The Water Department estimates total payments of $12.4 million in Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025,
respectively, assuming an allocable share of 7.85%. See APPENDIXII — “GOVERNMENT AND
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Pension System — Annual Contributions
— Table 30.”

Projected Revenues, Expenses and Debt Service

Table 11 — Projected Revenue and Revenue Requirements Base and TAP-R Surcharge Rates
(“Table 11°) was prepared during Fiscal Year 2023 and presents a statement of projected revenues and revenue
requirements for the Water and Wastewater Systems for Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2023 through June 30,
2028 (the “Study Period”), consistent with the requirements of the General Ordinance. Table 11 was prepared
based on the record in the 2023 Rate Proceeding (hereinafter defined). Thus, the inputs and assumptions used
to generate Table 11 in Fiscal Year 2023, as discussed below, reflect the information available as of the 2023
Rate Proceeding. The materials respecting the 2023 Rate Proceeding, including testimony and cost of service
reports and analyses of the Water Department’s engineering consultants can be found at:
https://www.phila.gov/departments/water-sewer-storm-water-rate-board/rate-proceedings/2023-rate-
proceeding/. The rate determination delivered by the Rate Board on June 21, 2023 can be found at:
https://www.phila.gov/media/20230623151204/2023-General-Rate-Proceeding-Rate-Determination-2023-06-
22.pdf. As discussed further below, the Rate Board caused the City to modify certain assumptions and inputs
from those submitted by the City in connection with the 2023 Rate Proceeding, and these modifications are
reflected on Table 11. The website addresses provided herein are included for convenience only; the website
addresses are not incorporated herein by reference. See “RATES — Current Base Rates and 2023 Rate
Proceeding” and “ — Annual Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate Reconciliation” herein and Table 13 — Typical
Residential Monthly Water and Sewer and Stormwater Rate Charges for a discussion of the current rates in effect
as of the date of this Official Statement.

Actual results may differ materially from those projected in Table 11, as influenced by the conditions,
events and circumstances that actually and subsequently occurred and were unknown at the time that Table 11
was prepared and/or which are beyond the control of Water Department. See also the financial statements of the
Water Fund for the Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 attached hereto as APPENDIX I and “CERTAIN
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — System Revenues, Expenditures, Financing and Capital Assets” herein.

The revenues under existing rates, as summarized on Line 3 of Table 11, reflect assumed account
growth, changes in customer water usage and sewer and stormwater service billings for the Study Period based
upon the Water Department’s experience from Fiscal Year 2020 to Fiscal Year 2022. The revenue projections
contained in Table 11 also takes into account changes to existing wholesale wastewater contracts, reductions in
usage from Vicinity and the Water Department’s experience with customer collections from Fiscal Year 2020
to Fiscal Year 2022 as known and reflected in the rate determination for the 2023 Rate Proceeding. See also
Table 3 — Top 10 Customers herein.

The revenue adjustments, presented on Lines 4 and 5 of Table 11, incorporate the Rate Board’s
determinations in both the 2023 Rate Proceeding and the 2023 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding
(hereinafter defined) for Fiscal Year 2024 and Fiscal Year 2025 (the “Approved Rate Years”) Base Rates and
Fiscal Year 2024 TAP-R Surcharge Rates. See “RATES — Current Base Rates and 2023 Rate Proceeding” and
“ — General Rates, Special Rates and the TAP Program.” But see also “ — Annual Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate
Reconciliation” herein for a discussion of the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding (hereinafter defined)
that occurred in Fiscal Year 2024 after the preparation of Table 11. Greater customer participation in the Tiered
Assistance Program (“TAP”) in Fiscal Year 2024 resulted in TAP-R revenue increases for Fiscal Year 2025 that
are not reflected on Table 11.

Projected revenue adjustments contained in Table 11 account for the changes in the allocation of COA
Expenditures to wholesale wastewater customers using the H&H methodology discussed under “THE SYSTEM
— Large Customers — Wholesale Customers” herein. Beyond the Approved Rate Years, additional revenue
adjustments presented on Lines 6 to 8 are projected to be needed to meet the Water Department’s overall revenue
requirements and meet both required and targeted financial metrics but are subject to change as noted above.
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Other operating revenues accounted for miscellaneous revenues received by the Water Department and
incorporated discounts provided to customers under TAP. Greater customer participation in TAP in Fiscal Year
2024 resulted in increased discounts provided to customers under TAP for Fiscal Year 2024 and Fiscal Year
2025 that are not reflected on Table 11. Interest income on both the Revenue Fund and Rate Stabilization Fund
were also projected to estimate the overall Total Operating Revenues presented on Line 15.

Total Operating Expenses presented on Line 16 reflects the total projected operating expenses of the
Water Fund, inclusive of services provided to the Water Department by other City Departments, such as the
Water Revenue Bureau (“WRB”). These projections consider both anticipated budgetary increases and reflected
recent inflation experience through Fiscal Year 2023 in key cost areas including power costs (gas and electric),
chemicals, materials, supplies, services and equipment. The operating expenses incorporated planned increases
at the time Table 11 was generated in accordance with recent labor agreements with local labor unions, as further
discussed herein. Labor costs as well as assumed future increases in pension obligations and post-employment
benefits costs are in line with the City’s current projected cost increases.

Since the delivery of Table 11 in September of 2023, operating expenses have remained stable and are
currently estimated to escalate more slowly than shown in Table 11 during the remaining years of the Study
Period on account of reduced chemical costs in Fiscal Year 2025 and lower inflation rates anticipated in the
ensuing years. In addition, total revenues have remained relatively consistent with minor variation associated
with the results of the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding, combined with controlled expenses, such
that net revenues after operations are estimated to continue in line with Table 11 projections for the remaining
years reflected in the Study Period.

Projected debt service presented on Lines 19 to 27 reflects projected debt service on anticipated future
revenue bond issuances, which are subject to change as needed to support the Water Department’s projected
Water Capital Improvement Program expenses. Debt service projections also include existing debt service on
outstanding revenue bond issuances, as well as the assumed debt service related to the Water Department’s
WIFIA loan, Pennvest loans, and Commercial Paper Program. Table 11 assumes the capital borrowing of new
revenue bonds for Fiscal Year 2025 will be in the amount of $503 million. However, as shown in this Official
Statement, Bonds in an amount sufficient to produce $308 million of new money bond proceeds will be issued
to fund capital improvements to the System for Fiscal Year 2025. The resulting reduction in debt service for
Fiscal Year 2025 on account of the reduced principal amount of Bonds expected to be issued is not reflected on
Table 11. Moreover, as previously discussed above, the FY25 CIP exceeds the FY24 CIP for Fiscal Years 2025-
2029 utilized in preparing Table 11. Increased debt service on account of the increased budget for the FY25 CIP
also is not reflected on Table 11.

The Water Department utilizes the Rate Stabilization Fund and necessary revenue increases to manage
its debt service coverage on its senior lien bonds to meet the required 1.20 times debt service coverage each year.
Consistent with Line 25 of Table 11, Senior Debt Service Coverage is projected to be 1.25 in Fiscal Year 2025
and 1.30 for the remainder of the Study Period. However, Senior Debt Service Coverage is estimated to be 1.22
for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2024 after a transfer from the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund of
approximately $8.2 million, which is approximately $4 million more than the projected transfer in Table 11.
This reflects a reduction from the Water Department’s previous estimate of 1.25 for Fiscal Year ended June 30,
2024. No assurance can be given that the Water Department will meet these coverage projections or estimates.
As discussed in “RATES — Certain Rate Setting Standards — Rate Stabilization Fund, Residual Fund and Senior
Debt Service Coverage Targets”, the Rate Board has concluded that a 1.30 times Senior Debt Service Coverage
Ratio is a reasonable target for the future, and the Water Department intends to target 1.30 Senior Debt Service
Coverage commencing in Fiscal Year 2026. Lines 32 through 39 of Table 11 present the flow of funds in the
Residual Fund for the Study Period. The projected annual transfers of available Residual Fund balances to the
Construction Fund are indicated on Line 36 of Table 11; however, based on the FY 2024 AFR (Unaudited), the
Water Department currently estimates there will be no transfer from the Residual Fund to the Construction Fund
for Fiscal Year 2024. No assurance can be given that the Water Department will make transfers in the amounts
or at the times set forth herein. The projected annual transfers of available Residual Fund balances to the
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Construction Fund are indicated on Line 36 of Table 11. Currently, the Water Department expects that results
will be generally consistent with the projections contained in Table 11 respecting Senior Debt Service coverage
and Residual Fund end-of-year-fund balances for the remaining years contained in the Study Period.

Lines 40 through 42 of Table 11 present the flow of funds of the Rate Stabilization Fund for the Study
Period. Based on the FY 2024 AFR (Unaudited), the Water Department currently estimates Fiscal Year 2024
end-of-year fund balances to be approximately $30.8 million in the Residual Fund and approximately $132.4
million in the Rate Stabilization Fund, which result in combined fund balances in excess of the $150 million
target for Fiscal Year 2024. No assurance can be given that the Water Department will meet the targets
recommended by the Rate Board. The Water Department intends to increase this target over time as reserve
levels will need to be adjusted commensurate with increases in operating expenses to provide a source of funding
in the event of an emergency. See “RATES — Certain Rate Setting Standards — Rate Stabilization Fund, Residual
Fund and Senior Debt Service Coverage Targets” herein for a discussion of the targets approved by the Rate
Board and the timing for their implementation.

Given the timing of the preparation and delivery of Table 11 included in this Official Statement,
prospective investors in the Bonds should review actual financial data and estimates for Fiscal Year 2023 and
Fiscal Year 2024, respectively, as presented in this Official Statement, including the Financial Statements of the
Water Fund for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 attached hereto as APPENDIX I and estimated
financial data for the Water Fund as of June 30, 2024 contained in the most recent Quarterly City Manager’s
Report available on EMMA.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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Table 11

Projected Revenue and Revenue Requirements Base and TAP-R Surcharge Rates
Fiscal Years Ending June 30 (Thousands of Dollars)

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

Iig,e Description 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
1 Water Service - Existing Rates 302,182 301,922 304,763 307,599 307,208 306,449
2 Wastewater Service - Existing Rates 482,399 487,901 490,571 492,510 491,817 481,904
3 Total Service Revenue - Existing Rates 784,581 789,823 795,335 800,109 799,025 788,353

Additional Service Revenue Required

Percent Months
Year Increase Effective
4 FY 2024 7.85% 10 52,335 63,139 62,983 62,844 61,854
5 FY 2025 8.14% 10 57,015 70,271 70,176 69,224
6 FY 2026 13.95% 10 106,298 130,064 128,300
7 FY 2027 7.85% 10 68,032 82,225
8 FY 2028 9.10% 10 83,958
9 Total Additional Service Revenue Required - 52,335 120,154 239,552 331,116 425,562
10 Total Water & Wastewater Service Revenue 784,581 842,158 915,489 1,039,661 1,130,140 1,213,915
Other Income (a)
11 Other Operating Revenue 20,247 24,642 32,513 27,644 27,619 27,594
12 Debt Reserve Account Interest Income - - - - - -
13 Revenue Fund Interest Income 1,907 3,067 3,225 2,187 2,265 2,325
14 Rate Stabilization Interest Income 1,365 2,076 2,133 1,360 1,423 1,497
15 Total Revenues 808,100 871,942 953,361 1,070,852 1,161,448 1,245,332
16 Total Operating Expenses (564,671) (603,166) (638,189) (673,058) (702,201)  (734,215)
17 Transfer From/(To) Rate Stabilization Fund 1,080 4,209 24 (5,526) (7,368) (7,562)
18 NET REVENUES AFTER OPERATIONS 244,509 272,986 315,196 392,268 451,879 503,554

DEBT SERVICE
Senior Debt Service

Revenue Bonds

19 Outstanding Bonds (187,747) (185,847) (183,090) (183,088) (183,091)  (166,318)
20 Pennvest Loans (10,935) (12,031) (16,329) (23,721) (29,283) (32,313)
21 Projected Future Bonds - (19,167) (50,741) (91,978) (130,608)  (181,758)
22 Commercial Paper (900) (900) (900) (900) (900) (900)
23 WIFIA - 17) (347) (2,058) 3,717) (6,060)
24 Total Senior Debt Service (199,582) (217,961) (251,406) (301,744) (347,599)  (387,350)
b5 TOTALSENIOR DERT SERVICE i e s e 1

26 Subordinate Debt Service - - - - - -



Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

% Description 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
27 Transfer to Escrow - - - - - -
28 Total Debt Service on Bonds (199,582) (217,961) (251,4006) (301,744) (347,599)  (387,350)
29 CAPITAL ACCOUNT DEPOSIT (23,383) (24.,295) (25,242) (26,226) (27,249) (28,312)
30 TOTAL COVERAGE (L18/(L24+L26+L29)) 1.09x 1.12x 1.13x 1.19x 1.20x 1.21x
31 End of Year Revenue Fund Balance 21,544 30,730 38,547 64,297 77,030 87,893
32 Beginning of Year Balance 16,102 20,122 20,266 20,438 19,391 18,246
33 Interest Income 180 311 322 198 187 176

Plus:
34 End of Year Revenue Fund Balance 21,544 30,730 38,547 64,297 77,030 87,893
35 Deposit for Transfer to City General Fund (b) 1,945 2,179 2,385 2,444 2,509 2,552
Less:
36 Transfer to Construction Fund (16,600) (29,800) (34,400) (58,150) (72,800) (86,100)
37 Transfer to City General Fund (1,945) (2,179) (2,385) (2,444) (2,509) (2,552)
38 Transfer to Debt Reserve Account (1,105) (1,096) (4,298) (7,392) (5,562) (3,030)
39 End of Year Balance 20,122 20,266 20,438 19,391 18,246 17,185
40 Beginning of Year Balance (c) 138,989 137,909 133,700 133,676 139,202 146,570
41 Deposit From/(To) Revenue Fund (1,080) (4,209) 24) 5,526 7,368 7,562
42 End of Year Balance 137,909 133,700 133,676 139,202 146,570 154,133
(a) Includes other operating and nonoperating income, including interest income on funds and accounts transferable to the Revenue Fund and

reflects projected contra revenue credits for Affordability Program Discounts (TAP Costs).

(b) Transfer of interest earnings from the Debt Reserve Account to the Residual Fund as shown in Line 35 to satisfy the requirements for the
transfer to the City General Fund shown on Line 37.

(c) Fiscal Year 2023 beginning balance is estimated based on preliminary Fiscal Year 2022 results.

In connection with the projections set forth on Table 11 above for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2023, see also the
financial statements of the Water Fund for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 attached hereto as APPENDIX I for
actual Fiscal Year 2023 results. In connection with the projections set forth above for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2024, see
also the financial tables contained in this Official Statement, “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM” and “RATES — Annual
Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate Reconciliation” herein.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



RATES
Philadelphia Water, Sewer and Storm Water Rate Board

The Rate Board initially was formed following the Rate Ordinance’s effective date of January 20, 2014.
The Rate Board promulgated regulations governing the rate review process in December 2015 and completed
its first rate proceeding in June 2016. The Rate Board is solely responsible for fixing and regulating rates,
pursuant to the Rate Ordinance.

The Rate Board consists of five members serving staggered terms. The members are appointed by the
Mayor and confirmed by City Council; but the Mayor has sole discretion to remove members for cause, including
conflicts of interest and neglect of duty. The Rate Ordinance requires that Board members be City residents
with a minimum of five years professional experience in one or more of the following fields: (1) public or
business administration, (2) finance, (3) utilities, (4) engineering or (5) water resources management. At least
one member must have experience as a consumer advocate in utility rate cases, and one member must be a
commercial and/or industrial ratepayer with knowledge and experience related to stormwater management and
rates.  Brief biographical descriptions of the members of the Rate Board can be found at
https://www.phila.gov/departments/water-sewer-storm-water-rate-board/about/. Such website and the
information or links contained therein are not incorporated into, and are not part of, this Official Statement for
any purpose, including for purposes of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the SEC pursuant to the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Members who resign or are removed may be replaced by a mayoral appointee confirmed by City
Council, and such successor may serve for the remaining term of the replaced member. Members are not
compensated for their services but are entitled to reasonable expenses consistent with their duties. The Rate
Board receives an appropriation sufficient to allow it to carry out its responsibilities.

Certain Rate Setting Standards

Charter. The Charter mandates that the standards pursuant to which rates and charges are fixed shall be
such as to yield to the City at least an amount equal to Operating Expenses and interest and sinking fund charges
on any debt incurred or about to be incurred for water supply, sewage and sewage disposal purposes. In
computing Operating Expenses, proportionate charges for all services performed for the Water Department by
all officers, departments, boards or commissions of the City also are included.

Rate Ordinance. While any Water and Wastewater Bonds are outstanding, the Rate Board also will be
required to set rates and charges in amounts sufficient for the City to comply with the provisions of the General
Ordinance. The Rate Ordinance subjects the Rate Board to certain standards when making a rate determination
in addition to those set forth in the General Ordinance. The Rate Ordinance also requires the Water Department
to develop a comprehensive plan, pursuant to which the Water Department forecasts capital and operating costs
and expenses and corresponding revenue requirements.

Rate Stabilization Fund, Residual Fund and Senior Debt Service Coverage Targets. Under its rate
determination dated as of July 12, 2018 (the “2018 Rate Determination”), the Rate Board adopted a target of
$150 million in the Rate Stabilization Fund and the Residual Fund combined, 20% Pay-Go funding targets and
concluded that a 1.30 times Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio is a reasonable target for the Water Department
to strive for in the future. In the 2022 Special Rate Proceeding that concluded May 30, 2022 and the 2023 Rate
Proceeding discussed below, the Rate Board maintained the financial metric recommendations set forth above.
See “RATES — Current Base Rates and 2023 Rate Proceeding” hereinbelow. As set forth in Table 11 — Projected
Revenue and Revenue Requirements Base and TAP-R Surcharge Rates and discussed above, the Water
Department intends to target a 1.30 times Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio commencing in Fiscal Year 2026.
There is no requirement in the General Ordinance or the Act to maintain such amount and no assurance can be
given that it will be met or maintained.
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General Rates, Special Rates and the TAP Program

Water rates for general service customers of the Water Department consist of a service charge related
to the size of the meter, plus a schedule of quantity charges for water use. Sewer rates for general service
customers are similar. To more fairly reflect the burden on the System, stormwater charges are calculated based
on a customer’s property size and its relative imperviousness. A uniform stormwater charge based on the average
size and imperviousness of residential properties is billed to residential customers. Charges to non-residential
and condominium customers are based on each property’s specific size and impervious area.

Special rates with partial discounts are established pursuant to the Water Department’s Rates and
Charges for the following customers: (1) public and private schools which provide instruction up to or below the
twelfth grade; (2) institutions of “purely public charity;” (3) places used for religious worship; (4) residences of
eligible senior citizens; (5) universities and colleges; and (6) public housing properties of the Philadelphia
Housing Authority. In addition, the Rate Board approved discounts of 100% on stormwater rates for eligible
community gardens in 2016 and an exemption from water, sewer and stormwater rates for unoccupied properties
of the Philadelphia Land Bank in 2018. Some real estate also is exempt from stormwater charges, including,
cemeteries, residential sideyards, City-owned or City-controlled vacant lots or improvements, portions of
Fairmount Park, streets, medians, sidewalks, and rights-of-way. Water and sewer charges, including stormwater
charges, terminate when any vacant or unoccupied premises are acquired by the City and when property is
acquired by the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation or the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority
under provisions of the Philadelphia Code pertaining to vacant properties.

In addition to the special rates referenced above, the Water Department offers additional assistance and
incentive programs to customers, which constitute either an Operating Expense of the Water Department or
contra-revenue in the form of credits or reductions to customers’ bills. See also “RATES — Billings and
Collections” herein.

TAP was launched on July 1, 2017 and assists low-income households at or below 150% of the federal
poverty level (“FPL”) and those experiencing a special hardship, as discussed below. Under TAP, bills are tied
to household income and do not fluctuate based on actual consumption. Residential customers enrolled in TAP
or in the TAP application process are exempt from shut offs or disconnections. Under TAP, monthly bills for
water, sewer, and stormwater usage and service charges are as follows:

Income Fixed Charge %"
50% of FPL or lower at 2% of the household income $12.00 minimum bill
Above 50% and at or below 100% FPL At 2.5% of the household income
Above 100% and at or below 150% FPL 3% of the household income
Above 150% FPL, with proof of hardship 4% of the household income A special hardship can be increase in

household size, loss of a job lasting
more than 4 months, serious illness
lasting more than 9 months, death of
primary wage earner, domestic
violence or other circumstances that
threaten household’s access to
necessities of life

*Any actual charges above the fixed amount are forgiven.
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The lost revenue associated with providing discounted bills to TAP customers is recovered by the TAP
Rate Rider Surcharge (“TAP-R”), which adds an incremental surcharge to water and sewer rates. See “RATES

— Annual Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate Reconciliation.”

Certain financial information regarding some of the programs discussed above is set forth in Table 12

— Stormwater Incentives and Assistance Program below.

Table 12
Stormwater Incentives and Assistance Program

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

Program Program Type FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023
SMIP® and GARP @® Operating Expense $17,322,111 $27,294,173 $28,856,978
Phase in Program (CAP)® Bill Reduction® 1,081,778 943,040 565,155
Stormwater Credits® Bill Reduction® 20,596,053 21,672,545 22,948,279
Community Gardens Bill Reduction® 211 1,309 95
Tiered Assistance Program (TAP)® Bill Reduction® 8,525,312 9,174,780 18,803,906
Charity Discount & School Discount Bill Reduction® 7,071,055 7,235,825 6,977,289
Senior Citizen Discount Bill Reduction® 4,215,019 4,519,762 4,283,200
Total $58,811,539 $70,841,434 $82,434,902

(M Stormwater Management Incentives Program.

@ Grant and Greened Acres Retrofit Program.

() SMIP and GARP were partially funded with grants.
4 Amounts are credits against certain customers’ bills.

) TAP is a low-income assistance program commenced in July of 2017. It will reduce customers’ bills and result in
a reduction in revenue for the Water Department. Foregone revenues on account of enrollment in TAP are expected
to be recovered under the annual TAP-R and true-up reconciliation process. See “RATES — Annual Rate Adjustment

— TAP Rate Reconciliation” below.

© Bill reduction program type reduces customers’ bills and result in a reduction in revenue for the Water Department.

Annual Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate Reconciliation

The Rate Board’s 2018 Rate Determination approved the TAP-R, which is charged to customers not
enrolled in TAP, intended to recover the revenue losses associated with the program. The TAP-R tracks revenue
losses resulting from TAP discounts and permits annual true-up reconciliation of such costs to prevent either
over or under-recovery of TAP revenue losses through the TAP-R. The Water Department reviews and proposes
adjustments to the TAP-R annually to account for changes in actual and projected TAP costs and the extent to
which those costs were over or under-collected during the prior period. Annual TAP-R adjustment proceedings
have been convened since 2019. The period from the filing of the formal notice of proposed adjustments to rates
and charges in a TAP-R proceeding to the approval of new rates is approximately 90 days.
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The Water Department commenced its 2024 annual rate adjustment proceeding (the “2024 Annual TAP-
R Adjustment Proceeding”™) by filing an Advance Notice of the proposed adjustments to rates and charges and a
Preliminary Proposed Reconciliation Statement with the Rate Board and City Council on February 28, 2024.
The Water Department submitted its formal notice of the proposed adjustments to rates and charges and Final
Preliminary Proposed Reconciliation Statement to the Department of Records and the Rate Board on or about
April 1, 2024. Discovery, public input and technical hearings ensued during the period from March to May of
2024. A Joint Petition for Settlement (the “Joint Petition) was entered into by the Water Department and Public
Advocate on May 20, 2024, memorializing a compromise that was reached as to the main issue in controversy:
the increasing average number of TAP participants and TAP discounts projected for the period beginning
September 1, 2024 due to facilitated enrollments related to data sharing between the Water Department and other
City agencies. The Hearing Officer recommended the approval of the Joint Petition on May 29, 2024. The Rate
Board delivered its decision on June 26, 2024, finding the rates and charges proposed in the Joint Petition to be
just and reasonable and authorized TAP-R revenue requirement of approximately $38.8 million for the TAP-R
rate period from September 1, 2024 to August 31, 2025. Taking into account the Rate Board’s decision in the
2023 Rate Proceeding and the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding, the estimated overall approved
revenue increases amount to $83.4 million for Fiscal Year 2025 or an increase of approximately 11.9% in Fiscal
Year 2025. See the following tables under the heading *“ — The History of Rate Adjustments” and Table 13 —
Typical Residential Monthly Water and Sewer and Stormwater Rate Charges. Considering both the Rate Board’s
decision in the 2023 Rate Proceeding and the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding, a typical residential
customer’s bill is estimated to increase approximately 12.3%, 8.1% is associated with the previously approved
base rates for Fiscal Year 2025 under the 2023 Rate Proceeding and 4.3% is associated with the proposed TAP-
R rates in the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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History of Rate Adjustments

Except as noted below in connection with the Water Department’s withdrawn request in 2020 during
the COVID-19 pandemic, since the establishment of the Rate Board, the Water Department has filed for and the
Rate Board has approved base rate revenue increases pursuant to the rate determination process. Since 2018,
when the Rate Board approved the TAP rate rider mechanism, the Water Department has applied for and received
recoveries of lost revenue associated with TAP pursuant to annual TAP-R reconciliation proceedings. The base
rate revenue increases approved by the Rate Board have resulted in the following increases:

Base Rate Proceeding Fiscal Year Percentage Increase!
1/2016 2017 4.52%
2018 4.52
1/2018 2019 1.33%
2020 1.20%
1/2020® 2021 N/A
1/2021 2022 1.85
1/2022 2023 5.37
1/2023 2024 9.64%
2025 8.164W

Sources: Rate proceeding filings and Rate Board decisions; City of Philadelphia and Philadelphia Water

Department.

(D Based on approved base rate revenue increases as presented in the respective rate determinations for each
proceeding.

@ Includes TAP-R Surcharge Rates.

@ Due to COVID-19, the Water Department withdrew its base rate revenue increase request in 2020 after the
original filing in January.

@ Differs from Lines 4 and 5 of Table 11 contained herein because Table 11 includes TAP-R Surcharge Rates.

) Differs from Line 5 of Table 11 contained herein because Table 11 does not reflect the rate increase that
became effective on September 1, 2024 on account of the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding.

Current Base Rates and 2023 Rate Proceeding

The Water Department has been operating under the rates established in the 2023 Rate Proceeding
(defined below) that were implemented on September 1, 2023 and September 1, 2024, respectively.

2023 Rate Proceeding. The Water Department initiated a general rate increase proceeding (the “2023
Rate Proceeding”) for Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025 by filing, on January 24, 2023, its advance notice of proposed
changes in water, sewer, and stormwater rates and related charges. On February 23, 2023, the Water Department
filed its formal notice of proposed changes in rates and charges. Standard prehearing conferences and orders
were issued, and discovery requests and responses were submitted consistent with the prehearing order from the
period of March through April 2023. Four public input hearings were conducted. Pursuant to the schedule,
direct testimony was filed by interveners in the proceeding on April 12, 2023. Rebuttal testimony was filed by
the Water Department on April 26, 2023. Hearings were held on May 2 through May 5, 2023 and briefs were
filed on May 16, 2023. The Hearing Officer’s report was delivered on May 30, 2023. Exceptions to the Hearing
Officer’s Report were filed on June 5, 2023. The Rate Board rendered its rate determination on June 21, 2023.
The Rate Board authorized an increase in base rate revenues of $61.022 million in Fiscal Year 2024 and an
additional increase of $57.015 million in Fiscal Year 2025. Taking into account the Rate Board’s 2023 Annual
TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding, the overall approved increases amount to $172.5 million over Fiscal Years 2024
and 2025. See Table 11 — Projected Revenue and Revenue Requirements Base and TAP-R Surcharge Rates and
“RATES — Annual Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate Reconciliation” above. In addition, the Rate Board maintained
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the financial metric targets of 1.30 times Senior Debt Service Coverage Ratio, $150 million Residual Fund and
Rate Stabilization Fund combined balances, and 20% Pay-Go funding.

As of the date of this Official Statement, considering both the Rate Board’s decision in the 2023 Rate
Proceeding and the 2024 Annual TAP-R Adjustment Proceeding, the overall approved revenue increases amount
to $83.4 million for Fiscal Year 2025 or an increase of approximately 11.9% in Fiscal Year 2025. See “RATES
— Annual Rate Adjustment — TAP Rate Reconciliation” herein. Increased rates for Fiscal Year 2025 became
effective on September 1, 2024. See also below Table 13 — Typical Residential Monthly Water and Sewer and
Stormwater Rate Charges.

The Water Department expects to initiate the next general rate increase proceeding in January or
February of 2025, which advance notice is expected to request rate increases for each of Fiscal Year 2026 and
Fiscal Year 2027. No assurance can be provided regarding the Rate Board’s future decision or the level of
increase approved, if any. As of the date of this Official Statement, base rates remain affordable compared to
the affordability thresholds established by the EPA.

Residential Monthly Water and Sewer Rate Charges

Table 13 below shows monthly water and sewer rate charges effective from September 1, 2022, through
September 1, 2024, and is based, in each case, on a typical residential customer with a 5/8-inch meter using 450
cubic feet per month. Please note the decline in consumption for a typical residential customer (previously 500
cubic feet monthly). This reduction in water usage by residential customers continues longer-term trends
observed by the Water Department and as seen across the water industry.

Table 13
Typical Residential
Monthly Water and Sewer and Stormwater Rate Charges

Effective Service Percentage
Date Water Sewer Stormwater Charge Total Change
5/8” Meter
Residential — 9/1/2022  $22.50 $16.29 $18.05 $12.47 $69.31 6.4%
4;20%}'115“ 912023 26.76 17.18 18.50 12.37 74.81 7.9
9/1/2024 30.33 20.48 20.41 12.81 84.03 12.3

Billing and Collections

Under the Charter, the Water Revenue Bureau is directly responsible for the billing, metering and
collection of revenues for the Water Fund. Since February 2003, oversight of the Water Revenue Bureau has
been under the City’s Revenue Commissioner, who reports directly to the Finance Director. The Water Revenue
Bureau uses outside collection agencies to collect delinquent accounts.

As discussed above, the Water Department provides several assistance programs to residential
customers and exempts TAP customers and enrollees from shut offs and disconnections. In addition, it maintains
apolicy of refraining from shutting off or disconnecting delinquent residential accounts during the winter months
of the year (which are treated as December 1 of one calendar year through March 31 of the following calendar
year). The City has recently reevaluated its policy and has determined, with the input of stakeholders, that the
delinquency threshold to be eligible for residential account shut offs will increase from $150 to $1,000. The
new threshold is expected to result in a significant reduction in the number of residential accounts eligible for
shut off.
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Revenues under existing rate levels reflect an adjustment to the projections of gross billings to
anticipated cash receipts based on an analysis of historical annual billings and receipts on a system-wide basis.
The Water Department’s cumulative collections of annual billings for Fiscal Years 2022, 2023, and 2024, were
each, respectively, approximately 96.7%, 96.8%, and 95.5%. Adjustments for collections as reflected on
Table 11 are based upon historical payment patterns from Fiscal Year 2019 to Fiscal Year 2022. With the
facilitated enrollment of additional TAP participants, between January and June of 2024, the Water Department
achieved an increase in TAP enrollment. If customers timely pay their bills under TAP, outstanding bills
predating TAP enrollment will be forgiven to a certain extent. Conclusive data on the overall influence of
increased enrollment in TAP and the impact of the potential arrearage forgiveness on overall system-wide
collections is not currently available; therefore, modifications to the assumptions utilized in the projection of
revenues as presented on Line 3 of Table 11 cannot be made at this time.

The City continues to pursue a multifaceted strategy for improving collections while decreasing
delinquencies, key compliance strategies of which include revocation of commercial licenses and sequestration
of property due to unpaid debts. Although these efforts have concentrated primarily on general fund revenues,
certain improvements in processes and equipment may affect Water Fund revenues. The financial projections
provided herein do not include any additional revenue or acceleration of revenue as a result of these initiatives.
See also “OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER LONG-TERM AGREEMENTS - Other
Obligations — Contract for Advanced Meter Reading Infrastructure.”

MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES

The Water Department has implemented several initiatives designed to increase the efficiency of its
operations and reduce costs.

Water Accountability

The Water Department has been successful in developing and implementing programs to recover
uncaptured revenue through reduction in the loss of finished water from the distribution system. The Water
Department’s non-revenue water was 98.6 MGD for Fiscal Year 2022 and 103.2 MGD for Fiscal Year 2023.
The Water Department accounts for all finished water as either consumption or losses. Losses are accounted for
in two ways: (i) apparent losses are calculated losses, due to customer meter inaccuracies, billing errors or
unauthorized consumption that cause water utilities to lose a portion of consumption-based revenue, and (ii) real
losses are physical losses, largely leakage, that cause excess production costs for water utilities.

The Water Department operates a Customer Meter Management Program and a Revenue Protection
Program, which have increased billings by approximately $2.1 million in Fiscal Year 2022 and $2.5 million for
Fiscal Year 2023. See also “OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS AND OTHER LONG TERM AGREEMENTS
— Other Obligations — Contract for Advanced Meter Reading Infrastructure” for more information on the
program.

The Water Department conducts a variety of activities to proactively contain leakage losses, including
(i) the Leak Detection Program, (ii) the district metered area and (iii) the hydrant tracking program. The Water
Department was one of the first water utilities in the United States to employ such techniques to mitigate leakage
and lessen the occurrence of water main breaks. Through the Leak Detection Program, the Water Department
also contracts for in-line leak detection in active large-diameter transmission water piping. This service has
added another highly effective tool to minimize lost water. The Water Department continues to evaluate a variety
of leak detection technologies to identify effective and cost-effective solutions to locate system leaks and direct
maintenance personnel for repairs. The hydrant tracking program has resulted in hydrant availability remaining
significantly above 99% through initiatives such as routine inspection, repair and painting.
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Wastewater Master Planning

The Water Department is developing an update to its Wastewater Master Plan that outlines a
comprehensive, integrated, and actionable 25-year Capital Improvement Program for the Water Department’s
three water pollution control plants. The update intends to inform all aspects of long-term planning for the Water
Department’s wastewater facilities, including aging infrastructure, regulatory requirements (such as those
contained within the COA as well as nutrient management), energy use and greenhouse gas emissions reduction
and climate change. The update is anticipated to be completed in the fourth quarter of calendar year 2024, with
an implementation program to follow.

Water Master Planning

The Water Department, through its Water Facilities Planning Program developed a 25-year Water
Revitalization Plan that outlines a program to upgrade the City’s drinking water treatment and supply facilities.
The improvements identified in the plan are required to address aging infrastructure to increase the reliability of
the Water System and ensure sustainable delivery of safe, clean and affordable drinking water. The Water
Revitalization Plan focuses on six key categories: water quality, operability, capital availability, water quantity,
service pressure and public perception. The plan was completed in early calendar year 2019 and projected the
capital improvement needs of water treatment, pumping and storage facilities over a 25-year period, but is a
living plan that continues to be periodically revisited and updated over time. The Water Revitalization Plan
assists the Water Department in developing the Water Capital Improvement Program and prioritizing capital
projects. The Water Revitalization Plan has identified approximately 400 projects to rehabilitate existing
facilities and construct several new facilities. The costs for these projects were estimated to be $2.5 billion when
the plan was adopted in early calendar year 2019, of which approximately $1.2 billion are included in the current
Water Capital Improvement Program. See Table 5 — Fiscal Years 2025-2030 6-year Water Capital Improvement
Program and COA Budget and ““ — Security of Water Department Facilities and Water Supply and AWIA” below.

Security of Water Department Facilities and Water Supply and AWIA

The Water Department draws and conducts nearly one thousand tests on water samples from various
locations each day. Online water quality monitors provide continuous testing during all stages of the treatment
process. The City also has implemented a surveillance and response system, a source water protection program
and the Delaware Valley Early Warning System for the Schuylkill and Delaware Rivers and surrounding areas.
To further ensure the safety of the City’s drinking water, the Water Department utilizes the surveillance and
response system to monitor water quality using online instrumentation that allows real-time tracking of water
conditions at strategic locations throughout the City’s water distribution system. Additional upgrades are
planned to enhance security at the three water treatment plants and the pumping stations.

The Water Department has performed a vulnerability analysis of its entire potable water system and has
extensive water quality monitoring, protection and security plans in place. America’s Water Infrastructure Act
of 2018 (“AWIA”) requires the Water Department to certify completion of a Risk and Resilience Assessment
and to review or update, as applicable, its Emergency Response Plan. The Risk and Resilience Assessment has
been completed, and its major findings were presented to the Water Department’s senior management at the end
of February 2020. Overarching themes from the Risk and Resilience Assessment include that the Water
Department should (i) proceed with the Water Revitalization Plan, (ii) continue to strengthen efforts around
cybersecurity, and (iii) remain an active partner in river basin planning efforts with respect to water supply and
drought mitigation. The Water Department submitted its Emergency Response Plan certification in
September 2020. Currently, the Risk and Resilience Assessment is due March 31, 2025, and the Emergency
Response Plan is due September 30, 2025.

Watershed Protection

The Water Department’s multi-faceted approach to watershed protection includes leveraging regional
and national partnerships, applying the latest science and advanced technologies, and developing watershed
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management strategies that guide watershed protection efforts and infrastructure investment planning. To gain
an understanding of emerging risks to Philadelphia’s water supply, the Water Department has implemented a
Source Water Protection program to identify contaminants of emerging concern, track the state of the science in
the water industry, and assess the risk to Philadelphia’s drinking water supply. The Water Department may
collaborate with peer utilities and/or design and implement special water quality monitoring and modeling
programs to gather additional information to inform planning initiatives. To mitigate potential impacts to
Philadelphia’s drinking water from accidental or intentional contamination events in the water supply, the Water
Department operates a private web-based communication system that is capable of quickly notifying
downstream users of water quality events by phone and email. See also “THE SYSTEM — Environmental
Compliance” for a discussion of the System’s environmental compliance.

Information Technology Systems and Continuity Planning

The Water Department is increasingly dependent on the continuous and reliable operation of
information technology systems and relies on such systems with respect to customer service, billing and
accounting and, in some cases, the monitoring and operation of treatment, storage and pumping facilities. In
addition, the Water Department relies on these systems to track utility assets and to manage maintenance and
construction projects, materials and supplies.

The Water Department continues evaluating various technology systems, installing firewalls, creating
cybersecurity policies and developing a cybersecurity program. The Water Department also is developing
continuity plans for other emergency situations, including outages caused by breached computer systems. To
mitigate against such emergencies, operators stationed at treatment facilities monitor the control systems 24
hours a day, 7 days a week. In the event of any failure of, or tampering with, the computer systems or other
cybersecurity breach, the impact to treatment plant control systems could be recognized and remediated quickly
by onsite personnel, including by using standalone backup control panels and field panels to control processes
at the treatment plants. See “MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES — Security of Water Department Facilities and
Water Supply and AWIA”; see also “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Cybersecurity” below
and APPENDIX III — “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF
PHILADELPHIA — THE GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Cybersecurity.”

Climate Change Initiatives and CCAP

Climate change poses significant challenges to water, wastewater and stormwater utilities across the
nation. The impacts of climate change in Philadelphia include, but are not limited to, sea level rise and storm
surge, increasing precipitation, higher air temperatures, increasing severity of storms, and potentially more
frequent and/or severe drought. In infrastructure planning, design and operations, the Water Department
considers that impacts from climate change are evidently happening and will only continue to grow in magnitude
in the coming century, including during the term of the Bonds.

While there is uncertainty regarding the specific magnitude, timing and long-term effects of climate
change, as well as the nature of future climate change-based regulations, recent extreme storm events have
highlighted the need to prioritize climate resiliency planning efforts. The Water Department already has many
systems and programs in place to monitor, understand and respond to the effects of climate change. In 2014, the
Water Department formed its Climate Change Adaptation Program (“CCAP”), which seeks to characterize and
reduce the risks and associated expenses that the Water Department will face from the impacts of climate change
by identifying and implementing effective and feasible adaptation strategies across the Water Department’s
drinking water, wastewater and stormwater systems. CCAP stays informed on the latest science, regularly
engages with climate experts and carries out in-depth assessments to support the development of cost-effective
adaptation strategies that leverage existing programs and processes.

A primary goal of CCAP is to ensure that climate change information is embedded within all levels of
infrastructure planning, design and operations, which led CCAP to develop Climate-Resilient Planning and
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Design Guidance (“Guidance”) to inform individual projects and long-term planning initiatives. The Guidance
includes resilient design flood elevations and actionable information and tools to evaluate the risks associated
with sea level rise, storm surge, increasing precipitation and higher air temperatures on the Water Department’s
infrastructure systems. In 2022, the Water Department adopted a Department-wide policy requiring use of the
Guidance in the planning, design and construction of all Water Department projects to the extent feasible,
including the renewal and replacement of existing assets and the construction of new assets. To the extent
relevant, the Guidance must also be applied to the operation and maintenance of the Water Department
infrastructure systems and facilities, including drinking water treatment plants and water pollution control plants.
Mainstreaming the use of climate information in the Water Department’s planning and design processes will
help ensure that the Water Department’s long-lived investments remain operationally and economically viable,
despite the impacts of climate change.

In addition to mainstreaming the use of climate science and risk information at the Water Department,
CCAP’s other initiatives include: analyzing the evolving, best available climate science and projections and
updating the Guidance as needed; performing quantitative, cost-based flood risk and resiliency assessments at
treatment facilities and developing adaptation strategies to protect vulnerable infrastructure; characterizing risks
to critical systems and resources, including Philadelphia’s drinking source waters and receiving waters, to inform
future investment needs; regularly coordinating with programs and Units throughout the Water Department,
including the Water and Wastewater Master Planning Programs, to ensure that climate projections are being
considered; and, regularly working with other City agencies, local and regional stakeholders, peer utilities and
industry experts to address climate-related risks and further enhance adaptation planning efforts. As of this
calendar year, a Water Department Manager for Climate Adaptation and Watershed Protection is also serving a
2-year term as Vice Chair of the national Water Utility Climate Alliance (“WUCA”), a group of twelve of the
nation’s largest water providers that are working to advance climate change adaptation, planning, and decision-
making to ensure that water utilities, and the communities they serve, can thrive in the face of emerging climate-
related challenges.

CCAP aims to help address the System’s climate-related risks to enable the Water Department to
maintain current levels of service under changing climatic conditions. However, despite the Water Department’s
planning efforts, the precise effects of climate change continue to be indeterminate due to multiple sources of
uncertainty, including future global emissions and the resulting magnitude and timing of specific climate change
impacts in the Philadelphia region. See “CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS — Climate Change”
below.

For further discussion of climate change and its potential effects on the City, see APPENDIX III —
“GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA - The
Government of the City of Philadelphia — Climate Change.”

CERTAIN INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

Introduction

The purchase of the Bonds involves numerous investment risks, some of which are referred to in this
Official Statement. No representation is made that the risks described or referred to in this Official Statement
constitute all of the risks associated with investing in the Bonds. Accordingly, prior to making a decision to
invest in the Bonds, each prospective purchaser thereof should make an independent evaluation of all of the
information presented in this Official Statement, including the Appendices, and should review other pertinent
information.

System Revenues, Expenditures, Financing and Capital Assets

Actual operation, maintenance and repair expenses of the System may be greater or less than currently
projected. Factors such as damages to facilities and infrastructure, changes in technology, regulatory standards,
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and increased costs of treatment chemicals, other material, energy, labor and administration can substantially
affect the expenses of the Water Department. Although the City has covenanted to set rates and charges in
amounts sufficient to pay debt service on all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, including the Bonds, in
accordance with the provisions of the General Ordinance, there can be no assurance that amounts will be so
sufficient or that sufficient amounts will be collected. Furthermore, increases in rates and charges could result
in a decrease in demand for usage and result in a decrease in revenues.

Operation of the System requires significant capital expenditures that are partially dependent on the
City’s ability to secure appropriate financing. Disruptions in the capital and credit markets may limit the City’s
access to capital. Without sufficient capital, or if the cost of borrowing increases, it may materially and adversely
affect the business, financial condition, and results of operations of the Water Department or its ability to timely
undertake its capital improvement program.

Water and wastewater operations entail specific risks and may impose significant costs. Wastewater
collection and treatment and septage pumping and sludge hauling involve various unique risks. If collection or
treatment systems fail or do not operate properly, or if there is a spill, untreated or partially treated wastewater
could discharge onto property or into nearby streams and rivers, causing various damages and injuries, including
environmental damage. These risks are most acute during periods of substantial rainfall or flooding, which are
the main causes of CSO and system failure. Any failure of water and wastewater treatment plants, networks of
water and wastewater pipes, or water reservoirs could result in losses and damages that may adversely affect the
business, financial condition, and results of operations of the Water Department.

General Economic Conditions

General economic conditions, including inflationary pressure and sustained economic distress within
certain parts of the City, may affect the Water Department’s financial condition and results of operations. A
general economic downturn may lead to a reduction in discretionary and recreational water use. General
economic turmoil also may lead to an investment market downturn, which may result in asset market values
(including pension plan assets) suffering a decline and significant volatility. For instance, a decline in the City’s
pension plans’ asset market values could increase required cash contributions to these plans from the Water Fund
and increased pension expenses in subsequent years.

Environmental Regulations

The City is subject to state and federal environmental laws and regulations applicable to the System.
These laws and regulations are subject to change, and the City may be required to expend substantial funds to
meet the requirements of such changing laws and regulations in the future. Failure to comply with these laws
and regulations may result in the imposition of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, or the imposition of
an injunction requiring the City to take or refrain from taking certain actions. In addition, the City may be
required to remediate contamination on properties owned or operated by the City or on properties owned by
others but contaminated as a result of City operations.

Water and wastewater services are governed by various federal and state environmental protection and
health and safety laws and regulations, including the federal Safe Drinking Water Act, the Clean Water Act and
similar state laws, and federal and state regulations issued under these laws by the EPA and PADEP. These laws
and regulations establish, among other things, criteria and standards for drinking water and for discharges into
the waters of the United States and nearby states. Pursuant to these laws, the Water Department is required to
obtain various environmental permits for operations. Violations or noncompliance could result in fines or other
sanctions by regulators and/or such violations or noncompliance could result in civil suits. Environmental laws
and regulations are complex and change frequently. These laws, and the enforcement thereof, have tended to
become more stringent over time. While the Water Department has budgeted for future capital and operating
expenditures to comply with these laws and permitting requirements, it is possible that new or stricter standards
could be imposed that will require additional capital expenditures or raise operating costs. For a discussion of
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environmental regulations and the System’s environmental compliance, see also “THE SYSTEM -
Environmental Compliance.”

Weather and Seasonal Fluctuations

The Water Department’s operations are affected by weather conditions and are subject to seasonal
fluctuations, which could adversely affect demand for services and revenues and earnings.

The Water Department depends on an adequate water supply to meet the present and future demands of
customers. Drought conditions could interfere with sources of water supply and could reduce demand due to
the implementation of the Water Department’s drought emergency restrictions, which could adversely affect the
Water Department’s ability to supply water in sufficient quantities to existing and future customers. An
interruption in water supply could have a material adverse effect on the operations and financial condition of the
Water Department.

Climate Change

Despite the Water Department’s planning efforts, due to uncertainty in the specific timing, magnitude
and long-term effects of climate change, the full extent of future climate change impacts on the System and its
operations are indeterminate. No assurance can be given that the System will not encounter negative
environmental and infrastructural consequences as a result of climate change and that such events will not have
a material adverse effect on the operations or financial condition of the Water Department. See
“MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES — Climate Change Initiatives and CCAP” herein for a discussion of the
measures currently undertaken by the Water Department to address climate change.

Security of the System

Damage to the System resulting from information technology breaches, vandalism, sabotage, or terrorist
activities may adversely affect the operations and financial condition of the System. There can be no assurance
that the City’s security, emergency preparedness and response plans will be adequate to prevent or mitigate such
damage, or that the costs of maintaining such security measures will not be greater than currently anticipated.
See “MANAGEMENT INITIATIVES — Security of Water Department Facilities and Water Supply and AWIA”
and also “— Information Technology Systems and Continuity Planning” for efforts the Water Department has
taken to secure the System.

Cybersecurity

Information technology systems are vulnerable to a range of cybersecurity-related risks. These risks
include, without limitation, data breaches and system compromises resulting from, ransomware attacks, attacks
from hackers, email phishing campaigns, computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins, insider threats,
system misconfigurations, and other methods of compromise that have become increasingly sophisticated. Such
events or issues could lead to the disclosure of personally identifiable information or other confidential or
proprietary information, could have an adverse effect on the ability of the Water Department to operate, and
could result in significant exposure and substantial costs to the Water Department. The City carries cybersecurity
insurance consistent with market practice for similarly sized municipalities. The City’s Office of Innovation and
Technology follows industry best practices, develops City-wide security policies, provides regular security
training to all City employee users, and uses security tools to mitigate, prevent, deter, and respond to incidents
if and when they occur. See APPENDIX Il - “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE
CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — THE GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA - Cybersecurity”
for more information regarding the City’s cyber-security tools and practices.

No assurance can be given that the Water Department will not be exposed to cyber threats or attacks or

that such incidents will not have a material adverse effect on the operations and financial condition of the Water
Department.
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Limited Recourse on Default

The rights of Bondholders are limited in the event the City defaults on its obligation to pay debt service
on the Bonds. The ultimate enforcement of Bondholders’ rights upon any default by the City in the performance
of its obligations under the Act, the General Ordinance and the Bonds will depend upon the application of
remedies provided in the Act, the General Ordinance and other applicable laws. Litigation may be necessary to
obtain relief in accordance with these remedies. Such litigation may be protracted and costly. Remedies such
as mandamus, specific performance or injunctive relief are equitable remedies, which are subject to the discretion
of the court. See “REMEDIES OF BONDHOLDERS” and APPENDIX II — “SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN
AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS — Summary of Operative Provisions of the General Ordinance —
Remedies to be Enforced Only Against Project Revenues” herein.

Bankruptcy

The rights of the owners of the Bonds are subject to the limitations on legal remedies against the City,
including applicable bankruptcy, moratorium, insolvency or other laws affecting creditor’s rights or remedies
and are subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in equity
or at law), to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to the limitations on legal remedies
against governmental entities in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Bankruptcy proceedings, or the exercise
of powers by the federal or state government, if initiated, could subject the owners of the Bonds to judicial
discretion and interpretation of their rights in bankruptcy or otherwise, and consequently may entail risks of
delay, limitation, or modification of their rights or the modification of City covenants affecting the System or
Project Revenues.

The PICA Act prohibits the City from filing a petition for relief under Chapter 9 of the United States
Bankruptcy Code so long as PICA has any power or duty under the PICA Act. The PICA Act provides that
PICA shall have continuing existence and succession until the later of January 2, 2047 or one year after all of
PICA’s liabilities, including without limitation, its bonds, have been fully paid or discharged or after provision
for such payment shall have been made as provided for in the applicable indenture. For more information, see
APPENDIX III - “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA
— The Government of the City of Philadelphia — Local Government Agencies — Non-Mayoral-Appointed or
Nominated Agencies — PICA” and see “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds.”

The filing of a petition under Chapter 9 operates as an automatic stay of the commencement or
continuation of any judicial or other proceeding against the debtor or its property. However, a petition filed
under Chapter 9 does not operate as a stay of the application of pledged special revenues to the payment of
indebtedness secured by such revenues. Special revenues include receipts derived from the ownership or
operation of systems that are primarily used or intended to be used primarily to provide transportation, utility or
other services, including the proceeds of borrowings to finance such systems. The Federal Bankruptcy Code
further provides that special revenues acquired by the debtor after the commencement of a Chapter 9 case shall
remain subject to any lien resulting from any security agreement entered into by the debtor before the
commencement of the case. However, the lien on special revenues derived from a system will be subject to the
payment of the necessary Operating Expenses of that system. Therefore, Project Revenues acquired by the City
after the filing of a Chapter 9 petition would remain subject to the lien created by the General Ordinance in favor
of the Bondholders but would be subject to the payment of Operating Expenses of the System, which are priority
payments. A bankruptcy court’s interpretation of ‘necessary Operating Expenses’ under the Federal Bankruptcy
Code could differ from the definition of Operating Expenses of the System under the General Ordinance. The
Federal Bankruptcy Code also provides that a pre-bankruptcy transfer of property of a debtor to or for the benefit
of a bondholder, on account of such bond, may not be avoided as a preferential transfer. Although Project
Revenues appear to satisfy this definition, no assurance can be given that a court would hold that Project
Revenues are special revenues. If Project Revenues were determined not to be “special revenues,” then there is
a risk that Project Revenues collected after the commencement of the bankruptcy case would not be subject to
the lien of the General Ordinance, such that the recovery by holders of the Bonds could be negatively affected.
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Unless the debtor consents or the plan proposed under Chapter 9 so provides, the bankruptcy court may
not interfere with any of the property or revenues of a Chapter 9 debtor or with such debtor’s use or enjoyment
of any income-producing property. Accordingly, the City may be able to defer the application of Bond proceeds,
Project Revenues or the pledged Water and Wastewater Funds to payment of the Bondholders during the
pendency of the bankruptcy case, but the lien on such funds and revenues would remain, and would continue to
encumber such funds and revenues (subject again to payment of ‘necessary Operating Expenses’ and Operating
Expenses of the System, to the extent these differ from ‘necessary Operating Expenses’ as determined by a
bankruptcy court under the Federal Bankruptcy Code). Even if a bankruptcy court had the power to compel
immediate payment, the court, in the exercise of its equitable powers, could decline to require the City to use
Bond proceeds, Project Revenues and the Water and Wastewater Funds to pay Bondholders during the pendency
of the case.

The debtor may file a plan for the adjustment of its debts that may include provisions modifying or
altering the rights of creditors generally, or any class of them, secured or unsecured. The plan, when confirmed
by the court, binds all creditors that have had notice or knowledge of the plan and discharges all claims against
the debtor provided for in the plan. No plan may be confirmed unless certain conditions are met, among which
are that the plan is in the best interests of creditors, is feasible and has been accepted by each class of claims
impaired thereunder. Even if the plan is not so accepted, it may be confirmed if the court finds that the plan is
fair and equitable with respect to each class of non-accepting creditors impaired thereunder and does not
discriminate unfairly. Thus, under the above described “cram-down” provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy
Code, a plan of adjustment could be imposed on the Bondholders that would give them less than their anticipated
rate of interest on the Bonds or possibly even less than a full return of their principal under certain circumstances,
and/or extend the time for payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds.

The foregoing references to the Federal Bankruptcy Code should not be construed as implying
that the City expects to resort to the provisions of such statute or that, if it did, any proposed restructuring
would include a dilution of the sources of payment of and security for the Bonds.

Water Conservation

Decreased customer water consumption as a result of water conservation efforts may adversely affect
demand for water services and may reduce revenues and earnings. There may be declines in water usage per
customer as a result of an increase in conservation awareness, and the structural impact of an increased use of
more efficient plumbing fixtures and appliances. Difficulty obtaining future rate increases to offset decreased
customer water consumption to cover investments and expenses, may adversely affect the business, financial
condition, and results of operations of the Water Department.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Pledge of Project Revenues and Water and Wastewater Funds

The effectiveness of the pledge of the Project Revenues and the Water and Wastewater Funds may be
limited because, although the Fiscal Agent will have custody of the Water and Wastewater Funds, the City will
have complete control of deposits into and expenditures from the Water and Wastewater Funds, except for
amounts on deposit in the Sinking Fund, including the Debt Reserve Account. While the City has covenanted
not to direct the Fiscal Agent to transfer Project Revenues other than as permitted under the General Ordinance,
no requisition procedure or other similar procedure will be established for the expenditure of monies by the City
from the Water and Wastewater Funds (other than the Sinking Fund, including the Debt Reserve Account), and
no consent or approval of the Fiscal Agent is required to be obtained by the City as a condition of the City’s
expenditure of such monies. For more information on the limitations of the pledge, see “SECURITY AND
SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS — Limitations on Effectiveness of Pledge of Project Revenues
and Water and Wastewater Funds.”
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Debt Covenants

The City is obligated to comply with the Rate Covenant and other debt covenants under certain
agreements, including its insurance contracts. Failure to comply with such covenants, which if not cured or
waived, could result in the City’s being required to repay or finance the related borrowings before their due date,
limit future borrowings, cause cross default issues, and increase borrowing costs. If forced to repay or refinance
(on less favorable terms) these borrowings, the Water Department’s business, financial condition, and results of
operations could be adversely affected by increased costs and rates.

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

Claims against the City relating to the Water Department are paid out of the Water and Wastewater
Funds and only secondarily out of the City’s General Fund, in the event cash balances in the Water and
Wastewater Funds are insufficient at the time of payment of the claim. The General Fund is then reimbursed by
the Water and Wastewater Funds for any such advance. The following discussion concerning litigation and
claims, which has been prepared based on information supplied by the Law Department of the City and has been
reviewed by the Law Department of the City, relates to litigation and claims against the City chargeable to the
Water Fund. A discussion of other litigation affecting the City is set forth under the caption in APPENDIX III
— “GOVERNMENT AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA - Litigation.”

Various other claims have been asserted against the City respecting the Water Department, and in some
cases, lawsuits have been initiated. The City may be liable if these claims are reduced to judgment or otherwise
settled in a manner requiring payment by the City.

The Water Department paid $6.4 million and $6.7 million in claims in Fiscal Year 2022 and Fiscal Year
2023, respectively. The Fiscal Year 2024 budget was $6.5 million, and as of June 30, 2024, the Water
Department paid $6.5 million in claims. The Fiscal Year 2025 adopted budget is $7.0 million.

The legal question of whether stormwater charges are a tax or a service fee is before the Pennsylvania
Supreme Court. West Chester University declined to pay a stormwater charge levied by the Borough of West
Chester on the ground that the university is exempt from tax. The Borough filed a petition for declaratory
judgment with the Commonwealth Court. On January 3, 2023, the Commonwealth Court decided that the
Borough’s stormwater charge was a tax. On February 1, 2023, the Borough appealed the Commonwealth
Court’s decision to the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. The appeal has been briefed. The City joined with other
individual municipal entities and associations to argue that stormwater charges are service fees. Oral argument
occurred on September 11, 2024. The decision by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court may either reinforce or create
difficulties for the Water Department’s ability to collect fees for stormwater services. As of the date of this
Official Statement, the Water Department cannot predict the potential outcome or effects of the litigation.

On November 4, 2022, the City of Philadelphia filed suit in the Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas
against 3M, DuPont, Chemguard, Tyco Fire Products, Kidde-Fenwal, and a number of other manufacturers of
per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (“PFAS”). The City sued for damages and injunctive relief to address PFAS
contamination of City properties and natural resources and brought six claims: strict liability for design defect,
strict liability for failure to warn, public nuisance, private nuisance, trespass, and negligence. The City later
amended its complaint to add claims that DuPont and other defendants engaged in a series of fraudulent transfers
to obstruct potential creditors, like the City, from accessing assets sufficient to satisfy legal liabilities arising
from the manufacture, sale, and promotion of PFAS products. Over the City’s opposition, the suit was transferred
from state court to a federal multidistrict litigation (“MDL”) proceeding pending in the District of South
Carolina, In re Aqueous Film-Forming Foams (AFFF) Products Liability Litigation. The City’s motion to
remand its case back to state court remains pending.

Just before a bellwether trial was set to start, 3M announced a proposed nationwide class action
settlement of $10.3 billion to $12.5 billion. The City initially opted out of the 3M settlement. After further
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challenges and negotiations, 3M revised certain terms of its proposed settlement, including indemnification
provisions. The City subsequently elected to participate in the 3M settlement, which was approved by the Court,
and has submitted its claim. The allocation ultimately received by the City will be paid over time, with the last
payment expected to be made in 2036. The City currently expects the first (and largest) settlement payment to
be made during calendar year 2024. Proceeds of the settlement may be deposited in either the Water Fund or
the General Fund. The City is not relying on any settlement payment from 3M to meet any covenant or financial
metric with respect to obligations paid from the Water Fund.

Separately, DuPont also filed for approval of its own proposed settlement, which was approved by the
Court and is in the claims administration phase. The City opted out of the DuPont settlement. Kidde-Fenwal,
Inc. has filed for bankruptcy, and several related entity defendants have been swept into that bankruptcy.
Proceedings are ongoing, and the parties are in mediation discussions with Kidde-Fenwal. Tyco and Chemguard
filed for preliminary approval of a proposed settlement, which was recently approved by the Court. The City is
determining whether it will participate in this settlement. Finally, co-lead plaintiffs in the MDL recently filed for
preliminary approval of a very small settlement with BASF Corporation, which is another PFAS manufacturer
and defendant in the City’s lawsuit. The settlement is not yet fully briefed. Litigation is ongoing.

TAX MATTERS
Federal Tax Matters

In the opinion of Ballard Spahr LLP and Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, Co-Bond Counsel, interest on the
Bonds is excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income tax, under existing laws as enacted and
construed on the date of initial delivery of the Bonds, assuming the accuracy of the certifications of the City and
continuing compliance by the City with the requirements of the Code. Interest on the Bonds is not an item of
tax preference for purposes of federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals; however, such interest
is taken into account in determining the “adjusted financial statement income” (as defined in Section 56A of the
Code) of “applicable corporations” (as defined in Section 59 of the Code) for purposes of computing the
alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations.

The Code contains a number of restrictions and requirements that apply to the Bonds including, without
limitation, (i) investment restrictions, (ii) requirements for periodic payments of arbitrage profits to the United
States, and (iii) rules regarding the proper use of the proceeds of the Bonds and the facilities financed or
refinanced with proceeds. The City has covenanted to comply with all of the restrictions and requirements of
the Code that must be satisfied in order for the interest on the Bonds to be and remain excludable from the gross
income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes (the “Tax Covenants”). Failure to comply with
certain of the Tax Covenants could result in the inclusion of interest on the Bonds in the gross income of the
owners for federal income tax purposes, retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds.

Original Issue Premium. The Bonds were offered at a premium (“original issue premium”) over their
principal amount. For federal income tax purposes, original issue premium is amortizable periodically over the
term of a Bond through reductions in the bondholder’s tax basis for the Bond for determining taxable gain or
loss upon sale or redemption prior to maturity. Amortization of premium does not create a deductible expense
or loss. Bondholders should consult their tax advisers for an explanation of the amortization rules.

No Other Opinions. Co-Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences
relating to ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds.

State Tax Matters
In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as enacted

and construed on the date of initial delivery of the Bonds, interest on the Bonds is exempt from Pennsylvania
personal income tax and corporate net income tax. The Bonds and the interest thereon may be subject to state

75



or local taxes in jurisdictions other than the Commonwealth under applicable state or local tax laws. Co-Bond
Counsel will express no other opinion regarding other tax consequences with respect to the Bonds, including
whether or not interest on the Bonds is subject to taxation under the laws of any jurisdiction other than the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

General

The opinions expressed by Co-Bond Counsel are based upon existing legislation and regulations as
interpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of the initial issuance and delivery of the
Bonds, and Co-Bond Counsel will not express any opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to
any proposed or pending legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation.

The foregoing is only a general summary of certain provisions of the Code as enacted and in effect on
the date hereof and does not purport to be complete; holders of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors
as to the effects, if any, of the Code in their particular circumstances.

The proposed form of the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel is attached hereto as APPENDIX V.
NEGOTIABLE INSTRUMENTS

The Act provides that bonds issued thereunder shall have all the qualities and incidents of securities
under the Uniform Commercial Code of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and shall be negotiable
instruments.

UNDERWRITING

The Bonds are being purchased by the underwriters listed on the front cover page of the Official
Statement (collectively, the “Underwriters”) pursuant to a Bond Purchase Agreement between the City and
Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC, on behalf of itself and as representative of the other Underwriters, at a
purchase price of $654,856,449.76, which equals the principal amount of the Bonds of $595,780,000.00, plus
original issue premium of $61,633,237.35, less an aggregate Underwriters’ discount of $2,556,787.59. The
Underwriters will purchase all of the Bonds if any such Bonds are purchased. The obligation of the Underwriters
to purchase the Bonds is subject to certain terms and conditions as set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement.

The initial public offering prices of the Bonds set forth on the inside front cover page hereof may be
changed without notice by the Underwriters. The Underwriters may offer and sell Bonds to certain dealers
(including dealers depositing Bonds into investment trusts, certain of which may be sponsored or managed by
one or more of the Underwriters) and others at prices lower than the offering prices set forth on the inside front
cover page hereof.

The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various
activities, which may include sales and trading, commercial and investment banking, advisory, investment
management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, market making, brokerage and other financial
and non-financial activities and services. Certain of the Underwriters and their respective affiliates have
provided, and may in the future provide, a variety of these services to the City and to persons and entities with
relationships with the City, for which they received or will receive customary fees and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriters and their respective affiliates,
officers, directors and employees may purchase, sell or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade
securities, derivatives, loans, commodities, currencies, credit default swaps and other financial instruments for
their own account and for the accounts of their customers, and such investment and trading activities may involve
or relate to assets, securities and/or instruments of the City (directly, as collateral securing other obligations or
otherwise) and/or persons and entities with relationships with the City. The Underwriters and their respective
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affiliates may also communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and/or
publish or express independent research views in respect of such assets, securities or instruments and may at any
time hold, or recommend to clients that they should acquire, long and/or short positions in such assets, securities
and instruments.

Blaylock Van, LLC (“Blaylock Van”), one of the Underwriters of the Bonds, has entered into a
municipal securities distribution agreement (the “Distribution Agreement”) with Crews & Associates, Inc.
(“C&A”) for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings at the original issue prices. Pursuant to the
Distribution Agreement, C&A may purchase Bonds from Blaylock Van at the original issue price less a
negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any Bonds that such firm sells.

Jefferies and Siebert, Underwriters of the Bonds, are serving as lead dealer manager and co-dealer
manager, respectively (collectively, the “Dealer Managers™). The City’s purchase of the Purchased Bonds will
be funded with a portion of the net proceeds of the Bonds. In their capacity as Dealer Managers relating to the
Tender Offer, the Dealer Managers are acting as dealer managers and not as Underwriters of the Bonds. The
Dealer Managers will be separately paid customary fees for their services as dealer managers relating to the
Tender Offer and will be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred as dealer managers, from a portion of the
proceeds of the Bonds.

RATINGS

Fitch, Moody’s and S&P have assigned to the Bonds municipal bond ratings “A+”, “A1” and “A+”,
respectively, each with a stable outlook. The Bonds are expected to be assigned insured ratings of “A1”, stable
outlook, by Moody’s and “AA”, stable outlook, by S&P based upon the Policy to be issued by AG at the time
of delivery of the Bonds. Certain information was supplied by the City and the Water Department to the rating
agencies to be considered in evaluating the Bonds. Such ratings express only the views of the respective rating
agencies and are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the Bonds.

Any desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from the rating agency
furnishing the same, at the following addresses: Fitch, One State Street Plaza, New York, New York 10004;
Moody’s, 7 World Trade Center, 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007; and S&P, 55 Water Street,
New York, New York 10041. Generally, a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials
furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own. There is no assurance such ratings will
not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, if in the judgment of such rating agencies,
circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such ratings may have an adverse
effect on the market price of the Bonds.

The Underwriters have not assumed responsibility to advise the owners of the Bonds of any change in
any rating on the Bonds and neither the City nor the Underwriters have undertaken any responsibility to maintain
any particular rating on the Bonds. The City has agreed, in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, to report
actual rating changes on the Bonds. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein and APPENDIX VI. Any
downward change in or withdrawal of a credit rating may have an adverse effect on the marketability or market
price of the Bonds.

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Bonds will be passed upon
by Ballard Spahr LLP and Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, both of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Co-Bond Counsel. The
proposed form of such legal opinion is included herein as APPENDIX V. Certain legal matters will be passed
upon for the City by Greenberg Traurig, LLP and Turner Law, P.C., both of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Co-
Disclosure Counsel. Certain legal matters relating to the information contained in APPENDIX III and
APPENDIX IV will be passed upon for the City by Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP. Certain legal matters will
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be passed upon for the Underwriters by Cozen O’Connor, of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon for the City by the City Solicitor.

FINANCIAL ADVISORS

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Acacia Financial Group, Inc., of
Mount Laurel, New Jersey, have been retained by the City as Co-Financial Advisors in connection with the
issuance of the Bonds and, in such capacity, have assisted the City in the preparation of Bond-related documents.
The Co-Financial Advisors’ fee for services rendered with respect to the sale of the Bonds is contingent upon
the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. Although the Co-Financial Advisors have read and participated in the
preparation of this Official Statement, they have not independently verified any of the information set forth
herein. The information contained in this Official Statement has been obtained primarily from the City’s records
and from other sources that are believed to be reliable, including financial records of the City, reports of
consultants and other entities that may be subject to interpretation. No guarantee is made as to the accuracy or
completeness of any such information. No person, therefore, is entitled to rely upon the participation of the Co-
Financial Advisors as an implicit or explicit expression of opinion as to the completeness and accuracy of the
information contained in this Official Statement.

NO LITIGATION OPINION

Upon the delivery of the Bonds, the City Solicitor will furnish an opinion, in form satisfactory to Co-
Bond Counsel and the Underwriters, to the effect that, among other things, and except as disclosed in this Official
Statement, there is no litigation or other legal proceeding pending, or, to the best of her knowledge after
customary inquiry, threatened in writing against the City, to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the
Bonds or challenging the validity of the proceedings of the City taken in connection therewith or the pledge or
application of any monies provided for the payment of the Bonds, or contesting the powers of the City with
respect to any of the foregoing.

CERTAIN REFERENCES

All summaries of the provisions of the Bonds and the security therefor, the Act and the General
Ordinance set forth herein and in APPENDIX II and all summaries and references to other materials not
purported to be quoted in full, are only brief outlines of certain provisions thereof and do not constitute complete
statements of such documents or provisions. Reference is made hereby to the complete documents relating to
such matters for the complete terms and provisions thereof or for the information contained therein. All
estimates, assumptions and statistical information contained herein, while taken from sources considered
reliable, are not guaranteed. So far as any statements are made in this Official Statement involving matters of
opinion, or projections or estimates, whether or not expressly so stated, they are made merely as such and not as
representations of fact.

The attached Appendices are integral parts of this Official Statement and should be read in their
entireties together with all foregoing statements in this Official Statement.

The agreement between the City and holders of Bonds is fully set forth in the Bonds and the General
Ordinance. Neither this Official Statement nor any advertisement for the Bonds is to be construed as constituting
an agreement with purchasers of the Bonds.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with the requirements of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by
the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”),

the City (i) will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement with Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as
dissemination agent, for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, to be dated the date of original delivery and
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payment for the Bonds, the form of which is annexed hereto as APPENDIX VI, and (ii) has provided the
disclosure in the following paragraph.

To assist the City in complying with its continuing disclosure undertakings, the City reviews and updates
its disclosure policies and procedures as necessary on an ongoing basis.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS

Ballard Spahr LLP and Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, Co-Bond Counsel, and Turner Law, P.C. and Greenberg
Traurig, LLP, Co-Disclosure Counsel, represent some of the Underwriters and Dealer Managers from time to
time in matters unrelated to the issuance of the Bonds or the Tender Offer. Cozen O’Connor, counsel to the
Underwriters and the Dealer Managers, represents the City from time to time in matters unrelated to the issuance
of the Bonds or the Tender Offer.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally]
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This Official Statement has been duly executed and delivered by the following officer on behalf of the
City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA

By: /s/ Rob Dubow
Rob Dubow, Director of Finance
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SCHEDULE 1
PURCHASED BONDS

The tables below and on the following pages list the principal amount of the Purchased Bonds of each maturity and
corresponding CUSIP that were validly tendered and accepted for purchase by the City.

The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B

CuSIP® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer
(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase

717893) (July 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase ($) Price
ZH7 2028 5.000 10,190,000 3,755,000 101.465
Z]3 2029 5.000 10,695,000 4,590,000 101.465
ZKO0 2030 5.000 11,230,000 5,375,000 101.465
ZL8 2031 5.000 11,790,000 5,705,000 101.465
ZM6 2032 5.000 12,380,000 2,955,000 101.465
ZN4 2033 5.000 12,995,000 3,040,000 101.465
ZP9 2034 4.000 13,580,000 9,250,000 100.813
7zQ7 2035 4.000 14,110,000 12,110,000 100.813

Total 96,970,000 46,780,000

The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016

cusip® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer
(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase

717893) (October 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase () Price
AS0 2029 5.000 6,670,000 3,495,000 105.061
A68 2030 5.000 7,010,000 3,290,000 105.061
A76 2031 4.000 7,330,000 5,240,000 103.054
A84 2032 4.000 7,630,000 5,565,000 103.054
A92 2033 4.000 7,940,000 3,455,000 103.054
B67 2034 4.000 3,195,000 285,000 103.054

Total 39,775,000 21,330,000

(M CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers herein are provided by
CUSIP Globa?Services, managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems
Inc., solely for the convenience of the Bondowners of the Purchased Bonds and the City is not responsible for
the selection or correctness of the CUSIP numbers printed herein and does not make any representation with
respect to such numbers or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.



The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A

cusIp® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer
(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase

717893) (October 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase () Price
C25 2032 5.000 7,145,000 3,580,000 107.836
C33 2033 5.000 7,515,000 4,450,000 107.836
C41 2034 5.000 7,900,000 6,650,000 107.836
C58 2035 5.000 8,305,000 7,980,000 107.807
C66 2036 5.000 8,730,000 5,365,000 107.778
C74 2037 5.000 9,175,000 4,700,000 107.750

Total 48,770,000 32,725,000

The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B

CusIp® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer
(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase

717893) (November 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase ($) Price
E72 2029 5.000 31,750,000 18,695,000 108.014
E80 2030 5.000 32,495,000 25,625,000 108.014
E98 2031 5.000 34,425,000 30,170,000 108.014
F22 2032 5.000 3,390,000 2,430,000 108.014
F30 2033 5.000 3,615,000 3,055,000 108.014
F48 2034 5.000 3,850,000 2,435,000 108.014

Total 109,525,000 82,410,000

The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A

CusIp® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer

(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase

717893) (October 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase () Price
G96 2032 5.000 6,190,000 4,630,000 110.153
H20 2033 5.000 6,505,000 4,225,000 110.153
H38 2034 5.000 6,840,000 6,420,000 110.153
Total 19,535,000 15,275,000

(M CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers herein are provided by
CUSIP Globa%SerVices, managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems
Inc., solely for the convenience of the Bondowners of the Purchased Bonds and the City is not responsible for
the selection or correctness of the CUSIP numbers printed herein and does not make any representation with
respect to such numbers or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.



The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable), Series 2019A

CUSIP® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer
(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase
717893) (October 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase ($) Price
L33 2040 4.289 24,010,000 8,060,000 93.585
Total 24,010,000 8,060,000

The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable), Series 2020B

CcusIp® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer
(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase
717893) (November 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase () Price
S28 2033 2.234 4,875,000 1,050,000 84.761
S36 2034 2.334 5,455,000 825,000 83.545
S44 2035 2.434 3,555,000 1,335,000 82.193
Total 13,885,000 3,210,000

The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable), Series 2021B

CcusIp® Outstanding Principal Amount Offer

(Base No. Maturity Date Interest Principal Accepted for Purchase

717893) (July 1) Rate (%) Amount ($) Purchase ($) Price
T35 2027 1.486 10,825,000 5,920,000 93.733
T43 2028 1.686 715,000 435,000 92.088
T68 2030 1.939 740,000 540,000 89.169
T76 2031 2.039 755,000 115,000 87.748
T84 2032 2.189 3,725,000 3,725,000 86.860
T92 2033 2.289 3,810,000 3,060,000 85.752
U25 2036 2.539 33,545,000 14,120,000 82.408
U33 2045 2.926 300,170,000 100,085,000 78.045
Total 354,285,000 128,000,000

M CUSIP is a registered trademark of American Bankers Association. CUSIP numbers herein are provided by
CUSIP Global Services, managed on behalf of the American Bankers Association by FactSet Research Systems
Inc., solely for the convenience of the Bondowners of the Purchased Bonds and the City is not responsible for
the selection or correctness of the CUSIP numbers printed herein and does not make any representation with
respect to such numbers or undertake any responsibility for their accuracy.
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APPENDIX 1

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE WATER FUND
DERIVED FROM THE CITY’S AUDITED ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
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City of Philadelphia Water Department
Management Discussion and Analysis

The Philadelphia Water Department is one of the City’s ten operating departments and its activities
are accounted for under a dedicated Water Fund established pursuant to the Philadelphia Home
Rule Charter. Pursuant to the Charter, the Water Department has the power and duty to operate,
maintain, repair, and improve the City’s water system (the “Water System”), the City’s wastewater
system (the “Wastewater System”) and, together, the “Water and Wastewater Systems” (or the
“Combined System”).

The Water Department’s primary mission is to plan for, operate, and maintain both the
infrastructure and the organization necessary to purvey high-quality drinking water, to provide an
adequate and reliable water supply for all household, commercial, and community needs, and to
sustain and enhance the region’s watersheds and quality of life by managing wastewater
effectively.

The Water Department serves the City of Philadelphia and also provides wastewater services to
ten bulk customers and water services to one bulk water customer. The Water Department operates
three drinking water plants which have the capacity to treat and deliver about 546 million gallons
per day of top quality drinking water that meets or exceeds all federal, state, and local regulations.
Additionally, it operates three water pollution control plants that have the capacity to treat over
one billion gallons of wastewater per day at a level that meets or exceeds federal and state
standards.

The operations and activities of the Water Department are accounted for with a separate set of
balancing accounts that comprise the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred
inflows of resources, net position, revenues, and expenses. The activity of the Water Department
is grouped in the financial statements into the broad category referred to as an enterprise fund (the
“Water Fund”). The Water Fund is comprised of the funds and accounts established by the City
under its Restated General Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989, as amended
(the “General Ordinance”).

2023 Financial Highlights

The Water Fund met its required coverage ratios for the year with a Senior Coverage ratio of 1.22,
90% Test Coverage ratio of 1.18, and a Total Payments Coverage ratio of 1.06"2. At the end of the
current fiscal year, the Water Fund’s net position totaled $959 million resulting from an excess of
its assets and deferred outflows of resources over its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources;
its unrestricted net position showed a deficit of $271 million. This deficiency will have to be
funded from resources generated in future years.

1 Senior Coverage : Net Revenues must equal at least 120% of the Debt Service Requirements payable in such
fiscal year (excluding debt service due on any Subordinated Bonds).

90% Test Coverage: Net Revenues (excluding amounts transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund into the
Revenue Fund during, or as of the end of, such fiscal year) must equal at least equal to 90% of the Debt Service
Requirements (excluding debt service on any Subordinated Bonds) payable in such fiscal year.

2Total Payments Coverage: Net Revenues must equal at least 100% of: (i) the Debt Service Requirements (including
Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds) payable in such fiscal year; (ii) amounts required to
be deposited into the Debt Reserve Account during such fiscal year; (iii) debt service on all General Obligations Bonds
issued for the Water and Wastewater Systems payable in such fiscal year; (iv) debt service on Interim Debt payable
in such fiscal year; and (v) the Capital Account Deposit Amount for such fiscal year, less amounts transferred from
the Residual Fund to the Capital Account during such fiscal year. To ensure compliance with the rate covenant, the
General Ordinance requires that the City review its rates, rents, fees, and charges at least annually.



City of Philadelphia Water Department
Management Discussion and Analysis

The Water Fund’s net position showed a $68 million increase during the current fiscal year
compared with the prior fiscal year increase of $16 million.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This section serves as an introduction to the Basic Financial Statements. It represents
management’s examination and analysis of the Water Fund’s financial condition and performance.

The Financial Statements report information about the Water Fund using the Full Accrual
Accounting method as used by similar business activities in the private sector. The Water Fund’s
basic financial statements include the Statements of Net Position, Statements of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, Statements of Cash Flows, and Notes to the Financial
Statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles promulgated by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”).

Statement of Net Position: The statement of net position presents the financial position
of the Water Fund. It presents information on the assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the difference between them reported as
net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful
indicator of whether the financial position of the Water Fund is improving or deteriorating.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position: The statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents information showing how the net
position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported
as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing
of related cash flows. Revenues are recognized when earned, not when they are received.
Expenses are recognized when incurred, not when they are paid. Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future
fiscal periods (e.g., salaries and wages payable).

Statement of Cash Flows: The statement of cash flows presents information on the effects
changes in assets, liabilities, and operations have on cash during the course of the fiscal
year.

The Water Fund’s financial statements can be found following the Management Discussion and
Analysis. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the Water Fund financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements
and accompanying notes, government accounting standards require presentation of required
supplementary information (“RSI”). Following the RSI, the Fund has presented other
supplementary information (“OSI”).

Please see the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report of the City of Philadelphia for complete
financial information for the City and its component units, which can be found at
https://emma.msrb.org/.
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Financial Analysis

Net Position

Management Discussion and Analysis

City of Philadelphia Water Department

A three year condensed summary of the Water Fund’s net position as of June 30 of each year

follows:
Condensed Statements of Net Position
(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30
2023 2022 2021
Assets:
Current Assets $ 373,512 $ 357,729  $ 340,427
Capital Assets 3,170,873 3,009,352 2,917,035
Restricted Assets 1,080,216 883,209 778,914
Total Assets 4,624,601 4,250,290 4,036,376
Deferred Outflows of Resources 92,249 106,058 80,267
Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 4,716,850 4,356,348 4,116,643
Liabilities:
Current Liabilities 278,127 226,147 216,629
Bonds Payable Net 2,889,759 2,599,780 2,411,861
Lease Payable 14,265 15,955 -
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 530,096 600,234 540,140
Total Liabilities 3,712,247 3,442,116 3,168,630
Deferred Inflows of Resources 45,813 23,225 72,875
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 3,758,061 3,465,341 3,241,505
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets 644,628 621,404 643,531
Restricted 584,883 554,109 527,697
Unrestricted (Deficit) (270,720) (284,508) (296,090)
Total Net Position, as Restated $ 058,790 $ 891,005 $ 875,138

The Water Fund’s net position at June 30, 2023 was approximately $958.8 million, a $67.8 million
or 7.6% increase from June 30, 2022. Total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased by
$360.5 million, or 8.3% to $4.7 billion, and total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources
increased $292.7 million, or 8.4%, to $3.8 billion.

The following is a discussion of the more significant changes in assets and deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, and net position in fiscal year 2023:

e Total Capital Assets, net of Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization increased by
$161.5 million to $3.2 billion, or 5.4%, due mainly to increases in Construction in Progress
of $148.0 million to $801.8 million, or 22.6%. CIP increased in FY23 as more construction
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City of Philadelphia Water Department
Management Discussion and Analysis

projects, particularly PennVest funded projects, began in FY23 which led to an increase in
capital expenditures and accounts payable.

Restricted assets increased by $197.0 million to $1.1 billion, or 22.3% in FY23. The
increase was mainly due to an increase in the Water Capital Fund of $171.3 million, an
increase in the Sinking Fund of $14.9 million and an increase in the Sinking Fund Reserve
of $10.7 million. The increase in the Water Capital Fund was due to proceeds from the
2021A Series (PennVest), 2022C Series and Commercial Paper proceeds, as well as
transfers from current revenues. The increase in the Sinking Fund is due to proceeds from
Series 2021D, 2022A, 2022B, 2022D, 2022E, and 2022F (all PennVest). The increase in
the Sinking Fund Reserve was mainly due to a deposit of $8.5 million from Series 2022C.

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources decreased by $13.8 million, or 13.0%. This was
mainly due to a decrease in Deferred Outflows from Net Pension Liability because of
changes in assumptions and the net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments.

Total Current Liabilities increased by $52.0 million to $278.1 million, or 23.0%. Most of
the increase was due to increases in Commercial Paper and Construction Contracts
Payable. Commercial Paper increased by $33.3 million to $36.3 million. Commercial Paper
is used to pay invoices for many PennVest projects. Many of these projects began
construction in FY23. Construction Contracts Payable increased by $12.6 million to $54.4
million as more construction projects began in FY23.

Total Other Noncurrent Liabilities decreased by $70.1 million to $530.1 million, or 11.7%,
primarily due to decreases in Net Pension Liability of $46.9 million to $340.5 million, or
12.1% and Net OPEB Liability of $29.9 million to $132.9 million, or 18.4%. Net Pension
Liability and Net OPEB Liability decreased because of net differences between projected
and actual earnings on plan investments. Also contributing to the overall decrease was an
increase in Noncurrent Liabilities related to Indemnities of $4.1 million and an increase of
$2.6 million for Arbitrage due for Series 2022C ($2.4 million) and Series 2020A ($0.2
million).

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources increased by $22.6 million to $45.8 million, or 97.3%,
primarily due to an increase in Deferred Inflows of Resources — Net OPEB Liability, which
increased by $27.0 million to $35.0 million due to changes in methods and assumptions.
This was offset by a decrease in Deferred Inflows of Resources — Net Pension Liability of
$4.1 million to $6.7 million.

The Water Fund’s net position increased by $67.8 million to $958.8 million, or 7.6%
because of FY23 operations.



City of Philadelphia Water Department
Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes in Net Position

A condensed summary of the Water Fund’s Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in
Net Position for the years ended June 30 is presented as follows:

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Goods and Services
Miscellaneous Operating Revenues
Operating Grants
Total Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses:
Operating Expenses excluding
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Federal, State, & Local Grants
Interest Income
Debt Service — Interest
Other Expenses
Total Nonoperating Expenses
Increase in Net Position before
Transfers and Contributions
Transfers Out
Capital Contributions
Change in Net Position

Net Position — Beginning of Period,
Before Restatement

Reclassification of Expense

Net Position — Beginning of Period,
as Restated

Net Position — End of Period

(Thousands of Dollars)
Year Ended June 30
2023 2022 2021
$ 803,020 $ 752,982 703,048
13,284 12,921 12,776
792 464 2,748
817,096 766,367 718,572
479,279 458,450 411,065
148,296 146,603 134,748
627,575 605,053 545,813
189,521 161,314 172,759
589 - -
34,913 (6,555) 1,095
(100,338) (93,019) (70,560)
1,337 1,132 (20,071)
(66,173) (98,442) (89,536)
123,348 62,872 83,223
(57,440) (48,378) (37,160)
1,877 1,373 8,236
67,785 15,867 54,299
891,005 875,138 826,763
- - (5,924)
891,005 875,138 820,839
$ 958,790 891,005 875,138
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Total Operating Revenues increased by $50.7 million to $817.1 million, or 6.6%, mainly
due to a rate increase that went into effect in FY23.

Total Operating Expenses increased by $22.5 million to $627.6 million, or 3.7% in FY23
mainly due to increases in Personal Services, Purchase of Services, Materials & Supplies,
and Depreciation. Further details are noted below.

1. Personal Services increased by $4.1 million due to wage increases negotiated by
the City and its Labor Unions.

2. Purchases of Services increased by $15.8 million mainly due to increased energy
costs and increased professional service costs.

3. Materials and Supplies increased by $14.1 million mainly due to increases in
chemical costs and plumbing materials.

4. Indemnities and Taxes increased by $5.5 million due to an increase in indemnity
expenses.

5. Depreciation and Amortization Expense stayed relatively flat in FY23, increasing
by $1.7 million.

6. Employee Benefits decreased by $18.6 million due to changes in pension expenses.

The change in Total Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) was mainly due to an increase in
Interest Income as the Department’s investments benefited from the higher interest rates
in FY23 and an increase in Debt Service Interest payments in FY23 compared to FY22.

Transfers Out increased by $9.1 million, or 18.7%. This was mainly due to the increase of
$12.3 million of PMA operating expenditures reclassified as transfers out. This was offset
by a $2.7 million decrease in PMA capital expenditures reclassified as transfers out and a
decrease of $0.5 million for the Scoop payment to the General Fund (no Scoop payment in
FY23).

Capital Contributions stayed flat in FY23, increasing by $0.5 million.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Capital Assets

Investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, amounted to $3.2 billion as of June
30, 2023. This represented an increase of $161.5 million, or 5.4% over the previous year’s total
of $3.0 billion. Capital assets consist primarily of land, infrastructure, construction in progress,
buildings, and equipment. Infrastructure consists of water and wastewater transmission and
distribution lines. In FY22, Capital Assets also began include Right to Use Lease Assets due to
the adoption of GASB No. 87, Leases. Please refer to the Notes for more information on the
adoption of GASB 87.
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The following is a summary of capital assets as of June 30:

Capital Assets
(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30
2023 2022 2021
Land $ 5,969 $ 5969 $ 5,969
Construction in Progress 801,783 653,757 620,765
Infrastructure 3,030,562 2,941,381 2,823,414
Buildings and Equipment 2,197,628 2,142,821 2,096,465
Right to Use Lease Assets - Equipment 127 187 -
Right to Use Lease Assets - Buildings 19,005 19,005 -
Accurr%ulaj[ed Depreciation and (2.884.201) (2,753.768) (2,629.579)
Amortization
Total Capital Assets, net $ 3,170,873 $ 3,009,352 $ 2,917,034

The capital assets of 2021 were restated for reclassifications.

Long-Term Debt

As of June 30, 2023, the Water Fund had $3.4 billion of noncurrent liabilities outstanding. This
was an increase of $218.2 million from the prior fiscal year. The following is a summary of the
noncurrent liabilities outstanding as of June 30:

Revenue Bonds — Net

Net OPEB Liability
Net Pension Obligation
Lease Payable

Noncurrent Liabilities

(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30
2022 2022 2021
$ 2,889,759 $ 2,599,780 $ 2,411,861
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 56,661 49,990 49,872
132,912 162,826 157,204
340,523 387,418 333,064
14,265 15,955 -

2,952,001

Total Noncurrent Liabilities $ 3,434,120 $ 3,215,969 $
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The following details bonds payable as of June 30, 2023, and 2022:

Bonds Payable
(Thousands of Dollars)
June 30
2023 2022
Long Term Bonds Outstanding $ 2,700,577 $ 2,435,116
Current Portion (84,783) (84,343)
Noncurrent Portion 2,616,794 2,350,773
Unamortized Bond Premium 272,965 249,007

Bonds Payable, Net of Current Portion $ 2,889,759 $ 2,599,780

More detailed information concerning long-term debt activity and capital asset activity is disclosed
in Note III. 6. and Note III. 5., respectively, of the financial statements.

Budgetary Highlights

Please see the supplementary Budgetary Comparison Schedule located in the Required
Supplementary Information section.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Philadelphia Water
Department’s finances for all interested parties. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report, or requests for additional information, should be addressed to the
Philadelphia Water Department, Finance Division, Attention Deputy Commissioner of Finance,
5th Floor, 1101 Market Street, Jefferson Center, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107.



CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
STATEMENTS OF FUND NET POSITION
JUNE 30,2023 AND 2022

(Thousands of Dollars)
2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash on Deposit and on Hand $ 30 $ 30
Equity in Treasurer's Account 175,235 171,415
Due from Other Governments 554 -
Accounts Receivable 194,725 183,333
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (20,314) (20,476)
Inventories 22,605 22,198
Other Assets 677 1,227
Total Current Assets 373,512 357,727
Noncurrent Assets:
Restricted Assets:
Equity in Treasurer's Account 859,794 687,434
Sinking Funds and Reserves 217,807 194,544
Receivables 2,615 1,231
Total Restricted Assets 1,080,216 883,209
Capital Assets:
Land 5,969 5,969
Infrastructure 3,030,562 2,941,381
Construction in Progress 801,783 653,757
Buildings and Equipment 2,197,628 2,142,821
Right to Use Lease Assets - Equipment 127 187
Right to Use Lease Assets - Buildings 19,005 19,005
Less: Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization (2,884,201) (2,753,768)
Total Capital Assets, Net 3,170,873 3,009,352
Total Noncurrent Assets 4,251,089 3,892,561
Total Assets 4,624,601 4,250,288
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Deferred Outflow - Net Pension Liability 32,127 38,525
Deferred Outflow - Net OPEB Liability 16,301 20,086
Deferred Outflow - Unamortized Loss - Refunded Debt 43,321 47,447
Total Deferred Outflows 92,249 106,058
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Vouchers Payable 5,207 11,158
Accounts Payable 24,040 22,211
Due to Other Funds 16,296 8,091
Salaries and Wages Payable 6,227 5,928
Construction Contracts Payable 54,358 41,778
Due to Other Components Units 719 1,205
Payable to Other Government Units 1,185 -
Accrued Expenses 27,669 27,697
Funds Held in Escrow 1,637 1,637
Lease Payable - Current 1,690 1,641
Unearned Revenue 16,529 15,025
Commercial Paper 36,340 3,000
Bonds Payable - Current 83,783 84,343
Other Current Liabilities 2,447 2,433
Total Current Liabilities 278,127 226,147
Net OPEB Liability 132,912 162,826
Net Pension Liability 340,523 387,418
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds Payable 2,616,794 2,350,773
Unamortized Premium/(Discount) 272,965 249,007
Lease Payable 14,265 15,955
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 56,661 49,990
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 2,960,685 2,665,725
Total Liabilities 3,712,247 3,442,116
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Deferred Inflows - Net Pension Liability 6,744 10,834
Deferred Inflows - Net OPEB Liability 34,971 7,971
Deferred Inflows - Gain on Refunding 4,098 4,420
Total Deferred Inflows 45,813 23,225
NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 644,628 621,404
Restricted For:
Capital Projects 232,267 219,605
Debt Service 218,631 194,835
Rate Stabilization 133,985 139,669
Unrestricted Deficit (270,721) (284,508)
Total Net Position $ 958,790 $ 891,005

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.




CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Thousands of Dollars)

2023 2022
Operating Revenues:
Charges for Goods and Services $ 803,020 $ 752,982
Operating Grants 792 464
Miscellaneous Operating Revenues 13,284 12,921
Total Operating Revenues 817,096 766,367
Operating Expenses:
Personal Services 166,016 161,893
Purchase of Services 152,875 137,116
Materials and Supplies 58,233 44,178
Employee Benefits 90,598 109,227
Indemnities and Taxes 11,557 6,036
Depreciation and Amortization 148,296 146,603
Total Operating Expenses 627,575 605,053
Operating Income (Loss) 189,521 161,314
Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):
Federal, State & Local Grants 589 -
Investment Earnings 34913 (6,555)
Debt Service - Interest (100,338) (93,019)
Other Revenue (Expenses) (1,337) 1,132
Total Non-Operating Revenue (Expenses) (66,173) (98,442)
Income Before Contributions & Transfers 123,348 62,872
Transfers In/(Out) (57,440) (48,378)
Capital Contributions 1,877 1,373
Change in Net Position 67,785 15,867
Net Position - July 1 891,005 875,138
Net Position - June 30 $ 958,790 $ 891,005

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Thousands of Dollars)

2023 2022
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from Customers $ 805,700 $ 753,439
Payments to Suppliers (215,016) (172,731)
Payments to Employees (293,793) (293,119)
Claims Paid (11,557) (6,036)
Net Cash Provided (Used) 285,334 281,553
Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Operating Grants Received 1,380 464
Operating Subsidies and Transfers to Other Funds (65,940) (47,803)
Net Cash Provided (Used) (64,560) (47,339)
Cash Flows from Capital & Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from Debt Issuance 413,027 289,699
Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets (289,112) (226,221)
Interest Paid on Debt Instruments (111,930) (87,951)
Principal Paid on Debt Instruments (87,363) (89,042)
Other Receipts (Payments) 923 279
Net Cash Provided (Used) (74,455) (113,236)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest and Dividends on Investments 29,861 (4,966)
Net Cash Provided (Used) 29,861 (4,966)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 176,180 116,012
Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1 858,879 742,867
Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30 $ 1,035,059 $ 858,879
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Operating Income (Loss) 189,521 161,315
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Depreciation Expense 148,296 146,603
Change in Assets and Liabilities:
Receivables, Net (12,899) (14,426)
Inventories (407) (2,112)
Accounts and Other Payables (3,150) 11,866
Accrued Expenses (37,531) (23,191)
Unearned Revenue 1,504 1,498
Net Cash Provided by operating activities $ 285,334 $ 281,553

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Philadelphia Water Department have been prepared in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as applied to
governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the
accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. The more significant of the Water Department’s accounting policies
are described below.

1. REPORTING ENTITY

The City of Philadelphia was founded in 1682 and was merged with the county in 1854.
Since 1951, the City has been governed largely under the Philadelphia Home Rule
Charter. However, in some matters, including the issuance of short-term and long-term
debt, the City is governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

The operations and activities of the Water Department are accounted for with a separate
set of balancing accounts that comprise the assets, deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net position, revenues, and expenses. The
activity of the Water Department is grouped in the financial statements into the broad
category referred to as an enterprise fund (the “Water Fund”). The Water Fund is
comprised of the funds and accounts established by the City under its Restated General
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989, as amended (the “General
Ordinance”).

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Water Fund’s financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Fund Net Position,
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and Statement of Cash
Flows) report information of all activities related to the operation of the City’s water
delivery and sewage systems.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position demonstrates the
degree to which expenses are offset by revenues of the Water Fund.

3. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Water Fund, reported by the City as a major proprietary fund, accounts for the
activities related to the operation of the City’s water delivery and sewage systems. The
Water Fund’s financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred regardless of the timing
of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as
all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Operating revenues
and expenses are distinguished from nonoperating items in the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. The principal operating revenues are charges

12



PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

for water and sewer service. When calculating user fees charged to customers, the
Water Fund includes a component for the repayment of principal on the Water Fund’s
outstanding debt.

The Water Fund distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and
producing and delivering goods in connection with the Fund’s ongoing operations.
Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition
are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

The Water Fund’s activities are used to account for operations (1) that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises — where the intent of the
government body is that costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods
and services to the general public on a continuous basis be recovered primarily through
user charges or (2) where the government body has decided that periodic determination
of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital
maintenance, public policy, management’s control of accountability, and other
purposes.

The activities of the Water Fund are segregated as follows:

e The Revenue Fund is used to account for the operations of the water and
wastewater systems.

e The Revenue Bond Sinking Fund is used to account for the payment of interest
of the outstanding revenue bonds.

e The Debt Reserve Fund account of the Sinking Fund is funded from the
proceeds of each series of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds; provided,
however, that if the Supplemental Ordinance authorizing a series of Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bonds shall so authorize, the deposit to the Debt Reserve
Account with respect of such Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds may be
accumulated from project revenues over a period of not more than three fiscal
years after the issuance and delivery of such Water and Wastewater Revenue
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Bonds. The moneys and investments in the Debt Reserve Account are held and
maintained in an amount equal at all times to the Debt Reserve Requirement. If at
any time the moneys in the Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund shall be
insufficient to pay as and when due the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest
on any Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds or other obligations payable from
the Debt Service Account (including obligations arising in connection with
Qualified Swap Agreements and Credit Facilities), the fiscal agent is required to
pay over from the Debt Reserve Account the amount of such deficiency for deposit
into the Debt Service Account. With respect to any issue of Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds, in lieu of the required deposit into the Debt Reserve Account, the
City may cause to be deposited into the Debt Reserve Account a surety bond, an
insurance policy or an irrevocable letter of credit meeting the requirements of the
General Ordinance and the Bond Committee Determination relating to such issue.

The Debt Reserve Account Amendment authorizes (i) the Director of Finance to
apply moneys currently on deposit in the Debt Reserve Account to purchase a
surety bond or insurance policy complying with the terms of the General Ordinance
(described below), (ii) the transfer of the resulting excess moneys in the Debt
Reserve Fund to the Revenue Fund and from there, upon compliance with the
provisions of the General Ordinance to a new account in the Residual Fund called
the Special Water Infrastructure Account and (iii) the application of the moneys
deposited in the Special Water Infrastructure Account to the cost of certain
renewals, replacements and improvements to the water and wastewater systems
described in the Debt Reserve Account Amendment.

e The Rate Stabilization Fund was created with the sale of the Series 1993
Revenue Bonds on August 20, 1993. The purpose of the Fund is to maintain
assets to be drawn down to offset future deficits (and corresponding rate
increase requirements) in the Water Fund.

During Fiscal 2023, the Fund had the following activity:

Balance at July 1, 2022 $ 139,668,517
Transfer to Revenue Fund (7,750,000)
Interest Earnings 2,066,266
Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 133,984,783
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
3. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

During Fiscal 2022, the Fund had the following activity:

Balance at July 1, 2021 $ 125,116,542
Transfer from Revenue Fund 15,000,000
Interest Earnings (448,025)
Balance at June 30, 2022 $ 139,668,517

e The Residual Fund was created with the sale of the Series 1993 Revenue Bonds
on August 20, 1993. The Residual Fund is the last Fund into which Project
Revenues are transferred from the Revenue Fund. Money in the Residual Fund
may be used to pay Operating Expenses or debt service, or other purpose to
support the System. In addition, money in the Residual Fund is used to transfer
the annual payment to the City's General Fund an amount equal to the lesser of
(i) the interest earnings for the Fiscal Year on the Debt Reserve Account and
Subordinated Bond Fund (less amounts subject to rebate) and (ii) $4.994
million.

During Fiscal 2023, the Fund had the following activity:

Balance at July 1, 2022 $ 16,107,920
Investment Earnings 416,059
Balance at June 30, 2023 $ 16,523,979

During Fiscal 2022, the Fund had the following activity:

Balance at July 1, 2021 $ 16,320,663
Transfer from Debt Service Reserve 575,643
Transfer to General Fund (575,643)
Transfer from Revenue Fund 21,993,793
Transfer to Capital Fund (21,993,793)
Investment Earnings (212,743)
Balance at June 30, 2022 $ 16,107,920
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The Water Fund’s deposits and investments are held in segregated operating and capital
accounts due to either legal requirements or operational needs. Sinking funds and
reserves are maintained in segregated investment accounts to comply with reserve and
other requirements of the bond covenants.

All highly liquid investments (except for Repurchase Agreements) with a maturity of
three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

The Water Fund reports investments at fair value. Short-term investments are reported
at cost which approximates fair value. Securities traded on national or international
exchanges are valued at the last reported sales price. The fair value of real estate
investments is based on independent appraisals. Investments which do not have an
established market are reported at estimated fair value.

Statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies, and
instruments of the United States, repurchase agreements, collateralized certificates of
deposit, bank acceptance or mortgage obligations, certain corporate bonds, and money
market funds. The Pension Trust Fund is also authorized to invest in corporate bonds,
common stocks, private markets, hedge funds, and real estate.

5. INVENTORIES

The materials and supplies inventories are valued at moving average cost.

6. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are
defined by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $10,000 and
an estimated useful life in excess of three years. Capital assets are recorded at cost.
Costs recorded do not include interest incurred as a result of financing asset acquisition
or construction. Assets acquired by gift or bequest are recorded at their acquisition price
at the date of the gift. Upon sale or retirement, the cost of the assets and the related
accumulated depreciation, if any, are removed from the accounts. Maintenance and
repair costs are charged to operations.

The Water Fund uses “substantially complete” as the determining basis for transferring
Construction in Process to one or more of the major asset classes.

The Water Fund’s cost of construction includes all direct contract costs plus overhead
costs. Overhead costs include direct and indirect engineering costs and interest incurred
during the construction period for projects financed with bond proceeds. After adoption
of GASB No. 89, interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period is
recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred. As a result, interest
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

6.

10.

CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

cost incurred before the end of a construction period will not be included in the
historical cost of a capital asset.

Depreciation on the capital assets is provided on the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives: buildings and improvements - 20 to 50 years; equipment and
storage facilities - 3 to 25 years; and transmission and distribution lines - 50 years.
Leased and software subscription (SBITAs) assets are amortized over the shorter of the
lease or subscription term or the useful life of the underlying asset.

BONDS AND RELATED PREMIUMS, DISCOUNTS., AND ISSUANCE COSTS

Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the lives of the bonds
using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable
bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are recognized as an expense and
reported in the period incurred.

INSURANCE

The City, except for the Airport and certain other properties, is self-insured for most
fire and casualty losses to its structures and equipment and provides statutory workers’
compensation and unemployment benefits to its employees. The City is self-insured
for medical benefits provided to employees in the City administered health plan.

RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Activities between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as due to/from other funds.

Accounts receivable included in current assets consists of billed and unbilled fees,
which have been earned but not collected as of June 30, 2023 and 2022. Credit balance
receivables have been included in unearned revenue in the Statement of Fund Net
Position. The allowance for doubtful accounts is management’s estimate of the amount
of accounts receivable which will be deemed to be uncollectible and is based upon
specific identification. Unpaid accounts are referred to the City’s Law Department if
deemed uncollectible. Accounts are written off when recommended by the Law
Department.

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the allowance for doubtful accounts was $20,314,132
and $20,476,432, respectively.

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows
of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position, the Water Fund reports

17



PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
10. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION

(continued)

deferred outflows of resources in the Statement of Fund Net Position in a separate
section following Assets. Similarly, the Water Fund reports deferred inflows of
resources in the Statement of Fund Net Position in a separate section following
Liabilities.

Deferred outflows of resources represents consumption of net position that applies to a
future period(s) and will not be recognized as an expense until that time. Deferred
inflows of resources represents an acquisition of net position that applies to future
periods and will not be recognized as revenue until that time.

On the full accrual basis of accounting, the components of the deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources are as follows:

. Deferred refunding results from the difference in the refunding of debt and its
reacquisition price.

. Deferred pension and OPEB transactions are recognized as expenses or
revenues in a future period. Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related
to pensions are discussed in Note I'V. 1. and OPEB is discussed in Note IV.3.

The following items have been reported as deferred outflows or deferred inflows of
resources on the Water Fund’s Statement of Fund Net Position as of June 30, 2023 and
2022:

(Thousands of Dollars)

2023 2022
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Related to Net Pension Liability $ 32,127 $ 38,525
Related to Net OPEB Liability 16,801 20,086
Deferred Loss on Refunding 43,321 47447
$ 92,249 $ 106,058
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Net Pension Liability $ 6,744  $ 10,334
Related to Net OPEB Liability 34,971 7971
Related to Gain on Refunding 4,098 4,420
$ 45813 $ 23225

18



I.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.

12.

13.

14.

COMPENSATED ABSENCES

It is the City’s policy to allow employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation
and sick leave benefits. Vacation is accrued when earned in the financial statements.
Sick leave is accrued in the financial statements based on an estimate of future payouts.
The Water Fund’s employees’ total vacation time accrued under Other Current
Liabilities in Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022 was $1.7 million each year. The long-term
portion reported in Other Noncurrent Liabilities on the Statement of Fund Net Position
was $15.5 and $15.4 million for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Water Fund’s employees’ total sick leave time accrued under Other Current
Liabilities in Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022 was $723,000 and $717,000, respectively.
The long-term portion reported in Other Noncurrent Liabilities on the Statement of
Fund Net Position was $6.5 million for fiscal years 2023 and 2022.

CLAIMS AND JUDGMENTS

Pending claims and judgments are recorded as expenses in the financial statements
when the City solicitor has deemed that a probable loss to the Water Fund has occurred.
Claims and judgments are recorded as expenses when paid or when judgments have
been rendered against the City’s Water Fund.

UNEARNED REVENUE

GASB Statement No. 65 prohibits the usage of the term “deferred” on any line items
other than deferred inflows or outflows of resources. Therefore, the term “Deferred
Revenue” has been replaced by “Unearned Revenue.” Unearned revenues in the Water
Fund’s financial statements represents revenue received in advance of being earned.
Unearned revenues relate principally to overpaid water and sewer bills.

LEASES AND SUBSCRIPTION-BASED INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
ARRANGEMENTS

The Water Fund is a lessee for various leases of buildings and equipment. The Water
Fund recognizes a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset in the
financial statements. The City has noncancellable subscription arrangements (similar
to a lease) for the right to use various information technology hardware and software
(SBITAs). Asalessee or subscriber, the City recognizes a lease liability or subscription
liability and an intangible right-to-use asset in the financial statements.

At the commencement of a lease or SBITA, the Water Fund initially measures the lease
liability or subscription at the present value of payments expected to be made during
the lease or subscription term. Subsequently, the lease liability or subscription liability
is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments made. The lease asset or
subscription asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease liability or
subscription liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

14.

15.

LEASES (continued)

commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. For SBITAs, subscription assets
also include qualified software implementation costs. Subsequently, the lease asset or
subscription asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease or
subscription term or the useful life of the underlying asset.

The Water Fund determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the expected lease
payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease payments.

o The Water Fund uses the interest rate stated in the agreement as the discount rate.
When the interest rate charged by the lessor is not provided, the Water Fund
generally uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for
leases.

o The lease or subscription term includes the noncancellable period of the lease or
subscription. Lease or subscription payments included in the measurement of the
lease or subscription liability are composed of fixed payments and purchase
option price that the Water Fund is reasonably certain to exercise.

The Water Fund monitors changes in circumstances that would require a
remeasurement of its lease or SBITA and will remeasure the lease asset or subscription
asset and the liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the
amount of the lease liability or subscription liability.

Lease or subscription assets are reported with other capital assets and lease or
subscription liabilities are reported with long-term debt on the statement of fund net

position.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS - ADOPTED:

In May 2019, GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations. The primary
objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt
obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1)
commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt
obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. The adoption of this Statement had no
effect on previously reported amounts.

In March 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public
Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements. The primary objective of this
Statement is to address and improve financial reporting issues related to public-private
and public-public partnership arrangements (PPPs). The adoption of this Statement had

20



PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
15. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (continued)

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS — ADOPTED: (continued)
no effect on previously reported amounts.

In May 2020, GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information
Technology Arrangements. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting and
financial reporting for subscription-based information technology arrangements
(SBITAs) for government end users (governments). The adoption of this Statement had
no material impact on the Water Fund’s financial statements.

In April 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022. The objectives of this
Statement are to enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to
improve the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing (1) practice issues that
have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB
Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial guarantees. The
Statement has been partially adopted for requirements effective for the reporting
period. All the applicable changes have been made to the financial statements.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS - TO BE ADOPTED:

In April 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022. The objectives of this
Statement are to enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to
improve the consistency of authoritative literature by addressing (1) practice issues that
have been identified during implementation and application of certain GASB
Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial guarantees.

In June 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error
Corrections-an amendment of GASB Statement No. 62. The primary objective of this
Statement is to enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting
changes and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant,
consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or assessing
accountability.

In June 2022, GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences. The
objective of this Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement
users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated
absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement
guidance under a unified model and by amending certain previously required
disclosures.

In December 2023, GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures. The
objective of this Statement is to provide users of government financial statements with
essential information about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain
concentrations or constraints.
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PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

16.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (continued)

The new standards must be adopted as follows:

o GASB Statement No. 99 — Requirements in paragraphs 4-10 are effective July 1,
2023 for financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024

o GASB Statement No. 100 - Effective July 1, 2023 for financial statements for fiscal
year ending June 30, 2024.

o GASB Statement No. 101 - Effective July 1, 2024 for financial statements for fiscal
year ending June 30, 2025.

o GASB Statement No. 102 — Effective July 1, 2024 for financial statements for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2025.

The effect of these Statements has not yet been determined.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

RESTRICTED ASSETS

Restricted assets represent revenues set aside for liquidation of specific obligations as
described in Note IV. 11.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain items from 2022 have been reclassified to conform to the 2023 presentation.

PAYMENT TO THE CITY

In accordance with an agreement between the Finance Director and the Water
Department, the Finance Director may transfer to the City’s General Fund up to a limit
of $4,994,000 in any fiscal year in “excess interest earnings” as defined under the
General Ordinance. In Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022, excess interest earnings of $0 and
$575,643, respectively, were transferred from the Residual Fund to the General Fund
of the City.

TRANSFERS FOR LONG TERM CONTRACTS

In addition to the transfer of funds to the General Fund of the City, the Water Fund had
operating expenses of $42,549,251 and $30,231,249 and capital expenses of
$14,890,859 and $17,571,425 in Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022, respectively, payable to
the Philadelphia Municipal Authority (“PMA”) under the long-term contracts
described in Note IV. 10. A, B, and C.

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position and disclosures
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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II.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

LEGAL COMPLIANCE

1. BUDGETARY INFORMATION

The City’s budgetary process accounts for certain transactions on a basis other than U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). In accordance with the Philadelphia
Home Rule Charter, the City has formally established budgetary accounting control for
its operating and capital improvement funds.

One of the City’s operating funds is the Water Fund which is subject to an annual
operating budget adopted by the City Council. Included in the Water Fund is the Water
Residual Fund. These budgets appropriate funds for all City departments, boards, and
commissions by major class of expenditure within each department. Major classes are
defined as: personal services; purchase of services; materials and supplies; equipment;
contributions, indemnities and taxes; debt service; payments to other funds; and
advances and other miscellaneous payments. The appropriation amounts for each fund
are supported by revenue estimates and take into account the elimination of accumulated
deficits and the re-appropriation of accumulated surpluses to the extent necessary. All
transfers between major classes (except for materials and supplies and equipment, which
are appropriated together) must have council approval. Appropriations that are not
expended or encumbered at year end are lapsed. Comparisons of budget to actual
activity at the legal level of compliance are located in the Water Fund’s Budgetary
Comparison Schedule (Legally Enacted Basis) — Water Operating Fund, in the Required
Supplementary Information section.

During the year, classification adjustments and supplementary appropriations were
necessary for City funds. Therefore, budgeted appropriation amounts presented are as
originally passed and as amended by the City Council. As part of the amendment
process, budget estimates of City related revenues are adjusted and submitted to City
Council for review. Changes in revenue estimates are submitted in support of testimony
with regard to the appropriation adjustments and do not need City Council approval.
Revenue estimates are presented as originally passed and as amended.
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II1.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

1. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits

State statutes require banks to collateralize City deposits at amounts equal to or in excess
of the City’s balance. Such collateral is to be held by the Federal Reserve Bank or the
trust department of a commercial bank other than the pledging bank. At year end, the
Water Fund’s total bank balances were $336.4 million and $244.5 million for 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Investments

The City has established a comprehensive investment policy that covers the Water
Fund. All City investments must be in compliance with applicable provisions of the
City Code and City bond resolutions, as well as the City’s Investment Policy. The
City’s Investment Policy is meant to supplement the applicable provisions of the City
Code and City bond resolutions and is reviewed and adopted by the City’s Investment
Committee. The City’s Investment Committee consists of the Director of Finance, the
City Treasurer, and a representative from the Water Department, Aviation Division, and
the Philadelphia Gas Works.

As of June 30, 2023, the fair values of the Water Fund’s investments consist of the
following:

(Thousands of Dollars)
Classifications Fair Value Percent of Total
U.S. Government Securities $ 547,449 45.46%
U.S. Government Agency Securities 427,820 35.53%
Corporate Bonds 49,185 4.08%
Other Bonds and Investments 179,688 14.92%
$ 1,204,142 100.00%

As of June 30, 2022, the fair values of the Water Fund’s investments consist of the
following:

(Thousands of Dollars)
Classifications Fair Value Percent of Total
U.S. Government Securities $ 566,609 73.00%
U.S. Government Agency Securities 149,131 19.21%
Corporate Bonds 45,341 5.84%
Other Bonds and Investments 15,136 1.95%
$ 776,217 100.00%
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II1.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)

1. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

Water Fund Investments - Credit Risk

The City’s policy to limit credit risks is to limit the types of allowable investment, as
well as the maximum percent of the portfolio for each type of investment.

The Water Fund’s investment in U.S. Government Securities (45.6%) or U.S.
Government Agency obligations (35.5%) are allowable investments up to 100% of the
portfolio. The U.S. Government Agency obligations must be rated AAA by Standard
& Poor’s Corp. (S&P) or Aaa by Moody’s Investor Services. All U.S. Government
Securities meet the criteria.

The Water Fund’s investment in commercial paper (2.1%) is limited to 25% of the
portfolio and must be rated Al by S&P or P1 by Moody’s Investor’s Services, Inc.
(Moody’s) and the senior long-term debt of the issuer must not be rated lower than A
by S&P or A2 by Moody’s. All commercial paper investments meet the criteria.

The Water Fund’s investment in corporate bonds (4.1%) is limited to 25% of the
portfolio, and had an S&P rating of AAA to AA or Moody’s rating of Aa2 or better.
All corporate investments meet the criteria.

Short Term Investment Pools are rated AAA by S&P and Aaa by Moody’s Investor
Services. The Short Term Investment Pools’ amortized cost-based net asset value per
share/unit is the same as the value of the pool shares. Cash accounts are swept nightly
and idle cash invested in money market funds (short term investment pools).

The City limits its foreign currency risk by investing in certificates of deposit and
banker’s acceptances issued or endorsed by non-domestic banks that are denominated
in U.S. dollars, providing that the banking institution has assets of not less than $100
million and has a Thompson’s Bank Watch Service “Peer Group Rating” not lower
than II. At the end of the fiscal year, the City did not have any investments of that
nature.

To minimize custodial credit risk, the City’s policy is to select custodian banks that are
members of the Federal Reserve System to hold its investments. Delivery of the
applicable investment documents to the City’s custodian is required for all investments.
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JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)
1. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

As of June 30, 2023, the fixed income investments of the Water Fund had the following
ratings by Moody’s or S&P:

Credit Percent of
Quality Investment
Classifications Rating Type

U.S. Government Securities Aaa 100%
U.S. Government Agency
Securities Aaa 100%
Corporate Bonds Aaa 8%
Corporate Bonds Aa3 17%
Corporate Bonds Aa2 9%
Corporate Bonds Aal 3%
Corporate Bonds Al 63%
Other Bonds and Investments Aaa 1%
Other Bonds and Investments Aa3 17%
Other Bonds and Investments Aa2 33%
Other Bonds and Investments Aal 8%
Other Bonds and Investments A2 4%
Other Bonds and Investments Al 38%

As of June 30, 2022, the fixed income investments of the Water Fund had the following
ratings by Moody’s or S&P:

Credit Percent of
Quality Investment
Classifications Rating Type

U.S. Government Securities Aaa 100%
U.S. Government Agency
Securities Aaa 100%
Corporate Bonds Aaa 28%
Corporate Bonds Aa3 6%
Corporate Bonds Aa2 52%
Corporate Bonds Aal 4%
Corporate Bonds Al 10%
Other Bonds and Investments Aaa 13%
Other Bonds and Investments Aa2 87%
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)
1. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

Interest Rate Risk

The City’s investment portfolio is managed to accomplish preservation of principal,
maintenance of liquidity, and maximize the return on investments. To limit its exposure
to fair value losses from rising interest rates, the City’s investment policy limits fixed
income investments to maturities of no longer than two years, except in Sinking Fund
Reserve portfolios.

As of June 30, 2023, the maturities of the Water Fund’s fixed income investments were

as follows:
(Thousands of Dollars)
Less Than Between
1 Year 1-2 Years
U.S. Government Securities $ 414,560 $ 132,889
U.S. Government Agency Securities 361,151 66,669
Corporate Bonds 49,185 -
Foreign Investments 174,130 5,558
Total $ 999,026 $ 205,116

As of June 30, 2022, the maturities of the Water Fund’s fixed income investments were

as follows:
(Thousands of Dollars)
Less Than Between
1 Year 1-2 Years

U.S. Government Securities $ 149,605 $ 417,004
U.S. Government Agency Securities 132,129 17,002
Corporate Bonds 36,779 8,562
Other Bonds and Investments 10,658 4,478

Total $ 329,171  $ 447,046
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DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)

1. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

Fair Value Measurement

The City measures and records its investments using fair value measurement guidelines
established by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. These guidelines
recognize a three-tiered fair value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical
assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for assets or liabilities.

The Water Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30,
2023:

U.S. Government Securities of $547.4 million are valued using quoted prices for
identical securities traded in active markets (Level 1).

U.S. Agency Securities of $427.8 million are valued using quoted prices from
identical securities that are traded in active markets when sufficient activity exists
(Level 2).

U.S. Corporate Bonds of $49.2 million and foreign investments of $179.7 million
are valued using quoted prices for similar securities in active markets and via matrix
pricing models (Level 2).

Municipal Pension Fund

See Footnote IV. 1. E. PENSION PLANS Cash Deposits, Investments and Securities
Lending

28



II1.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)

2. SECURITIES LENDING

A. GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

The City Treasurer is prohibited from lending or selling City-owned securities with an
agreement to buy them back after a stated period of time (City of Philadelphia —
Investment Policy Section VI. Investment Restrictions).

B. PENSION TRUST FUNDS

The Board of Directors of the Municipal Pension Fund has authorized management of
the Fund to participate in securities lending transactions.

See Footnote IV. 1. E. PENSION PLANS Cash Deposits, Investments and Securities
Lending.

. AMOUNTS HELD BY FISCAL AGENT

Under Section 4.02 of the General Bond Ordinance, which authorizes the issuance of
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, the City pledges and assigns to the Fiscal
Agent, for the security and payment of all Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
issued under the General Ordinance, a lien on and security interest in all Project
Revenues and amounts on deposit in or standing to the credit of the: 1) Revenue Fund;
2) Sinking Fund et.al.; 3) Subordinated Bond Fund; 4) Rate Stabilization Fund; 5)
Residual Fund; and 6) Construction Fund and all of the accounts established therein.
The Fiscal Agent shall hold and apply the security interest so granted in trust for the
holders of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, excluding Subordinate Bonds,
without preference, priority, or distinction; provided however, that the pledge of
General Bond Ordinance may also be for the benefit of a credit facility and qualified
swap, or any other person who undertakes to provide moneys for the account of the
City for the payment of principal or redemption price and interest on any series of
Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds (other than subordinated bonds), on an equal
and ratable basis with Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, to the extent provided
by any Supplemental Ordinance or Determination. The purpose for the debt secured
by the pledge can be found in Note III. 6. to the financial statements.
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)
3. AMOUNTS HELD BY FISCAL AGENT (continued)

The following chart displays information related to the pledge as of June 30, 2023:

Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds

Pledged Revenue Required for Principal and Interest Payments $4,956.00
Term of Pledge 2055
Percentage of Revenue Pledged 100%
Current Year Pledged Revenue $809 million
Current Year Principal and Interest Paid $232.6 million
Current Year Transfers to Escrow $0

The following chart displays information related to the pledge as of June 30, 2022:

Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bonds

Pledged Revenue Required for Principal and Interest Payments $4,692.00
Term of Pledge 2055
Percentage of Revenue Pledged 100%
Current Year Pledged Revenue $753 million
Current Year Principal and Interest Paid $186.6 million
Current Year Transfers to Escrow $0

4. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Interfund receivable and payable balances among Water and City Funds at year-end
are the result of the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are
provided, the date the transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and the date
payments between funds are made. All balances are expected to be settled during the

subsequent year.

30
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)
4. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (continued)

Interfund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 2023 are as follows:

(Amounts in Thousands)
Interfund Receivables Due To:

Nonmajor Governmental

Special Pension Other
General Revenue Fund Funds Total
Interfund Payables Due From:
General $ - $ 3,124 $210,732 $ 699 $214,555
Water and Sewer Fund - 16,296 - - 16,296
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 39,833 - - - 39,833
Total $ 39,833 $19,420 $210,732 $ 699 $270,684
Interfund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 2022 are as follows:
(Amounts in Thousands)
Interfund Receivables Due To:
Special Pension Other
General Revenue Fund Funds Total
Interfund Payables Due From:
General $ - $ 1,106 $95,129 $ 699 $ 96,934
Water and Sewer Fund - 8,091 - - 8,091
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 17,247 - - - 17,247
Total $17,247 $ 9,197 $95,129 $ 699 $122,272
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)
5. CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY

Capital asset activity for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was as follows:

(Amounts in

thousands)
B—g‘i‘%‘g Additions Dispositions Ending Balance
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land $ 5,969 $ - $ - $ 5,969
Construction in Progress 653,757 290,843 (142,817) 801,783
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated $ 659,726 $ 290,843 $  (142,817) $ 807,752
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Buildings and related improvements 2,025,859 63,720 (10,525) 2,079,054
Intangible Assets 28,462 1,140 29,602
Equipment 116,962 9,951 (8,339) 118,574
Infrastructure 2,912,919 88,062 (22) 3,000,959
Right to Use Lease Assets - Equipment 186 (59) 127
Right to Use Lease Assets - Buildings 19,004 - 19,004
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated $ 5,103,392 $ 162,873 $  (18,945) $ 5,247,320
Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Buildings and related improvements (1,143,297) (69,206) 8,485 (1,204,018)
Intangible Assets (18,518) (1,825) (20,343)
Equipment (91,766) (10,377) 7,810 (94,333)
Infrastructure (1,498,322) (65,030) 1,508 (1,561,844)
Right to Use Lease Assets - Equipment (70) (62) 59 (73)
Right to Use Lease Assets - Buildings (1,795) (1,795) (3,590)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (2,753,768) (148,295) 17,862 (2,884,201)
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net 2,349,624 14,578 (1,083) 2,363,119
Total Capital Assets $ 3,009,350 $ 305,421 $  (143,900) $ 3,170,871
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III. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS (continued)
5. CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY (continued)

(Amounts in

thousands)
B_];i%g Additions Dispositions Ending Balance
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land $ 5,969 $ - $ - $ 5,969
Construction in Progress 620,765 218,313 (185,321) 653,757
Total Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated $ 626,734 $ 218,313 $ (185,321) $ 659,726
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Buildings and related improvements 1,980,161 68,567 (22,869) 2,025,859
Intangible Assets 26,587 1,875 28,462
Equipment 116,304 5,164 (4,506) 116,962
Infrastructure 2,796,827 118,181 (2,089) 2,912,919
Right to Use Lease Assets - Equipment - 187 - 187
Right to Use Lease Assets - Buildings - 19,005 - 19,005
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated $ 4,919,879 $ 212,979 $  (29,464) $ 5,103,394
Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Buildings and related improvements (1,093,100) (68,200) 16,208 (1,145,092)
Intangible Assets (16,832) (1,686) - (18,518)
Equipment (84,064) (10,705) 2,933 (91,836)
Infrastructure (1,435,583) (64,440) 1,701 (1,498,322)
Total Accumulated Depreciation (2,629,579) (145,031) 20,842 (2,753,768)
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net 2,290,300 67,948 (8,622) 2,349,626
Total Capital Assets $ 2,917,034 $ 286,261 $  (193,943) $ 3,009,352

Impaired Assets

Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 42 requires the
disclosure of the impairment of any major capital assets. Over the years, there have
been a number of the Water Fund’s assets that were either damaged or destroyed, were
abandoned, or became functionally obsolete.

No asset impairments occurred during fiscal years 2023 and 2022.
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6. DEBT PAYABLE

(1) Governmental Debt Payable

The Water Fund established a commercial paper (CP) program, which closed on July
28, 2021, in the amount of $250 million, and expanded to $400 million on July 28,
2022 to provide funding for capital projects. CP is a short-term financing tool with a
maximum maturity of 270 days. The Philadelphia Water Department’s CP Program will
primarily be used to provide up-front cash to take advantage of below market rate
federal and state loan programs that work on a reimbursement basis. The CP Program
will also enable projects to be financed on an as-needed basis; lower the Department's
cost of borrowing, as amounts drawn can be closely matched to capital cash flow
requirements; and limit negative arbitrage during the construction period for projects.
CP Notes will be “rolled over” until loan reimbursements are received from the federal
and state programs to pay off the outstanding commercial paper, or long-term bonds
are issued to refund the outstanding commercial paper. The Water fund drew down
$188.3 million during fiscal year 2023 and repaid $155.0 million. There were $36.3
million and $3.0 million notes outstanding at June 30, 2023 and 2022.

A summary of changes in long-term debt obligations as of June 30, 2023 follows:

(Thousands of
Dollars)
Beginning Amounts Due
Balance Additions Reductions g;iﬁ::ge Wi';l(lierzlirOne
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds $ 2435116 $ 352,824 $ (87,363) $ 2,700,577 $ 83,783
Unamortized Bond Premium 249,007 43,655 (16,831) 275,831 -
Commercial Paper 3,000 188,340 (155,000) 36,340 36,340
Lease Payable 17,596 - (1,595) 16,001 1,641
Net Pension Liability 387,418 4,090 - 391,508
Net OPEB Liability 162,826 - - 162,826
Other Liabilities:
Accrued Worker's Compensation 24,053 76 - 24,129
Accrued Legal Claims 4,042 4,052 - 8,094
Arbitrage - 2,410 - 2,410
Compensated Absences 24,328 2,581 (2,433) 24,476 2,433
Total $ 3,307,386 $ 598,028 $  (263,222) $ 3,642,192 $ 124,197
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A summary of changes in long-term debt obligations as of June 30, 2022 follows:

(Thousands of
Dollars)

Beginning Amounts Due

Balance Additions Reductions 5;211%} Witﬁ};g;rOne
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds $ 2,279,749 $ 244,409 $ (89,042) $ 2435116 $ 84,343
Unamortized Bond Premium 221,155 44,683 (16,831) 249,007 -
Commercial Paper - 4,000 (1,000) 3,000 3,000
Lease Payable * - 19,191 (1,595) 17,596 1,641
Net Pension Liability 333,004 54,354 - 387,418 -
Net OPEB Liability 157,204 5,622 - 162,826 -

Other Liabilities:

Accrued Worker's Compensation 23,761 292 - 24,053 -
Accrued Legal Claims 4,375 - (331) 4,044 -
Compensated Absences 24,152 2,591 (2,415) 24,328 2,433
Total $ 3,043,460 $ 375,142 $  (111,214) $ 3,307,388 $ 91,417

*With the implementation of GASB No. 87 in fiscal year 2022, it was required to restate
the beginning of year balance as of July 1, 2021 for the lease liability. The restatement
was for $198.2 million.

An analysis of debt service requirements to maturity on the long-term obligations follows:

(Millions of Dollars)
Principal Interest nglrlvlizbt
Year Ending June 30: Requirements Requirements Requirements

2024 § 83.8 $ 115.2 199.0

2025 88.4 111.5 199.9

2026 98.9 107.6 206.5

2027 104.6 103.6 208.2

2028 89.0 99.8 1338.3

2029 - 2033 411.6 452.8 864.4
2034 - 2038 416.2 365.6 781.8
2039 - 2043 503.9 261.7 765.6
2044 - 2048 461.9 159.9 621.8
2049 - 2053 383.0 60.8 443.8
2054 - 2058 59.3 2.5 61.8
$ 2,700.6 $ 1,841.0 $ 4,541.6
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6. DEBT PAYABLE (continued)

The Water Fund has issued debt payable from the revenues of the Fund. The total
Revenue Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2023 is $2.702 billion bearing interest per
annum from 1.000% to 5.000% and maturing in fiscal years 2023 to 2058.

Pertinent information regarding long-term debt obligations outstanding is presented

Purpose

Balance Outstanding at:

June 30, 2023

June 30, 2022

below:

Date Amount of
of Original Issue
2009 31,216,779
2009 49,157,776
2009 75,744,096
2010 28,500,000
2013 170,000,000
2014 123,170,000
2015 417,560,000
2016 192,680,000
2017 279,865,000
2017 174,110,000

Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority Loan of 2009 (B), issued for various capital
projects at rates of 1.193% - 2.107%.

Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority Loan of 2009 (C), issued for various capital
projects atrates of 1.193% - 2.107%.

Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority Loan of 2009 (D), issued for various
capital projects at rates of 1.193% - 2.107%.

Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority Loan of 2010 (B), issued for various capital
projects at rates of 1.193% - 2.107%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series of 2013A, issued to finance capital
improvements, finance a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account, and to pay the cost of issuance
related to the Bonds issue at rates of 3.000% to 5.125%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series of 2014A, issued to advance refund a
portion of the Series of 2005A Bonds, to finance capital improvements, finance a deposit to
the Debt Reserve Account, and to pay the cost of issuance related to the bond issue at rates
0f 3.000% to 5.000%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series of 2015A and 2015B, issued to finance
capital improvements, finance a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account, current refund a portion
of the Series of 2005 A Bonds, advance refund a portion of the Series of 2007A Bonds, and
pay the cost of issuance related to the Bonds issue at rates of 3.450% to 5.000%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 issued to finance (i) the
advance refunding of portions of the City’s outstanding (a) Water and Wastewater Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2007 A, (b) Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A,
and (c) Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2010C, and (ii) the costs of issuance
relating to the Bonds. The Bonds bear rates of 3.00% to 5.00%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A issued to finance (i) capital
improvements to the City's Water and Wastewater Systems, (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve
Account of the Sinking Fund, and (iii) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. The Bonds
bear interest rates of 5.00% to 5.25%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B issued to finance (i) the
refunding of portions of the City’s outstanding (a) Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series 2007b, (b) portions of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2010c,
and (c) portions of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, and (ii) the costs of
issuance relating to the Bonds. The Bonds bear rates of 2.000% to 5.000%.

$ 13,251,400 $

22,735,326

34,972,923

16,764,028

35,285,000

96,970,000

161,865,000

239,865,000

155,495,000

14,535,463

25,005,737

38,651,545

18,214,112

24,075,000

43,125,000

109,015,000

169,830,000

239,865,000

162,085,000
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6. DEBT PAYABLE (continued)

Date
of

Amount of
Original Issue

Purpose

Balance Outstanding at:

June 30, 2023

June 30, 2022

2018

2019

2019

2020

2020

2021

2021

2022

2022

$ 276,935,000

68,335,000

250,660,000

127,740,000

201,530,000
Series A +
95,025,000

Series B

80,821,155

368,720,000

231,930,000

5,794,470

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A issued to provide funds which, together
with other available funds of the City, will be used to finance (i) capital improvements to the
City’s Water and Wastewater Systems and (ii) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. The
Bonds bear an interest rate of 5.000%.

Waste and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019A issued to finance (i) the
refunding of all or a portion of the City's outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds,
Series 2010C and portions of Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2011B
and Series 2012 and (ii) for the costs of issuance relating to the bonds. The Bonds bear

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2019B issued to provide funds which, together
with other available funds of the City, will be used to finance (i) capital improvements to the
City's Water and Wastewater Systems, (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the
Sinking Fund, and (iii) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. The Bonds bear an interest
rate of 5.000%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 (Forward Delivery) issued for the
purpose of providing funds that will be used to (i) refund all or a portion of the City's
outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 201 1A, and (ii) pay or reimburse
the City for issuance costs of the Bonds. The Bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 4.500%
to 5.000% through January 1, 2041.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds Tax-Exempt, Series 2020A and Water and
Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2020B (Federally Taxable) issued to finance (i)
capital improvements to the City's Water and Wastewater Systems, including capitalized
interest, (ii) the current refunding of the City's outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds Variable Rate Series 1997B and Series 2010C, (iii) the advance refunding of all or a
portion of the City's outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series
2011B, Series 2012, and Series 2013A, (iv) the cost of issuance relating to the Tax-Exempt
Bonds. and (v) the cost of issuance related to the Taxable Bonds.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2021 A (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund
rehabilitation of the Torresdale Filtered Water Pump Station - the largest drinking water station
in the City of Philadelphia. The bonds bear an interest rate of 1.000% for years 1 through 5,

and 1.727% for years 6 through maturity.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable), Series 2021B issued
finance (i) the advance refunding of the City's outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue
Bonds, Series 2014A and 2015A, and (ii) the cost of issuance relating to the Bonds. The
Bonds bear an interest rates of 5.000% through 2046.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2021C issued to provide funds which, together
with other available funds of the City, will be used to finance (i) capital improvements to the
City's Water and Wastewater Systems, (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the
Sinking Fund, and (iii) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. The Bonds bear interest
rates ranging from 4.000% to 5.000%.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2021D (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund the
installation of Green Stormwater Infrastructure in the City's Lawncrest section. The bonds bear
an interest rate of 1.000% for years 1 through 5, and 1.727% for years 6 through maturity.

241,935,000

67,280,000

250,660,000

127,740,000

285,485,000

24,700,701

356,060,000

231,930,000

4,281,920

246,935,000

67,645,000

250,660,000

127,740,000

293,415,000

11,173,671

359,910,000

231,930,000

1,305,609
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Date
of

Amount of
Original Issue

Purpose

Balance Outstanding at:
June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

2022

294,810,000

7,133,220

15,750,708

13,839,667

3,978,371

808,307

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022C issued to provide funds to finance (i)
capital improvements to the System, (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking
Fund, and (iii) the costs of issuance relating to the Bonds. The bonds bear interest of 5.000%
per annum.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022A (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund
improvements at the Flat Rock Dam, which will improve the water quality that flows to the
Queen Lane Water Treatment Plant. The bonds bear an interest rate of 1.000% for years 1
through 5 and 1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022B (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund
drinking water line replacements. The bonds bear interest of 1.000% for years 1 through 5, and
1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022D (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund the
construction of a Pretreatment Facility at the Northeast Water Pollution Control Plant. The
bonds bear interest of 1.000% for years 1 through 5, and 1.727% for year 6 through maturity.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022E (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund
Green Stormwater Infrastructure projects. The bonds bear interest of 1.000% for years 1
through 5, and 1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022F (PENNVEST Loan) issued to fund Green
Stormwater Infrastructure projects. The bonds bear interest of 1.000% for years 1 through 5,
and 1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

291,790,000 -

7,133,220 -

15,750,708 -

13,839,667 -

3,978,371 -

808,307 -

$ 2,700,576,571 $ 2,435,116,137
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6. DEBT PAYABLE (continued)

(2) Pennvest Loans

In July 2010, the Water Department received approval from the Pennsylvania
Infrastructure Investment Authority (“PENNVEST”) for the Green Infrastructure
Project (Series 2010B) bringing the total financing from PENNVEST to $214.9
million. The loan is in final amortization as such no further drawdowns will occur.

During fiscal 2019, PENNVEST drawdowns totaled $1,500,000 which represented an
increase in bond issuances. The funding is through low interest loans evidenced by and
payables secured on a parity basis with water and wastewater revenue bonds which
bear interest of 1.193% during the construction period and for the first five years of
amortization (interest only payments are due during the construction period up to three
years) and 2.107% for the remaining fifteen years.

In November 2021, the City of Philadelphia - Water Department received approval
from the Pennsylvania State Infrastructure Financing Authority (“PENNVEST”) for
the Lawncrest Southwest - Stormwater Project (Series 2021D); bringing the total
financing from PENNVEST to $301.5 million. During fiscal year 2022, PENNVEST
draw-downs totaled $12.5 million. The funding is through low interest loans of 1.000%
to 1.193% during the construction period and for the first five years of amortization
(interest only payment is due during the construction period up to three years) and
1.727% to 2.107% for the remaining years.

In April 2022, the Water Department received approval from PENNVEST for issuance
of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022A to provide funds to finance
improvements at the Flat Rock Dam, which will improve the water quality that flows
to the Queen Lane Water Treatment Plant. The bonds bear an interest rate of 1.000%
for years 1 through 5 and 1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

In August 2022, the Water Department received approval from PENNVEST for
issuance of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022B to provide funds to
finance the costs of drinking water line replacements. The bonds bear interest of
1.000% for years 1 through 5, and 1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

In November 2022, the Water Department received approval from PENNVEST for
issuance of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022D (PENNVEST Loan)
to provide funds to finance the construction of a Pretreatment Facility at the Northeast
Water Pollution Control Plant. The bonds bear interest of 1.000% for years 1 through
5, and 1.727% for year 6 through maturity.
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In December 2022, the Water Department received approval from PENNVEST for
issuance of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2022E to provide funds to
finance the costs of improvements at GSI Packer Park and Series 2022F to provide
funds to finance the costs of GSI Saunders Park. Both Bond Series bear interest of
1.000% for years 1 through 5, and 1.743% for year 6 through maturity.

Individual loan information, by series of bonds, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 follows:

Current Balance

Maximum Loan ~ Amount Received Outstanding
Date Series Amount Through 6/30/23 6/30/23 Purpose
Oct2009 2009B $ 42,886,030 $ 31,216,779 $ 13,251,400 Water Plant Improvements
Oct 2009  2009C 57,268,193 49,157,776 22,735,326 Water Main Replacements
Mar 2010  2009D 84,759,263 75,744,096 34,972,923 Sewer Projects
Jul 2010  2010B 30,000,000 30,000,000 16,764,028 Green Infrastructure Project
Apr 2021 2021A 80,821,155 24,700,701 24,700,701 Torresdale Pump Station
Nov 2021 2021D 5,794,470 4,281,920 4,281,920 Lawncrest S.W. - Stormwater
Apr 2022  2022A 16,301,250 7,133,220 7,133,220 Flat Rock Dam
Aug2022 2022B 35,861,985 15,750,708 15,750,708 Linear Assets
Nov 2022 2022D 106,929,660 13,839,667 13,839,667 PTB
Dec 2022  2022E 8,221,985 3,978,371 3,978,371 Packer Park
Dec 2022 2022F 7,545,605 808,307 808,307 GSI Saunders Park
Totals $ 476,389,596 $ 256,611,545 $§ 158,216,571
Current Balance
Maximum Loan ~ Amount Received Outstanding
Date Series Amount Through 6/30/22 6/30/22 Purpose
Oct2009 2009B $ 42,886,030 $ 31,216,779 $§ 14,535,463 Water Plant Improvements
Oct2009 2009C 57,268,193 49,157,776 25,005,737 Water Main Replacements
Mar 2010  2009D 84,759,263 75,744,096 38,651,545 Sewer Projects
Jul2010  2010B 30,000,000 30,000,000 18,214,113 Green Infrastructure Project
Apr2021 2021A 80,821,155 11,173,671 11,173,671 Torresdale Pump Station
Nov2021 2021D 5,794,470 1,305,609 1,305,609 Lawncrest S.W. - Stormwater
Totals  $301,529,111 §$ 198,597,931 $ 108,886,138

(3) Defeased Debt

As of the current fiscal year-end, the Water Fund defeased certain bonds by placing the
proceeds of new bonds in irrevocable trusts to provide for all future debt service
payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for
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the defeased bonds are not included in the Water Fund’s financial statements. As of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, $315.8 million and $380.8 million, respectively, of bonds
outstanding are considered defeased.

(4) Arbitrage Liability

The City has Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds subject to federal arbitrage
requirements. Federal tax legislation requires that the accumulated net excess of
interest income on the proceeds of these issues over interest expense paid on the bonds
be paid to the federal government at the end of a five-year period. At June 30, 2023
and 2022 the Water Fund had a $2,410,336 and $0 liability, respectively.

. PENSION SERVICE AGREEMENT

In Fiscal 1999, the Philadelphia Authority for Industrial Development (PAID) issued
$1.3 billion in Pension Funding Bonds. These bonds were issued pursuant to the
provisions of the Pennsylvania Economic Development Financing Law and the
Municipal Pension Plan Funding Standard and Recovery Act (Act 205). The bonds are
special and limited obligations of PAID. The City entered into a Service Agreement
with PAID agreeing to make yearly payments equal to the debt service on the bonds.
PAID assigned its interest in the service agreement to the parties providing the
financing and in accordance with GASB No. 91, PAID treats this as conduit debt and
does not include conduit debt transactions in its financial statements. The fiscal year
2022 Pension Funding Bonds liability of $566.7 million is reflected in the City’s
financial statements as another Long-Term Obligation.

. LEASE COMMITMENTS AND LEASED ASSETS

The Water Fund enters into various operating leases to finance the purchase of
photocopier and computer equipment and for certain facilities. Leases are defined by
the Financial Accounting Standard Board in Statement 87, Leases. The assets acquired
through the leases are shown as equipment and building within the Capital Asset Note
(See Note II1. 5.).

A lease is defined as a contractual agreement that conveys control of the right to use
another entity’s nonfinancial asset, for a minimum contractual period of greater than
one year, in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. The Water Fund leases
nonfinancial assets such as buildings and equipment. The related obligations are
presented in the amounts equal to the present value of lease payments, payable during
the remaining lease term. As the lessee, a lease liability and associated lease asset are
recognized on the Statement of Fund Net Position.
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10.

LEASE COMMITMENTS AND LEASED ASSETS (continued)

As of June 30, 2023, the Water Fund had minimum principal and interest payment
requirements for its leasing activities, with a remaining term more than one year, as
follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest Total
2024 $ 1,690 $ 323 § 2,013
2025 1,645 288 1,933
2026 1,541 253 1,794
2027 1,578 221 1,799
2028 1,661 186 1,847
2029-2033 7,840 217 8,057

$§ 15,955 § 1,488 § 17,443

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan in accordance with Internal
Revenue Code Section 457. As required by the Code and Pennsylvania laws in effect
at June 30, 2014, the assets of the plan are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the
participants and their beneficiaries. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 32,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred
Compensation Plans, as amended by GASB Statement No. 84 and GASB Statement
No. 97, the City does not include the assets or activity of the plan in its financial
statements.

NET POSITION POLICIES

GASB requires the classification of net position into three components — net investment
in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. These classifications are defined as
follows:

Net Investment in Capital Assets — This component of net position consists of
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances
of bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings, net of unspent bond proceeds that
are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets or
related debt are included.
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11.

Restricted — This component of net position consists of restricted assets and
deferred outflows of resources reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. The restrictions would be imposed by external
parties including creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments and restrictions imposed by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

Unrestricted — This component of net position consists of the net amount of the
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources
that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the
restricted component of net position.

To the extent that both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is
the City’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources, as needed.

INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS

During the course of normal operations, the City has numerous transactions between
funds. These transactions are recorded as transfers and are reported as transfers in the
Water Fund. Some of the more significant transfers are the PICA administrative fund
collection of a portion of the wage tax paid by City residents and transfer funds that are
not needed for debt service and administrative costs to the general fund. Additionally,
the general fund and the PICA administrative fund make transfers to the debt service
funds for principal and interest payments.
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Transfers between fund types during the fiscal year 2023 were:

(Thousands of Dollars)
Transfers To:

Special Debt Capital
Transfers From: General Revenue Service Improvement Total
General Fund $ - $§ 56,653 $198,667 $ 208,402 $ 463,722
Grants Revenue 369,608 1,307 3,395 - 374,310
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 664,660 - 9,021 5,457 679,138
Permanent Funds - 131 - - 131
Capital Improvements 9,077 - - - 9,077
Water Fund - 57,440 - - 57,440
Total $1,043,345 $ 115,531 $211,083 $§ 213,859 $1,583,818
Transfers between fund types during the fiscal year 2022 were:
(Thousands of Dollars)
Transfers To:
Special Debt Capital
Transfers From: General Revenue Service Improvement Total
General Fund $ - $ 24,991 $196,562 $ 5,796 $ 227,349
Grants Revenue Fund 284,504 1,288 3,397 - 289,189
Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds 555,077 - 23,382 4,500 582,959
Permanent Funds - 123 - - 123
Capital Improvements - 12,000 - - 12,000
Water Fund 576 47,802 - - 48,378
Total $ 840,157 $ 86,204 $223,341 $ 10,296 $1,159,998
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OTHER INFORMATION

1. CITY PENSION PLANS

A. PENSION FUND DESCRIPTION

The City maintains two single employer defined benefit plans for its employees and
several of its component units. The two plans maintained by the City are the City Plan
and the Philadelphia Gas Works (the “PGW”) Plan. In addition to the City, the three
other quasi-governmental agencies that participate in the City Plan are the Philadelphia
Parking Authority (the “PPA”), the Philadelphia Municipal Authority (the “PMA”),
and the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporation (the “PHDC”).

Effective with Fiscal Year 2015, the City implemented GASB Statement No. 68,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions — An Amendment of GASB Statement
No. 27. This statement revised existing standards for measuring and reporting pension
liabilities for pension plans. GASB Statement No. 68 defines a single employer as the
primary government and its component units. All three quasi-governmental agencies
that participate in the City Plan were determined to be component units of the City.
Therefore, the City Plan meets the definition of a single employer plan.

The note disclosures and Required Supplementary Information required by GASB
Statement No. 68 are presented in separately issued audited financial statements of the
City Plan and PGW plan. Copies of these financial statements may be obtained by
contacting the Director of Finance of the City of Philadelphia. =~ The Water Fund’s
portion of the Plan information is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Plan Administration. The Philadelphia Board of Pensions (the “Pension Board”)
administers the City of Philadelphia Municipal Pension Fund (the “Fund”), a single
employer defined benefit pension plan with a small but increasing defined contribution
component, which provides pensions for all officers and employees of the City, as well
as those of three quasi-governmental agencies (per applicable enabling legislation and
contractual agreements). The Board was established by section 2-308 of the 1952
Philadelphia Home Rule Charter. Its actions in administering the Retirement System
are governed by Title 22 of the Philadelphia Code.

The Board consists of nine voting members — four elected by the active members within
the civil service, and the City’s Controller, Solicitor, Managing Director, Personnel
Director, and Director of Finance, who serves as the Chair.
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A. PENSION FUND DESCRIPTION (continued)

Plan Membership. At July 1,2022, the date of the most recent actuarial valuation,
pension plan membership consisted of the following:

Actives 26,723
Terminated Vested 832
Disabled 3,757
Retirees 22392
Beneficiaries 8,523
DROP 1,921

Total City Members 64,148
Annual Salaries $ 1,921,141,531
Average Salary per Active Member $ 71,891
Annual Retirement Allowances $ 828,187,638
Average Retirement Allowance $ 23,886

Contributions

Per Title 22 of the Philadelphia Code, members contribute to the Fund at various
rates based on bargaining unit, uniform/non-uniform/elected/exempt status, and
entry date into the Fund. Beginning July 1, 2022, members contributed at one of
the following rates:
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Employee Contribution Rates
For the Period of July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023

Municipal Elected (2) Police Fire
(0))
Plan 67 7.00% N/A 6.00% 6.00%
Plan 87 3.63% 12.01% 6.84% 6.84%
Plan 87 — 50% of Aggregate Normal Cost (3) 4.38% N/A N/A N/A
Plan 87 — Accelerated Vesting (4) 4.61% 13.46% N/A N/A
Plan 87 Prime (5) 4.63% 13.01% 7.84% 7.84%
Plan ‘10 2.44% N/A 7.34% 7.34%
Plan *10 — Accelerated Vesting 2.93% N/A N/A N/A
Plan *16 (6) 4.14% N/A N/A N/A
Plan 16 — Accelerated Vesting (7) 4.52% N/A N/A N/A
1-  For the Municipal Plan 67 members who participate in the Social Security System, employee contributions are
4.75% of compensation up to the social security wage base and 7% above it.
2-  The employee contribution rate is based upon the normal cost of $589,721 under Plan 87 Elected, normal cost
or $338,869 under Plan 87 Municipal and current annual payroll of $3,200,320.
3-  This represents 50% of Aggregate Normal Cost for all members in Plan Y and applies to Deputy Sheriffs hired
between 1/1/2012 and 6/20/2018.
4-  Member rates for Municipal Plan 87 (Y5) members eligible to vest in five years, and Elected Officials (L8) eligible
to be vested in eight years instead of 10.
5-  Plan 87 Prime refers to new hires who have the option to elect Plan 10 but have elected to stay in Plan 87. New
hires after 7/1/2017 in Police and Fire Plan 87 Prime pay 8.50% and are not reflected above.
6-  All Municipal groups (except elected officials) hired after January 1, 2019 participate in Plan 16.
7-  Member rate for Municipal Plan 16 members eligible to vest in 7 years instead of 10 years.

Employer contributions are made by the City throughout each fiscal year (which
ends June 30) and by three (3) quasi-governmental agencies on a quarterly basis.
These contributions, determined by an annual actuarial valuation report (“AVR”),
when combined with plan member contributions, are expected to finance the costs
of benefits earned by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued liability.

Within the AVR, three contribution amounts are determined based upon three

different sets of rules for determining the way the unfunded actuarial liability is
funded.
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A. PENSION FUND DESCRIPTION (continued)

The first method is defined in accordance with Act 205 and defines the Minimum
Municipal Obligation (“MMO”), which is the City’s minimum required
contribution under Pennsylvania state law.

The second method is in accordance with the City’s Funding Policy, which predates
the Act 205 rules and calls for contributions that are greater than the MMO until
the initial unfunded liability determined in 1984 is fully funded.

The third method which is currently followed by the City, the Revenue Recognition
Policy (“RRP”), calls for additional revenue to be contributed each in excess of the
MMO. There are three sources of additional revenue that will be received by the
Fund: 1) a portion of the sales tax according to the State Legislation, 2) additional
tiered member contributions based on salary level for all municipal employees, and
3) additional member contributions from the current and future uniform members
in Plan 87.

Under all funding methods, there are two components: the normal cost and the
amortized unfunded actuarial liability. The actuarial unfunded liability is the
amount of the unfunded actuarial liability that is paid each year based upon the
given or defined amortization periods. The amortization periods are the same under
the MMO and RRP, but different under the City’s Funding Policy.

City’s Funding Policy:

The initial July 1, 1985 unfunded actuarial liability (“UAL”) was amortized over
34 years ending June 30, 2019, with payments increasing at 3.3% per year, the
assumed payroll growth. All future amortization periods will follow the MMO
funding policy below. Other changes in the actuarial liability are amortized in
level-dollar payments as follows:

e Actuarial gains and losses — 20 years beginning July 1, 2009.
Prior gains and losses were amortized over 15 years.

e Assumptions changes — 15 years beginning July 1, 2010.
Prior to July 1, 2010, assumption changes were amortized
over 20 years.

e Plan changes for active members — 10 years.

e Plan changes for inactive members — 1 year.

e Plan changes mandated by the State — 20 years.

48



Iv.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

1. CITY PENSION PLANS (continued)
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In fiscal year 2023, the City and other employers’ contributions of $1.2 billion was
more than the actuarially determined employer contribution (ADEC) of $801.7
million. In the event that the City contributes less than the funding policy, an
experience loss will be created which will be amortized in accordance with funding
policy over a closed 20-year period.

The Schedule of Employer Contributions (based on the City’s Funding Policy) is
included as Required Supplementary Information and provides a 10-year
presentation of employer contributions.

Minimum Municipal Obligation (MMO):

For the purposes of the MMO under Act 205 reflecting the fresh start amortization
schedule, the July 1, 2009 UAL was “fresh started” to be amortized over 30 years
ending June 30, 2039. This is a level dollar amortization of the UAL.

In fiscal year 2023, the City and other employers’ contributions of $1.2 billion
exceeded the Minimum Municipal Obligation of $664.1 million.

The Schedule of Employer Contributions (based on the MMO Funding Policy) is
included as Required Supplementary Information and provides a 10-year
presentation of the employer contributions.

Revenue Recognition Policy (RRP)

Revenue Recognition Policy is similar to the MMO except that the assets used to
determine the unfunded liability do not include a portion of sales tax revenue, tiered
member contributions from the municipal employees, and additional uniform
members’ contributions. These sources of income are contributed over and above
the City’s contribution of the MMO and will be in addition to the MMO. Therefore,
under this funding method, the additional revenue amounts are separately tracked
and accumulated in a notional account which is then subtracted from the assets
before calculating the contribution amounts due under the Minimum Municipal
Obligation (MMO) methodology. The Fund accumulates these amounts in a
notional account and deducts them from the Actuarial Asset Value before the MMO
is determined. These amounts are accumulated at the Actuarial Asset Value return
rates to preserve the new funding methodology objective.
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Revenue Recognition Policy (RRP)

In fiscal year 2023, the City and other employers’ contributions of $1.2 billion
exceeded the contribution under the Revenue Recognition Policy of $726.5 million.

The Schedule of Employer Contributions (based on the RRP Funding Policy) is
included as Required Supplementary Information and provides a 10-year
presentation of the employer contributions.

. BENEFITS

The Fund provides retirement, disability, and death benefits according to the
provisions of Title 22 of the Philadelphia Code. These provisions prescribe
retirement benefit calculations, vesting thresholds, and minimum retirement ages
that vary based on bargaining unit, uniform/non-uniform status, and entry date into
the System.

Non-uniform employees may retire at either age 55 with up to 80% of average final
compensation (“AFC”) or age 60 with up to either 100% or 25% of AFC, depending
on entry date into the Fund. Uniformed employees may retire at either age 45 with
up to 100% of AFC or age 50 with up to either 100% or 35% of AFC, depending
on entry date into the Fund. Survivorship selections may result in an actuarial
reduction to the calculated benefit.

Members may qualify for service-connected disability benefits regardless of length
of service. Service-connected disability benefits are equal to 70% of a member’s
final rate of pay and are payable immediately without an actuarial reduction. These
applications require approval by the Board. Eligibility to apply for nonservice-
connected disability benefits varies by bargaining unit and uniform/nonuniform
status. Non-service-connected disability benefits are determined in the same
manner as retirement benefits, and are payable immediately.

Service-connected death benefits are payable to:

1. surviving spouse/life partner at 60% of final rate of pay plus up to 2 children
under age 18 at 10% each of final rate of pay (maximum payout: 80%);

2. if no surviving spouse/life partner, up to 3 children under age 18 at 25%
each of final rate of pay (maximum payout 75%); or

3. if no surviving spouse/life partner or children under age 18, up to 2
surviving parents at 15% each of final rate of pay (maximum payout 30%).
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Non-service-connected deaths are payable as a lump sum payment, unless the
deceased was either vested or had reached minimum retirement age for their plan,
in which case the beneficiary(ies) may instead select a lifetime monthly benefit,
payable immediately with an actuarial reduction.

A Pension Adjustment Fund (“PAF”) is funded with 50% of the excess earnings
that are between 1% and 6% above the actuarial assumed earnings rate. Each year
within sixty days of the end of the fiscal year, by majority vote of its members, the
Board of Directors of the Fund (the “Board”) shall consider whether sufficient
funds have accumulated in the PAF to support an enhanced benefit distribution
(which may include, but is not limited to, a lump sum bonus payment, monthly
pension payment increases, ad-hoc cost-of-living adjustments, continuous cost-of-
living adjustments, or some other form of increase in benefits as determined by the
Board) to retirees, their beneficiaries and their survivors. As of July 1, 2022, the
date of the most recent actuarial valuation, there was $4.3 million in the PAF and
the Board voted to make PAF distributions of $29.7 million during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2023.

The Fund includes a Deferred Retirement Option Plan (“DROP Plan”). The DROP
Plan allows a participant to declare that they will retire within 4 years. During the
four-year period, the City will make no further contributions for the participant.
The participants would continue to work and to receive their salary; however, any
increases would not be counted towards their pension benefit. During the four-year
period the individual participates in the DROP Plan, their pension benefits will be
paid into an escrow account in the participant's name. After the four-year period,
the participant would begin to receive their pension benefits and the amount that
has been accumulated in the escrow account in a lump sum payment. The balance
in the DROP Plan as of June 30, 2023 is $173.2 million.

. INVESTMENTS

The Pension Board’s Investment Policy Statement provides, in part:

The overall investment objectives and goals should be achieved by the use of a
diversified portfolio, with safety of principal a primary emphasis. The portfolio
policy should employ flexibility by prudent diversification into various asset
classes based upon the relative expected risk-reward relationship of the asset classes
and the expected correlation of their returns.
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C. INVESTMENTS (continued)

The Fund seeks an annual total rate of return of not less than 7.35% over a full
market cycle. It is anticipated that this return standard should enable the Fund to
meet its actuarially assumed earnings projection of 7.35% over a market cycle. The
investment return assumption was reduced by the Board from 7.40% to 7.35% from
the prior fiscal year. The Fund’s investment program will pursue its aforestated
total rate of return by a combination of income and appreciation, relying upon
neither exclusively in evaluating a prospective investment for the Fund.

All investments are made only upon recommendation of the Fund’s Investment
Staff and approval by a majority of the Pension Board. In order to document and
communicate the objectives, restrictions, and guidelines for the Fund’s investment
staff and investments, a continuously updated Investment Policy Statement is
maintained. The Investment Policy Statement is maintained (and re-affirmed) each
year at the January Board meeting.

The following was the Board’s approved asset allocation policy as of April 22,
2021:

(See the pension plan’s investment policy: http://www.phila.gov/pensions/PDF/ips.pdf)

Target

Asset Class Allocation
Broad Fixed Income 13.0%
High Yield 1.0%
Global Aggregate 1.0%
Emerging Market Debt 2.0%
U.S. Large Cap Core Equity 20.0%
U.S. Mid Cap Core Equity 4.0%
U.S. Small Cap Core Equity 4.0%
Global Low Volatility Equity 10.0%
International Developed Large Cap Equity 10.0%
International Small Cap Equity 3.0%
Emerging Market Equity 3.0%
Core Real Estate 10.0%
Public REITs 1.0%
Opportunistic Real Estate 1.0%
Global Infrastructure 5.0%
Private Equity 12.0%

Total 100%
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Money-Weighted Rate of Return

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the annual money-weighted return on pension
plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 8.52%. The money-
weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment
expense, adjusted for changing amounts actually invested.

. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

Financial statements of the Fund are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
Member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due. Employer contributions are recognized when due and the employer has made
a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds of
contributions are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of
the Fund.

Methods Used to Value Investments

The Fund’s investments are reported at fair value. Fair value is the amount that the
Fund can reasonably expect to receive for an investment in a current sale between
a willing buyer and a willing seller; that is, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
Fixed income securities and common and preferred stocks are generally valued
based on published market prices and quotations from national security exchanges
or security pricing services. Securities which are not traded on a national security
exchange are valued by the respective fund manager or other third parties based on
similar sales.

For alternative investments which include private equity, private debt, venture
capital, hedge funds, and equity real estate investments where no readily
ascertainable market value exists, management, in consultation with the general
partner and investment advisors, has determined the fair values for the individual
investments based upon the partnership’s most recent available financial
information. Some of the investment values provided in the report are estimates due
to a lag in reporting for alternative investments.

Futures contracts, foreign exchange contracts, and options are marked-to-market
daily with changes in market value recognized as part of net
appreciation/depreciation in the fair value of investments. Initial margin
requirements for such financial instruments are provided by investment securities
pledged as collateral or by cash.
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Investment expenses consist of investment manager fees and investment consultant
fees related to the traditional investments only, and not those fees related to the
alternative investments. Unsettled investment sales are reported as Accrued Interest
and Other Receivable, and unsettled investment purchases are included in Accrued
Expenses and Other Liabilities.

Dividend income is recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income is recorded
as earned on an accrual basis.

Income Taxes

The Fund qualifies under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and
is exempt from income taxation as allowed by Section 501(a) of the IRC.

Related Parties

The City's Department of Finance provides cash receipt and cash disbursement
services to the Fund. The City Solicitor's office provides legal services to the Fund.
Other administrative services are also provided by the City.

Use of Estimates in Preparing Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and changes
therein, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Fund invests in various investment securities. Investment securities are
exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market, and credit risks. Due to the
level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably
possible that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near
term and that such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the
Fund’s Statement of Fiduciary Net Position.

Contributions are calculated based on certain assumptions pertaining to interest
rates, inflation rates, and employee demographics, all of which are subject to
change. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation and assumption process, it
is at least reasonably possible that changes in these statements and assumptions in
the near term would be material to the financial statements.
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Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Fund are paid for by the Fund.

E. CASH DEPOSITS, INVESTMENTS AND SECURITIES LENDING

Legal Provisions

The Fund is authorized to invest in "prudent investments," including obligations of
the U.S. Treasury, agencies and instrumentalities of the United States, investment
grade corporate bonds, common stock, real estate, private market, etc. City
ordinances contain provisions which preclude the Fund from investing in
organizations that conduct business in certain countries and also impose limitations
on the amounts invested in certain types of securities.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for Deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the
Fund’s deposits may not be returned to them. The Fund’s cash deposits are held in
two banks as of June 30, 2023. Amounts are insured up to $250,000 per bank by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC). Deposits in excess of the FDIC
limit are collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution’s
trust department or agent in the Fund’s name. The Fund classifies Money Market
funds held by custodian institution, Northern Trust, as cash equivalents. The Fund
also classifies Treasury Bills and Commercial Paper as cash equivalents if the date
of maturity is three months or less from the acquisition date.

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that in the event of counter-party
failure, the Fund may not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Investment securities are
exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities held by the counterparty or
counterparty’s trust department, are uninsured and are not registered in the name of
the Fund. The Fund requires that all investments be clearly marked as to ownership,
and to the extent possible, be registered in the name of the Fund. Certain
investments may be held by the managers in the Fund’s name.
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(continued)
Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the largest risk faced by an investor in the fixed income market.
The price of a fixed income security generally moves in the opposite direction of the
change in interest rates. Securities with long maturities are highly sensitive to
interest rate changes.

Duration is a measure of the approximate sensitivity of a bond’s value to interest rate
changes. The higher the duration, the greater the changes in fair value when interest
rates change. The Fund measures interest rate risk using segmented time distribution,
which shows the total fair value of investments maturing during a given period.

The table below details the exposure to interest rate changes based upon maturity
dates of the fixed income securities at June 30, 2023:

More
Total Fair ~ Less Than Than 10

(Thousands of Dollars) Value 1 Year 1-5 Years 6-10 Years Years
Asset Backed Securities $ 22513 $ - $ 10,170 $ 4010 $ 8332
Commercial Mortgage Backed
Securities 17,799 - 656 2,577 14,566
Corporate Bonds 319,536 3,739 118,640 137,525 59,632
Fixed Income ETF 6,557 6,557 - - -
Government Agencies 25332 391 9,454 7,390 8,097
Government Bonds 374,031 8,427 132,389 134,174 99,041
Government Mortgage Back
Securities 244517 3,753 454 3,994 236,316
Gov't-issued Commercial
Mortgage Backed 4,651 - 4,542 42 67
Municipal Bonds 11412 - 1,249 2,729 7,434
Non-gov't backed CMOS 517 - - - 517
Sukuk 1,083 - 767 316 -
Total Interest Risk of Debt
Securities $1,027948 $§ 22868  $278321  $292,757  $434,002
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(continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of substantial loss if investments are
concentrated in one issuer. As of June 30, 2023, the Fund has no single issuer that
exceeds 5% of total investments. Investments issued or explicitly guaranteed by the
U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, and
other pooled investments are excluded.

Credit Risk

Credit Risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not
fulfill its obligation. The Fund is subject to credit risk on $716.2 million of directly
owned fixed income securities. The Fund’s directly owned rated debt investments
as of June 30, 2023 were rated by Standard & Poor’s, a nationally recognized
statistical rating agency and are presented below using Standard & Poor’s rating
scale:
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Credit Rating

(Thousands of Dollars)

Asset Backed Securities

Commercial M ortgage Backed
Securities

Corporate Bonds

Fixed Income ETF

Government Agencies

Government Bonds

Government Mortgage Backed
Securities

Gov't-issued Commercial
Mortgage Backed

Municipal Bonds

Non-Gov't Backed C.M.O.s

Sukuk

Total Interest Risk of Debt
Securities

U.S. Gov't Guaranteed*

_S1.027948

*U.S. government agency securities explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are categorized here.

Total Fair
Value AAA AA A BBB BB B CcCcC CC D NR
$ 22,136 $ 9986 $ 3,747 422 8 1,406 S - $ $ S $ $ 6,575
17,799 4,948 904 625 11,322
319,536 3,076 6,520 53,439 73,649 78,225 68,447 10,032 145 61 25,942
6,557 6,557
19,520 1,815 9,575 2,769 859 205 196 - - 4,101
96,325 2,975 97 1,344 28,769 13,813 3,229 1,708 1,027 43,363
216,775 216,012 763
4,584 4,584
11,412 6,406 2,235 70 655 2,046
517 104 12 11 390
1,083 767 316
$ 716244 § 22,904 $ 247,845 57,452 § 108,055 $ 93,552 § 71,892 § 11,936 $ 145 $ 1,088 $101,375
311,704
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Foreign Currency Risk

The Fund’s exposure to foreign currency risk derives from its position in foreign
currency-denominated cash and investments in fixed income, equities, and
derivatives. The foreign currency investment in equity securities is 40.51% of the
total investment in equities. The Fund’s exposure to foreign currency risk at June
30, 2023 follows (expressed in thousands):

Currency Cash Fixed Income Equities Derivatives
Euro (EUR) $ 1057 $ 5769 $§ 508493 § (1,217)
Japanese Yen (JPY) 854 - 331,331 (950)
British Pound Sterling (GBP) 337 17,295 238,797 479)
Canadian Dollar (CAD) 399 1,700 185,154 (1,473)
Swiss Franc (CHF) 1,338 - 121,098 -
Hong Kong Dollar (HKD) 348 - 114,029 (120)
Australian Dollar (AUD) 261 - 105,601 477
Danish Krone (DKK) 174 - 41,796 -
South Korean Won (KRW) - - 40,393 -
Swedish Krona (SEK) 302 - 38,510 -
Mexican Peso (MXN) 106 21,303 7411 -
Singapore Dollar (SGD) 221 - 25421 -
Brazilian Real (BRL) 8 9,017 13,610 -
South African Rand (ZAR) - 6,146 7,051 -
Norwegian Krone (NOK) 211 - 12,136 -
Indonesian Rupiah (IDR) 8 2,713 6,722 -
Thai Baht (THB) - 1,159 7,516 -
New Israeli Shekel (ILS) 154 - 8,163 -
Columbian Peso (CLP) 60 7,452 92 -
Malaysian Ringgit (MYR) 5 1,042 5,067 -
New Zealand Dollar (NZD) 186 1,009 4,409 -
Phillippine Peso 212 - 4,791 -
Polish Zloty 2 1,074 3,306
New Taiwan Dollar 2,461 - 573 -
All Others 659 5.563 4,724 -
$ 9363 § 81242 §$1.836194 §$ (4.716)

Total

$ 514,102

331,235
255,950
185,780
122,436
114257
105,385
41,970
40,393
38,812
28,820
25,642
22,635
13,197
12,347
9,443
8,675
8317
7,604
6,114
5,604
5,003
4382
3,034
10,946

$§ 1,922,083
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(continued)

Derivatives

The Fund may invest in derivatives as permitted by guidelines established by the
Pension Board. Pursuant to such authority, the Fund may invest in foreign currency
forward contracts, options, futures (S&P Fund) and swaps. No derivatives were
purchased with borrowed funds.

Derivatives are generally used to provide market exposure in the equity portfolio
and to hedge against foreign currency risk and changes in interest rates, improve
yield and adjust the duration of the Fund’s fixed income portfolio. These securities
are subject to changes in value due to changes in interest rates or currency
valuations. Credit risk for derivatives results from the same considerations as other
counterparty risk assumed by the Fund, which is the risk that the counterparty might
be unable to meet its obligations.

Derivative instruments such as swaps, options, futures, and forwards are often
complex financial arrangements used by governments to manage specific risks or
to make investments. By entering into these arrangements, governments receive
and make payments based on market prices without actually entering into the
related financial or commodity transactions. Derivative instruments associated with
changing financial and commodity prices result in changing cash flows and fair
values that can be used as effective risk management or investment tools.
Derivative instruments, however, also can expose governments to significant risks
and liabilities.

The Fund enters into a variety of financial contracts, which include options, futures,
forwards, and swap agreements to gain exposure to certain sectors of the equity and
fixed income markets; collateralized mortgage obligations (CMOs); other forward
contracts, and U.S. treasury strips. The contracts are used primarily to enhance
performance and reduce the volatility of the portfolio. The Fund is exposed to credit
risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties to financial instruments. The
Fund generally enters into transactions only with high quality institutions. Legal
risk is mitigated through selection of executing brokers and review of all
documentation. The Fund is exposed to market risk, the risk that future changes in
market conditions may make an instrument less valuable. Exposure to market risk
is managed in accordance with risk limits set by senior management, through
buying or selling instruments or entering into offsetting positions. The notional or
contractual amounts of derivatives indicate the extent of the Fund’s involvement in
the various types and uses of derivative financial instruments and do not measure
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the Fund’s exposure to credit or market risks and do not necessarily represent
amounts exchanged by the parties. The amounts exchanged are determined by
reference to the notional amounts and the other terms of the derivatives.

Derivative Instruments

The following table summarizes aggregate notional or contractual amounts for the
Fund’s derivative financial instruments at June 30, 2023 in addition to the fair value
and change in the fair value of derivatives.

List of Derivatives Aggregated by Investment Type

Classification Change in Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2023 Notional

Investment

Derivatives

Forwards Currency ~ Net Appreciation (Depreciation) in

Contracts Investments $ 1,514  Investments $ (2,703) $ 234,750

Net Appreciation (Depreciation) in

Futures Investments - Investments 21,097

Grand Totals $ 1,514 $ (2,703) § 255,847

A Derivatives Policy Statement identifies and allows common derivative
investments and strategies, which are consistent with the Investment Policy
Statement of the City of Philadelphia Municipal Fund. The guidelines identify
transaction-level and portfolio-level risk control procedures and documentation
requirements. Managers are required to measure and monitor exposure to
counterparty credit risk. All counterparties must have credit ratings available from
nationally recognized rating institutions such as Moody, Fitch, and S&P. The
details of other risks and financial instruments in which the Fund involves are
described below.

Credit risk:

The Fund is exposed to credit risk on hedging derivative instruments that are in
asset positions. To minimize its exposure to loss related to credit risk, it is the
Fund’s policy to require counterparty collateral posting provisions in its non-
exchange - traded hedging derivative instruments. These terms require full
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collateralization of the fair value of hedging derivative instruments in asset
positions (net of the effect of applicable netting arrangements) should the counter.
party’s credit rating fall below AA as issued by Fitch Ratings and Standard &
Poor’s or Aa as issued by Moody’s Investors Service. Collateral posted is to be in
the form of U.S. Treasury securities held by a third-party custodian. The City has
never failed to access collateral when required.

It is the Fund’s policy to enter into netting arrangements whenever it has entered
into more than one derivative instrument transaction with counterparty. Under the
terms of these arrangements, should one party become insolvent or otherwise
default on its obligations, close-out netting provisions permit the non-defaulting
party to accelerate and terminate all outstanding transactions and net the
transactions’ fair values so that a single sum will be owed by, or owed to, the non-
defaulting party.

Swap agreements:

These derivative instruments provide for periodic payments at predetermined future
dates between parties based on the change in value of underlying securities,
indexes, or interest rates. Under fixed interest rate type swap arrangements, the
Fund receives the fixed interest rate on certain equity or debt securities or indexes
in exchange for a fixed charge. There were no fixed interest rate Swaps during
2023. On its pay-variable, received-fixed interest rate swap, as LIBOR increases,
the Fund’s net payment on the swap increases. Alternatively, on its pay-fixed,
receive-variable interest rate swap, as LIBOR or the SIFMA swap index decreases,
the Fund’s net payment on the swap increases.

Futures contracts:

These derivative instruments are types of contracts in which the buyer agrees to
purchase, and the seller agrees to make delivery of a specific financial instrument
at a predetermined date and price. Gains and losses on futures contracts are settled
daily based on a notional (underlying) principal value and do not involve an actual
transfer of the specific instrument. Futures contracts are standardized and are traded
on exchanges. The exchange assumes the risk that the counterparty will not pay and
generally requires margin payments to minimize such risk. In addition, the Fund
enters into short sales, sales of securities it does not presently own, to neutralize the
market risk of certain equity positions. Initial margin requirements on futures
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contracts and collateral for short sales are provided by investment securities
pledged as collateral and by cash held by various brokers. Although the Fund has
the right to access individual pledged securities, it must maintain the amount
pledged by substituting other securities for those accessed. The realized gain from
Futures contracts was $666,852 and is included in the net change in fair value of
investments in the statement of changes in fiduciary net position.

Forward contracts:

The Fund is exposed to basis risk on its forward contracts because of a possible
mismatch between the price of the asset being hedged and the price at which the
forward contract is expected to settle. The realized loss from forward contracts was
($7,656,474) and is included in the net change in fair value of investments in the
statement of changes in fiduciary net position.

Termination risk:

The Fund or its counterparties may terminate a derivative instrument if the other
party fails to perform under the terms of the contract. In addition, the Fund is
exposed to termination risk on its receive-fixed interest rate swap. The Fund is
exposed to termination risk on its rate cap because the counterparty has the option
to terminate the contract if the SIFMA swap index exceeds 12%. If at the time of
termination, a hedging derivative instrument is in a liability position, the City would
be liable to the counterparty for a payment equal to the liability, subject to netting
arrangements.

Rollover risk:

The Fund is exposed to rollover risk on hedging derivative instruments that are
hedges of debt that mature or may be terminated prior to the maturity of the hedged
debt. When these hedging derivative instruments terminate, or in the case of a
termination option, if the counterparty exercises its option, the Fund will be re-
exposed to the risks being hedged by the hedging derivative instrument.

Fair Value Measurement

The accounting pronouncement on fair value measurements establishes a
framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value
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Fair Value Measurement (continued)

hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. The hierarchy gives highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The Municipal Pension Fund has the following recurring fair value measurement
as of June 30, 2023 (expressed in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets  Significant Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
June 30,2023  Assets (Level 1)  Inputs (Level 2)  Inputs (Level 3)

Investments by Fair Value Level

Asset Backed Securities $ 22513 $ - $ 22,513 $ -
Commercial Mortgage Backed 17,799 - 17,154 645
Corporate Bonds 319,536 - 319,381 155
Fixed Income ETF 6,557 6,557 - -
Government Agencies 25,332 - 25,332 -
Government Bonds 374,031 - 366,628 7,403
Government Mortgage Backed Securities 244,517 - 244517 -
Gov't-issues Commercial Mortgage Backed 4,651 - 4,651 -
Municipal Bonds 11,412 - 11,412 -
Non-Government Backed C.M.O.s 517 - 218 299
Sukuk 1,083 - 1,083 -
Equity 4,532,751 4,529,325 29 3,397
Total Investments by Fair Value Level 5,560,699 4,535,382 1,012,918 11,899

Investments Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV)

Fixed Income Hedge Funds 18,552
Private Market 1,039,404
Real Estate 498,303
Equity Long/Short Hedge Funds 26,074
Total Investments Measured at the NAV 1,582,333
Total Investments Measured at Fair Value $ 7,143,032

Investment Derivative Instruments

Forward Currency Contracts (Assets) $ 121§ - $ 1,121
Forward Currency Contracts (Liabilities) (3,824) - (3,824)
Total Investment Derivative Instruments $ (2,703) $ - $ (2,703)
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Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Plan has the ability to access.
Such inputs include quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data substantially for the full term of the assets
or liabilities.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and
that are financial instruments whose values are determined using pricing models,
discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments
for which the determination of fair value requires significant judgment or
estimation.

The valuation method for investments measured at the net asset value (NAV) per
share (or its equivalent) is presented on the following table (expressed in

thousands):
Unfunded Redemption Frequency Redemption Notice
Commitments (If Currently Eligible) Period
Investment Measured at the Net Asset Value (NAV)

Fixed Income Hedge Funds $ 18,552 $ - Quarterly 90-120 Days
Private Market 1,039,404 278,781 N/A N/A

Real Estate 498,303 23,097 N/A N/A

Equity Long/Short Hedge Funds 26,074 - Quarterly 90 Days' Notice

Total Investments Measured at the NAV $ 1,582,333

1. Fixed Income Hedge Funds: The primary goal of these Funds is to create alpha
by sourcing proprietary opportunities, avoiding capital loss, buying securities
below their intrinsic value, and selling securities above their intrinsic value. Firms
look for opportunities that are currently mispriced, based on fundamentals or
potentially an event that may improve the price of the holding. Investments are
generally driven by fundamental, value-oriented analysis, and specific credit
events. The fair values of the investments in this type have been determined using
the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the investments. Investments can be
redeemed with 90-120 days’ notice. These Funds have been terminated but because
of their structure and illiquid nature, the investments haven’t been fully liquidated
yet.
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2. Private market funds: The primary goal of these Funds is to generate returns for

investors that exceed private equity industry benchmarks and are commensurate
with asset class risk through the construction of a portfolio of opportunistic, highly
performing private equity investments. Investments in these funds may include
early-stage venture capital, later-stage growth financings, leveraged buyouts of
medium and large-sized companies, mezzanine investments, PIPES and
investments in companies that are being taken private. These investments can never
be redeemed with the funds. Instead, the nature of the investments in this type is
that distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of
the fund. If these investments were held, it is expected that the underlying assets of
the fund would be liquidated over five to 10 years. The fair values of the
investments in this type have been determined using recent observable transaction
information for similar investments and nonbinding bids received from potential
buyers of the investments. Once a buyer has been identified, the investee fund’s
management is required to approve of the buyer before the sale of the investments
can be completed.

. Real estate funds: This type includes funds that invest in U.S. and Non-U.S.

commercial and residential real estate. The fair values of the investments in this
type have been determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the Plan’s
ownership interest in partners’ capital. These investments can never be redeemed
with the funds. Distributions from each fund will be received as the underlying
investments of the funds are liquidated. However, the individual investments that
will be sold have not yet been determined. Because it is not probable that any
individual investment will be sold, the fair value of each individual investment has
been determined using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) of the Plan’s
ownership interest in partners’ capital. Once it has been determined which
investments will be sold and whether those investments will be sold individually or
in a group, the investments will be sold in an auction process. The investee fund’s
management is required to approve of the buyer before the sale of the investments
can be completed. It is expected that the underlying assets of the funds will be
liquidated over the next seven to 10 years.

. Equity long/short hedge funds: This Fund will typically hold 0-50 long positions

and 10-15 short positions in U.S. common stocks. Management can shift
investments from value to growth strategies, from small to large capitalization
stocks, and from a net long position to a net short position. The Fund mitigates
market risk by utilizing short positions. In periods of extreme volatility, the Fund
may hold a significant portion of its assets in cash. The fair values of the
investments in this type have been determined using the NAV per share of the
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Equity long/short hedge funds: (continued)
investments. Investments can be redeemed with 90 days’ notice.

Securities Lending Program

The Fund, pursuant to a Securities Lending Authorization Agreement, has authorized
Northern Trust to act as the Fund’s agent in lending the Fund’s securities to approved
borrowers. Northern Trust, as agent, enters into Securities Loan Agreements with
borrowers.

Securities are loaned versus collateral that may include cash; U.S. government and
select OECD government debt securities; and domestic and international equities from
major indices as defined specifically in the non- cash collateral guidelines within the
Securities Lending Authorization Agreement. U.S. securities are loaned versus
collateral valued at 102% of the market value of the securities plus any accrued interest.
Non-U.S. securities are loaned versus collateral valued at 105% of the market value of
the securities plus any accrued interest. Non-Cash collateral cannot be pledged or sold
unless the borrower defaults.

All securities loans can be terminated on demand by either the lender or the borrower,
although the average term of City of Philadelphia Board of Pensions and Retirement
loans was approximately 80 days as of June 30, 2023.

Cash open collateral is invested in a short-term investment pool, the NT Coll SL Core
S/T Inv Fund, which had an interest sensitivity of 24 days as of this statement date.

There were no violations of legal or contractual provisions, no borrower or lending
agent default losses known to the securities lending agent.

There are no dividends or coupon payments owing on the securities lent. Securities
lending earnings are credited to participating clients on approximately the fifteenth day
of the following month.

Indemnification deals with the situation in which a client's securities are not returned
due to the insolvency of a borrower and Northern Trust has failed to live up to its
contractual responsibilities relating to the lending of those securities. Northern Trust’s
responsibilities include performing appropriate borrower and collateral investment
credit analyses, demanding adequate types and levels of collateral, and complying with
applicable Department of Labor and Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council
regulations concerning securities lending.
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As of June 30, 2023, the fair value of securities on loan was $334.7 million. Associated
collateral totaling $341.2 million was comprised of cash which was invested in a
separately managed account based upon the investment guidelines established by the
Fund. As of June 30, 2023, the invested cash collateral was $341.2 million and is valued
at amortized cost.

F. INVESTMENT ADVISORS

The Fund utilizes investment advisors to manage long-term debt, real estate, private
market, and equity portfolios. To be eligible for consideration, investments must
meet criteria set forth in governing laws and regulations.

G. NET PENSION LIABILITY

The components of the net pension liability as of June 30, 2023 were as follows:

Total Pension Liability $ 12,650,397
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 7,808,089
Net Pension Liability $ 4,842,308

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of the Total Pension Liability is 61.7%.

The Water Fund’s portion of the net pension liability was $340,522,982 and
$387,417,903 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30,
2022 and was rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The June 30, 2021 actuarial
valuation used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods including
the measurement period:

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal

Investment Rate of Return: 7.35% compounded annually, net of
expenses

Salary Increases: Age Based Table
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The investment return assumption was changed from 7.40% from the prior year
valuation to 7.35% for the current year valuation.

To recognize the expense of the benefits payable under the Pension Adjustment
Fund, the actuarial liabilities have been increased by 0.54%. This estimate is based
on the statistical average expected value of the benefits.

Mortality Rates: For Municipal and Elected Officials, 109% and 126% for males
and females, respectively, of the Pub-2010(B) General Healthy Annuitant Below-
Median Table projected from base year of 2010 to 2025 using mortality
improvement scale MP-2021. For Uniform, 118% and 122%, for males and
females, respectively, of the Pub-2010(B) Safety Healthy Annuitant Below-
Medium Table projected from base year of 2010 to 2025 using mortality
improvement scale MP-2021.

The measurement date for the net pension liability (NPL) is June 30, 2023.
Measurements are based on the fair value of assets as of June 30, 2023 and the total
pension liability (TPL) as of the valuation date, July 1, 2022, updated to June 30,
2023. The roll-forward procedure included the addition of service cost and interest
cost offset by actual benefit payments and an adjustment to reflect changes in
assumptions.

There were no changes in benefits during the year. Effective July 1, 2023, there was
an assumption change, approved by the Board, reducing the expected long-term
return on assets from 7.40% to 7.35% which increased the TPL by approximately
$59 million.

During the measurement year, the collective NPL increased by approximately $592
million. The service cost and interest cost increased the collective NPL by
approximately $1.1 billion while contributions and investment gains offset by
administrative expenses decreased the collective NPL by approximately $1.8
billion. Additionally, there was an actuarial experience loss during the year of
approximately $74 million.

As defined under title section 22-311 of the Philadelphia Code, the Pension
Adjustment Fund (PAF) provides for additional benefit distributions to retirees and
beneficiaries through the use of excess earnings. The Fiduciary Net Position (FNP)
balances as of the beginning and end of the measurement period include the PAF
assets. PAF distributions are reflected when the additional benefits are actually
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paid out of the FNP balance. During the measurement year, PAF distributions
increased the collective NPL by approximately $30 million.

Long-term Expected Rate of Return

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined
using the software simulations developed by the Fund’s investment consultant,
Marquette Associates, in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates
of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation)
are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation.

Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included
in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2023 are summarized in
the following table:

Long-Term Expected Rate
Asset Class of Return
Broad Fixed Income 4.8%
High Yield 8.4%
Global Aggregate 3.8%
Emerging M arket Debt 7.5%
U.S. Large Cap Core Equity 6.9%
U.S. Mid Cap Core Equity 7.4%
U.S. Small Cap Core Equity 8.0%
Global Low Volatility Equity 6.5%
International Developed Large Cap Equity 7.6%
International Small Cap Equity 8.1%
Emerging M arket Equity 7.8%
Hedge Funds 5.3%
Core Real Estate 6.5%
Public REITs 5.8%
Opportunistic Real Estate 11.0%
Global Infrastructure 6.9%
Private Equity 11.1%
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The above table reflects the expected real rate of return for each major asset class.
The expected inflation rate is projected at 2.75% for the same time period.

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was
7.35%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and the
participating governmental entity contributions will be made at rates equal to the
difference between the actuarially determined contribution rates and the member
rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was applied to all periods on projected benefit payment to determine
the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the net pension liability: The following presents the net pension
liability of the Fund, calculated using the discount rate of 7.35%, as well as what
the Fund’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate
that is 1% lower or 1% higher than the current rate:

1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate Increase

(In thousands) 6.35% 7.35% 8.35%

Total Pension Liability $ 13,939,721 $ 12,650,397 $ 11,550,772
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 7,808,089 7,808,089 7,808,089
Collective Net Pension Liability $ 6,131,632 $ 4,842,308 $ 3,742,683
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage

of the Total Pension Liability 56.0% 61.7% 67.6%

H. GUARANTEE OF BENEFITS

Benefits under the Fund are guaranteed by statute. In the event that employee
contributions do not equal required benefits, the City’s General Fund must provide
any shortfall.

71



Iv.

PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

1. CITY PENSION PLANS (continued)
I. PARTICIPATION IN THE PENSION FUND

The trustees for the Fund are also members of the Fund and as such, are subject to
the provisions of the Fund as described in the notes to these financial statements.

J. REPORTING INFORMATION FOR PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS

Changes in Collective Net Pension Liability: The following table shows the
changes in total pension liability (TPL), the plan fiduciary net position (i.e., fair
value of the System assets) (FNP), and the net pension liability (NPL) during the
measurement period ended on June 30, 2023

Change in Collective Net Pension Liability
Increase (Decrease)

(Amounts in thousands of USD)
Plan Fiduciary Net

Total Pension Liability Position Net Pension Liability
@ (b) () - (b)
Balances at 6/30/22 $ 12,374,126 $ 6,939,834 $ 5,434,292
Changes for the year:
Service cost 191,726 - 191,726
Interest 900,854 - 900,854
Change of benefits
Differences between expected and actual experience 74,248 - 74,248
Changes of assumptions 59,179 - 59,179
Contributions - employer - 1,164,974 (1,164,974)
Contributions - member - 120,691 (120,691)
Net investment income - 570,957 (570,957)
Benefit payments (949,736) (949,736)
Administrative expense - (8,938) 8,938
PAF Distributions - (29,693) 29,693
Net changes 276,271 868,255 (591,984)
Balances at 6/30/23 $ 12,650,397 $ 7,808,089 $ 4,842,308

Employer’s Proportionate Shares: GASB 68 requires that the proportionate
share for each employer be determined based upon the “employer’s projected long-
term contribution effort to the pension as compared to the total long-term
contribution effort of all employers.” In addition to the City, three governmental
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Employer’s Proportionate Shares: (continued)

agencies currently participate in the system, PHDC, PPA, and PMA. The method
of allocation is based on the ratio of quasi-agency contributions in proportion to
total contributions by the plan.

Pension Amounts by Employer: The following schedule presents the pension
amounts for each participating employer: Philadelphia Parking Authority (PPA),
Philadelphia Municipal Authority (PMA), Philadelphia Housing Development
Corporation (PHDC), and the City of Philadelphia (City).

Schedule of Pension Amounts by Employer
(Amounts in thousands of USD)

For the year
ended PPA PMA PHDC City Total

Collective pension expenses $ 3,763 $ 294 $ 1,000 $ 582,940 $ 587,997
Change in proportion (18,540) 64 (356) 18,832
Contribution difference 6,853 149 849 (7,850)
Employer pension expense (7,924) 507 1,493 593,922 587,997
Net pension liability 6/30/22 41,301 2,174 7,608 5,383,212 5,434,295
Net pension liability 6/30/23 30,991 2,421 8,232 4,800,664 4,842,308
Change in net pension liability (10,310) 247 624 (582,548) (591,987)
Deferred outflows 6/30/22 16,462 931 2,204 514,827 534,424
Deferred outflows 6/30/23 14,542 1,153 3,662 435,356 454,713
Change in deferred outflows (1,920) 222 1,458 (79,471) (79,711)
Deferred inflows 6/30/22 (44,177) (879) (1,965) (165,243) (212,264)
Deferred inflows 6/30/23 (31,265) (596) (1,263) (114,437) (147,561)
Change in deferred inflows 12,912 283 702 50,806 64,703
Employer contributions 13,379 764 3,030 1,147,801 1,164,974
Employer pension expense (7,924) 507 1,493 593,922 587,998
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Reconciliation of Net Pension Liability

The following table reconciles the Collective Net Pension Liability to the amount
reported in the Statement of Net Position included in the City of Philadelphia’s
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report:

Reconciliation of Collective Net Pension Liability to the Primary Government Net Pension Liability

(Thousands of Dollars)

Proportionate Share Discretely Presented City and Blended

Municipal Pension Fund of NPL Component Units Component Units
City $ 4,800,664 $ - $ 4,800,664

PPA 30,991 30,991 -
PMA 2,421 - 2,421

PHDC (1) 8,232 8,232 -
Collective Net Pension Liability $ 4,842,308 $ 39,223 $ 4,803,085

State Pension Fund

PICA 1,541
City's Primary Government Net Pension Liability (Exhibit 1) $ 4,804,626

(1) PHDC does not appear in the Component Unit Financial Statements (XI Statement of Net Position and Exhibit XII
Statement of Activities) due to immateriality.

Deferred Outflows by Employer

The following table summarizes the deferred outflows allocated to each employer
for experience, assumption changes, investment returns, and contribution

differences:
Schedule of Employer's Deferred Outflows
(Amounts in Thousands USD)
PPA PMA PHDC CITY Total

Proportionate Shares 0.64% 0.05% 0.17% 99.14% 100.0%
Experience $ 392 $ 31 $ 104 $ 60,768 $ 61,295
Assumption changes 1,154 90 306 178,700 180,250
Investment return 1,068 83 284 165,506 166,941
Proportion change - 643 1,227 30,382 32,252
Contribution difference 11,928 306 1,741 - 13,975

$ 14,542 $ 1,153 $ 3,662 $ 435,356 $ 454,713

The Water Funds proportionate share of Deferred Outflows of Resources related to the pension
plan as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $32,127,438 and $38,524,935, respectively.
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1. CITY PENSION PLANS (continued
J. REPORTING INFORMATION FOR PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS

(continued)

Deferred Inflows by Employer

The following table summarizes the deferred inflows allocated to each employer
for experience, assumptions changes, investment return, and contribution

differences:
Schedule of Employer's Deferred Inflows
(Amounts in Thousands USD)
PPA PMA PHDC CITY Total

Proportionate Shares 0.64% 0.05% 0.17% 99.14% 100.0%
Experience $ 649 $ 51 $ 172 $ 100,462 $ 101,334
Assumption changes
Investment return
Proportion change 30,616 545 1,091 - 32,252
Contribution difference - - - 13,975 13,975

$ 31,265 $ 596 $ 1,263 $ 114,437 $ 147,561

The Water Fund’s proportionate share of Deferred Inflows of Resources related to
the pension plan as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $6,744,038 and $10,833,935,
respectively.

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows by Employer

The following table shows the net amounts of deferred outflows and inflows to be
recognized by each participating employer in each of the next five years and the
total thereafter:
Schedule of Employer's Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows
(Amounts in Thousands USD)

For Year Ending PPA PMA PHDC CITY Total

2024 $ (10,862) $ 109 $ 606 $ 78294  § 68,147
2025 (7,319) 50 350 4,651 (2,268)
2026 1,391 251 897 221,371 223,910
2027 69 147 546 16,602 17,364
2028 - - - - -

Thereafter - - - - -
Total $ (16,721) $ 557  § 2,399 $ 320918  $ 307,153
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OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

2. ACCUMULATED UNPAID SICK LEAVE

Employees are credited with varying amounts of sick leave according to type of
employee and/or length of service. Employees may accumulate unused sick leave to
predetermined balances. Non-uniformed employees (upon retirement only) and
uniformed employees (upon retirement or in case of death while on active duty) are
paid varying amounts ranging from 25% to 60% of unused sick time, not to exceed
predetermined amounts. Employees, who separate for any reason other than indicated
above, forfeit their entire sick leave.

. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)

Plan Description: The City of Philadelphia self-administers a single employer, defined
benefit plan that provides OPEB for all eligible retirees. No assets are accumulated in
a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.

Benefits Provided: The City of Philadelphia subsidizes health care for five years from
the time of coverage election for eligible retirees. Certain union represented employees
may defer their coverage until a later date, but the amount that the City pays for their
health care is limited to the amount that the City would have paid at the date of their
retirement. The City also provides lifetime insurance coverage for all eligible retirees.
Firefighters are entitled to $7,500 coverage and all other employees receive $6,000 in
coverage. The plan does not issue stand-alone financial statements, and the accounting
for the plan is reported within the financial statements of the City of Philadelphia.

Funding Policy: The City’s funding policy is to pay the net expected benefits for the
current retirees. To provide health care coverage, the City pays a negotiated monthly
premium for retirees covered by union contracts and is self-insured for non-union
employees. The City’s contributions are estimated to be about $101.1 million for fiscal
year ended June 30, 2023.

Employees covered by benefit terms: At July 1, 2022, the following employees were
covered by the benefit terms:

Medical Coverage
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving medical coverage 3,960
DROPS with medical coverage 1,917
Active employees 26,715
Total 32,592

Life Insurance Coverage

Inactive employees or beneficicaries currently receiving life insurance coverage 27,769
Active employees 26,715
Total 54,484
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3. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (continued)

Total OPEB Liability: The City’s total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2023 of
$1,784,500,000 was measured as of June 30, 2022 and was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of July 1, 2022.

The Water Fund’s proportionate share of the OPEB liability was $132.9 million and
$162.8 million as of June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively.

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs: The total OPEB liability in the July 1, 2022
actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other
inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified.

Measurement Dates: June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021; reporting dates June 30, 2023
and June 30, 2022.

Discount Rate:
e 3.54% per annum for the valuation measured as of June 30, 2022
o 2.16% per annum for the valuation measured as of June 30, 2021
Salary Increase Rate:

Municipal and

Elected

Age Officials Uniformed

<20 20.00% 18.00%
20 18.00% 16.50%
25 10.00% 10.00%
30 7.00% 6.25%
35 5.75% 4.50%
40 4.50% 4.00%
45 4.25% 3.75%
50 4.00% 3.50%
55 3.75% 3.25%
60 3.50% 3.00%
65+ 3.25% 2.75%

77



PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
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Per Person Cost Trends: The trend rates represent the annual rate of increase in
employer claim payments, employer premiums (including those paid to union-
sponsored plans), and retiree contributions.

To Year M edical Rx M edical/Rx Combined
Beginning July 1 Pre Medicare M edicare Eligible Pre Medicare M edicare Eligible Pre Medicare M edicare Eligible
2023 8.00% 8.00% 9.00% 9.00% 8.20% 7.80%
2024 7.75% 7.75% 8.75% 8.75% 7.95% 7.55%
2025 7.50% 7.50% 8.50% 8.50% 7.70% 7.30%
2026 7.00% 7.00% 8.25% 8.25% 7.25% 7.05%
2027 6.66% 6.66% 7.70% 7.70% 6.87% 6.70%
2028 6.32% 6.32% 7.16% 7.16% 6.49% 6.36%
2029 5.99% 5.99% 6.61% 6.61% 6.11% 6.01%
2030 5.65% 5.65% 6.06% 6.06% 5.73% 5.66%
2031 5.31% 5.31% 5.52% 5.52% 5.35% 5.32%
2032 4.97% 4.97% 4.97% 4.97% 4.97% 4.97%
2033 4.80% 4.80% 4.80% 4.80% 4.80% 4.80%
2034 4.57% 4.57% 4.57% 4.57% 4.57% 4.57%
2035 4.46% 4.46% 4.46% 4.46% 4.46% 4.46%
2036 4.39% 4.39% 4.39% 4.39% 4.39% 4.39%
2037 4.35% 4.35% 4.35% 4.35% 4.35% 4.35%
2038 4.32% 4.32% 4.32% 4.32% 4.32% 4.32%
2039 4.29% 4.29% 4.29% 4.29% 4.29% 4.29%
2040 4.28% 4.28% 4.28% 4.28% 4.28% 4.28%
2041 4.26% 4.26% 4.26% 4.26% 4.26% 4.26%
2042 4.20% 4.20% 4.20% 4.20% 4.20% 4.20%
2043 4.14% 4.14% 4.14% 4.14% 4.14% 4.14%
2044 4.14% 4.14% 4.14% 4.14% 4.14% 4.14%

Dental and vision costs are assumed to increase at 3% per year.
Retirees Share of Benefit Related Costs:

Percent of Retirees Electing Coverage

Participation rate for medical coverage
o 85% of future retirees from non-represented groups are assumed to elect post-
retirement medical covers.
e 100% of future retirees from represented groups (DC 33, DC 47, Fire, and Police)
are assumed to elect post-retirement medical coverage.
e 100% of DROP participants are assumed to continue in DROP for the remainder of
their DROP period (maximum four years) and then retire with a medical benefit.
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3. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (continued)

Retirees Share of Benefit Related Costs: (continued)

Participation rate for life insurance

e 95% of current and future retired firefighters who participated in the pension plan
are assumed to be covered by City-provided life insurance.87% of all other current
and future retired pension plan participants are assumed to be covered by City-
provided life insurance.

Mortality Rates:

Rates of Pre-retirement Mortality:

e Municipal and Elected members: 109% and 126%, for males and females,
respectively, follows Pub-2010(B) General Employee Below-Median Table
projected from base year of 2010 to 2025 using mortality improvement scale MP-
2021.

e Uniformed members: 118% and 122%, for males and females, respectively, of the
Pub-2010(B) Safety Employee Below-Median Table projected from base year of
2010 to 2025 using mortality improvement scale MP-2021.

Rates of Post-retirement Mortality:

Municipal and elected members: 109% and 126%, for males and females, respectively,
of the Pub-2010(B) General Healthy Annuitant Below-Median Table projected from
base year of 2010 to 2025 using mortality improvement scale MP-2021.

For uniformed members: 118% and 122%, for males and females, respectively, of the
Pub-2010(B) Safety Healthy Annuitant Below-Median Table projected from base year
of 2010 to 2025 using mortality improvement scale MP-2021.

Rates of Post-Disability Mortality:

Municipal and elected members: 108% and 105%, for males and females, respectively,
of the Pub-2010 General Disabled Annuitant Table projected from base year of 2010
to 2025 using mortality improvement scale MP-2021.

For uniformed members: 135% for males only of the Pub-2010 Safety Disabled

Annuitant Table projected from base year of 2010 to 2025 using mortality improvement
scale MP-2021.
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3. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (continued)

Change in the Total OPEB Liability:

The table below shows the changes in the Total OPEB Liability (TOL), the plan fiduciary
net position (i.e., the fair value of Plan assets) (FNP), and the Net OPEB Liability (NOL)
during the measurement period ended on June 30, 2022.

Change in Net OPEB Liability
Increase (Decrease)

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability
(a) (b) (a) - (b)
Balances at 6/30/21 $ 2,156,100,000 $ - $2,156,100,000
Changes for the year:
Service cost 118,100,000 118,100,000
Interest 47,900,000 47,900,000
Changes of benefits - -
Differences between expected/actual (65,000,000) (65,000,000)
Changes of Assumptions (354,300,000) (354,300,000)
Contributions - employer 118,300,000 (118,300,000)
Contributions - non employer - -
Contributions - member - -
Net investment income - -
Benefit payments (118,300,000)  (118,300,000) -
Administrative expense -
Net changes (371,600,000) - (371,600,000)
Balances at 6/30/22 $ 1,784,500,000 $ - $1,784,500,000

The employer contribution of $118.3 million is based on a blend of actual contributions
provided by the City of Philadelphia and estimated contributions based on the prior
report.

There was a gain of $65.0 million due to experience. This is due to the change in
population between the June 30, 2020 valuation and the June 30, 2022 valuation and
updated valuation data as of the valuation date.

There was a net gain in the liability of $354.3 million related to changes in the
assumptions. This net gain is primarily due to the experience study assumption
updates, the increase in the discount rate from 2.16% to 3.54%, and changes to the
medical claims and trend assumptions.

80



PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
3. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (continued)

Change in the Total OPEB Liability: (continued)

There were no benefit changes during the measurement period.

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate:

The following represents the total OPEB liability (TOL) of the City, using the discount
rate of 3.54%, as well as what the City’s total liability would be if it were calculated

using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.54%) or 1-percentage-point
higher (4.54%) than the current discount rate:

Changes in the discount rate affect the measurement of the TOL. Lower discount rates
produce a higher TOL and higher discount rates produce a lower TOL. The table below
shows the sensitivity of the NOL to the discount rate.

Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Discount Rate

1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate Increase
2.54% 3.54% 4.54%
Total OPEB Liability $ 1,931,800,000  $ 1,784,500,000  $ 1,651,000,000
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - - -
Net OPEB Liability $ 1,931,800,000  $ 1,784,500,000  $ 1,651,000,000
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of the Total OPEB Liability 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

A one percent decrease in the discount rate increases the TOL and NOL by
approximately 8%. A one percent increase in the discount rate decreases the TOL and
NOL by approximately 7%.

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates.
The following represents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s
total liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are
1% lower or 1% higher than the current discount rate.
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Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates.
(continued)

Changes in healthcare trends affect the measurement of the TOL. Lower healthcare
trends produce a lower TOL and higher healthcare trends produce a higher TOL. The
table below shows the sensitivity of the NOL to the healthcare trends.

Sensitivity of Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

1% Healthcare 1%
Decrease Trend Increase
Total OPEB Liability $ 1,625,700,000  $ 1,784,500,000  $ 1,970,600,000
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - - -
Net OPEB Liability $ 1,625,700,000  $ 1,784,500,000  $ 1,970,600,000
Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a
Percentage of the Total OPEB Liability 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

A 1% decrease in the healthcare trends decreases the TOL and NOL by approximately
9%. A 1% increase in the healthcare trend rate increases the TOL and NOL by
approximately 10%.

For the year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized OPEB expense of $105,700,000.
The table below shows the development of OPEB expense.

82



PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

IV. OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
3. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (continued)

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPEB.

Calculation of OPEB Expense

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023
Measurement Year Ending June 30, 2022
Change in Net OPEB Liability $ (371,600,000)
Change in Deferred Outflows 23,600,000
Change in Deferred Inflows 335,400,000
Non Employer Contributions -
Employer Contributions 118,300,000
OPEB Expense $ 105,700,000
OPEB Expense as % of Payroll 5.50%
Operating Expenses

Service cost $ 118,100,000

Employee contributions -
Administrative expenses -

Total $ 118,100,000
Financing Expenses

Interest cost $ 47,900,000

Expected return on assets -

Total $ 47,900,000
Changes

Benefit changes $ -

Recognition of assumption changes (60,500,000)

Recognition of liability gains and losses 200,000

Recognition of investment gains and losses -

Total $ (60,300,000)
OPEB Expense $ 105,700,000
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3. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) (continued)

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflow

of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Schedule of Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources as of

June 30, 2023 Projected Fiscal Year End
June 30, 2022 Measurement Date

Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Total

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
$ 37400,000 $ 56,900,000

86,600,000 390,800,000
(101,100,000) -
$ 22900,000 $ 447,700,000

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
Thereafter

Year ended June 30:

(60,200,000)
(45.200,000)
(45.200,000)
(45,300,000)
(35,100,000)

$ (92,700,000)

The subsequent contributions after the measurement date are reflected as a deferred
outflow of resources, but this is not subject to a deferred recognition period in the OPEB
expense. Instead, this will be fully recognized in the OPEB expense for the fiscal year

ending June 30, 2024.

At June 30, 2022, the Water Fund reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflow of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources
Changes in assumptions $ 9,199,720 $ 34,971,000
Contributions subsequent
to measurement date 7,601,400 -
Total $ 16,801,120 $ 34,971,000
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources will be recognized in
OPEB expense over a six-year period.

Required Supplementary Information: The schedule below shows the changes in
NOL and related ratios required by GASB.

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Measurement of Year Ending 6/30/2021 6/30/2020
Total OPEB Liability
Service cost (BOY) $ 110,900,000 § 93,900,000
Interest (includes interest on service cost) 47,500,000 69,200,000
Changes of benefit terms - -
Differences between expected and actual experience - 18,100,000
Changes of assumptions 8,300,000 75,300,000
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (97,800,000) (104,600,000)
Net change in total OPEB liability 68,900,000 151,900,000
Total OPEB liability - beginning 2,087,200,000 1,935,300,000
Total OPEB liability - ending 2,156,100,000 2,087,200,000

Plan Fiduciary Net Positions

Contributions - employer 97,800,000 96,900,000
Contributions - non-employer - -
Contributions - member - -
Net investment income - -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (97,800,000) (96,900,000)
Administrative expense - -
Net change in plan fiduciary net position - -

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning - -

Plan fiduciary net position - ending - -

Net OPEB liability - ending $ 2,156,100,000 $ 2,087,200,000
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 0.00% 0.00%
Covered payroll $ 1,921,200,000 $ 1,842,600,000
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 112.23% 113.27%

The Plan is not currently being pre-funded so there is no actuarially determined
contribution shown below. The actuarially determined contribution is a target or
recommended contribution to the OPEB plan for the reporting period, determined in
conformity with Actuarial Standards of Practice based on the most recent measurement
available when the contributions for the reporting period was adopted. The Actuarial
Required Contribution (ARC) determined under GASB 45 is not a recommended
contribution under Actuarial Standards of Practice, and thus is not shown below. If the
Plan decides to pre-fund the liabilities; the actuary will provide an appropriate
actuarially determined contribution.
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4. PENNSYLVANIA INTERGOVERNMENTAL COOPERATION AUTHORITY

(PICA)

PICA, a body corporate and politic, was organized in June 1991 and exists under and
by virtue of the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority Act for Cities
of the First Class (the Act). Pursuant to the Act, PICA was established to provide
financial assistance to cities of the first class. The City currently is the only city of the
first class in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. Under the Act, PICA is administered
by a governing Board consisting of five voting members and two ex officio non-voting
members. The Governor of Pennsylvania, the President Pro Tempore of the
Pennsylvania Senate, the Minority Leader of the Pennsylvania Senate, the Speaker of
the Pennsylvania House of Representatives, and the Minority Leader of the
Pennsylvania House of Representatives each appoints one voting member to the Board.

The Act provides that, upon PICA's approval of a request of the City to PICA for
financial assistance, PICA shall have certain financial and oversight functions. First,
PICA shall have the power to issue bonds and grant or lend the proceeds thereof to the
City. Second, PICA also shall have the power, in its oversight capacity, to exercise
certain advisory and review powers with respect to the City's financial affairs, including
the power to review and approve five-year financial plans prepared at least annually by
the City and to certify noncompliance by the City with its current five-year financial
plan (which certification would require the Secretary of the Budget of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to cause certain Commonwealth payments due to the
City to be withheld).

PICA bonds are payable from the proceeds of a PICA tax on the wages and income
earned by City residents. The City has reduced the amount of wage and earnings tax
that it levies on City residents by an amount equal to the PICA tax so that the total tax
remains the same. PICA returns to the City any portion of the tax not required to meet
their debt service and operating expenses. In Fiscal 2023, this transfer amounted to
$674.3 million.

. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The City is associated, through representation on the respective Board of Directors,
with several local governmental organizations and certain quasi-governmental
organizations created under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. These
organizations are separate legal entities having governmental character and sufficient
autonomy in the management of their own affairs to distinguish them as separate
independent governmental entities.
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5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

A list of such related party organizations and a description of significant transactions
with the City, where applicable, follows:

A. SOUTHEASTERN PENNSYLVANIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
(SEPTA)

During the year, the City provided an operating subsidy of $100.7 million to
SEPTA.

B. OTHER ORGANIZATIONS

The City provides varying levels of subsidy and other support payments which
totaled $130.15 million during the year to the following organizations:

e Philadelphia Health Management Corporation
e Philadelphia Industrial Development Corporation

e Fund for Philadelphia Incorporated

. RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.
The City (except for Aviation Fund operations, the Municipal Authority, and PICA) is
self-insured for fire damage, casualty losses, public liability, Workers’ Compensation
and Unemployment Compensation. The Aviation Fund is self-insured for Workers'
Compensation and Unemployment Compensation and insured through insurance
carriers for other coverage. The City is self-insured for medical benefits provided to
employees in the Fraternal Order of Police, its City-administered health plan, the
International Association of Fire Fighters, and District Council 47.

The City covers all claim settlements and judgments, except for those discussed above,
out of the resources of the fund associated with the claim. Claim expenditures and
liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred, and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include: an estimate of claims that
have been incurred but not reported; the effects of specific, incremental claims
adjustment expenditures, salvage, and subrogation; and unallocated claims adjustment
expenditures.
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6. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

At June 30, the amount of these liabilities was $410.1 million for the Primary
Government. This liability is the City’s best estimate based on available information.
Changes in the reported liability since June 30, 2021 resulted from the following:

(Millions of Dollars)

Current
Year
Claims &

Beginning Changes In Claim Ending

Liability Estimates Payments Liability

Fiscal 2021 $ 391.8 $ 3212 $ (222.6) $490.4
Fiscal 2022 490.4 194.1 (235.2) 449.3
Fiscal 2023 449.3 246.4 (285.6) 410.1

The City's Unemployment Compensation and Workers’ Compensation coverages are
provided through its General Fund. Unemployment Compensation and Workers’
Compensation coverages are funded by a pro rata charge to the various funds. Payments
for the year were $2.1 million for Unemployment Compensation claims and $95.3
million for Workers” Compensation claims.

The City’s estimated outstanding workers’ compensation liabilities are $301.6 million
discounted at 3.5%. On an undiscounted basis, these liabilities total $393.7 million.
These liabilities include provisions for indemnity, medical and allocated loss
adjustment expense (ALAE). Excluding the ALAE, the respective liabilities for
indemnity and medical payments relating to workers’ compensation total $268.5
million (discounted) and $353.1 million (undiscounted). The Water Fund’s accrued
liability for workers’ compensation was $24.1 million and $24.1 million at June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

During the last five (5) fiscal years, claim settlements have exceeded the level of
insurance coverage for operations using third party carriers. None of the City's insured
losses have been settled with the purchase of annuity contracts.

. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Encumbrance accounting is utilized to assure effective budgetary control and
accountability and to facilitate effective cash planning and control. At year end, the
open amount of open encumbrances for both the current and prior fiscal years totaled
$946,947,000.
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OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

Contingencies

Generally, claims against the City are payable out of the General Fund, except claims
against the City Water Department, City Aviation Division, or Component Units which
are paid out of their respective funds and only secondarily out of the General Fund
which is then reimbursed for the expenditure. Unless specifically noted otherwise, all
claims hereinafter discussed are payable out of the General Fund or the individual
Enterprise Fund. The Act of October 5, 1980, P.L. 693, No. 142, known as the
"Political Subdivision Tort Claims Act", established a $500,000 aggregate limitation
on damages arising from the same cause of action or transaction or occurrence or series
of causes of action, transactions, or occurrences with respect to governmental units in
the Commonwealth such as the City. The constitutionality of that aggregate limitation
has been upheld by the United States Supreme Court. There is no such limitation under
federal law.

Various claims have been asserted against the City and in some cases lawsuits have
been instituted. Many of these claims are reduced to judgment or otherwise settled in a
manner requiring payment by the Water Fund. The aggregate estimate of loss deemed
to be probable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 is approximately $1.3 million and $4.0
million, respectively. This amount has been included on the Statement of Fund Net
Position under Other Long-Term Liabilities.

The City’s aggregate estimate of loss deemed to be probable is approximately $386.0
million. Of this amount, $39.6 million is charged to the current operations of the
Enterprise Funds. The remaining $346.4 million pertaining to the General Fund is
reflected in the City’s Government Wide Statements

In addition to the above, there are certain lawsuits against the City for which an
additional loss is reasonably possible. These lawsuits relate to General Fund and
Enterprise Fund operations. The aggregate estimate of the amount of loss from these
lawsuits in which some amount of loss is reasonably possible is approximately $102.6
million from the General Fund, $2.0 million from the Water Fund and $4.4 million
from the Aviation Fund. This represents the best estimate of the entire current
inventory of such litigation and pre-suits as of February 16, 2024.
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OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In preparing the accompanying financial statements, the Water Fund has reviewed
events that occurred subsequent to June 30, 2023, through and including February 25,
2024. The following events are described below:

In September 2023, the City issued its $564.8 million City of Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series 2023B (the “Bonds”).
The Bonds were issued to provide funds to finance (i) capital improvements to the
System, (ii) a deposit to the Debt Reserve Account of the Sinking fund, (iii) the
refunding of a portion of the City’s outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue
Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable), Series 2019A and a portion of the City’s
outstanding Water and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable),
Series 2020B and (iv) the costs of issuance related to the Bonds.

In December 2023, the Water Department was awarded $24.6 million from three
Commonwealth Financing Authority grants under the American Rescue Plan Act’s
H20 PA Program. The grants will help to fund three infrastructure improvement
projects: Northeast Effluent Pump Station Infrastructure Project ($15 million), Queen
Lane Raw Water Pump Station Power Resilience Project ($5.5 million), and the 21%
Street Storm Sewer Improvement ($4.1 million).

Additionally, during Fiscal Year 2023, the Water Department received approval from
the Pennsylvania Infrastructure Investment Authority (PennVest) for loans as noted
below:

PennVest 2024 Linear Assets — Sewer: In April 2023 the PennVest Board approved a
loan totaling $44.9 million to fund sewer replacements. The award is expected to close
in July 2024.

PennVest 2024 Linear Assets — Water: In April 2023 the PennVest Board approved a
loan totaling $31.1 million to fund water main replacements. The award is expected to
close in July 2024.
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Balances of accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts consisted of the
following:

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023

Billed in Last Twelve Months $ 181,346,862
Billed in 15-Year Cycle Billing 3,906,174
Penalties on Receivables 12,525,158
Other Receivables 853,064
Subtotal 198,631,258
Bad Debt Written Off (3,906,174)
$ 194,725,084
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 20,314,132

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2022

Billed in Last Twelve Months $ 170,852,297
Billed in 15-Year Cycle Billing 7,406,520
Penalties on Receivables 11,654,218
Other Receivables 826,799
Subtotal 190,739,834
Bad Debt Written Off (7,406,520)
$ 183,333,314
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 20,476,432
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10. LONG TERM AGREEMENTS

The City has entered into several long term agreements with third parties through the
Philadelphia Municipal Authority as follows:

A. Contract for Biosolids Treatment with Philadelphia Biosolids Services, LL.C

In 2008, the City entered into a long-term contract and lease with the Philadelphia
Municipal Authority (the “PMA”) for the PMA to operate the Water Department’s
existing Biosolids Recycling Center (the “BRC”). The PMA and Philadelphia
Biosolids Services, LLC (“PBS”) entered into a Service Agreement (the “PBS
Service Contract”), pursuant to which PBS designed and built, and currently
operates, a facility at the BRC to heat dry and dispose of biosolids captured during
wastewater treatment. The PMA is required to make annual payments to PBS for
operating the BRC. Pursuant to a Service Agreement between the PMA and the
City (the “City Service Contract”), the City assumed all of PMA’s obligations under
the PBS Service Contract. The obligations under the City Service Contract
constitute operating expenses of the Water Department. In Fiscal Years 2023 and
2022, the City paid to PMA, from revenues generated by the Water Department,
$27,856,813 and $22,138,315, respectively. The City Service Contract contains
adjusters for the Consumer Price Index, Producer Price Index, and fluctuations in
fuel prices, among others; thus, expenditures under the City Service Contract may
vary over time. The Biosolids Service Contract expires on February 10, 2032 and
contains the possibility of a five-year renewal term at the option of the City.

B. Northeast Water Pollution Control Plant Digester Gas Cogeneration Facility

In 2011, the City entered into a long-term contract and lease with the PMA for the
PMA to arrange the construction, financing, maintenance, and sublease of a
digester gas cogeneration facility at the Northeast Water Pollution Control Plant.
The PMA entered into a lease (the “Lease”) with BAL Green Biogas I, LLC, a
special purpose entity of Bank of America (the “Lessor”), which requires the PMA
to make certain lease payments to the Lessor. Pursuant to a sublease dated
December 23, 2011 (the “Sublease”), the City assumed all of the PMA’s obligations
under the Lease. The obligations under this contract constitute operating expenses
of the Water Department. In Fiscal Year 2023 and Fiscal Year 2022, the City paid
to the Lessor from revenues generated from the Water Department, $7,026,971 and
$6,108,449, respectively. The Sublease expires on September 25, 2029, unless
renewed by PMA for an additional term of eighteen months.
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10. LONG TERM AGREEMENTS (continued)
C. Advanced Meter Reading Infrastructure

In February 2019, the City, through PMA, entered into a contract with Sensus USA
Inc. (“Sensus”) for the delivery of an advanced metering infrastructure (“AMI”)
system for water meter reading, including installation, operation, and maintenance
of the AMI system. The transition from Automatic Meter Reading (“AMR?”) to
Sensus was completed in September 2019, and Sensus has assumed the meter
reading services formerly provided by ITRON. The installation of the AMI system
and communications network was completed on February 12, 2020. The
deployment phase, during which AMR equipment will be replaced with AMI units,
is expected to take approximately 24 months. The deployment phase started in
December of 2020. The costs for installation and deployment are included in the
Water Capital Improvement Program. After the initial installation and deployment
phase, the AMI operations and maintenance term of the contract will begin for a
term of 20 years, with the option to renew for additional one-year terms for a period
of up to three years. In Fiscal Year 2022, the Water Department paid $1,668,268
for meter reading services and $17,571,425 for the purchase and installation of new
water meters. In Fiscal Year 2023, The Water Department paid $11,038,213 for
meter reading services (including over $9.0 million from the prior fiscal year due
to a delay in price negotiations) and $10,167,569 for the purchase and installation
of new water meters.

11. RESTRICTED ASSETS

Assets whose use is limited to a specific purpose have been classified as “restricted” in
the Statement of Fund Net Position.

Restricted assets as of June 30, 2023, comprised the following:

(Thousands of Dollars)

Cash and Accrued

Investments Interest
Capital Projects $ 710,104 $ 972
Rate Stabilization 133,180 806
Residual 16,510 14
Sinking Fund 15,468 1
Sinking Fund Reserve 202,339 822
Total $ 1,077,601 $ 2,615
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IV. OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
11. RESTRICTED ASSETS (continued)

Restricted assets as of June 30, 2022, comprised the following:

(Thousands of Dollars)

Cash and Accrued

Investments Interest
Capital Projects $ 532,343 $ 254
Rate Stabilization 138,989 679
Residual 16,102 6

Sinking Fund 4,821 -

Sinking Fund Reserve 189,723 292
Total $ 881,978 $ 1,231
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Water Operating Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023

(Legally Enacted Basis) (Thousands of Dollars)
Final Budget
Revenues Budgeted Amounts to Actual
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Locally Generated Non-Tax Revenue 778,676 $ 778,681 $ 775,864 $ (2,817)
Revenue from Other Governments 500 500 792 292
Revenue from Other Funds (1) 64,722 83,182 40,220 (42,962)
Total Revenues 843,898 $ 862,363 $ 816,876 $ (45,487)
Expenditures and Encumbrances
Personal Services 185,992 185,992 164,532 21,460
Pension Contributions 67,002 72,002 68,614 3,388
Other Employee Benefits 71,760 71,760 65,209 6,551
Sub-Total Employee Compensation 324,754 329,754 298,355 31,399
Purchase of Services 229,532 236,480 219,833 16,647
Materials and Supplies 62,089 68,634 66,258 2,376
Equipment 8,950 8,921 7,290 1,631
Contributions, Indemnities and Taxes 6,510 6,510 7,505 (995)
Debt Service 200,992 200,992 199,767 1,225
Payments to Other Funds 51,071 51,071 47,103 3,968
Advances and Other Miscellaneous Payments - - - -
Total Expenditures and Encumbrances 883,898 902,363 846,111 56,252
Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the Year (40,000) $ (40,000) $ (29,235) $ 10,765
Fund Balance Available, July 1, 2022 - - - -
Operations in Respect to Prior Fiscal Years
Commitments Cancelled - Net 40,000 40,000 29,235 $ (10,765)
Prior Period Adjustments - - - -
Adjusted Fund Balance, July 1, 2022 40,000 40,000 29,235 (10,765)
Fund Balance Available, June 30, 2023 - $ 0 $ - $ 0)

(1) Revenue from Other Funds include Services to General and Aviation Fund, Employee Benefits Fund, and Transfer from Rate Stabilization Fund.
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City of Philadelphia - Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios(Amounts in thousands USD)
FYE 2022 FYE 2021 EYE 2020 EYE 2019 FYE 2018 EYE 2017
Total OPEB y
Service Cost (BOY) 118,100 110,900 93,900 82,400 81,800 89,300
Interest (includes interest on service cost) 47,900 47,500 69,200 71,900 67,900 56,100
Changes of benefit terms - - - - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience (65.000) - 18,100 - 56,800 -
Changes of assumptions (354,300) 8,300 75,300 54,000 (147,800) (105,600)
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (118,300) (97.800) (104,600) (96.900) (96.400; (114,800)
Net change in total OPEB liability (371,600) 68,900 151,900 111,400 (37,700) (75,000)
Total OPEB liability - beginning 2,156,100 2,087,200 1,935,300 1,823,900 1,861,600 1,936,600
Total OPEB liability - ending 1,784,500 2,156,100 2,087,200 1,935,300 1,823,900 1,861,600
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer 118,300 97,800 104,600 96,900 96,400 114,800
Contributions - non-employer - - - - - -
Contributions - member - - - - - -
Net investment income - - - - - -
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (118,300) (97,800) (104,600) (96,900) (96,400) (114,800)
Administrative expense - - - - - -
Net change in plan fiduciary net position - - - - - -
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning - - - - - -
Plan fiduciary net position - ending - - - - - -
Net OPEB liability - ending 1,784,500 2,156,100 2,087,200 1,935,300 1,823,000 1,861,600
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
liability
Covered-employee payroll 1,921,100 1,886,500 1,921,200 1,842,600 1,805,400 1,744,700
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 92.89% 114.29% 108.64% 105.03% 101.02% 106.70%
Note: There are no assels accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of GASB codification P22.101 or P52.101 o pay related benefits for the OPEB plan. The schedules of changes in net OPEB
liability and related ratios are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
of Philadelphia - Municipal Pension Plan - Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Amounts in thousands USD)
FYE 2023 FYE 2022 EYE 2021 EYE 2020 EYE 2019 EYE 2018 EYE 2017 FYE 2016 FYE 2015
Total Pension Liability
Service Cost (MOY) 191,726 186,294 187,598 190,457 183,756 164,137 157,607 148,370 143,556
Interest (includes interest on service cost) 900,854 879,400 884,099 871,381 857,349 843,172 823,959 802,450 791,209
Changes of benefit terms - - - - 378 4,085 - - -
Differences between expected and actual experience 74,248 (200,733) (2417) 9,483 11,008 28,937 103,879 151,919 34,910
Changes of assumptions. 59,179 220,153 57,076 - 53,489 106,022 51,441 85,148 48,146
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (949.736) (929.291) (891,445, (862,198) (842.469) (828,266, (821,495) (889,343, (881,465,
Net change in total pension liability 276,271 155,823 234,911 209,123 263,601 318,067 315,391 298,544 136,446
Total Pension liability - beginning 12,374,126 12,218,303 11,983,392 11,774,269 11,510,668 11,192,601 10,877,210 10,578,666 10,442,220
Total Pension liability - ending 12,650,397 12,374,126 12,218,303 11,983,392 11,774,269 11,510,668 11,192,601 10,877,210 10,578,666
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer 1,164,974 859,786 788,483 768,720 797,806 781,984 706,237 660,247 577,195
Contributions - member 120,691 110,447 111,273 111,825 99,180 83,289 73,607 67,055 58,658
Net investment income: 570,957 (479,763) 1,643,490 87,151 303,736 440,327 566,625 (145,682) 13,838
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (949,736) (929,291) (891,445) (862,198) (842,469) (828,266) (821,495) (889,343) (881,666)
Administrative expense (8.938) (8.933) (9,709) (10,991) (11,155) (10,123) (8.874) (8,554) (10,478)
PAF Distributions (20,693) (37.395) - - - - - - -
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 868,255 (485,149) 1,642,092 94,507 347,098 467,211 516,100 (316,277) (242,453)
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 6,939,834 7,424,983 5,782,891 5,688,384 5,341,286 4,874,075 4,357,975 4,674,252 4,916,705
Plan fiduciary net position - ending 7,808,089 6,939,834 7,424,983 5,782,891 5,688,384 5,341,286 4,874,075 4,357,975 4,674,252
Net pension liability - ending 4,842,308 5,434,202 4,793,320 6,200,501 6,085,885 6,169,382 6,318,526 6,519,235 5,904,414
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 61.72% 56.08% 60.77% 48.26% 48.31% 46.40% 43.55% 40.07% 44.19%
liability
Covered payroll 2,025,114 1,921,142 1,886,512 1,921,217 1,842,555 1,805,400 1,744,728 1,676,549 1,597,849
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 239.11% 282.87% 254.08% 322.74% 330.30% 341.72% 362.15% 388.85% 369.52%

Note: The schedules of changes in net Pension liability and related ratios are intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.
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ity of Philadelphia Schedule of Collective Contributions (Based on Minimum Municipal Obligations
Last 10 Fiscal Years
Amounts in Thousands
FYE2023 FYE 2022 FYE 2021 FYE 2020 FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2017 FYE 2016 FYE 2015 FYE 2014
Actuarially determined Contribution 664,067 678,192 673,884 675,751 668,281 661,257 629,620 594,975 556,030 523,368
Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contribution 1,164,974 859,787 788,483 768,721 797,806 781,984 706,237 660,247 577,195 563,179
Contribution Deficiency/(Excess) (500,907) (181,595) (114,599) (92,970) (129,525) (120,727) (76,617) (65,272) (21,165) (29,811)
Covered Payroll 2,025,114 1,921,142 1,886,512 1,921,217 1,842,555 1,805,400 1,744,728 1,676,549 1,697,849 1,495,421
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 57.53% 44.75% 41.80% 40.01% 43.30% 43.31% 40.48% 39.38% 36.12% 36.99%
City of Philadelphia Schedule of Collective Contributions (Based on Revenue Recognition Policy)
Last 10 Fiscal Years
Amounts in Thousands
FY2023 FYE 2022 FYE 2021 FYE 2020 FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2017 FYE 2016 FYE 2015 FYE 2014
Actuarially determined Contribution 726,501 727,430 712,978 704,589 680,808 662,139 629,620 594,975 556,030 523,368
Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contribution 1,164,974 859,787 788,483 768,721 797,806 781,984 706,237 660,247 577,195 553,179
Contribution Deficiency/(Excess) (438,473) (132,357) (75,505) (64,132) (116,998) (119,845) (76,617) (65,272) (21,165) (29,811)
Covered Payroll 2,025,114 1,921,142 1,886,512 1,921,217 1,842,555 1,805,400 1,744,728 1,676,549 1,597,849 1,495,421
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 57.53% 44.75% 41.80% 40.01% 43.30% 43.31% 40.48% 39.38% 36.12% 36.99%
City of Philadelphi: hedule of Collective Contributi (Based on Funding Policy)
Last 10 Fiscal Years
Amounts in Thousands
FY2023 FYE 2022 FYE 2021 FYE 2020 FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2017 FYE 2016 FYE 2015 FYE 2014
Actuarially determined Contribution 801,674 826,407 856,456 839,691 874,706 871,802 881,356 846,283 798,043 823,885
Contributions in Relation to the Actuarially Determined Contribution 1,164,974 859,787 788,483 768,721 797,806 781,984 706,237 660,247 577,195 563,179
Contribution Deficiency/(Excess) (363,300) (33,380) 67,973 70,970 76,900 89,818 175,119 186,036 220,847 270,706
Covered Payroll 2,025,114 1,921,142 1,886,512 1,921,217 1,842,555 1,805,400 1,744,728 1,676,549 1,597,849 1,495,421
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered Payroll 57.53% 44.75% 41.80% 40.01% 43.30% 43.31% 40.48% 39.38% 36.12% 36.99%
Notes to Schedule
Valuation Date July 1, 2021
Timing Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated based on the actuarial valuation two years prior to the beginning of the plan year.
Key Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:
Actuarial cost method Entry Age
Asset valuation method Ten-year smoothed market
Amortization method Gain/Losses are amortized over closed 20-year periods, assumption changes over 15years, benefit changes for actives over 10 year, and benefit changes for inactive

members over 1 year, and plan changes mandated by state over 20 years.

Under the City's Funding policy, the initial July 1, 1985 unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) is amortized over 34 years ending June 30, 2019. Future Amortization periods

follow the MMO funding policy.

Under the MMO Funding Policy, the July 1, 2009 unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) was "fresh started", to be amortized over 30 years, ending June 30, 2039. This is

level dollar amortization of the UAL.

Under the RRP Funding Policy, sales tax revenue and additional member contributions are dedicated to fund the unfunded liability instead of reducing the City's obligation

such that this revenue is in addition to what the MMO would have been without these additional assets.

Discount rate 7.45%

Amortization growth rate 3.30%

Salary increases Age based salary scale separated by employee classification

Mortality RP-2014 Mortality Tables projected from base year of 2006 to 2021 using mortality improvement scale MP-2017

A complete description of the methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates for the year ending June 30, 2023 can be found in the July 1, 2021 actuarial
valuation report.
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT

BONDED DEBT

WATER AND WASTEWATER REVENUE BONDS

AS OF JUNE 30, 2023

Principal Interest Total Debt
Year End Requirements Requirements Service
06/30/2024 $ 83,765,192 $ 124,523,144 $ 208,288,336
06/30/2025 93,103,342 137,138,560 230,241,902
06/30/2026 103,934,892 132,829,267 236,764,159
06/30/2027 110,111,311 128,279,270 238,390,581
06/30/2028 97,545,859 124,067,788 221,613,647
06/30/2029 92,506,531 120,334,669 212,841,200
06/30/2030 94,681,138 116,444,564 211,125,702
06/30/2031 95,119,732 112,336,470 207,456,202
06/30/2032 95,223,780 108,055,465 203,279,245
06/30/2033 86,489,030 103,937,475 190,426,505
06/30/2034 90,493,453 99,928,399 190,421,852
06/30/2035 94,431,084 95,858,091 190,289,175
06/30/2036 95,675,888 91,713,413 187,389,301
06/30/2037 98,574,468 87,484,995 186,059,463
06/30/2038 103,413,287 83,142,475 186,555,762
06/30/2039 107,758,809 78,563,510 186,322,319
06/30/2040 112,220,000 73,789,331 186,009,331
06/30/2041 117,220,000 68,797,213 186,017,213
06/30/2042 120,005,000 63,713,767 183,718,767
06/30/2043 124,865,000 58,485,173 183,350,173
06/30/2044 124,630,000 53,062,212 177,692,212
06/30/2045 119,120,000 47,740,205 166,860,205
06/30/2046 124,420,000 42,380,221 166,800,221
06/30/2047 95,990,000 37,382,894 133,372,894
06/30/2048 96,845,000 32,724,100 129,569,100
06/30/2049 101,580,000 27,996,319 129,576,319
06/30/2050 106,670,000 22,901,256 129,571,256
06/30/2051 112,150,000 17,424,756 129,574,756
06/30/2052 106,120,000 11,957,825 118,077,825
06/30/2053 82,850,000 6,755,375 89,605,375
06/30/2054 67,690,000 2,833,975 70,523,975
06/30/2055 21,350,000 533,750 21,883,750
Total 3,176,552,796 2,313,115,927 5,489,668,723

'(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.

(2) Total Debt Service reflects the impact of a Capitalized Interest account for FY2023.
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF RATE COVENANT COMPLIANCE FOR FISCAL YEARS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021 (Legally Enacted Basis)
(Thousands of Dollars)

LINE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
NO. 2023 2022 2021
1. Total Revenue 809,126 753,581 $ 730,451
2a. Operating Expense (603,817) (547,229) (545,089)
2b. Liquidated Encumbrances (commitments cancelled) 29,236 36,805 23,993
2c. Net Operating Expenses (574,581) (510,424) (521,096)
3. Transfer (To) From Rate Stabilization Fund 7,750 (15,000) 27,000
4. Net Revenues 242,295 228,157 236,355
S. Revenue Bonds Outstanding (199,293) (176,993) (186,178)
6. Transfer to Escrow Account to Redeem Bonds - - -
6a Other (Adjustment between Debt Service Payments to Sinking Fund, Revenue Bond Payments,

LOC expenses and Net Operating Expenses due to timing differences) (474) - (134)
7. Pennvest Loan - - -
8. Total Debt Service (199,767) (176,993) (186,312)
9. Net Revenue after Debt Service 42,528 51,164 50,043
10. Transfer to General Fund - - -
11. Transfer to Capital Fund (30,094) (29,170) (27,833)
12.  Transfer to Residual Fund (12,433) (21,994) (22,210)
13.  Total Transfers (42,527) (51,164) (50,043)
14.  Net Operating Balance for Current Year $ - $ - $ -

The rate covenant contained in the General Ordinance requires the City to establish rates and charges for the use of the Water and Wastewater Systems to yield Net Revenues, as defined
as defined therein, in each fiscal year sufficient to meet three coverage tests:

Senior Debt Service Coverage: Net Revenues must equal at least 120% of the Debt Service Requirements payable in such fiscal year (excluding debt service due on any Subordinated Bonds).

90% Test Coverage: Net Revenues (excluding amounts transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund into the Revenue Fund during, or as of the end of, such fiscal year) must equal at least
equal to 90% of the Debt Service Requirements (excluding debt service on any Subordinated Bonds) payable in such fiscal year.

Total Payments Coverage: Net Revenues must equal at least 100% of : (i) the Debt Service Requirements (including Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds) payable is such
fiscal year; (ii) amounts required to be deposited into the Debt Reserve Account during such fiscal year; (iii) debt service on all General Obligations Bonds issued for the Water and

Wastewater Systems payable is such fiscal year; (iv) debt service on Interim Debt payable in such fiscal year; and (v) the Capital Account Deposit Amount for such fiscal year, less

amounts transferred from the Residual Fund to the Capital Account during such fiscal year.

To ensure compliance with the rate covenant, the General Ordinance requires that the City review its rates, rents, fees, and charges at least annually.

Senior Debt Service Coverage

2023 2022 2021
Line 4 $ 242,295 § 228,157 $ 236,355
/ Line § $ 199,293 § 176,993 § 186,178
1.22 1.29 1.27

90% Test Coverage

2023 2022 2021
Line 4 - Line 3 $ 234,545 § 243,157 $ 209,355
/ Line 5 $ 199,293 § 176,993 § 186,178
1.18 1.37 1.12

Total Payments Coverage

2023 2022 2021
Line 4 $ 242,295 § 228,157 § 236,355
/Line 5 + Line 11 $ 229,387 § 206,163 $ 214,011
1.06 1.11 1.10
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
HISTORICAL OPERATING RESULTS FOR FISCAL
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Thousands of Dollars)

LINE FY23 EY22 EY21
NO.
1 Operating Revenues:
2 Sales to General Customers S 705,967 $ 660,731 $ 632,207
3 ‘Wholesale Wastewater Revenues 42,280 36,339 39,102
4 Services to General and Aviation Fund 32,279 30,306 29,990
5 Private Fire Connections 3,818 3,661 3,937
6 Industrial Sewer Surcharge 5,136 6,043 5,024
7 Other Operating Revenue 8,569 7,855 8,673
8  Operating Grants 792 464 669
9  Total Operating Revenue 798,841 745,399 719,602
10 Non-Operating Revenues
11  Interest Earnings on Investments o 1,888 (832) (82)
12 Other Non-Operating Revenues 8,396 9,013 10,931
13 Total Non-Operating Revenues 10,284 8,181 10,849
14  Total Revenues ® $ 809,125 § 753,580 730,451
15  Operating Expenses © $ 603,817 § 547,229 § 545,089
Less: Liquidated Encumbrances (Commitments Cancelled which reduces operating
16  expenses) ¥ 29,236 36,805 23,993
17 Net Operating Expenses $ 574,581 § 510,424 § 521,096
18  Adjustment: Debt Service and Net Operating Expenses due to timing differences $ -8 -8 -
19 Excess of Total Operating Revenues over Net Operating Expenses (Line 9 - Line 17) 224,260 234,975 198,506
20  Excess of Total Revenues over Net Operating Expenses (Line 14 - Line 17) $ 234,544 $ 243,156 $ 209,355
21  Interest Expense:
22 Revenue Bonds S 111,930 § 87,951 $ 98,341
23 Total Interest Expense 111,930 87,951 98,341
2% ZE;(;ess of Total Revenues over Net Operating and Interest Expenses (Line 20 - Line 122,614 155,205 111,014
25  Add: Unencumbered Funds Available for Appropriation at Beginning of Fiscal Year - - -
2% Add: Debt Service Payments to Sinking Fund, Revenue Bond Payments, LOC expenses “74) | (134)
and Net Operating Expenses due to timing differences
27  Deduct: Principal Paid on Bonded Indebtedness During Fiscal Year 87,363 89,042 87,837
28  Deduct: Transfer to Escrow Account to Redeem Bonds - - -
29  Net Unapplied Revenues (Line 24 + Line 25 + Line 26- Line 27 - Line 28) 34,777 66,164 23,043
30 Deduct: Funds Transferred to Residual Fund (Further Transfer to Capital Account) 12,433 21,994 22,210
31  Deduct: Funds Transferred to Capital Account (Required Transfer of 1% NPPE) 30,094 29,170 27,833
32 Transfer (TO)/FROM The Rate Stabilization Fund $ 7,750 $ (15,000) $ 27,000
33 Debt Service Coverage Ratio:
Senior Debt Service Coverage: Net Revenues */Revenue Bond Debt Service (Line 14-
34  Linel7+Line32)/ (Line23+27) 1.22 1.29 1.27
90% Test Coverage : Net Revenues  excluding Transfer from Rate Stabilization
36 Fund/Revenue Bond Debt Service (Line 14-Line 17)/(Line 23+Line 27) 1.18 1.37 1.12
Total Payments Coverage: Net Revenues ®)/Total Debt Service and Other Transfers (Line
35  14-Linel7+Line32)/ (Line23+Line27+Line31) 1.06 1.11 1.10

1) Only includes interest earnings credited to the Revenue Fund pursuant to the GBO
2) Calculated to include Project Revenues, as defined in the GBO, plus interest earnings from line 10

3) Operating Expenses excludes, pursuant to the GBO, depreciation, amortization, interest and sinking fund charges

4) Commitments cancelled represent the liquidation of s and offset op ing expenses. An e
is an expense that is anticipated to be charged to the Water Fund.

5) As defined in GBO
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
WHOLESALE WATER AND WASTEWATER
CUSTOMER REVENUES AND CONTRACT TERMS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Total Revenue % Total Revenue”  Contract End Date ~ COA %
Wastewater
Bucks County Water & Sewer Authority (BCWSA) $ 8,933,587 1.09% 3/31/2038 N/A
BCWSA - Springfield Township @ 2,927,116 0.36% 6/30/2023 0.79%
BCWSA - Bensalem 2,380,459 0.29% 6/30/2023 N/A
BCWSA Total $ 14,241,162 1.74% 0.79%
Delcora $ 11,112,691 1.36% 4/1/2028 9.44%
Lower Southampton Township 3,816,520 0.47% 6/30/2024 0.96%
Aqua Pennsylvania Wastewater, Inc. @ 3,554,451 0.44% 6/30/2025 2.43%
Upper Darby Township 3,188,181 0.39% 8/8/2023 N/A
Lower Merion Township 2,730,484 0.33% N/A N/A
Abington Township 2,664,987 0.33% 6/30/2023 0.58%
Lower Moreland Township 971,662 0.12% 6/30/2025 0.36%
Wastewater Total $ 42,280,137 5.17% 14.56%
Water
Aqua Pennsylvania $ 3,289,792 0.40% 3/1/2026 N/A
‘Water Total $ 3,289,792 0.40%
Total Wholesale Revenues $ 45,569,929 5.57%

Note: The Water Department includes capital charges within operation and maintenance charges for all customers except Bensalem, Lower

Merion, and Upper Darby.

* The percentage of Total Revenue is the yearly revenue received by the Township divided by the total yearly revenue of the Water Operating

Fund. The FY 2023 total is $816,876,000.

** Consent Order Agreement % (COA) is the Township's share of expenses for the Long Term Control Plan to mitigate combined sewer

overflows (CSOs).

(1) Bucks County Water and Sewer Authority purchased the wastewater collection and disposal system of Springfield Township in December
2015 and purchased the wastewater collection system of Bensalem in September 1999.

(2) The COA% reflects the total amount for Wyndmoor and Erdenheim combined.

(3) Delcora allocated capital is based on assets placed in service on or after July 4, 2011.

(4) Cheltenham Township sold its sewer system to Aqua PA Wastewater, Inc., an Essential Utilities Company ("Aqua PA Wastewater") in
December of 2019. The Water Department's contract with the township was transferred to Aqua PA Wastewater in connection with the sale.

(5) The contract for Lower Merion Township does not contain an end date.
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT

TOP 10 CUSTOMERS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Customer

City of Philadelphia*
Philadelphia Housing Authority
University of Pennsylvania
School District of Philadelphia
Vicinity Energy Philadelphia***
AdvanSix Inc "

SEPTA

Temple University

University of Pennsylvania Health System
Federal Government

NeBRCCREEN B Y R

—_
S

TOTALS**%%*

Revenue ($) % Total Revenue **

$ 23,702,882 2.90%
15,040,440 1.84%
6,399,482 0.78%
5,891,787 0.72%
5,376,285 0.66%
5,311,782 0.65%
4,626,566 0.57%
4,010,638 0.49%
3,997,229 0.49%
3,763,981 0.46%

$ 78,121,072 9.56%

*The total above for the City of Philadelphia includes, among others, charges for water, wastewater and stormwater
services as follows: (i) $20,175,743 — General Fund and (ii) 3,527,139 — Aviation Fund.

** The % of Total Revenue is calculated using the yearly revenue received by the customer divided by the total yearly

revenue of the Water Operating Fund. The total revenue for Fiscal Year 2023 was $816,876,000.

*** Previously known as Veolia Energy Philadelphia
*¥4% Totals may not add due to rounding.
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
INCENTIVE AND ASSISTANCE PROGRAMS
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

Program Program Type FY2023 FY2022 FY2021
SMIP" and GARP® ® Operating Expense $ 27,294,173 ' $ 17,322,111 $ 8,419,131
Phase in Program (CAP)® Bill Reduction 943,040 1,081,778 1,405,875
Stormwater Credits'® Bill Reduction 21,672,545 20,596,053 19,699,865
Community Gardens Bill Reduction 1,309 211 437
Tiered Assistance Program (TAP)(S) Bill Reduction 9,174,780 8,525,312 9,464,471
Charity & School Discounts Bill Reduction 7,235,825 7,071,055 6,464,986
Senior Citizen Discount Bill Reduction 4,519,762 4,215,019 4,251,353
Total $70,841,434 $58,811,539 $49,706,118

W Stormwater Management Incentives Program.
@ Grant and Greened Acres Retrofit Program.
) SMIP and GARP were partially funded with grants.

@ Amounts are credits against certain customers’ bills.

©TAP is a low-income assistance program commenced in July of 2017. It will reduce customers’ bills and result in a reduction in revenue for the Water

Department.
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CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT

Typical Residential
Monthly Water and Sewer Rate Charges

Effective Date Water Sewer Stormwater Service- Total Percentage

Charge Change
5/8" Meter 9/1/2023 $26.76 $17.18 $18.50 $12.37 § 74.81 7.90%
Residential - 9/1/2022 22.50 16.29 18.05 12.47 69.31 6.40%
450 Cu. Ft. Monthly 9/1/2021 21.01 15.17 16.86 12.10 65.14 3.60%

106



CITY OF PHILADELPHIA WATER DEPARTMENT
RECONCILIATION OF LEGALLY ENACTED AND GAAP BASIS
OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

(Thousands of Dollars)

Legal Basis of Accounting Revenues
Legal Basis Revenues

GAAP Adjustments

Reverse Fiscal Year 2022 Accounts Receivable Accrual

Record Fiscal Year 2023 Accounts Receivable Accrual

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Adjustment

Reclassification of Operating Fund - Interest Income Only to Nonoperating Revenue
Reclassification of Miscellaneous Revenue

Reclassification of Transfers In (DSRF)

Total GAAP Adjustments

Total GAAP Basis Operating Revenues

Legal Basis of Accounting Expenses
Legal Basis Expenses, Transfers and Debt Service

GAAP Adjustments
Expense in Fiscal Year 2023, included in Fiscal Year 2022
for Legal Basis
Encumbrances in Fiscal Year 2023, included in Fiscal Year 2022
for Legal Basis
Depreciation & Amortization on Capital Assets, not included for Legal Basis
Payments among Water Department Funds, netted for GAAP Basis
Accrual of Probable Indemnities and Worker's Compensation Expenses
Reclassification of Transfers Out to Nonoperating Expenses
Allocation of Interfund Activity - Payment to General Fund
Allocation of Accrued Expenses
Change in Inventory Balance as of June 30, 2023
Elimination of Legal Basis Adjustments
Net Pension Expense, included in GAAP Basis
OPEB Expense, included in GAAP Basis
Removal of Debt Service Principal Payments and Transfers to the Escrow Account,
Included in Legal Basis
Net Adjustments from Capitalization of Capital Assets
Removal of Legal Basis Compensated Absences Expense and
Increase in Compensated Absence Liability
Reclassification of Lease Expenditures - GASB 87

Total GAAP Adjustments

Total GAAP Basis Operating Expenses

816,876

(30,545)
32,427
8,168
(1,889)
(191)
(7,750)

220

817,096

846,111

74,167

(110,890)
148,296
(47,103)

4,127
(42,549)
4,576
10,048
(407)
(2,959)
(44,587)
370

(199,767)
(9,815)

(43)
(2,000)

(218,536)

627,575

107



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



APPENDIX II

SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



APPENDIX IT
SUMMARIES OF CERTAIN AUTHORIZATIONS FOR THE BONDS

The following are summaries of certain provisions of The First Class City Revenue Bond Act (the
“Act”), the Restated General Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989, as previously
amended and supplemented (the “General Ordinance”), including as supplemented by (1) the Eighteenth
Supplemental Ordinance to the General Ordinance approved by the Mayor on December 8, 2018 (the
“Eighteenth Supplemental Ordinance”), (2) the Twenty-Third Supplemental Ordinance to the General
Ordinance approved by the Mayor on June 26, 2020 (the “Twenty-Third Supplemental Ordinance”), and
(3) the Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance to the General Ordinance approved by the Mayor on
March 29, 2023 (the “Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance”), pursuant to which The City of
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (the “City”) proposes to issue its Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds, Series
2024C (the “Series 2024C Bonds”). The summaries are not, and should not be regarded as, complete
statements of the provisions of these documents and legislation. Reference is made to the Act, the General
Ordinance, the Fighteenth Supplemental Ordinance, the Twenty-Third Supplemental Ordinance and the
Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Ordinance, copies of which are available from the Office of the Director of
Finance, 1300 Municipal Services Building, 1401 John F. Kennedy Boulevard, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
19102, for the complete terms and provisions thereof.

THE FIRST CLASS CITY REVENUE BOND ACT
(Act 234 of the General Assembly of
the Commonwealth, approved October 18, 1972,
P.L. 955; 53 P.S. §§ 15901-15924)

The following summarizes the terms of the Act. All capitalized terms used in the following summary
of the Act are defined as in the Act and may be differently referenced in other portions of this Official
Statement.

General Authorization; Definition of Project; Bonds to be Special Obligations

The Act is intended to provide a comprehensive authorization to the City and any other
Pennsylvania cities of the first class to issue revenue bonds (“Bonds”) to finance various types of projects.

The Act defines “Project” to include, among other things, any buildings, structures, facilities or
improvements of a public nature, the related land, rights or leasehold estates in land and the related
furnishings, machinery, apparatus or equipment of a capital nature, which the City is authorized to own,
construct, acquire, improve, lease, operate, maintain or support; any item of construction, acquisition or
extraordinary maintenance or repair thereof, the City’s share of the cost of any of the foregoing or any
combination thereof undertaken jointly with others; and any combination of any of or all of the foregoing
or any undivided portion of the cost of any of the foregoing as may be designated as a “Project” by the City
for financing purposes and in respect of which the City may reasonably be expected to receive Project
Revenues.

Bonds issued under the Act are required to be payable solely from Project Revenues and to be
secured solely by such revenues and by any reserve funds which may be created or funded in connection
with the Bonds. The Bonds are not permitted to pledge the credit or taxing power of the City to create any
debt or charge against the tax or general revenues of the City or create any lien against any of the City
property other than the Project Revenues pledged therefore and reserve funds established in respect of the
Bonds. The Bonds do not constitute a debt of the City and are excluded from the calculation of the City’s
debt-incurring capacity under the Pennsylvania Constitution.
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Estimates of Future Revenues

To establish that Project Revenues will be sufficient to amortize all Bonds outstanding, the Act
requires a finding to be made in the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds that the pledged Project
Revenues will be sufficient to pay any prior parity charges thereon and the principal of and interest on the
Bonds. This finding is to be based on a report of the chief fiscal officer of the City filed with the City
Council and supported by appropriate schedules and summaries. The report of the chief fiscal officer of
the City may be based on a report of consulting engineers employed by the City to evaluate the project.

For the purpose of estimating future Project Revenues, the Act provides that only the following
shall be included: (i) those rents, rates, tolls or charges to the general public which, under existing
authorizations, will be reasonably collectible in such year under the schedule or rate of rents, rates or
charges which are or will be in effect during such year in accordance with such ordinance, resolutions or
rate schedule or which may be imposed by administrative action without further legislation; (ii) those bulk
payments which may be imposed under subsisting legislation or which are provided under subsisting
agreements or which are the subject of an expression of intent by the prospective obligor deemed reliable
by the chief fiscal officer of the City; and (iii) those governmental subsidies or payments which, under
subsisting legislation, are subject to reasonably precise calculation and, unless stated in such legislation or
authorization to be of an annually or more frequently recurring nature, are payable in such year.

Detail of Bonds and City Covenants

The Act provides that the ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds shall fix the aggregate
amounts of the Bonds to be issued from time to time and determine, or designate officers of the City to
determine, the form and details of the Bonds. The City may include in its Bond ordinance various covenants
with Bondholders, including covenants governing the imposition, collection and disbursement of Project
Revenues, Project operation and maintenance, the establishment, segregation, maintenance, custody,
investment and disbursement of sinking funds and reserves, the issuance of additional priority or parity
bonds, the redemption of the Bonds and such other provisions as the City deems necessary or desirable in
the interest or for the protection of the City or of such Bondholders. Under the Act, the covenants, terms
and provisions of the Bond ordinance made for the benefit of Bondholders constitute contractual obligations
of the City, but such covenants (within limitations, if any, fixed by the Bond ordinance) may be modified
by agreement with a majority in interest of the Bondholders or such larger portion thereof as may be
provided in the Bond ordinance.

Sinking Fund

The Act requires that the Bond ordinance shall provide for the establishment of a sinking fund for
the payment of the principal of and interest (including Qualified Swap payments) on the Bonds. Payment
into such sinking fund shall be made in annual or more frequent installments and shall be sufficient to pay
or accumulate for payment all principal of and interest on the Bonds for which the sinking fund is
established as and when the same shall become due and payable. The sinking fund shall be managed by
the chief fiscal officer of the City and moneys therein to the extent not currently required, shall be invested,
subject to limitations established by the Bond ordinance and the Act. Interest and profits from investment
of moneys in the sinking fund shall be added to such fund and may be applied in reduction of or to complete
required deposits into the sinking fund. Excess moneys in the sinking fund shall be repaid to the City for
its general purposes or may be applied as may be provided in the Bond ordinance. All moneys deposited
in the sinking fund are subjected to a perfected security interest for the benefit of the holders of the Bonds,
for which the fund is established, until property disbursed. This perfected security interest also applies,
under the terms of the Act, to moneys in the sinking fund reserve created as part of the sinking fund by the
General Ordinance.
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Refunding

Any outstanding Bonds issued under the Act or other bonds issued for purposes for which Bonds
are issuable under the Act, whether issued before or after the effective date of the Act, may from time to
time be refunded by Bonds issued under the Act and are subject to the same protections and provisions
required for the issuance of an original issue of Bonds. The last stated maturity date of the refunding Bonds
may not be later than ten years after the last stated maturity date of the Bonds to be refunded. If outstanding
Bonds are refunded in advance of their maturity or redemption date, the principal thereof and interest
thereon to payment or redemption date, and redemption premium payable, if any, will no longer be deemed
to be outstanding obligations when the City shall have deposited with a bank, bank and trust company or
trust company, funds irrevocably pledged to the purpose, which are represented by demand deposits,
interest-bearing time accounts, savings deposits, certificates of deposit (insured or secured as public funds)
or specified obligations of the United States or of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania sufficient to effect
such redemption or payment or, if interest on the deposited funds to the time of disbursement is also
pledged, sufficient, together with such interest, for such purpose and, in the case of redemption, shall have
duly called the Bonds for redemption or given irrevocable instructions to give notice of such call.

Validity of Proceedings; Suits and Limitations Thereon

Prior to the delivery of any Bonds, the City is required to file with the Court of Common Pleas of
Philadelphia County (the “Court”) a transcript of the proceedings authorizing the issuance of the Bonds. If
no action is brought on or before the twentieth day following the date of recording of the transcript, or when
the proceedings have been approved finally by the Court, then notwithstanding any defect or error in such
proceedings, the validity of the proceedings, the City’s right to issue the Bonds, the lawful nature of the
purpose for which the Bonds are issued, and the validity and enforceability of the Bonds in accordance with
their terms may not thereafter be inquired into judicially, in equity, at law, or by civil or criminal
proceedings, or otherwise, either directly or collaterally except where a constitutional question is involved.

Negotiable Instruments

The Act provides that Bonds issued thereunder shall have the qualities and incidents of securities
under Article 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code of the Commonwealth and shall be negotiable
instruments.

Exemption from State Taxation

The Commonwealth pledges with the holders from time to time of Bonds issued under the Act that
such Bonds, and interest thereon, shall at all times be free from taxation within and by the Commonwealth,
but this exemption does not extend to underwriting profits or to gift, succession or inheritance taxes or any
other taxes not levied directly on the Bonds and the receipt of interest thereon.

Defaults and Remedies

If the City should fail to pay the principal of or interest on any Bond when the same shall be due
and payable, the remedy provisions of the Act permit the holder of such Bond, subject to the limitations
described below, to recover the amount due in an action in Philadelphia Common Pleas Court; but a
judgment rendered in favor of the Bondholder in such an action is collectible only from amounts pledged
for the payment of such bonds. The holders of 25% or more in aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of
such series then outstanding which are in default, whether because of failure of timely payment which is
not cured in 30 days, or failure of the City to comply with any other provisions of the Bonds or any Bond
ordinance, may appoint a trustee to represent them. On being appointed, the trustee shall be the exclusive
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representative for the affected Bondholders and the individual rights of action described above shall no
longer be available. The trustee may, and upon written request of the holders of 25% or more in aggregate
principal amount of Bonds in default, and on being furnished with indemnity satisfactory to it, shall, take
one or more of the following actions, which, if taken, shall preclude similar action, whether previously or
subsequently initiated, by individual holders of Bonds; enforce, by proceedings at law or in equity, all rights
of the holders of the Bond; bring suit on the Bonds; bring in suit in equity to require the City to make an
accounting for all pledged Project Revenues received and to enjoin unlawful action or action in violation
of the holders’ rights; and, after 30 days’ written notice to the City, and subject to any limitations in the
Bond ordinance, declare the unpaid principal of the Bonds to be immediately due and payable, together
with interest thereon at the rates stated in the Bonds until final payment, and upon the curing of all defaults,
to annul such declaration. In any suit, action or proceeding by or on behalf of holders of defaulted Bonds,
trustee fees and expenses, including operating costs of a project and reasonable counsel fees, shall constitute
taxable costs, and all such costs and expenses allowed by the Court shall be deemed additional principal
due on the Bonds and shall be paid in full from any recovery prior to any distribution to the holders of the
Bonds. The General Ordinance limits any such recovery to pledged amounts. The trustee shall make
distribution of any sums so collected in accordance with the Act.

Refunding with General Obligation Bonds

Upon certification by the City’s chief fiscal officer that Project Revenues pledged for the payment
of Bonds have become insufficient to meet the requirements of the ordinance or ordinances under which
the Bonds were issued, the City Council is empowered, but not required, subject to applicable Pennsylvania
constitutional debt limitations, to authorize the issuance and sale of general obligation refunding bonds of
the City, without limitation as to rate of interest and in such principal amount (subject to the aforesaid
limitations on indebtedness) as may be required, together with other available funds, to pay and redeem
such Bonds including principal, interest to the date fixed for redemption or payment and premium, whether
or not the principal of or interest on the refunding bonds shall exceed the principal of or interest on the
bonds to be refunded.

THE RESTATED GENERAL WATER AND WASTEWATER
REVENUE BOND ORDINANCE OF 1989

(Ordinance of the City Council approved
June 24, 1993 - Bill No. 544, as amended and supplemented)

The following is a summary of certain terms defined in the Restated General Water and Wastewater
Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989, as previously amended and supplemented (the “General Ordinance”),
used in this Official Statement. Reference should be made to the General Ordinance for a full and complete
statement of its terms and any capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined. All capitalized terms
used in the following summary of the General Ordinance are defined as in the General Ordinance and may
be differently referenced in other portions of this Official Statement.

Certain Definitions
Accreted Value means, with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds, the amount to which, as of any
specified time, the Original Value of any such Bond has been increased by accretion, all as may be provided

in an applicable Supplemental Ordinance.

Act means The First Class City Revenue Bond Act, approved October 18, 1972 (Act No. 234, 53
P.S. §15901 to 15924), as from time to time amended.
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Balloon Bonds means any Series of Bonds, or any portion of a Series of Bonds, designated by a
Determination as Balloon Bonds, (a) 25% or more of the principal payments (including mandatory sinking
fund payments) of which are due in a single year, or (b) 25% or more of the principal of which may, at the
option of the holder or holders thereof, be redeemed at one time; provided, however that a Variable Rate
Bond that is able to be redeemed at the option of the Holder shall not constitute a Balloon Bond.

Bond or Bonds means, upon and after issuance of the first series of bonds under the General
Ordinance, if and to the extent Outstanding at any time, (i) the Existing Bonds and (ii) all series of bonds
authorized and issued under one or more Supplemental Ordinances amending and supplementing the
General Ordinance.

Bond Committee means the Mayor, City Controller and City Solicitor or a majority thereof.
Bond Counsel means a firm of nationally recognized bond counsel selected by the City.

Bondholder or Holder means any registered owner of Bonds or holder of Bonds issued in coupon
form at the time Outstanding.

Capital Account means the Capital Account within the Construction Fund.

Capital Account Deposit Amount means an amount equal to one percent (1%) of the depreciated
value of property, plant and equipment of the System or such greater amount as shall be annually certified
to the City in writing by a Consulting Engineer as sufficient to make renewals, replacements and
improvements in order to maintain adequate water and wastewater service to the areas served by the System.

Capital Appreciation Bonds means any Bonds issued under the General Ordinance which do not
pay interest either until maturity or until a specified date prior to maturity, but whose Original Value
increases periodically by accretion to a final Maturity Value.

Charges Account means the Charges Account established within the Sinking Fund to provide for
the payment of fees under any Credit Facility to the extent payment of such fees are not otherwise provided.

City Controller means the head of the City’s auditing department as provided by the Philadelphia
Home Rule Charter.

City Solicitor means the head of the City’s law department as provided by the Philadelphia Home
Rule Charter.

Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Construction Fund means the Construction Fund established pursuant to the General Ordinance.

Consulting Engineer means a nationally recognized Independent registered consulting engineer or
a nationally recognized Independent firm of registered consulting engineers, in either case having
experience in the design and analysis of the operation of water and wastewater systems of the magnitude
and scope of the System.

Credit Facility means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of credit, surety

bond, insurance policy or other insurance commitment or similar agreement (other than a Qualified Swap
or an Exchange Agreement) that is provided by a commercial bank, insurance company or other institution.
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Debt Reserve Account means the Debt Reserve Account within the Sinking Fund established
pursuant to the General Ordinance.

Debt Reserve Facility means a surety bond, insurance policy or irrevocable letter of credit deposited
to the Debt Reserve Account or any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount thereof pursuant to the provisions of
the General Ordinance.

Debt Reserve Requirement means (i) with respect to all Bonds outstanding (regardless whether
interest thereon may be excluded from the gross income of the holder thereof for federal income tax
purposes) (a) whose Debt Service Requirements are payable from the Sinking Fund (i.e., excluding
Subordinated Bonds) and (b) that are of a Series for which the City has not created a Series Debt Reserve
Subaccount, an amount equal to the greatest amount of Debt Service Requirements on such Bonds payable
in any one Fiscal Year (except that such Debt Service Requirements will be computed as if any Qualified
Swap did not exist and the Debt Service Requirements attributable to any Variable Rate Bonds may be
based upon the fixed rate of interest as set forth in the Supplemental Ordinance or Determination for such
Bonds) determined as of any particular date, and (ii) with respect to the amount to be deposited in the Debt
Reserve Account, pursuant to the General Ordinance, in connection with the issuance of such a Series of
Bonds, the lesser of (x) the amount necessary to comply clause (i) and (y) the maximum amount permitted
to be financed with proceeds of Bonds permitted by Section 148(d)(1) of the Code (or any successor
provision).

Debt Service Account means the Debt Service Account within the Sinking Fund established
pursuant to the General Ordinance.

Debt Service Requirements, with reference to a specified period, means:

(a) amounts required to be paid into any mandatory sinking fund established for the
benefit of Bonds during the period;

(b) amounts needed to pay the principal or redemption price of Bonds maturing during the
period and not to be redeemed at or prior to maturity through any sinking fund established for the Bonds;

(c) interest payable on Bonds during the period, with adjustments for capitalized interest or
redemption through any sinking fund established for the benefit of Bonds; and

(d) all net amounts, if any, due and payable by the City under a Qualified Swap during such
period.

For purposes of estimating Debt Service Requirements for any future period, (i) any Option Bond
outstanding during such period shall be assumed to mature on the stated maturity date thereof, except that
the principal amount of any Option Bond tendered for payment and cancellation before its stated maturity
date shall be deemed to accrue on the date required for payment pursuant to such tender; and (ii) Debt
Service Requirements on Bonds for which the City has entered into a Qualified Swap shall be calculated
assuming that the interest rate on such Bonds shall equal the stated fixed or variable rate on the Qualified
Swap or, if applicable and if greater than such stated rate, the applicable rate for any Bonds issued in
connection with the Qualified Swap adjusted, in the case of a variable rate obligation, as provided in the
General Ordinance. Calculation of Debt Service Requirements with respect to Variable Rate Bonds and
Balloon Bonds shall be subject to adjustment as permitted by the General Ordinance.
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Debt Service Withdrawal means the aggregate amount withdrawn from the Capital Account during
a Fiscal Year and applied toward the payment of principal or redemption price of or interest on Bonds or
toward the elimination of a deficiency in any reserve fund established for the benefit of Bonds.

Determination means a determination by the Bond Committee regarding certain matters relating to
the issuance of a Series of Bonds, made pursuant to the General Ordinance or the Supplemental Ordinance
providing for the issuance of such Series of Bonds.

Director of Finance means the chief financial officer of the City as established by the Philadelphia
Home Rule Charter.

Effective Date means when (but only when) all Prior Bonds issued under the Prior Ordinance have
been paid or defeased as set forth in Section 10 of the Act.

Exchange Agreement means, to the extent from time to time permitted by applicable law, any
interest exchange agreement, interest rate swap agreement, currency swap agreement or other contract or
agreement, other than a Qualified Swap, authorized, recognized and approved by a Supplemental Ordinance
or Determination as an Exchange Agreement and providing for (i) certain payments by the City from the
Residual Fund and (ii) payments by an entity whose senior long term debt obligations, other senior
unsecured long term obligations or claims paying ability, or whose obligations under an Exchange
Agreement are guaranteed by an entity whose senior long term debt obligations, other senior unsecured
long term obligations or claims paying ability are rated not less than “A3” by Moody’s, “A-" by S&P or
“A-" by Fitch, or the equivalent thereof by any successor thereto as of the date the Exchange Agreement is
entered into; which payments by the City and counterparty are calculated by reference to fixed or variable
rates and constituting a financial accommodation between the City and such counterparty.

Existing Bonds means the bonds originally issued under the Prior Ordinance other than Prior Bonds,
which Existing Bonds shall be specified in a certificate of the Director of Finance on the Effective Date and
thereafter shall be secured by the General Ordinance.

Financial Consultant means a firm of investment bankers, a financial consulting firm, a firm of
certified public accountants or any other firm which is qualified to calculate amounts required to be rebated
to the United States pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code.

Fiscal Agent means a bank or other entity designated as such pursuant to the General Ordinance or
its successor.

Fiscal Year means the fiscal year of the City.

Fitch means Fitch Ratings and any successor thereto.

General Obligation Bonds means the general obligation bonds of the City issued and outstanding
from time to time to finance improvements to the System and adjudged, pursuant to the Constitution and
laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, to be self-sustaining on the basis of expected Project

Revenues.

General Ordinance means the Restated General Water and Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance
of 1989, as previously amended and supplemented.
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Government Obligations means direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on
which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America, including but not limited to interest
obligations of the Resolution Funding Corporation or any successor thereto.

Independent means a person who is not a salaried employee or elected or appointed official of the
City; provided, however, that the fact that such person is retained regularly by or transacts business with
the City shall not make such person an employee within the meaning of this definition.

Initial Deposit means the initial, one time, deposit to be made by the City from any source into the
Rate Stabilization Fund upon the establishment of such Rate Stabilization Fund.

Interdepartmental Charges means the proportionate charges for services performed for the Water
Department by all officers, departments, boards or commissions of the City which are required by the
Philadelphia Home Rule Charter to be included in the computation of operating expenses of the Water
Department.

Interim Debt means any bond anticipation notes or other temporary borrowing which the City
anticipates permanently financing with Bonds or other long term indebtedness under the General Ordinance
or otherwise.

Kroll means Kroll Bond Rating Agency, Inc. and any successor thereto.

Maturity Value with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds means the amount due on the maturity
date.

Moody’s means Moody’s Investors Service and any successor thereto.

Net Revenues for any period means the Project Revenues collected during such period and
deposited into the Revenue Fund plus (x) the amounts, if any, transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund
into the Revenue Fund during, or as of the end of, such period and (y) interest earnings during such period
on moneys in any of the funds or accounts established under the General Ordinance to the extent such
interest earnings are credited to the Revenue Fund pursuant to the General Ordinance minus the sum of (a)
Operating Expenses incurred during such period and (b) the amounts, if any, transferred from the Revenue
Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund during, or as of the end of, such period; provided, however that in
determining such Net Revenues the Initial Deposit shall not reduce such Net Revenues.

Operating Expense Withdrawal means the aggregate amount withdrawn from the Capital Account
during a Fiscal Year and applied toward the payment of Operating Expenses.

Operating Expenses for any period means all costs and expenses of the Water Department
necessary and appropriate to operate and maintain the System in good operating condition, and shall
include, without limitation, salaries and wages, purchases of services by contract, costs of materials,
supplies and expendable equipment, maintenance costs, costs of any property or the replacement thereof or
for any work or project, related to the System, which is not properly chargeable to property, plant and
equipment, pension and welfare plan and worker’s compensation requirements, provisions for claims,
refunds and uncollectible receivables and for Interdepartmental Charges, all in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles consistently applied, but Operating Expenses shall exclude depreciation,
amortization, interest and sinking fund charges.
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Option Bond means any Bond which by its terms may be tendered by and at the option of the Holder
thereof for payment by the City prior to its stated maturity date or the maturity date of which may be
extended by and at the option of the Holder thereof.

Ordinance means the General Ordinance, as amended from time to time in accordance with the
provisions of the General Ordinance.

Original Value with respect to Capital Appreciation Bonds means the principal amount paid by the
initial purchasers on the date of original issuance.

Outstanding, when used with reference to Bonds, means, as of any date, all Bonds theretofore or
thereupon being authenticated and delivered under the General Ordinance except (i) any Bonds cancelled
by the Fiscal Agent at or prior to such date; (ii) Bonds (or portion of Bonds) for the payment or redemption
of which moneys, equal to the principal amount, Accreted Value or redemption price thereof, as the case
may be, with interest (except to the extent of any Capital Appreciation Bonds) to the date of maturity or
redemption date, shall be held in trust under the General Ordinance and set aside for such payment or
redemption (whether at or prior to the maturity or redemption date), provided that if such Bonds (or portions
of Bonds) are to be redeemed, notice of such redemption shall have been given as provided in the General
Ordinance or provision satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent shall have been made for the giving of such notice;
(iii) Bonds in lieu of or in substitution for which other Bonds shall have been authenticated and delivered
pursuant to the General Ordinance; and (iv) Bonds deemed to have been paid as provided in the General
Ordinance.

Philadelphia Home Rule Charter means the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter, as amended or

superseded by any new home rule charter, adopted pursuant to authorization of the First Class City Home
Rule Act approved April 21, 1949, P.L. 665 §l, et seq. (53 P.S. §13101, et seq.).

Prior Bonds means the bonds issued under the Prior Ordinance designated as Water and Sewer
Revenue Bonds (i) the First Series through Ninth Series, and the Eleventh Series and Twelfth Series, and
(ii) to the extent the following bonds are defeased on the Effective Date, the Tenth Series and the Thirteenth
Series through Sixteenth Series.

Prior Ordinance means the General Water and Sewer Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1974 approved
May 16, 1974, as amended and supplemented from time to time.

Project Revenues means all rents, rates, fees and charges imposed or charged for the connection to,
or use or product of or services generated by the System to the ultimate users or customers thereof, all
payments under bulk contracts with municipalities, governmental instrumentalities or other bulk users, all
subsidies or payments payable by Federal, State or local governments or governmental agencies on account
of the cost of operation of, or the payment of the principal of or interest on moneys borrowed to finance
costs chargeable to the System, all grants, payments and contributions made in aid or on account of the
System exclusive of grants and similar payments and contributions solely in aid of construction and all
accounts, contract rights and general intangibles representing the foregoing.

Qualified Escrow Securities means funds which are represented by (a) demand deposits, interest-
bearing time accounts, savings deposits or certificates of deposit, but only to the extent such deposits or
accounts are fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any successor United States
governmental agency, or to the extent not insured, fully secured and collateralized by Government
Obligations having a market value (exclusive of accrued interest) at all times at least equal to the principal
amount of such deposits or accounts, (b) if at the time permitted under the Act, obligations of any state or
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political subdivision thereof or any agency or instrumentality of such state or political subdivision for which
cash, Government Obligations or a combination thereof have been irrevocably pledged to or deposited in a
segregated escrow account for the payment when due of principal or redemption price of and interest on
such obligations, and any such cash or Government Obligations pledged and deposited are payable as to
principal or interest in such amounts and on such dates as may be necessary without reinvestment to provide
for the payment when due of the principal or redemption price of and interest on such obligations, and such
obligations are rated by any Rating Agency in the highest rating category assigned by each such rating
service to obligations of the same type, or (c) noncallable Government Obligations. In each case such funds
(i) are subject to withdrawal, maturing or payable at the option of the holder, at or prior to the dates needed
for disbursement, provided such deposits or accounts, whether deposited by the City or by such depository,
are insured or secured as public deposits with securities having at all times a market value exclusive of
accrued interest equal to the principal amount thereof, (ii) are irrevocably pledged for the payment of such
obligations and (iii) are sufficient, together with the interest to disbursement date payable with respect
thereto, if also pledged, to meet such obligations in full.

Qualified Rebate Fund Securities means either:
(a) Government Obligations; or

(b) rights to receive the principal of or the interest on Government Obligations through (i)
direct ownership, as evidenced by physical possession of such Government Obligations or unmatured
interest coupons or by registration as to ownership on the books of the issuer or its duly authorized paying
agent or transfer agent, or (ii) purchase of certificates or other instruments evidencing an undivided
ownership interest in payments of the principal of or interest on Government Obligations.

Qualified Swap or Swap Agreement means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, any financial
arrangement that (i) is entered into by the City with an entity that is a Qualified Swap Provider at the time
the arrangement is entered into; (ii) provides that (a) the City shall pay to such entity an amount based on
the interest accruing at a fixed rate on an amount equal to the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds
of such Series, and that such entity shall pay to the City an amount based on the interest accruing on a
principal amount initially equal to the same principal amount as such Bonds, at either a variable rate of
interest or a fixed rate of interest computed according to a formula set forth in such arrangement (which
need not be the same as the actual rate of interest borne by the Bonds) or that one shall pay to the other any
net amount due under such arrangement or (b) the City shall pay to such entity an amount based on the
interest accruing on the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds of such Series at a variable rate of
interest as set forth in the arrangement and that such entity shall pay to the City an amount based on interest
accruing on a principal amount equal to the Outstanding Bonds of such Series at an agreed fixed rate (which
shall not be the same as the rate on the Bonds) or that one shall pay to the other any net amount due under
such arrangement; and (iii) which has been designated in writing to the Fiscal Agent by the City as a
Qualified Swap with respect to the Bonds.

Qualified Swap Provider means, with respect to a Series of Bonds, an entity whose senior long
term debt obligations, other senior unsecured long term obligations or claims paying ability, or whose
payment obligations under a Qualified Swap are guaranteed by an entity whose senior long term debt
obligations, other senior unsecured long term obligations or claims paying ability, are rated (at the time the
subject Qualified Swap is entered into) at least as high as Aa by Moody’s, and AA by S&P, or the equivalent
thereof by any successor thereto.

Rate Covenant means the rate covenant contained in the General Ordinance.
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Rate Stabilization Fund means the Rate Stabilization Fund established pursuant to the General
Ordinance.

Rating Agency means any rating service that has issued a credit rating on the Bonds which is in
effect at the time in question or, upon discontinuance of any of such rating services, such other nationally
recognized rating service or services if any such rating service has issued a credit rating on the Bonds at the
request of the City and such credit rating is in effect at the time in question.

Rebate Bond Year, for purposes of the General Ordinance and in order to facilitate compliance with
the arbitrage rebate requirements of the Code, shall mean the period or periods specified in a Supplemental
Ordinance or Determination for a Series of Bonds.

Rebate Fund means the Rebate Fund established pursuant to the General Ordinance.

Remarketing Agent means a Remarketing Agent appointed in the manner provided in the applicable
Supplemental Ordinance or Determination authorizing the issuance of Variable Rate Bonds.

Remarketing Agreement means an agreement providing for the remarketing of tendered Variable
Rate Bonds by a Remarketing Agent, as more fully set forth and defined in the Supplemental Ordinance
authorizing any Series of Variable Rate Bonds.

Residual Fund means the Residual Fund established pursuant to the General Ordinance.
Revenue Fund means the Revenue Fund established pursuant to the General Ordinance.
S&P means S & P Global Ratings and any successor thereto.

Series when applied to Bonds means, collectively, all of the Bonds of a given issue authorized by
Supplemental Ordinance, as provided in the General Ordinance, and may also mean, if appropriate, a
subseries of any Series if, for any reason, the City should determine to divide any Series into one or more
subseries of Bonds.

Series Debt Reserve Requirement means, for any Series of Bonds, the amount, if any, required
pursuant to a Supplemental Ordinance or Determination to be reserved and (if such amount is greater
than zero dollars ($0)) deposited or maintained in the Series Debt Reserve Subaccount established for
such Series of Bonds; provided that such amount may equal zero dollars ($0); and provided further that
such amount may not exceed the lesser of (i) the greatest amount of Debt Service Requirements payable
on such Series of Bonds in any one Fiscal Year and (ii) the maximum amount permitted to be financed
with proceeds of such Series of Bonds permitted by Section 148(d)(1) of the Code (or any successor
provision).

Series Debt Reserve Subaccount means any subaccount of the Debt Reserve Account created,
pursuant to a Supplemental Ordinance or Determination for a particular Series of Bonds, which Series of
Bonds will not otherwise be secured by the Debt Reserve Account and for which a Series Debt Reserve
Requirement applies.

Sinking Fund means the Sinking Fund established pursuant to the General Ordinance.

Sinking Fund Installment means an amount so designated which is established pursuant to the
General Ordinance.
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Special Water Infrastructure Account means the Special Water Infrastructure Account of the
Residual Fund established in the General Ordinance.

Standby Agreement with respect to a Series of Bonds, means an irrevocable letter of credit and
related reimbursement agreement, line of credit, standby bond purchase agreement or similar agreement
providing for the purchase of all or a portion of the Bonds of such Series, as amended, supplemented or
extended from time to time.

Standby Purchaser, with respect to a Series of Bonds, means the provider of the Standby
Agreement for such Series of Bonds.

Subordinated Bond means any Bond referred to in, and complying with the provisions of the
General Ordinance with respect to Subordinated Bonds.

Subordinated Bond Fund means the Subordinated Bond Fund established in the General Ordinance.

Substitute Credit Facility means any letter of credit, standby bond purchase agreement, line of
credit, surety bond, insurance policy or other insurance commitment or similar agreement (other than a
Qualified Swap or an Exchange Agreement) that replaces a Credit Facility and is provided by a commercial
bank, insurance company or other financial institution.

Supplemental Ordinance means an ordinance supplemental to the General Ordinance enacted
pursuant to the Act and the General Ordinance by the Council of the City.

System means the entire combined water system and wastewater system of the City, now existing
and hereafter acquired by lease, direct control, purchase or otherwise or constructed by the City, including
any interest or participation of the City in any facilities in connection with said System, together with all
additions, betterments, extensions and improvements to said System or any part thereof hereafter
constructed or acquired and together with all lands, easements, licenses and rights of way of the City and
all other works, property or structures of the City and contract rights and other tangible and intangible assets
of the City now or hereafter owned or used in connection with or related to said System.

Tender Agent, with respect to a Series of Bonds, means any commercial bank or trust company
organized under the laws of any state of the United States or any national banking association designated
as a tender agent for such Series of Bonds, and its successor or successors hereafter appointed in the manner
provided in the applicable Supplemental Ordinance or Determination.

Uncertificated Bond means any Bond which is fully registered as to principal and interest and which
is not represented by an instrument.

Variable Rate Bond means any Bond, the rate of interest on which is subject to change prior to
maturity and cannot be determined in advance of such change.

Water and Wastewater Funds means, collectively, the Revenue Fund, the Sinking Fund, the
Subordinated Bond Fund, the Rate Stabilization Fund, the Residual Fund and the Construction Fund.

Water Commissioner means the head of the Water Department as provided by the Philadelphia
Home Rule Charter.

Water Department means the Water Department of the City created pursuant to Section 3-100 of
the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter.
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SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF THE GENERAL ORDINANCE

The following is a summary of certain operative provisions of the General Ordinance. Reference
should be made to the General Ordinance for a full and complete statement of its provisions and the
meaning of any capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined.

Form and Terms of Bonds

All Bonds shall be in substantially such form as may be approved by the City and set forth in the
Supplemental Ordinance or Determination providing for the issuance thereof. Bonds shall be generally
designated as Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds of the City and shall be issued in such Series and
within such Series in such subseries as the City may from time to time determine. The aggregate principal
amount of Bonds which may be issued, authenticated and delivered under the General Ordinance is
unlimited, but prior to the issuance of such Series of Bonds, the City shall enact a Supplemental Ordinance
authorizing such Series and the maximum aggregate principal amount of such Series.

The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form, except as provided in the General Ordinance
and, such Bonds shall be issued upon and contain such additional terms as may be set forth in the
Supplemental Ordinance and Determination providing for the issuance of the Bonds in question. As
required by Section 5 of the Act, all Bonds shall contain a brief statement of the Project Revenues pledged
as security therefor and the priority or priorities, if any, in the application of such pledged Project Revenues
and shall contain a covenant of the City to pay from the pledged Project Revenues on the respective due
dates the amounts required to pay the interest on and principal or redemption price of the Bonds. Bonds
may be designated as of such Series by date, number, letter or otherwise and may also have such individual
letters, identifying numbers or other marks, and such descriptive panels, registration panels, legends or
endorsements placed thereon as may, consistent with the General Ordinance and the Act, be determined by
a Supplemental Ordinance, Determination or the Director of Finance. The Bonds may also have printed
thereon or on the reverse thereof the text of an approving legal opinion with respect thereto. Any portion
of the text of any Bond may be set forth on the reverse thereof with an appropriate reference on the face of
the Bond.

The Bonds of each Series shall be issued in such aggregate principal amount, shall be in such
denominations, shall mature or be subject to mandatory redemption in such principal amounts, on such
dates and at such places, shall have such Sinking Fund Installments for Bonds of like maturity and interest
rate, shall bear interest from such date or dates and at such rate or rates (including variable, adjustable,
convertible or other rates), shall be subject to optional redemption at such times and upon such terms, shall
(if such Bonds are Option Bonds) be subject to optional or mandatory tender, and shall contain such other
terms and conditions not inconsistent with the General Ordinance or the Act, all as shall be determined by
the City and set forth in the Supplemental Ordinance or Determination under which such Bonds are issued,
or as shall be determined by a designated officer or officers of the City thereunto authorized by the
Supplemental Ordinance, or in the absence of such provisions or designation, as shall be determined by the
Director of Finance as specified below.

If permitted by applicable law, any Series of Bonds may be issued as Uncertificated Bonds and the
foregoing provisions specifying the form of Bonds shall be inapplicable to such Series.

A Series of Bonds may be secured by a Credit Facility meeting the requirements of the General
Ordinance and the applicable Supplemental Ordinance. In connection with the issuance of its Bonds or at
any time thereafter so long as a Series of Bonds remains Outstanding, the City also may enter into Qualified
Swaps or Exchange Agreements if the Bond Committee determines that such Qualified Swap or Exchange
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Agreement will assist the City in more effectively managing its interest costs. The City’s payment
obligation under any Qualified Swap shall be made from the Sinking Fund and its payment obligation under
any such Exchange Agreement shall be made from the Residual Fund created pursuant to the General
Ordinance. Unless otherwise acknowledged by each Rating Agency by virtue of its confirmation of the
existing credit ratings on the City’s Outstanding Bonds, the City will not enter into any Qualified Swap or
Exchange Agreement unless it gives at least fifteen (15) day’s advance notice of its intention to do so to
each of the Rating Agencies, which notice shall specify the identity of the Qualified Swap Provider or
Exchange Agreement counterparty, as the case may be.

Sale of Bonds; Taxes Not to be Assumed; Authority of Director of Finance

Bonds may be sold by the City at public, private, or invited sale upon such terms not inconsistent
with the Act and at such prices as the City may determine. To the extent that the Supplemental Ordinance
authorizing any Series of Bonds and the Determination relating to such Series shall not otherwise provide:

(a) all Bonds shall be sold at competitive public sale to the purchaser or purchasers submitting
the highest and best bid upon such terms and conditions of the bidding as shall be specified in an official
notice of sale issued in the name of the City by the Director of Finance;

(b) no covenant to pay or assume any taxes shall be included in such Bonds; and

() subject to the foregoing, the terms upon which are the prices for which the Bonds are to be
sold or exchange, and the form, terms or provisions of the Bonds including, without limitation, the matters
referred to in Section 5 of the Act, shall be determined by the Director of Finance who is designated in the
General Ordinance as the officer of the City authorized to make such determinations based, to the extent
applicable, on the prices, interest rates or other terms set forth in the highest and best proposal conforming
to the bidding specifications, as ascertained and accepted on behalf of the City by the Director of Finance.

Payments of Principal, Redemption Price and Interest; Date of Bonds

Unless otherwise provided in any Bond or the Supplemental Ordinance or Determination relating
thereto:

(a) The principal or redemption price of each Bond shall be payable upon surrender thereof at
the principal Philadelphia office of the Fiscal Agent in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania or at the principal office
of a paying agent designated in such Bonds.

(b) The interest due on any Bond in fully registered form shall be payable by check or draft
mailed to the Holder thereof, or at the request of a Holder of $1,000,000 or more in principal amount or
maturity value of Bonds by wire transfer to an account at a financial institution in the United States,
designated in writing to the Fiscal Agent or the paying agent, subject to such provisions concerning record
dates as may be contained in such Bond and in the Supplemental Ordinance and Determination providing
for the issuance and terms thereof.

(©) The principal or redemption price of and the interest on each Bond shall be payable in any
coin or currency of the United States of America which, at the time of payment, is legal tender for the
payment of public and private debts, or Bonds of a Series may be payable in such foreign currency as may
be specified in the Supplemental Ordinance authorizing such Series of Bonds, if applicable law permits.

(d) Fully registered Bonds of each Series shall be dated as of the date six months preceding
the interest payment date next following the date of execution thereof by the Fiscal Agent, unless such date
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of execution shall be an interest payment date, in which case they shall be dated as of such date of execution;
provided, however, that if, as shown by the records of the Fiscal Agent, interest on the Bonds of any Series
shall be in default, fully registered Bonds of such Series issued in lieu of Bonds surrendered for transfer or
exchange may be dated as of the date to which interest has been paid in full on the Bonds surrendered.
Fully registered Bonds of each Series shall bear interest from their date.

Notwithstanding any other provision in the General Ordinance to the contrary, the foregoing
provisions are subject to the express understanding that the principal of and interest on all Bonds issued
under the General Ordinance and the premium, if any, payable on redemption thereof, shall be payable only
from Project Revenues and other funds provided for the payment of Bonds. The Bonds are not general
obligations of the City and do not pledge the general credit or taxing power or create any debt or charge
against the general revenues of the City, or create any lien against any property of the City other than
pledged Project Revenues.

Execution of Bonds

The Bonds shall be executed on behalf of the City by the Fiscal Agent by the manual signatures of
two of its duly authorized officers or signers, under the seal of the City which shall be either affixed or
reproduced thereon in facsimile and shall be countersigned and attested by the manual or facsimile signature
of the City Controller, or in such other manner as shall be authorized by law and prescribed by Supplemental
Ordinance. Any such Bonds may be executed, issued and delivered notwithstanding that one or more of
the officers or signers signing such Bonds or whose facsimile signature shall be upon such Bonds shall have
ceased to be such officers or signers at the time when such Bonds shall actually be delivered, and although
at the nominal date of the Bond any such person shall not have been such officer or signer.

Bond Registrar and Bond Register

The City shall designate one or more persons to act as “Bond Registrar” for the Bonds provided
that the Bond Registrar appointed for the Bonds shall be either the Fiscal Agent or a person which would
meet the requirements for qualification as a Fiscal Agent imposed by the General Ordinance. Any person
other than the Fiscal Agent undertaking to act as Bond Registrar shall first execute a written agreement, in
form satisfactory to the City and the Fiscal Agent, to perform the duties of a Bond Registrar under the
General Ordinance, which agreement shall be filed with the Fiscal Agent.

The Bond Registrar shall act as registrar and transfer agent for the Bonds. The City shall cause the
Bond Registrar to designate, by a written notification to the Fiscal Agent, a specific office location at which
the Bond Register is kept. The principal corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent shall be such office in
respect of the Bonds for which the Fiscal Agent is acting as Bond Registrar.

The Bond Registrar shall, in any case where it is not also the Fiscal Agent, forthwith following
each regular record date and at any other time as reasonably requested by the Fiscal Agent, certify and
furnish to the Fiscal Agent and any paying agent as the Fiscal Agent shall specify, the names, addresses,
and holdings of Bondholders and any other relevant information reflected in the Bond Register, and the
Fiscal Agent and any such paying agent shall for all purposes be fully entitled to rely upon the information
so furnished to it and shall have no liability or responsibility in connection with the preparation thereof.

Interchangeability of Bonds
Fully registered Bonds, upon surrender thereof at the office of Bond Registrar with a written

instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, duly executed by the registered owner or his duly
authorized attorney may at the option of the registered owner thereof, and upon payment by such registered
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owner of any charges, which the City or Bond Registrar may make, be exchanged for an equal aggregate
principal amount of fully registered Bonds of the same Series, maturity and interest rate of any other
authorized denominations.

Negotiability, Transfer and Registry

Fully registered Bonds shall be transferable only by the registered owner thereof in person or by
his attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender thereof together with a written instrument of transfer
satisfactory to the Bond Registrar duly executed by the registered owner or his duly authorized attorney.
Upon the transfer of any such fully registered Bonds the City shall issue and the Bond Registrar shall
execute in the name of the transferee a new fully registered Bond or Bonds of the same aggregate principal
amount and Series, maturity and interest rate as the surrendered Bonds.

The City, the Fiscal Agent and any paying agent designated in the Bonds may deem and treat the
person in whose name any Bond shall be registered in the Bond Register as the absolute owner of such
Bond, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account
of, the principal and redemption price of and interest on such Bond and for all other purposes, and all such
payments so made to any such registered owner or upon his order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and
discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid, and neither the City, the
Fiscal Agent nor any paying agent designated in the Bond shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

Any consent, waiver or other action taken by the registered owner of any Bond pursuant to the
provisions of the General Ordinance shall be conclusive and binding upon such Holder, his heirs, successors
or assigns, and upon all transferees of such Bond whether or not notation of such consent, waiver or other
action shall have been made on such Bond or on any Bond issued in exchange therefor.

Regulations With Respect to Exchanges and Transfers

In all cases in which the privilege of exchanging Bonds or transferring registered Bonds is
exercised, the City shall execute and deliver Bonds in accordance with the General Ordinance. All Bonds
surrendered in any such exchanges or transfers shall forthwith be delivered to the Bond Registrar and
cancelled or retained by the Bond Registrar. For every such exchange or transfer of Bonds, whether
temporary or definitive, the City or the Bond Registrar may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any
tax, fee or other governmental charge imposed by a governmental unit other than the City in connection
with said exchange, transfer or registration and for any charge of insuring Bonds during the delivery thereof.
Neither the City nor the Bond Registrar shall be required (a) to transfer or exchange Bonds of any Series
for a period of 20 days next preceding any selection of Bonds to be redeemed or thereafter until after the
first mailing of any notice of redemption, or (b) to transfer, exchange or register any Bonds called for
redemption.

Credit Enhancement; Exchange Agreements; Qualified Swaps

As provided by Supplemental Ordinance or Determination relating to any Series of Bonds and
subject to the requirements of the General Ordinance, the City may provide for a Credit Facility, Exchange
Agreement or Qualified Swap with respect to any Series of Bonds.
Purpose of Bonds; Combination or Projects for Financing Purposes

The Bonds issued under the General Ordinance shall be issued for the purpose (i) of paying the

costs of Projects (as such term is defined in the Act) relating to the System, (ii) of reimbursing any fund of
the City from which such costs shall have been paid or advanced, (iii) of funding any of such costs for
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which the City shall have outstanding bond anticipation notes or other obligations, (iv) of refunding any
Bonds or bonds of the City issued for the foregoing purposes or (v) of financing anything else relating to
the System permitted under the Act. The water and wastewater systems of the City (referenced in the
definition of “System” above) are combined as a Project for the purpose of capital financing but the separate
accounts or subaccounts required by the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter shall be maintained within the
funds and accounts established under the General Ordinance in accordance with the Philadelphia Home
Rule Charter.

Pledge or Revenues; Grant of Security Interest; Limitation on Recourse

The City pledges, and assigns to the Fiscal Agent, its successors in trust and its assigns, for the
security and payment of all Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) and grants to said Fiscal Agent, its
successors in trust and its assigns, a lien on and security interest in (i) all Project Revenues and (ii) all
amounts on deposit in or standing to the credit of the funds and accounts (other than the Rebate Fund)
established in the General Ordinance together with interest earnings on amounts in such funds and accounts
(other than the Rebate Fund). The Fiscal Agent shall hold and apply the security interest granted in the
General Ordinance and the pledged revenues and funds described therein, in trust, for the equal and ratable
benefit and security of all present and future Holders of Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) issued
pursuant to the provisions of the General Ordinance and each Supplemental Ordinance, without preference,
priority or distinction of any one Bond over any other Bond (other than Subordinated Bonds); provided
however, that the pledge of the General Ordinance may also be for the benefit of a Credit Facility and
Qualified Swap, or any other person who undertakes to provide moneys for the account of the City for the
payment of principal or redemption price of and interest on any Series of Bonds (other than Subordinated
Bonds), on an equal and ratable basis with Bonds, to the extent provided by any Supplemental Ordinance
or Determination.

For the purpose of compliance with the filing requirements of the Uniform Commercial Code in
order to perfect the security interest granted by the General Ordinance, the Fiscal Agent shall be deemed to
be, and the City recognizes the Fiscal Agent as, the representative of Bondholders to execute financing
statements as the secured party.

Neither the Bonds nor the City’s reimbursement or other contractual obligations under any Credit
Facility, Qualified Swap or Exchange Agreement shall constitute a general indebtedness or a pledge of the
full faith and credit of the City within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision or limitation
of indebtedness. No Bondholder or beneficiary of any of the foregoing agreements shall ever have the
right, directly or indirectly, to require or compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the City for
the payment of the principal and redemption price of or interest on the Bonds or the making of any payments
under the General Ordinance. The Bonds and the obligations evidenced thereby and by the foregoing
agreements, shall not constitute a lien on any property of or in the City, other than the Project Revenues
and amounts on deposit in or standing to the credit of the Water and Wastewater Funds and interest earnings
on amounts in such funds.

Parity Bonds

All Bonds issued under the General Ordinance (other than Subordinated Bonds) shall be parity
Bonds equally and ratably secured by the pledge of and grant of the security interest in the Project Revenues
and the amounts on deposit in or standing to the credit of the funds and accounts (other than the Rebate
Fund), together with interest earnings on amounts in such funds and accounts (other than the Rebate Fund)
without preference, priority or distinction as to lien or otherwise, except as otherwise provided, of any one
Bond over any other Bond or as between principal and interest.
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The City reserves the right, and nothing in the General Ordinance shall be construed to impair such
right, to finance improvements to the System by the issuance of its general obligation bonds or by the
issuance, under ordinances other than Supplemental Ordinances, of water and/or wastewater revenue bonds
or notes for the payment of which Project Revenues may be used or pledged subject and subordinate to the
payment from such Project Revenues of the payments described below under “Transfers From Revenue
Fund” and subject to the elimination of any deficiency in any fund or account established under the General
Ordinance or under any Supplemental Ordinance.

Establishment of Funds and Accounts

The following funds and accounts are established by the General Ordinance and shall be held by
the Fiscal Agent:

(a) Revenue Fund;

(b) Sinking Fund and within such Fund a Debt Service Account, a Charges Account
and a Debt Reserve Account;

(©) Subordinated Bond Fund;
(d) Rate Stabilization Fund;
(e) Residual Fund and within such Fund a Special Water Infrastructure Account;

® Construction Fund, and within the Construction Fund, separate accounts
designated as follows:

(1) the Existing Projects Account, into which existing proceeds, if
any, of revenue Bonds heretofore issued under the Act in respect of the
System shall be deposited,

(i1) the Bond Proceeds Account, into which proceeds of Bonds issued
under the General Ordinance shall be deposited, and

(iii) the Capital Account;
(2) Rebate Fund.

Nothing in the General Ordinance shall be construed to prevent the City from establishing, in
connection with the issuance of one or more Series of Bonds, additional funds or accounts to be held for
the benefit of one or more Series of Bonds issued under the General Ordinance, as set forth in Supplemental
Ordinances; provided that, no such additional funds or accounts shall be established unless, in the opinion
of Bond Counsel, establishment of additional funds or accounts would not adversely affect the exclusion
of interest on Bonds, if any, from gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Segregation of Water and Wastewater Funds; Deposit of Project Revenues into Revenue Fund
(a) The Water and Wastewater Funds shall be held separate and apart from all other funds and
accounts of the City and the Fiscal Agent and the funds and accounts therein shall not be commingled with,

loaned or transferred among themselves or to any other City funds or accounts except as expressly permitted
by the General Ordinance.
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(b) The City shall cause all Project Revenues received by it on any date to be deposited into
the Revenue Fund upon receipt thereof by the City and the Fiscal Agent shall, upon receipt of Project
Revenues, deposit such Project Revenues into the Revenue Fund. The City and Fiscal Agent also shall
cause to be deposited into the Revenue Fund such portion of proceeds of Bonds as designated by
Supplemental Ordinance or Determination and any other funds directed to be deposited into the Revenue
Fund by the City. The Fiscal Agent shall, at the written direction of the City, disburse from the Revenue
Fund the amounts and at the times specified below under “Transfers From Revenue Fund.”

(©) If at any time sufficient moneys are not available in the Revenue Fund to pay Operating
Expenses and to make transfers required pursuant to the General Ordinance, then amounts on deposit in the
Construction Fund, Rate Stabilization Fund and Residual Fund may be loaned temporarily, at the written
direction of the City, to the Revenue Fund for the payment of such Operating Expenses to the extent of the
deficiency, until such loaned amounts are required by the Water Department for purposes of the Fund
making the loan. If a similar deficiency exists in the Construction Fund, amounts on deposit in the Revenue
Fund, Rate Stabilization Fund and Residual Fund may be loaned temporarily, at the written direction of the
City, to the Construction Fund, to the extent of the deficiency, until required by the Water Department for
purposes of the Fund making the loan.

Transfers From Revenue Fund

Amounts on deposit in the Revenue Fund shall be applied by the Fiscal Agent, at the written
direction of the City, in the following manner and in the following order of priority:

(a) to the City or its designees to pay such sums as are necessary to meet Operating Expenses
in a timely manner;

(b) (i) on or before the dates that the principal or redemption price of and interest on Bonds
(other than Subordinated Bonds) or payments under a Swap Agreement or Credit Facility are due, to deposit
in the Debt Service Account of the Sinking Fund the amount necessary to provide for the timely payment
of the principal or redemption price of and interest on such Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds), any
payments under any Swap Agreement and any amounts under a Credit Facility to repay advances thereunder
to pay any of the foregoing, and (ii) on or before the dates that other payments are due under any Credit
Facility with respect to Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) to deposit in the Charges Account of the
Sinking Fund the amount necessary to make such payments;

(© if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, for
deposit in the Debt Reserve Account, the amount, if any, required to eliminate any deficiency therein;

(d) if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, and
following any transfer required pursuant to paragraph (c) above, to deposit in any debt reserve account
established within the Sinking Fund and not held for the equal and ratable benefit of all Bonds (other than
Subordinated Bonds), the amount, if any, required to eliminate any deficiency therein;

(e) if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, and
following any transfer then required to be made pursuant to paragraphs (c) and (d) above, to deposit in the
Subordinated Bond Fund the amount necessary to provide for the timely payment of the principal or
redemption price of and interest on Subordinated Bonds, and forward to the paying agent in respect of bond
anticipation notes (payable by exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the sale of Subordinated Bonds) the
amount necessary to provide for the timely payment of interest thereon (to the extent not capitalized);
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® if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, and
following any transfer then required to be made pursuant to paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above to pay to the
City the amount necessary to provide for the timely payment of the principal or redemption price of and
interest on General Obligation Bonds;

(2) if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, and
following any transfer then required to be made pursuant to paragraphs (c), (d), (¢) and (f) above, to transfer
to the Rate Stabilization Fund such amount as the Water Commissioner may determine, the first such
determination to be made on the Effective Date and to include the balance on that date in the Renewal and
Replacement Fund created under the Prior Ordinance and the unencumbered operating balance of the Water
Department as of the end of the Fiscal Year immediately preceding the Effective Date;

(h) if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, and
following any transfer then required to be made pursuant to paragraphs (c), (d), (e), (f) and (g) above, to
transfer to the Capital Account of the Construction Fund on June 20, of each Fiscal Year (or the first
business day following June 20 if June 20 is not a business day) an amount equal to the sum of (i) the
Capital Account Deposit Amount, (ii) the Debt Service Withdrawal for the preceding Fiscal Year and (iii)
the Operating Expense Withdrawal for the preceding Fiscal Year, less any amounts transferred during the
Fiscal Year to such Capital Account from the Residual Fund; and

(1) if the transfers in paragraphs (a) and (b) above are being made according to schedule, and
following any transfer then required to be made pursuant to paragraphs (c), (d), (e), (f), (g) and (h) above
and after providing for the repayment of any inter-Fund loans, to transfer as of June 30 of each year all
remaining amounts to the Residual Fund.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in the General Ordinance shall prevent the City from
directing the transfer of amounts on deposit in any fund or account established under the General Ordinance
into the Rebate Fund in the amounts and at the times specified below under “Funds and Accounts — Rebate
Fund.”

Sinking Fund

The Sinking Fund is to be a consolidated fund for the equal and proportionate benefit of the Holders
of all Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) from time to time Outstanding and each account therein may
be invested and reinvested on a consolidated basis.

The Fiscal Agent, as directed by the City by Supplemental Ordinance, Determination or other
written direction, shall pay out of the Debt Service Account of the Sinking Fund to the designated paying
agent or agents (i) on or before each interest payment date for any of the Bonds (other than Subordinated
Bonds) the amount required for the interest payable on such date; and (ii) on or before each principal,
redemption or prepayment date for any Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds), the amount required for
the principal, redemption or prepayment payable on such date, and (iii) on or before the respective due dates
the amounts, if any, due under any Swap Agreements. Such amounts shall be applied by the designated
paying agent or agents on the due dates thereof. The Fiscal Agent shall also pay out of the Debt Service
Account of the Sinking Fund the accrued interest included in the purchase price of Bonds purchased for
retirement and on or before the due dates any amounts owing by the City under any Credit Facility on
account of advances to pay principal of or interest or redemption premium on Bonds (other than
Subordinated Bonds).

Amounts accumulated in the Debt Service Account with respect to any Sinking Fund Installment
(together with amounts accumulated therein with respect to interest on the Bonds for which such Sinking
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Fund Installment was established) if so directed by the City, shall be applied by the Fiscal Agent, on or
prior to the 60" day preceding the due date of such Sinking Fund Installment, to the purchase of Bonds of
the Series, maturity and interest rate within each maturity for which such Sinking Fund Installment was
established. All purchases of Bonds pursuant to this provision shall be made at prices not exceeding the
applicable sinking fund redemption price of such Bonds plus accrued interest, and such purchases shall be
made by the Fiscal Agent as directed by the City. As soon as practicable after the 42™ day preceding the
due date of any such Sinking Fund Installment, the Fiscal Agent shall proceed to call for redemption, by
giving notice as provided in the General Ordinance, on such due date Bonds of the Series, maturity and
interest rate within each maturity for which such Sinking Fund Installment was established (except in the
case of Bonds maturing on a Sinking Fund Installment date) in such amount as shall be necessary to
complete the retirement of the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment after making allowance
for any Bonds purchased with moneys held in the Subordinated Bond Fund which the City has directed the
Fiscal Agent to apply as a credit against such Sinking Fund Installment. The Fiscal Agent shall pay out of
the Sinking Fund to the appropriate paying agent or agents, on or before such redemption date (or maturity
date) the amount required for the redemption of the Bonds so called for redemption (or for the payment of
such Bonds then maturing) and such amount shall be applied by such paying agent or agents to such
redemption (or payment). All expenses in connection with the purchase or redemption of Bonds shall be
paid by the City from Project Revenues.

In the event of the refunding of any Bonds, the Fiscal Agent shall, if the City so directs, withdraw
from the Sinking Fund all, or any portion of, the amounts accumulated therein with respect to principal or
interest on the Bonds being refunded and deposit such amounts with itself or another financial institution
serving as escrow agent to be held for the payment of the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and
interest on the Bonds being refunded; provided that such withdrawal shall not be made unless immediately
thereafter the Bonds being refunded shall be deemed to have been paid as described below under “Deposit
of Funds for Payment of Bonds.” In the event of a refunding, the City may also direct the Fiscal Agent to
withdraw from the Sinking Fund all, or a portion of, the amounts accumulated therein with respect to
principal and interest on the Bonds being refunded and deposit such amounts in any fund or account
established under the General Ordinance.

If any Bond shall not be presented for payment when the principal thereof becomes due, either at
maturity or otherwise or at the date fixed for redemption thereof, if moneys sufficient to pay such Bond
shall have been deposited with the Fiscal Agent, it shall be the duty of the Fiscal Agent to hold such moneys,
without liability to the City, any Bondholder or any other person for interest thereon, for the benefit of the
owner of such Bond. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any moneys in the Sinking Fund for the payment of
the interest, principal or redemption premium of Bonds unclaimed for two (2) years after the due date shall
be repaid to the City but such repayment shall not discharge the obligation, if any, for which such moneys
were previously held in the Sinking Fund; provided, however, that such repayment shall not be made unless,
at the time of such repayment, there shall exist no deficiency in any fund or account established under the
General Ordinance or any Supplemental Ordinance.

The Fiscal Agent shall pay out of the Charges Account to the appropriate payees any fees, expenses
and other amounts due under any Credit Facility with respect to Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds),
to the extent such amounts are not paid from the Debt Service Account.

Credits Against Sinking Fund Installments
If at any time Bonds of any Series or maturity for which Sinking Fund Installments shall have been
established are purchased or redeemed other than (i) from amounts accumulated in the Debt Service

Account or (ii) Bonds deemed to have been paid as described under “Deposit of Funds for Payment of
Bonds” below, and, with respect to such Bonds which have been deemed paid, irrevocable instructions have
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been given to the Fiscal Agent to redeem or purchase the same on or prior to the due date of the Sinking
Fund Installment to be credited under this paragraph, the City may from time to time and at any time by
written notice to the Fiscal Agent specify the portion, if any, of such Bonds so purchased, redeemed or
deemed to have been paid and not previously applied as a credit against any Sinking Fund Installment which
are to be credited against future Sinking Fund Installments. Such notice shall specify the amounts of such
Bonds to be applied as a credit against such Sinking Fund Installment or Installments and the particular
Sinking Fund Installment or Installments against which such Bonds are to be applied as a credit; provided,
however that none of such Bonds may be applied as a credit against a Sinking Fund Installment to become
due less than 42 days after such notice is delivered to the Fiscal Agent. All such Bonds to be applied as a
credit shall be surrendered to the Fiscal Agent for cancellation on or prior to the due date of the Sinking
Fund Installment against which they are being applied as a credit. The portion of any such Sinking Fund
Installment remaining after the deduction of any such amounts credited toward the same (or the original
amount of any such Sinking Fund Installment if no such amounts shall have been credited toward the same)
shall constitute the unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of calculation of
Sinking Fund Installments due on a future date.

Debt Reserve Account

(a) Unless otherwise provided in the applicable Supplemental Ordinance in compliance with
the General Ordinance, the City is required, under direction of the Director of Finance, to deposit in the
Debt Reserve Account from the proceeds of sale of each Series of Bonds issued under the General
Ordinance, an amount which, when added to the existing balance in the Debt Reserve Account, will be
equal to the Debt Reserve Requirement immediately after the issuance of such Series of Bonds. The money
and investments in the Debt Reserve Account shall be held and maintained in an amount equal at all times
to the Debt Reserve Requirement; provided that if the Supplemental Ordinance authorizing a Series of
Bonds shall authorize the accumulation from Project Revenues of a reserve of such amount in respect of
such Bonds over a period of not more than three (3) Fiscal Years after the issuance and delivery of such
Bonds, then the full payment of the annual deposits required under such Supplemental Ordinance will meet
the Debt Reserve Requirements of the General Ordinance in respect of such Bonds.

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of the above paragraph (a) to the contrary, a Supplemental
Ordinance may provide for the establishment of a Series Debt Reserve Requirement for each Series of
Bonds issued pursuant to such Supplemental Ordinance, and a separate Series Debt Reserve Subaccount (if
such Series Debt Reserve Requirement is greater than zero dollars ($0)) within the Debt Reserve Account
in respect of such Series of Bonds. The City shall not designate a Series Debt Reserve Requirement for a
Series of Bonds unless (i) such Series of Bonds will be refunding Bonds issued pursuant to the General
Ordinance, or (ii) the City first obtains written confirmation from any one Rating Agency then rating the
Bonds that such action, in and of itself, will not result in a downgrade, suspension or withdrawal of the
credit rating on any Bonds Outstanding thereunder. The City shall deposit in the Series Debt Reserve
Subaccount created pursuant to any Supplemental Ordinance, the Series Debt Reserve Requirement for
such Series of Bonds. The money and investments in each Series Debt Reserve Subaccount shall be held
and maintained in an amount equal at all times to the Series Debt Reserve Requirement for such Series
secured thereby, as provided in the Supplemental Ordinance authorizing such Series of Bonds. All amounts
in each Series Debt Reserve Subaccount shall be available solely to secure and pay the Debt Service
Requirements of the Bonds for which such subaccount was created pursuant to such Supplemental
Ordinance; and the Holders of such Bonds shall otherwise have no interests in or rights to amounts in the
Debt Reserve Account.

(©) If at any time and for any reason, the moneys in the Debt Service Account of the Sinking

Fund shall be insufficient to pay, as and when due, the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any
Bond or Bonds or other obligations payable from the Debt Service Account then due (including under Swap
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Agreements and Credit Facilities), the Fiscal Agent is authorized and directed to withdraw from the Debt
Reserve Account or, as applicable, any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount, and pay over the amount of such
deficiency for deposit in the Debt Service Account to pay such obligations. If by reason of such withdrawal
or for any other reason there shall be a deficiency in the Debt Reserve Account or a Series Debt Reserve
Subaccount, the City covenants to restore such deficiency promptly from Net Revenues; provided that in
the event that there simultaneously shall be deficiencies in the Debt Reserve Account and one or more
Series Debt Reserve Subaccounts, the City covenants to restore such deficiencies from Net Revenues on a
pari passu basis, based on the Debt Reserve Requirement and the Series Debt Reserve Requirement(s)
outstanding; and provided further, that notwithstanding the preceding proviso, the Supplemental Ordinance
or Determination pursuant to which a Series Debt Reserve Requirement is established may provide for the
restoration of such a deficiency in the related Series Debt Reserve Subaccount from Net Revenues on a less
than pari passu basis for the related Series of Bonds.

(d) (i) Subject to paragraph (d)(ii) and paragraph (e) under this heading, any moneys in the
Debt Reserve Account or any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount in excess of, respectively, the Debt Reserve
Requirement or the Series Debt Reserve Requirement, shall be transferred and applied, at the written
direction of the City, to any of the following purposes:

(A) to the Debt Service Account, to pay the Debt Service Requirements on Bonds
secured by such account or subaccount, including without limitation redemption price in
connection with the optional redemption of any such Bonds; or

(B) to an escrow fund or account established to facilitate the payment of Bonds
pursuant to the General Ordinance, to pay the Debt Service Requirements on Bonds secured by
such account or subaccount, including without limitation redemption price in connection with
the optional redemption of any such Bonds; or

(C) 1if such moneys do not constitute tax-exempt bond proceeds, to the Residual Fund
for the purposes thereof.

(i1) In connection with the issuance of refunding Bonds pursuant to the General Ordinance,
the City may transfer amounts from the Debt Reserve Account or a Series Debt Reserve Subaccount held
by the Fiscal Agent in respect of the Bonds being refunded to the Debt Reserve Account or a Series Debt
Reserve Subaccount to satisfy any debt reserve requirements in respect of such refunding Bonds.

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, in lieu of the required deposits into the Debt
Reserve Account or any Series Debt Reserve Subaccount thereof, the City may cause to be deposited therein
a surety bond or an insurance policy payable to the Fiscal Agent for the account of the Bondholders and
any Qualified Swap or an irrevocable letter of credit to be benefitted thereby in an amount equal to the
difference between the Debt Reserve Requirement or the Series Debt Reserve Requirement and the
remaining sums, if any, then on deposit in the Debt Reserve Account or Series Debt Reserve Subaccount.
The surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit (referred to, collectively, as the “Debt Reserve Facility”)
shall be payable (upon the giving of notice as required thereunder) on any interest payment date on which
moneys will be required to be withdrawn from the Debt Reserve Account or Series Debt Reserve
Subaccount and applied to the payment of Debt Service Requirements of the Bonds secured thereby if such
withdrawal cannot be met by amounts on deposit in the Debt Reserve Account or Series Debt Reserve
Subaccount, or provided from any other Fund under the General Ordinance.

If a disbursement is made pursuant to a surety bond, an insurance policy or a letter of credit

provided pursuant to this paragraph (), the City shall be obligated either (i) to reinstate the maximum limits
of the surety bond insurance policy or letter of credit or (ii) to deposit into the Debt Reserve Account or
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applicable Series Debt Reserve Subaccount, funds in the amount of the disbursement made under such
surety bond insurance policy or letter of credit, or combination of such alternatives, as shall provide that
the amount in the Debt Reserve Account or applicable Series Debt Reserve Subaccount equals the Debt
Reserve Requirement or the Series Debt Reserve Requirement within a time period not longer than would
be required to restore the Debt Reserve Account or the Series Debt Reserve Requirement by operation
under this provision and from the same source of funds as provided in the General Ordinance.

The insurer providing a surety bond or insurance policy pursuant to this paragraph (e) shall be an
insurer whose municipal bond insurance policies insuring the payment, when due, of the principal of and
interest on municipal bond issues results in such issues being rated in not lower than the “A” category
(without regard to gradations) by any one Rating Agency. The letter of credit issuer providing a letter of
credit pursuant to this paragraph (e) shall be a bank or trust company that is rated not lower than the “A”
category (without regard to gradations) by any one Rating Agency; and the letter of credit itself shall be
rated in at least “A” category of such Rating Agency. Upon the occurrence of any reduction or suspension
of any credit rating with respect to such bond insurance policy or letter of credit or the provider thereof
required by the General Ordinance, the City shall so notify the provider of the surety, bond insurance policy
or letter of credit and prior to the effective date of any cancellation of such surety, bond insurance policy
or letter of credit, shall either provide a substitute surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit meeting
the above described requirements of the General Ordinance or shall deposit cash in the Debt Reserve
Account or applicable Series Debt Reserve Subaccount so that the amount in such account or subaccount
shall equal the Debt Reserve Requirement or Series Debt Reserve Requirement, respectively.

In the event that after the City has deposited cash as required in connection with a Debt Reserve
Facility rating reduction or suspension, but prior to any cancellation thereof, such Debt Reserve Facility
meets the rating criteria set forth in this paragraph (e) for deposit, no excess of the Debt Reserve
Requirement shall result for purposes of paragraph (d) above.

Subordinated Bond Fund

Subject to the third paragraph under this heading, the Fiscal Agent shall apply amounts in the
Subordinated Bond Fund to the payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on
Subordinated Bonds of a Series and to payments due under any Credit Facilities and Exchange Agreements
with respect to Subordinated Bonds in accordance with the provisions of, and subject to the priorities and
limitations and restrictions provided in, the Supplemental Ordinance and Determination authorizing such
Series of Subordinated Bonds.

At any time and from time to time the City may deposit in the Subordinated Bond Fund for the
payment of the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on Subordinated Bonds amounts
received from any source other than Project Revenues which is not inconsistent with the General Ordinance
or any Supplemental Ordinance or Determination.

If at any time the amounts in the Sinking Fund shall be less than the current requirement of such
fund pursuant to paragraphs (b) and (c) under “Transfers from Revenue Fund” above and there shall not be
on deposit in the Debt Reserve Account, the Capital Account or the Residual Fund available moneys
sufficient to cure such deficiency, then the Fiscal Agent shall withdraw from the Subordinated Bond Fund
and deposit in the Sinking Fund the amount necessary (or all the moneys in said fund, if less than the amount
necessary) to eliminate such deficiency.

Any moneys in the Subordinated Bond Fund for the payment of the interest, principal or redemption

premium of Subordinated Bonds unclaimed for two years after the due date are to be repaid to the City but
such repayment shall not discharge the obligation, if any, for which such moneys were previously held in
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the Subordinated Bond Fund; provided, however, that such repayment shall not be made unless, at the time
of such repayment, there shall exist no deficiency in any fund or account established under the General
Ordinance or any Supplemental Ordinance.

Construction Fund

Proceeds of Bonds issued for capital purposes are to be deposited into the Bond Proceeds Account
of the Construction Fund and disbursed according to established procedures of the City.

The Fiscal Agent shall on the Effective Date deposit in the Existing Projects Account proceeds of
Prior Bonds as directed by a Supplemental Ordinance or Determination; deposit in the Bond Proceeds
Account the proceeds of Bonds as directed by a Supplemental Ordinance or Determination; and deposit in
the Capital Account any amounts transferred pursuant to paragraph (h) under “Transfers from Revenue
Fund” above. Amounts in the Existing Projects Account and Bond Proceeds Account shall be applied as
directed in writing by the City for purposes permitted by the Act and the Bonds and such other purposes as
are permitted under the General Ordinance.

Amounts deposited in the Capital Account may be applied at the written direction of the City to (i)
payments for the cost of renewals, replacements and improvements to the System; (ii) payments into the
Sinking Fund or into the Subordinated Bond Fund to cure a deficiency in one of the foregoing; or (iii) the
purchase of Bonds if a Consulting Engineer shall first have certified to the City that amounts remaining on
deposit in the Capital Account following the proposed purchase of Bonds will be sufficient to pay the cost
of renewals, replacement and improvements to the System projected to be payable during such Fiscal Year;
provided, however, that no Bond shall be purchased at a price in excess of the principal amount and
redemption price which would be applicable if the Bond were redeemed at the time such Bond was first
subject to redemption.

As described in the section titled “Segregation of Water and Wastewater Funds; Deposit of Project
Revenues into Revenue Fund”, the General Ordinance requires that, if at any time sufficient moneys are
not available for the payment of Operating Expenses, then amounts on deposit in the Capital Account may
be used for the payment of Operating Expenses to the extent of the deficiency.

Residual Fund

Amounts on deposit in the Residual Fund may be used at the written direction of the City (i) to pay
Operating Expenses; (ii) to fund transfers to any fund or account established under the General Ordinance
or under a Supplemental Ordinance (other than the Revenue Fund and the Rate Stabilization Fund); (iii) to
make payments required under any Exchange Agreement; (iv) for the payment of principal, redemption
premium, if any, and interest on any revenue bonds or notes (the proceeds of which were applied in respect
of the System) issued under the Act but not under the General Ordinance; (v) for the payment of principal,
redemption premium, if any, and interest on any General Obligation Bonds; (vi) for the payment of
principal, redemption premium, if any, and interest on other general obligation debt issued in respect of the
System; (vii) for the payment of amounts due under capitalized leases or similar obligations relating to the
System; and (viii) to fund a transfer to the City’s “General Fund” in an amount not to exceed the lower of
(A) all “Net Reserve Earnings” as defined below or (B) $4,994,000. “Net Reserve Earnings” shall mean
the amount of interest earnings during the Fiscal Year on amounts in the Debt Reserve Account and the
Subordinated Bond Fund less the amount of interest earnings during the Fiscal Year on amounts in any
such reserve funds and accounts giving rise to a rebate obligation pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code.

The General Ordinance provides that the City establish expenditure authority from the Residual
Fund to enable it to pay Operating Expenses and the other items permitted by the General Ordinance. In

II-25



the event that there is a substitution of appropriate surety bonds or insurance policies from some or all of
the deposits held in the Debt Reserve Account, a transfer of resulting excess money in the Debt Reserve
Account to the Revenue Fund and, following compliance with the provisions described under “Transfers
From Revenue Fund” above, a transfer of remaining amounts of such excess to the Residual Fund, such
remaining amount shall be deposited into the Special Water Infrastructure Account. Any amounts deposited
in the Special Water Infrastructure Account may be used to finance water-related infrastructure projects.

Rate Stabilization Fund

Pursuant to the General Ordinance, as of the effective date of the General Ordinance and as of June
30 of each Fiscal Year, the City may transfer (i) from the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund or
(i) from the Revenue Fund to the Rate Stabilization Fund, the amount determined by the Water
Commissioner to be transferred for such Fiscal Year.

Rebate Fund

The General Ordinance provides that the Rebate Fund shall be maintained for so long as any Series
of Bonds is Outstanding, and for 60 days thereafter (or such other period as may be specified by the Code
and applicable regulations), for the purpose of paying to the United States Treasury the amount required to
be rebated pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code. All amounts in the Rebate Fund, including income
earned from investment of amounts in the Rebate Fund, shall be held by the City free and clear of the lien
created by the General Ordinance.

Management of Funds and Accounts

The General Ordinance provides that the moneys on deposit in the funds and accounts established
under the General Ordinance, to the extent not currently required, shall be invested and secured as required
by Section 9 of the Act, all at the direction and under the management of the Director of Finance or such
other chief fiscal officer of the City as may hereinafter be established.

Investment of Funds and Accounts

All moneys deposited in any fund or account established under the General Ordinance or under any
Supplemental Ordinance may be invested by the City or by the Fiscal Agent, at the oral or written direction
of the City, in any investments permitted by law (except as otherwise provided in the General Ordinance
with respect to the Debt Reserve Account and Rebate Fund); provided that any investments with respect to
amounts on deposit in the funds (other than the Debt Reserve Account) and accounts established under the
General Ordinance shall mature or shall be subject to redemption by the holder thereof upon demand at par
no later than the date when such amounts are needed for the purposes of such funds or accounts. Interest
earnings on amounts on deposit (i) in the Revenue Fund are to be credited to the Revenue Fund; (ii) in the
Sinking Fund (except as provided in (iii) below) are to be credited to the Sinking Fund to the extent needed
to meet Debt Service Requirements in respect of Bonds (other than Subordinated Bonds) and additional
interest earnings shall be credited to the Revenue Fund; (iii) in the Debt Reserve Account shall be credited
to the Debt Reserve Account until such account is fully funded and shall then be credited to the Residual
Fund up to the maximum amount to be transferred to the City’s General Fund and any excess is to then be
transferred to the Revenue Fund; (iv) in the Subordinated Bond Fund are to be credited to the Subordinated
Bond Fund to the extent needed to meet Debt Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds and
additional interest earnings shall be credited to the Revenue Fund or to such other fund or account
established under the General Ordinance as the City may direct pursuant to a Supplemental Ordinance; (v)
in the Residual Fund, shall be credited to the Residual Fund; (vi) in the Rate Stabilization Fund shall be
credited to the Revenue Fund; (vii) in the Construction Fund shall be credited to the appropriate account of
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the Construction Fund or to the Revenue Fund, as the City shall direct; and (viii) in the Rebate Fund shall
be credited to the Rebate Fund.

Valuation of Funds and Accounts

In computing the assets of any fund or account established under the General Ordinance,
investments and accrued interest thereon are to be deemed a part thereof. Such investments shall be valued
on June 30 of each Fiscal Year at the lower of the cost or current market value thereof if the applicable
maturity is more than one year and at par if the applicable maturity is equal to or less than one year plus
accrued interest, or at the redemption price thereof, if then redeemable at the option of the holder; provided
that investments in any reserve fund or reserve account of the Sinking Fund established pursuant to a
Supplemental Ordinance may be valued as provided in the Supplemental Ordinance establishing it. The
annual valuation is to apply for all purposes of the General Ordinance except if Bonds are issued or a fund
deficit occurs based on the annual valuation, in which cases a valuation is to be made on the date Bonds are
issued or the deficit is eliminated, as the case may be.

Covenants of the City
Rate Covenant.

(a) Pursuant to the General Ordinance, the City covenants with the Bondholders that it will, at
a minimum, impose, charge and collect in each Fiscal Year such water and wastewater rents, rates, fees and
charges as shall yield Net Revenues which shall be equal to at least:

(1) 1.20 times the Debt Service Requirements for such Fiscal Year (excluding Debt
Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds); and

(i1) 0.90 times Debt Service Requirements for such Fiscal Year (excluding Debt
Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds); provided that, for purposes of
this clause (ii), Net Revenues shall be calculated to exclude therefrom any amounts
transferred from the Rate Stabilization Fund to the Revenue Fund in, or as of the end of,
such Fiscal Year; and

(ii1) 1.00 times (A) the Debt Service Requirements for such Fiscal Year (including Debt
Service Requirements in respect of Subordinated Bonds); (B) amounts required to be
deposited into the Debt Reserve Account during such Fiscal Year; (C) the principal or
redemption price of and interest on General Obligation Bonds payable during such Fiscal
Year; (D) debt service requirements on Interim Debt payable during such Fiscal Year; and
(E) the Capital Account Deposit Amount for such Fiscal Year (less any amounts
transferred from the Residual Fund to the Capital Account during such Fiscal Year).

(b) In estimating Debt Service Requirements on any Interim Debt for the purposes of
projecting compliance with this covenant, the City is entitled to assume that (i) such Interim Debt will be
amortized over a period of up to the maximum term permitted by the Act, provided, however, such period
shall not be in excess of the useful life of the assets to be financed, on an approximately level debt service
basis and bear interest at the average interest rate on bonds of a similar maturity and credit rating (without
any credit enhancement) as the Bonds outstanding under the General Ordinance. Promptly upon any
material change in the circumstances which were contemplated at the time such rents, rates, fees and charges
were most recently reviewed, but not less frequently than once in each Fiscal Year, the City is required to
review the rents, rates, fees and charges as necessary to enable the City to comply with the foregoing
requirements; provided that such rents, rates, fees and charges shall in any event produce moneys sufficient
to enable the City to comply with its covenants in the General Ordinance.
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(©) (1) In the event that any Bonds Outstanding are, or any proposed Series of Bonds are to
be, Balloon Bonds, then Debt Service Requirements on such Balloon Bonds shall be calculated for purposes
of projecting compliance with the General Ordinance, or for purposes of determining the Debt Reserve
Requirement or Series Debt Reserve Requirement (as applicable) for a particular Series of Balloon Bonds,
whether for any period prior to or after the date of calculation, as follows.

(A) If such Balloon Bonds are not Capital Appreciation Bonds, then, for purposes of
determining Debt Service Requirements, each maturity that constitutes Balloon
Bonds shall, unless otherwise provided in a Supplemental Ordinance under
which such Balloon Bonds are issued, be treated as if it were to be amortized
over a period of no more than 30 years and with substantially level annual debt
service funding payments commencing not later than the year following the year
in which such Balloon Bonds were issued, and extending not later than the stated
or deemed, as the case may be, final maturity of such Balloon Bonds, but in no
event later than 30 years from the date such Balloon Bonds were originally
issued; and the interest rate used for such computation shall be that rate quoted
in The Bond Buyer 25 Revenue Bond Index, or its successor or replacement
index, for the last week of the month preceding the date of calculation as
published by The Bond Buyer, or if that index is no longer published, another
similar index designated in a Determination, or if a Determination fails to select
a replacement index, that rate determined by a banking institution or an
investment banking institution as the interest rate or rates at which the City could
reasonably expect to borrow by incurring indebtedness with the same term as
assumed above, with no credit enhancement and taking into consideration
whether such Bonds bear interest which is or is not excluded from gross income
for federal income tax purposes; with respect to any Bonds only a portion of
which constitutes Balloon Bonds, the remaining portion shall be treated as
described in such other provision of the definition of Debt Service Requirements
as shall be applicable and, with respect to any Bonds or that portion of a series
thereof which constitutes Balloon Bonds, all Debt Service Requirements
becoming due prior to the year of the stated maturity of the Balloon Bonds shall
be treated as described in such other provision of Debt Service Requirements as
shall be applicable; and

(B) If such Balloon Bonds are Capital Appreciation Bonds, by assuming that the
Accreted Value of such Bonds for purposes of determining Debt Service
Requirements, each maturity that constitutes Balloon Bonds shall, unless
otherwise provided in a Supplemental Ordinance under which such Balloon
Bonds are issued, be treated as if it were to amortized over a period of no more
than 30 years and with substantially level annual debt service funding payments
commencing not later than the year following the year in which such Balloon
Bonds were issued, and extending not later than the stated or deemed, as the case
may be, final maturity of such Balloon Bonds, but in no event later than 30 years
from the date such Balloon Bonds were originally issued; and the interest rate
used for such computation shall be that rate quoted The Bond Buyer 25 Revenue
Bond Index, or its successor or replacement index, for the last week of the month
preceding the date of calculation as published by The Bond Buyer, or if that index
is no longer published, another similar index designated in a Determination, or
if a Determination fails to select a replacement index, that rate determined by a
banking institution or an investment banking institution as the interest rate or

II-28



rates at which the City could reasonably expect to borrow by incurring
indebtedness with the same term as assumed above, with no credit enhancement
and taking into consideration whether such Bonds bear interest which is or is not
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes; with respect to any
Bonds only a portion of which constitutes Balloon Bonds, the remaining portion
shall be treated as described in such other provision of the definition of Debt
Service Requirements as shall be applicable and, with respect to any Bonds or
that portion of a series thereof which constitutes Balloon Bonds, all Debt Service
Requirements becoming due prior to the year of the stated maturity of the
Balloon Bonds shall be treated as described in such other provision of Debt
Service Requirements as shall be applicable.

(i1) In estimating Debt Service Requirements on any Variable Rate Bonds for purposes
of projecting compliance with this covenant or funding the Reserve Account, the City is entitled to assume
that such Variable Rate Bonds will bear interest at a rate equal to (A) the average interest rate on the
Variable Rate Bonds during the period of twenty-four (24) consecutive calendar months preceding the date
of calculation or (B) if the Variable Rate Bonds were not Outstanding during the entire twenty-four (24)
month period, the average interest rate on the Variable Rate Bonds since their date of issue or (C) such
other rate as may be specified in a Supplemental Ordinance or Determination.

(d) The City represents that it has, by its Code of General Ordinances, as amended, authorized
the imposition of rents, rates, fees and charges by the Water Department sufficient from time to time to
comply with the Rate Covenant and covenants with the Holders of Bonds that it will not repeal or materially
adversely dilute or impair such authorization.

Timely Payment of Principal, Redemption Premium and Interest. Pursuant to the General
Or